
CITY OF ELKO 
CITY MANAGER 

1751 COLLEGE AVENUE 
ELKO, NEV ADA 89801 

(77 5) 777-7110/F AX (77 5) 777-7119 

The Elko City Council will meet in regular session on Tuesday, January 9, 2018 

Elko City Hall, 1751 College Avenue, Elko, NV 89801, at 4:00 P.M., P.D.S.T. 

Attached with this notice is the agenda for said meeting of the Council. 

In accordance with NRS 241.020, the public notice and agenda was posted on the City of Elko 

Website, http://www.elkocitynv.gov/, the State of Nevada's Public Notice Website, 

https://notice.nv.gov, and in the following locations: 

ELKO COUNTY COURTHOUSE 
571 Idaho Street, Elko, NV 89801 

Date/Time Posted: January 4, 2018 at 8:50 a.m. 

ELKO COUNTY LIBRARY 
720 Court Street, Elko, NV 89801 

Date/Time Posted: January 4, 2018 at 9:00 a.m. 

ELKO POLICE DEPARTMENT 
1448 Silver, Elko NV 89801 

Date/Time Posted: January 4, 2018 at 8:40 a.m. 

ELKO CITY HALL 
1751 College Avenue, Elko, NV 89801 

Date: Time Posted: January 4, 2018 at 8:30 a.m. 

Posted by: Kim Wilkinson 
Name 

Administrative Assistant ~~~ ~ 
Title Signature 

The public may contact Kim Wilkinson by phone at (775)777-7110 or email at 
kwilkinson@elkocitynv.gov to request supporting material for the meeting described herein. The 
agenda and supporting material is available at Elko City Hall, 1751 College Avenue, Elko, NV or 
on the City website at http://www.elkocitynv.gov/ 

Dated this 4th day of January, 2018 

NOTICE TO PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES 

Members of the public who are disabled and require special accommodations or assistance at the 
meeting are requested to notify the Elko City Council, 51 Colle Avenue, Elko, Nevada 89801, 
or by calling (77 5) 777-7110. 

Curtis Calder, City Manager 



CITY OF ELKO 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 

REGULAR MEETING 
4:00 P.M., P.D.S.T., TUESDAY, JANUARY 9, 2018 

ELKO CITY HALL, 1751 COLLEGE A VENUE, ELKO, NEV ADA 

CALL TO ORDER 

The Agenda for this meeting of the City of Elko City Council has been properly posted for 
this date and time in accordance with NRS requirements. 

ROLL CALL 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

COMMENTS BY THE GENERAL PUBLIC 

Pursuant to N.R.S. 241, this time is devoted to comments by the public, if any, and discussion of 
those comments. No action may be taken upon a matter raised under this item on the agenda until 
the matter itself has been specifically included on a successive agenda and identified as an item 
for possible action. ACTION WILL NOT BE TAKEN 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

I. PRESENTATIONS 

December 12, 201 7 
December 12, 2017 

Special Session 
Regular Session 

A. Presentation and possible approval of the Consolidated Annual Financial Report 
and Audit for the City of Elko for the Fiscal Year ending June 30, 2017, and matters 
related thereto. FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

Mike Spilker with Hinton Burdick CP As will be in attendance to present the City 
ofElko's Fiscal Year 2016/2017 Financial Report. JJ 

II. PERSONNEL 

A. Employee Introductions: 

1.) Ashley Cooper, Police Records Technician II, Police Department 
2.) Andrew Kellum, Patrol Officer I, Police Department 
3.) Melinda Black, Patrol Officer I, Police Department 
4.) Dean Pinkham, Patrol Officer 1, Police Department 

III. APPROPRIATIONS 

A. Review and possible approval of Warrants, and matters related thereto. FOR 
POSSIBLE ACTION 

01/09/2018 City Council Agenda 1 



B. Review and possible approval of Print 'N Copy Warrants, and matters related 
thereto. FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

C. Review and possible approval of Great Basin Engineering Warrants, and matters 
related thereto. FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

D. Review, consideration, and possible approval to solicit bids for the City of Elko 
Water Main Removal and Replacement Project, and matters related thereto. FOR 
POSSIBLE ACTION 

This project is included in the current fiscal year budget. There are four alley 
locations targeted for replacement in this project. These locations have been 
selected based on the high volume of waterline repairs in these areas (9 this past 
year). RL 

E. Review, consideration, and possible approval to solicit equipment bids for the 
WRF- Emergency Diesel Generator Project, and matters related thereto. FOR 
POSSIBLE ACTION 

The current generator (700 KW) in undersized to run all of the necessary plant 
equipment during power outages and high flows or full plant load. A minimum 
generator size of 1000 KW is required to do that. Staff desires to solicit bids for a 
new, larger, 1250 KW generator. This project is budgeted for in the current fiscal 
year. RL 

F. Review, consideration, and possible approval to solicit construction bids for the 
WRF-Emergency Diesel Generator Project, and matters related thereto. FOR 
POSSIBLE ACTION 

The current generator (700 kW) in undersized to run all of the necessary plant 
equipment during power outages and high flows or full plant load. A minimum 
generator size of 1000 kW is required to do that. Staff desires to replace this 
generator with a larger unit (1250 kW) and solicit bids for the necessary related 
construction work to remove and replace this unit. This project is budgeted for in 
the current fiscal year. RL 

G. Review, consideration, and possible final acceptance of the Chilton Centennial 
Tower Construction Project, and matters related thereto. FOR POSSIBLE 
ACTION 

This project was awarded to YESCO in the amount of $183,860.00 on August 22, 
2017. This project had no change orders and was completed on time and in 
conformance with the plans and specifications. BT 

H. Review, consideration, and possible approval for the Fire Department to accept a 
Local Giving Grant of $2,500.00 from Wal-Mart Stores Inc. to assist with cost 
associated with fire prevention education, and matters related thereto. FOR 
POSSIBLE ACTION 

01/09/2018 City Council Agenda 2 



Wal-Mart Stores Inc. has established grants to assist local agencies to fund public 
education. The City of Elko Fire Department Prevention Bureau has been selected 
as the recipient of a $2,500.00 grant for community fire prevention education 
materials. Wal-Mart has been a great supporter of the Elko Fire Department's fire 
prevention efforts for many years. JH 

IV. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

A. Review, consideration, and possible approval of a lease agreement between the City 
of Elko and the Elko Television District, for 2,500 square feet of property located 
at Elko Regional Airport, and matters related thereto. FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

The Elko Television District is requesting to lease 2,500 square feet of property in 
the vicinity of the airport beacon, for the purposes of installing a utility building 
and related Elko Television District equipment. A copy of the proposed lease has 
been included in the agenda packet for review. CC 

V. NEW BUSINESS 

A. Review, consideration, and pdssible action to accept the resignation of Arts and 
Culture Advisory Board Member Simone Turner, and matters related thereto. FOR 
POSSIBLE ACTION 

B. 

C. 

i 

Ms. Simone Turner's letter of/resignation has been included in the agenda packet 
for review. CC i 

Review, discussion, and possible authorization to advertise for one (1) vacant 
position on the Arts and Cultu¢ Advisory Board, and matters related thereto. FOR 
POSSIBLE ACTION 

i 
i 

Arts and Culture Advisory .Iloard Member Simone Turner has submitted her 
resignation from the Board, w~ich leaves one vacant position. CC 

i 

Review, consideration, and poJsible action to modify the fees currently charged for 
I 

reuse water as defined in R~solution 2-08, and matters related thereto. FOR 
POSSIBLE ACTION 

I 

At the December 12, 2017 douncil meeting, "a Motion was made by Mayor 
Johnson, seconded by Council'1Voman Simons, to direct Staff to solicit bids for the 
WRF Fill Station less the scope of work of the electronic reader that the City of 
Elko would not bill for effluent water". 

I 

Currently, construction water i~ the only use which we bill for reuse water. RL 
I 

D. Review, consideration, and pqssible action to initiate an amendment to Title 4, 
Chapter 6 of the Elko City Code entitled "Room Tax," and matters related thereto. 
FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

01/09/2018 
I 

City Counch Agenda 
i 
i 

3 



City Staff is recommending several changes to the Room Tax Code to assist with 
reporting deadlines and auditing compliance. SO 

E. Review, consideration, and possible initiation for the adoption of the '2018 
International Existing Building Code' and possible amendments to related existing 
City Code sections and/or the model IEBC, and matters related thereto. FOR 
POSSIBLE ACTION 

F. 

G. 

The Council took action at its meeting on April, 11 2017 directing Staff to adopt 
the 2018 Building Code. Currently the City has adopted the 2009 Building code. 
During the 2015 code change cycle the international code council membership 
voted to delete Chapter 34, Existing Structures, from the 2015 IBC code and 
reference the International Existing Building Code (IEBC). As a result, the City 
will be required to adopt the International Existing Building Code as a separate 
model code. The 2015 IEBC contains more extensive provisions than Chapter 34 
of the 2009 IBC, such as seismic and energy requirements. Staff will evaluate the 
appropriateness of the level of adoption and make a recommendation to the 
Council. JF 

Review, consideration, and possible initiation for the adoption of the '2018 
International Property Maintehance Code' and possible amendments to related 
existing City Code sections arid/or the model IPMC, and matters related thereto. 
FOR POSSIBLE ACTION : 
The Council took action at its beeting on April 11th, 2017 directing Staff to adopt 
the 2018 Building Code. Currently the City has adopted the 2009 Building code. 
The 2018 Building Code contains a section entitled "International Property 
Maintenance Code". Enforcement of this code will require additional Staff and 
training. As a result, Staff is not recommending adoption of this model code. In 
addition, the adoption process would require a business impact statement. JF 

i 
Review, consideration, and discussion for the appointment of one ( 1) new member 
to the Parks and Recreation A,.dvisory Board, and matters related thereto. FOR 
POSSIBLE ACTION . 

Council authorized Staff to advertise for one (1) open position on the Parks and 
Recreation Advisory Board at~ previous meeting in early 2017. Since then, Staff 
has received three letters of interest from Ms. Katie Archuleta, Mr. Christopher 
Kentopp, and Ms. Amber Fox. All have expressed a desire to serve as a member on 
the Board. The appointment w!ill be for the remainder of the vacant term through 
June 30, 2019. JW 

I 

VI. PETITIONS, APPEALS, AND coJMUNICATIONS 
I 
I 

A. Review, consideration, and po~sible action to accept a petition for annexation of 
property to the City, filed and rrocessed as Annexation No. 3-17 by Swire Coca
Cola, Inc., consisting of appro~mately 3 acres of property located on the north side 
of West Idaho Street, and matt¢rs related thereto. FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

I 

01/09/2018 City Council Agenda 4 



B. Ratification of the Police Chief issuing a 30-day temporary Retail Liquor License 
and Caterer's Liquor License and issuing a regular Retail Liquor License and 
Caterer's Liquor License to Mai Burrows, Jaden Enterprises, LLC dba Cowboys, 
located at 442 Idaho Street, Elko, NV 89801, and matters related thereto. FOR 
POSSIBLE ACTION 

VII. 5:30 P.M. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

A. Review, consideration, and possible adoption of Resolution No. 01-18, a resolution 
of the Elko City Council amending the Elko City Master Plan Acknowledgments, 
Land Use and Transportation components, and the Land Use and Transportation 
Atlas Maps #5, #6, #8 & #12, filed as Elko City Master Plan Amendment No. 1-
17, and matters related thereto. FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

On December 5, 2017, the Planning Commission adopted its Resolution No. 1-17 
to amend the Acknowledgments, Land Use and Transportation components, and 
the Land Use and Transportation Atlas Maps #5, #6, #8 & #12 of the current Elko 
City Master Plan, and also took action to recommend City Council adopt said 
amendment via a resolution. An amendment of this type requires positive action by 
both the Planning Commission and the Council. If the Council suggests any 
changes to the Master Plan amendment as adopted by the Planning Commission, 
the Master Plan must first go back to the Planning Commission for review and 
approval. CL 

B. Review, consideration, and possible action on the Planning Commission's 
recommendation that the Council deny Zoning Ordinance Amendment 3-17, 
Ordinance No. 825, amending Title 3, Chapter 2 of the Elko City Code (entitled 
"Zoning Regulations") adding a new Section 29 entitled "Marijuana Establishments 
and Medical Marijuana Establishments Prohibited," and matters related thereto. 
FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

At its December 5, 2017 meeting, the Planning Commission considered the action 
initiated by the Council to establish a new Section 3-2-29 of the Elko City Code to 
prohibit marijuana establishments and medical marijuana establishments in all 
zoning districts. Under State law, marijuana establishments and medical marijuana 
establishments cannot be licensed in areas where such uses are precluded by 
zoning. The Planning Commission voted to recommend denial of the amendment, 
in part, because Elko City Code 4-1-5 prevents the City from issuing business 
licenses to applicants for businesses that violate Federal law, including marijuana 
establishments and medical marijuana establishments. The Council must either 
approve or deny the Planning Commission's recommendation. CL 

C. Review, consideration, and possible action on an appeal filed pursuant to Elko City 
Code 3-2-18(E)(3), appealing the Elko City Planning Commission's decision to 
deny Conditional Use Permit No. 6-17, filed by Lyfe Recovery Services, LLC., 
which seeks permission to operate a halfway house within an R (Single Family and 
Multiple Family Residential) Zoning District, located generally on the east side of 

01/09/2018 City Council Agenda 5 



Winchester Drive approximately 400 feet north of Orchard Cove Drive (1683 
Winchester Drive), and matters related thereto. FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

Pursuant to Elko City Code 3-2-25, the Council may affirm, modify or reverse the 
decision of the Planning Commission. 

The Planning Commission considered the subject conditional use permit on 
December 5, 2017 and took action to deny the conditional use permit. 
Subsequently, of the applicant appealed the Planning Commission's decision. CL 

D. Review and consideration of the Business Impact Statement for Zoning Application 
Fee increases, and matters related thereto. FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

Pursuant to NRS 237.090, a Business Impact Statement must be prepared and 
considered by the City Council prior to the adoption of a resolution increasing 
Zoning Application Fees. SO 

VIII. REPORTS 

A. Mayor and City Council 
B. City Manager 
C. Assistant City Manager 
D. Utilities Director 
E. Public Works 
F. Airport Manager 
G. City Attorney 
H. Fire Chief 
I. Police Chief 
J. City Clerk-Financial Disclosure Statement 
K. City Planner 
L. Development Manager 
M. Administrative Services Director 
N. Parks and Recreation Director 
0. Civil Engineer 
P. Building Official 

COMMENTS BY THE GENERAL PUBLIC 

Pursuant to N.R.S. 241, this time is devoted to comments by the public, if any, and 
discussion of those comments. No action may be taken upon a matter raised under this item 
on the agenda until the matter itself has been specifically included on a successive agenda 
and identified as an item for possible action. ACTION WILL NOT BE TAKEN 

NOTE: 

01/09/2018 

The Mayor, Mayor Pro Tempore, or other Presiding Officer of the City Council 
reserves the right to change the order of the agenda, and if the agenda has not been 
completed, to recess the meeting and continue on another specified date and time. 
Additionally, the City Council reserves the right to combine two or more agenda 

City Council Agenda 6 



items, and/or remove an item from the agenda, or delay discussion relating to an 
item on the agenda at any time. 

ADJOURNMENT 

01/09/2018 City Council Agenda 

Curtis Calder 
City Manager 

7 



City of Elko 
County of Elko 
State of Nevada 

) 
) 
) ss December 12, 2017 

The City Council of the City of Elko, State of Nevada met for a special meeting 
beginning at 3:30 p.m., Tuesday, December 12, 2017. 

This meeting was called to order by Mayor Chris Johnson. 

ROLL CALL 

Mayor Present: 

Council Present: 

Chris J. Johnson 

Councilman John Rice 
Councilwoman Mandy Simons 
Councilman Robert Schmidtlein arrived at 3:46pm 
Councilman Reece Keener arrived at 3:34pm 

City Staff Present: Curtis Calder, City Manager 
Scott Wilkinson, Assistant City Manager 
Shanell Owen, City Clerk 
Jeremy Draper, Development Manager 
Diann Byington, Recording Secretary 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

COMMENTS BY THE GENERAL PUBLIC 

Pursuant to N.R.S. 241, this time is devoted to comments by the public, if any, and 
discussion of those comments. No action may be taken upon a matter raised under this 
item on the agenda until the matter itself has been specifically included on a successive 
agenda and identified as an item for possible action. ACTION WILL NOT BE TAKEN 

There were no public comments. 

I. PRESENTATION 

A. Presentation of the 2017 Mayor's Arts Awards, and matters related thereto. 
INFORMATION ITEM ONLY-NON ACTION ITEM 

Mayor Johnson thanked everyone for coming to the 3rd Annual Mayor Arts Awards and thanked 
the Arts & Culture Advisory Board for all of their hard work to pull this together. He gave a 
presentation (Exhibit "A"). 

The awards were as follows: 

Chosen Artist ................................................. Barry Crawford 
Individual Artist ............................................. Sandy Beeler 
Arts Education ............................................... Patty Fox 

12/12/2017 Special City Council Minutes Page 1 of2 



Art Organization ............................................ Duncan Little Creek 
Service to the Arts .......................................... Elko Broadcasting 

COMMENTS BY THE GENERAL PUBLIC 

Pursuant to N.R.S. 241, this time is devoted to comments by the public, if any, and 
discussion of those comments. No action may be taken upon a matter raised under this 
item on the agenda until the matter itself has been specifically included on a successive 
agenda and identified as an item for possible action. ACTION WILL NOT BE TAKEN 

There were no public comments. 

There being no further business, Mayor Chris Johnson adjourned the meeting. 

Mayor Chris Johnson Shanell Owen, City Clerk 

12/12/2017 Special City Council Minutes Page 2 of2 



City of Elko 
County of Elko 
State of Nevada 

) 
) 
) ss December 12, 2017 

The City Council of the City of Elko, State of Nevada met for a regular meeting 
beginning at 4:00 p.m., Tuesday, December 12, 2017. 

This meeting was called to order by Mayor Chris Johnson. 

ROLL CALL 

Mayor Present: 

Council Present: 

Chris J. Johnson 

Councilman John Rice 
Councilwoman Mandy Simons 
Councilman Robert Schmidtlein 
Councilman Reece Keener 

City Staff Present: Curtis Calder, City Manager 
Scott Wilkinson, Assistant City Manager 
Ryan Limberg, Utilities Director 
Shanell Owen, City Clerk 
Jonnye Jund, Administrative Services Director 
Aubree Barnum, Human Resources Manager 
Cathy Laughlin, City Planner 
Ty Trouten., Police Captain 
Jeremy Draper, Development Manager 
Bob Thibault, Civil Engineer 
Jeff Ford, Building Official 
Matt Griego, Fire Chief 
John Holmes, Fire Marshal 
Jim Foster, Airport Manager 
Mike Haddenham, WRF Superintendent 
James Wiley, Parks and Recreation Director 
Dave Stanton, City Attorney 
Diann Byington, Recording Secretary 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

COMMENTS BY THE GENERAL PUBLIC 

Pursuant to N.R.S. 241, this time is devoted to comments by the public, if any, and 
discussion of those comments. No action may be taken upon a matter raised under this 
item on the agenda until the matter itself has been specifically included on a successive 
agenda and identified as an item for possible action. ACTION WILL NOT BE TAKEN 

There were no public comments. 

12/12/2017 City Council Minutes Page 1 ofll 



APPROVAL OF MINUTES: November 28, 2017 Regular Session 

The minutes were approved by general consent. 

I. PRESENTATIONS 

A. A Presentation of a Nevada L TAP Road Scholar Certificate to James Pauley, and 
matters related thereto. INFORMATION ONLY -NON ACTION ITEM 

Dennis Strickland spoke about the Nevada LT AP program and handed out information (Exhibit 
"A"). He presented James Pauley with his Road Scholar Certification. 

Paul Algerio, Street Superintendent, said this will be the first of many. There are others taking 
the classes. We may have another presentation in another month or so. 

B. Review, consideration, and possible authorization for the City of Elko to enter 
into an agreement with Building Reports/Compliance Center to provide 3rd party 
inspection reports to City of Elko Departments (Fire, Community Development, 
Water and Engineering), and matters related thereto. FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

A few years ago the previous Fire Marshal approached Council regarding the 
same type of 3rd party reporting company. However, that company (Compliance 
Engine) charges for their inspections. The current company Building, 
Reports/Compliance Center does not charge the community due to Major 
Company contributions. This reporting system will help City Departments with 
compliance reporting of required inspection. JH 

John Holmes, Fire Marshal, gave a presentation (Exhibit "B"). 

Councilman Keener asked if all of the inspection data will be hosted by this website. (Yes) 
What is the duration of the agreement? 

Mr. Holmes answered until we decide not to have it. We can cancel as long as we give a 90 day 
notice. There are no fees associated with it. 

Councilman Keener was worried that since our data will be on their site, they will start charging 
an annual fee to access it. 

Chief Griego said this will not have all of our inspection data. John will go out and do the 
annual inspections and those are on our emergency reporting. This is for specific things such as 
compliance with fire alarms. Are third parties coming in to inspect the fire alarms or backflow 
preventers? This company is helping aggregate these things; the compliance things that the city 
has to track. 

Mayor Johnson said he didn't know what this was. He stated that he has a conflict of interest 
because this reporting will benefit a company like his. He abstained from voting. Mayor Pro 
Tern Rice will finish this item. 

12/12/2017 City Council Minutes Page 2 ofll 



Mayor Pro Tern Rice asked for a motion. 

** A motion was made by Councilman Keener, seconded by Councilwoman Simons, to 
allow the city to enter into an agreement with Building Reports/Compliance Center to 
provide services outlined in the agreement. 

The motion passed. (4-0 Mayor Johnson abstained.) 

II. APPROPRIATIONS 

E. Review, consideration, and possible authorization for the transfer of ownership of 
Elko Police Department's Canine Niels to Officer Jason Checketts in exchange 
for the adoption fee of $85.00, and matters related thereto. FOR POSSIBLE 
ACTION 

Elko Police Dog Niels is a ten (10) year old Belgian Malinois who is in need of 
retirement. It is in the best interest of the City of Elko to transfer ownership of a 
highly trained Police Dog to its current handler. Officer Jason Checketts desires to 
purchase Niels. Canine Niels' selling price was determined by using the amount 
set for dog adoptions at the City of Elko Animal Shelter. BR 

Ty Trouten, Police Captain, said this is the third K9 that has retired from the Police Department. 
Niels is ten years old and showing his age with grey in the muzzle. He has been with Officer 
Checketts for the last 7 years. This is a trained animal and would need a handler that is likewise 
trained to manage and care for that animal. 

** A motion was made by Councilman Schmidtlein, seconded by Councilwoman 
Simons, to authorize Elko Police Department to transfer ownership of K9 Niels to Officer 
Jason Checketts in exchange for the adoption fee paid for by the City Council Members of 
$85.00. 

The motion passed unanimously. (5-0) 

F. Review, consideration, and possible final project acceptance and assessment of 
liquidated damages for the Elko Police Station, and matters related thereto. FOR 
POSSIBLE ACTION 

12/12/2017 

At the February 25, 2015 Council meeting, the project for the construction of the 
City of Elko Police Station was awarded to MGM Construction in the amount of 
$5, 377,979. During construction a total of nine (9) change orders were approved 
totaling $260, 949.29, approximately 4.8% of the base bid, bringing the total 
project cost to $5,638,928.29. Substantial completion for the project was issued 
on June 13, 2016, fourteen (14) days after the contract substantial completion of 
May 30, 2016. Per the contract with MGM Construction the project liquidated 
damages are assessed at a rate of $500 per day, for a total of $7,000. The final 
punch list was completed and incomplete set of as-builts and record drawing were 
provided to the City of Elko on November 7, 2017. JD 

City Council Minutes Page 3 ofll 



Mayor Johnson stated he had a conflict of interest because of his business affiliation with MGM 
Construction on another project, and he plans to bid future projects with MGM. He turned it 
over to Mayor Pro Tern Rice. 

Jeremy Draper, Development Manager, said Byron Smith from LCA was present. There was a 
letter/email in the packet from MGM Construction. A memo was sent out today rebutting 
MGM's comments. He went over the memo (included in the packet). 

Councilwoman Simons asked Mr. Stanton if number two did constitute a de facto occupancy. 

Dave Stanton, City Attorney, said moving furniture into a building does not define a substantial 
completion. He wasn't involved in contract administration and he is getting his information 
from those that were. It sounds like they are trying to key substantial completion to the date we 
started moving property into the facility. That doesn't equate to substantial completion. 

Councilwoman Simons asked about holding up a valid draw request. Was there a time stipulated 
in which we could? 

Mr. Draper said typically our contracts are 30 to 45 days. 

Councilwoman Simons asked about No. 4, the amount of retention was contrary to NRS 
338.530, but then Mr. Draper cited NRS 338.525. What does 530 say? 

Mr. Draper answered 530 deals with the payment of interest on amounts withheld improperly. If 
we hold retention over 30 days improperly we pay interest on it. NRS 338.525 deals with the 
process for holding that retainage for reasons. Part of those reasons were that we had a large 
punch list that needed to be completed. We do have to notify the contractor of those reasons and 
we did that in writing and through weekly meetings with them. 

Councilman Schmidtlein asked when the city made use of the property. 

Mr. Draper answered it was his understanding that we did that on June 5, 2016. We started 
moving furniture in two to three weeks prior to that. He references a letter dated April 11, 2016 
where we laid out the items that needed to be completed for substantial completion. Those 
included the use of the main building, the use of the accessory building and the security fence 
being completed. The security fence held them up. Once the security fence was completed we 
issued a notice of substantial completion for June 13th. 

Councilman Schmidtlein asked how many days are allowed on a punch list. Some projects are 
30 days and some are 60 days. It has been over a year? 

Mr. Draper answered if you go through the technical specifications that we identified in this 
memo, they were supposed to have all of those documents that we just got last month, to us prior 
to us asking an inspection for that substantial completion and to develop that punch list. Byron 
had several conversations with them and we went round and round with them trying to get that 
punch list done and get the documents in hand. Those didn't get to us until November 6th of this 
year, almost 18 months after we took occupancy. 

12/12/2017 City Council Minutes Page 4 ofll 



Scott Wilkinson, Assistant City Manager, said we can characterize MGM towards the end of the 
project as non-responsive. Some of the points made today were not brought to our attention at 
the time. Supposedly when we didn't process a payment in a timely manner, that wasn't 
communicated as being an issue to the City of Elko until this item was on the agenda. 

Councilman Keener said the liquidated damages are .0012% of the project cost. It is a miniscule 
amount and 18 months after the fact. The liquidated damages are put in a contract to motivate 
the contractor to get the job done in a timely manner. It is important that we enforce those. 

Mayor Pro Tern Rice asked if anyone from MGM was present. (no) 

Mr. Draper said he didn't get an indication that they would be present but he did send them a 
copy of this memo as soon as he sent it out to the Council Members. 

Councilman Schmidtlein said we need to support the design team. There were a lot of hurdles 
and weather. We did grant them an additional 123 working days gave them suitable time. He 
agreed that they were non-responsive. 

** A motion was made by Councilwoman Simons, seconded by Councilman Keener, to 
provide final acceptance of the Elko Police Station Project and assess MGM Construction 
with 14 days of liquidated damages totally $7,000. 

The motion passed. (4-0 Mayor Johnson abstained.) 

G. Review, consideration, and possible authorization to solicit bids for the WRF Fill 
Station Project, and matters related thereto. FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

This project is budgeted in the current fiscal year budget. The project would 
consist of a reuse water fill station with card reader system and would be located 
on vacant property adjacent to the WRF. 

Attached as backup is letter from NDEP dated June 27, 2016 recommending this 
project. RL 

Ryan Limberg, Utilities Director, said Lana Carter, our design engineer was present. So was the 
WRF superintendent, Mike Haddenham. There are three drivers on this project apd they all tie to 
regulations. The first regulation is the WRF discharge permit. The second is the Class B water 
regulations. The third would be the city's storm water permit regulations. We are trying to 
control public access, restrict human contact, no release off the property and no release/runoff of 
that water to the storm drain system. lfwe take the card reader assembly from the project we can 
reduce the costs. There are some other things we can do to reduce the costs but we wanted to 
create something that will last a long time and have some efficiencies for finance and other 
things. 

Councilman Schmidtlein asked how much usage is done by contractors around town. 

Mike Haddenham, WRF Superintendent, answered it was close to three million gallons. 

12/12/2017 City Council Minutes Page 5 of 11 



Councilman Schmidtlein had an issue with the card reader. We have to dispose of this anyhow. 
We are doing anything we can to distribute it on the golf course and the new sports complex. 
We should be giving it away for free. 

Councilman Keener thought that was a great point. If we offered it for free maybe there would 
there be more demand for it and there would be less that would end up in the perk pond. He 
would be in favor of doing away with the card reader system all together. 

Mr. Haddenham clarified that the card reader isn't just the computer, it is the complete fill 
system. It includes the plumbing, the fill pipe, the winter encasement to keep it from freezing in 
the winter months, and stuff like that. 

Councilwoman Simons noted we can't eliminate the full $50,000 or else we wouldn't have a fill 
pump. What portion is just the card reader? 

Mr. Limberg said if you look at the last line item, there is a fill station for $50,000. While part of 
that would still stay in there is also other parts in these costs above that would come out. As far 
as the value of reuse water, you see that increasing each year throughout communities. The 
demand for that is growing. When we have the most water is the winter time when nobody 
needs it. We want to use it all up and we don't want to be over committed. 

Councilman Rice felt this water is an asset and we should be cautious giving away assets when 
they are part of an enterprise fund. 

Mr. Limberg said the potable water is $1.50 a thousand gallons and the reuse water is $0.40 a 
1000 gallons. Staff will be fine with whatever council decides. 

Councilman Schmidtlein asked irrigating at the sports complex, if the drainage heads towards the 
river will we have fines? 

Mr. Limberg answered if it heads to the river there is no issue. If it goes into the river it is a big 
issue. We have a WRF Operating Permit that contains terms and conditions. There are several 
outfalls listed, locations where we can use that water. To get those locations listed we also have 
to have an effluent management plan for each of those locations. One of the locations we will 
have that plan for is the Sports Complex. We will have that by the time the water goes there. 
There are terms and conditions on the effluent management plans. Many of those terms and 
conditions are those that he has previously mentioned such as public access and human contact. 
When those things do occur, and they inevitably do, it is a violation of our permit and we have to 
submit data to the NDEP explaining why that happened. 

Councilman Rice felt this was a good long-term plan that takes into account costs that will be 
incurred if we don't do this. The project will pay for itself in the long run. Effluent water is an 
asset that the city controls and we need to be cautious giving it away. These things cost money 
and part of it is driven by new regulations from the state. 

Curtis Calder, City Manager, said the effluent sales over the last two years has been under 
$25,000. We are not talking about a lot of money. 

12/12/2017 City Council Minutes Page 6 ofll 



Mr. Limberg cautioned council. It isn't about the money coming in, it is about what we are 
saving by not putting in more ribs or wells. It is an important feature to have. It may not make a 
lot of money but it can potentially save a lot of money. 

Mayor Johnson said to move ahead with the project but forget about the reader. 

** A motion was made by Mayor Johnson, seconded by Councilwoman Simons, to 
direct staff to solicit bids for the WRF Fill Station less the scope of work of the electronic 
reader that the City of Elko would not bill for effluent water. 

The motion passed. (4-1 Councilman Schmidtlein voted no.) 

H. Review, consideration, and possible final acceptance for the demolition of the 
former Elko Police Station, and matters related thereto. FOR POSSIBLE 
ACTION 
At the October 10, 2017 Council meeting, Council awarded a contract to Q&D 
Construction for the demolition of the former Elko Police Station. All work has 
been completed, there were no change orders on the project, and Staff 
recommends final acceptance. JD 

Jeremy Draper, Development Manager, explained the project is complete. The value is listed in 
the agenda. The total cost to demo this, including asbestos abatement, was $241,000. 

** A motion was made by Councilman Keener, seconded by Councilman Rice, for final 
acceptance of the Demolition of the Former Elko Police Station Project. 

The motion passed unanimously. (5-0) 

III. NEW BUSINESS 

A. Review and consideration of submitted data and/or arguments as to whether the 
proposed increase in zoning application fees will impose a direct and significant 
burden upon a business or directly restrict the formation, operation, or expansion 
of a business, and matters related thereto. FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

Pursuant to NRS 237.080, the City of Elko notified trade associations or owners 
and officers of businesses which may be affected by increased zoning application 
fees. Responses were due to the City by 5:00 pm on Friday, December ist. No 
responses were received. After making a determination regarding the proposed 
rule, Staff will prepare a business impact statement which will be considered 
during a subsequent public hearing. SO 

Shanell Owen, City Clerk, explained a copy of the proposed rule notification was included in the 
packet. We mailed out 415 notices on November 3rd. The deadline to submit comments was 
December 1st

• The notice was published in the Elko Daily Free Press on November 3rd and 
posted on the City of Elko website on November 3rd• The notice was also posted at City Hall. 
There were no comments received. If Council would like to proceed with the fee increases then 

12/12/2017 City Council Minutes Page 7 ofll 



the action would be to declare that the fees proposed will not impose a direct and significant 
burden upon a business or directly restrict the formation, operation or expansion of a business. 

** A motion was made by Councilman Keener, seconded by Councilman Rice, to 
advise the Clerk's Office to move forward with an increase in Zoning Application Fees and 
the findings are that this will not impose a direct and significant burden upon a business or 
directly restrict the formation, operation or expansion of a business. 

The motion passed unanimously. (5-0) 

B. Review and possible approval of an agreement Carter Engineering, LLC, to 
Adopt-a-Street for litter collection in the public right-of-way on Cedar Street from 
D Street to 6th Street, and matters related thereto. FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

Carter Engineering, LLC, is interested in volunteering for the Adopt-a-Street 
program. Cedar Street from D Street to 6th Street is currently available for 
adoption. DS 

Dennis Strickland, Public Works Director, explained Ms. Carter was present. She has been 
gracious enough to volunteer her services to clean that area. 

** A motion was made by Councilman Schmidtlein, seconded by Councilman Rice, to 
approve the agreement with Carter Engineering, LLC to Adopt-a-Street for litter 
collection in the public right-of-way on Cedar Street from D Street to 6th Street. 

The motion passed unanimously. (5-0) 

C. Review, consideration, and possible approval of Map of Reversion to Acreage 
No. 1-17, filed by Idaho Street Properties, LLC, for the purpose of reverting to 
acreage Parcel 2 as shown on the Parcel Map File No. 684789 and Lot 1B as 
shown on Parcel Map File No. 606122, identified as APN 001-564-034 & 001-
564-043, located generally south of the intersection of Ruby Vista Drive, and 
Doerr Drive, and matters related thereto. FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

Cathy Laughlin, City Planner, explained we had an application for a rezone for these properties. 
We did approve a rezone for both to be Industrial Commercial. At that time the developer was 
thinking of using the property that is closest to the new hotel and now they plan to make a larger 
facility that will spread over the property line. It would be a requirement of ours that they 
remove that interior property line and make that into one parcel instead of two. 

** A motion was made by Councilman Schmidtlein, seconded by Councilman Keener, 
to conditionally approve Map of Reversion to Acreage No. 1-17, with conditions listed in 
the Planning Department's memo. 

The motion passed unanimously. (5-0) 

D. Review, consideration, and discussion for the appointment of one (1) new 
member to the Parks and Recreation Advisory Board, and matters related thereto. 
FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

12/12/2017 City Council Minutes Page 8 of 11 



City Council authorized Staff to advertise for an open position on the Parks and 
Recreation Advisory Board at a previous meeting in early 2017. Since then, Staff 
received one letter of interest from Andrew Storla expressing a desire to serve as a 
member on the Board. The appointment will be for a four ( 4) year term. JW 

James Wiley, Parks and Recreation Director, explained we have had a vacancy on this board for 
most of 2017. He recommended appointing Mr. Storla to a four year term while they try to fill 
the other vacancy. 

Andrew Storla, 711 Bronco Dr., Spring Creek, thanked the council for letting him serve and 
looks forward to it. 

Ryan Limberg, Utilities Director, said Mr. Storla is an employee of the Water Department. 

** A motion was made by Councilman Rice, seconded by Councilman Keener, to 
recommend approve the nomination and application of Andrew John Storla to serve on the 
Parks and Recreation Advisory Board. 

The motion passed unanimously. (5-0) 

II. APPROPRIATIONS (Cont.) 

A. Review and possible approval of Warrants, and matters related thereto. FOR 
POSSIBLE ACTION 

Councilman Schmidtlein asked about a Green Day payment. It says repair and replace drainage 
concrete at PD. Is that the old PD or the new PD? 

James Wiley, Parks and Recreation Director, answered this was at the new Police Station. On 
the rear side of the new building we have downspouts that drain into the landscape. That is an 
extremely large roof to be shedding water and snow and we have had some issues with ponding 
of water right up against the backside of the building. Our answer to that was to install this 
drainage system that takes the water from the rear around to the front. 

** A motion was made by Councilwoman Simons, seconded by Councilman 
Schmidtlein, to approve the regular warrants. 

The motion passed unanimously. (5-0) 

B. Review and possible approval of Print 'N Copy Warrants, and matters related 
thereto. FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

* * A motion was made by Councilman Rice, seconded by Councilwoman Simons, to 
approve the Print 'N Copy warrants. 

The motion passed. (4-0 Councilman Keener abstained.) 

12/12/2017 City Council Minutes Page 9 ofll 



C. Review and possible approval of Great Basin Engineering Warrants, and matters 
related thereto. FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

** A motion was made by Councilwoman Simons, seconded by Councilman Rice, to 
approve the Great Basin Engineering warrants. 

The motion passed. (4-0 Councilman Schmidtlein abstained.) 

D. Review and possible approval of Chester Plumbing and Heating, and matters 
related thereto. FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

** A motion was made by Councilwoman Simons, seconded by Councilman Keener, to 
approve the Chester Plumbing and Heating warrants. 

The motion passed. (4-0 Mayor Johnson abstained.) 

IV. REPORTS 

A. Mayor and City Council 
Councilman Keener thanked councilmembers and the Mayor for 

participating in the broadband meetings that were held this past Wednesday 
and Thursday. He thinks we will see some positive changes. 

Mayor Johnson reported on the lighting of the tower and the positive 
things people have said to him about it. 

Councilman Rice thanked the City Manager for putting together a nice 
Christmas Party. 

B. City Manager 
Dr. Jack Walther passed away recently. His obituary will probably be in 

the paper soon. We will be sending flowers on the City Council's behalf We 
are sad to see him go but he left a lasting impression on the Animal Shelter. 

C. Assistant City Manager 
Scott Wilkinson said James Wiley, Bob Thibault and he have been working 

with MGB+A to put together a base bid for the Sports Complex project. 
D. Utilities Director 

Ryan Limberg said nicely done to Council and the staff involved on the 
tower. 

E. Public Works 
Dennis Strickland reported on the leaf collection this year. 

F. Airport Manager 
James Foster reported on the FAA inspection. 

G. City Attorney 
H. Fire Chief 
I. Police Chief 

Ty Trouten thanked Council for helping Officer Checketts with the K9 
adoption. He reported on the local doctor issue. 

J. City Clerk 
K. City Planner 

12/12/2017 City Council Minutes Page 10 ofll 



L. Development Manager 
Jeremy Draper thanked council for a great centennial year. It has been a 

fun year. There was a good turnout for the tower event last weekend 
M. Administrative Services Director 
N. Parks and Recreation Director 
0. Civil Engineer 
P. Building Official 

COMMENTS BY THE GENERAL PUBLIC 

Pursuant to N.R.S. 241, this time is devoted to comments by the public, if any, and 
discussion of those comments. No action may be taken upon a matter raised under this 
item on the agenda until the matter itself has been specifically included on a successive 
agenda and identified as an item for possible action. ACTION WILL NOT BE TAKEN 

There were no public comments. 

There being no further business, Mayor Chris Johnson adjourned the meeting. 

Mayor Chris Johnson Shanell Owen, City Clerk 

12/12/2017 City Council Minutes Page 11 ofll 



Agenda Item I.A. 

Elko City Council 
Agenda Action Sheet 

1. Title: Presentation and possible approval of the Consolidated Annual Financial 
Report and Audit for the City of Elko for the Fiscal Year ending June 30, 2017, and 
matters related thereto. FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

2. Meeting Date: January 9, 2018 

3. Agenda Category: PRESENTATION 

4. Time Required: 30 Minutes 

5. Background Information: Mike Spilker with Hinton Burdick CPAs will be in 
attendance to present the City of Elko's Fiscal Year 201612017 Financial Report. JJ 

6. Budget Information: 

Appropriation Required: NIA 
Budget amount available: NI A 
Fund name: NI A 

7. Business Impact Statement: Not Required 

8. Supplemental Agenda Information: Fiscal Year 201612017 Annual Audit Report, 
Communication charged to governance, Findings & Recommendations. 

9. Recommended Motion: Approve the City of Elko's Fiscal Year 201612017 Annual 
Audit as presented. 

10. Prepared By: Jonnye Jund, Administrative Services Director 

11. Committee/Other Agency Review: 

12. Council Action: 

13. Agenda Distribution: Mike Spilker, Hinton Burdick CPAs and Advisors 
mspilker@hintonburdick.com 

Jeff Bauer, Hinton Burdick CPAs and Advisors 
ibauer@hintonburdick.com 

Created on O 1/03/2018 Council Agenda Action Sheet Page 1 of 1 



- HINTONBURDICK 
., CPAs & ADVISORS 

November 6, 2017 

To the Honorable Mayor and City Council 
City of Elko 
Elko, Nevada 

MEMBERS: 

CHAD B. ATKINSON, CPA 
KRIS J. BRAUNBERGER, CPA 
ROBERT s. Cox, CPA 
TODD B. FELTNER, CPA 
K. MARK FROST, CPA 
MORRIS J PEACOCK, CPA 

PHILLIPS. PEINE, CPA 
STEVEN D PALMER, CPA 
MICHAEL K. SPILKER, CPA 
KEVIN l. STEPHENS, CPA 
MARK E. TICHENOR, CPA 
MICHAEL J. TORGERSON, CPA 

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each 
major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of City of Elko for the year ended June 30, 
2017, and have issued our report thereon dated November 6, 2017. Professional standards require that we 
provide you with information about our responsibilities under generally accepted auditing standards (and, 
if applicable, Government Auditing Standards and the Uniform Guidance), as well as certain information 
related to the planned scope and timing of our audit. We have communicated such information in our 
letter to you dated April 18, 2017. Professional standards also require that we communicate fo you the 
following information related to our audit. 

Significant Audit Findings 

Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices 

Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. The significant 
accounting policies used by the City are described in Note 1 to the financial statements. No new 
accounting policies were adopted that had a significant effect on the financial statements. We noted no 
transactions entered into by the City during the year for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or 
consensus. All significant transactions have been recognized in the financial statements in the proper 
period. 

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are 
based on management's knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions about 
future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the 
financial statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ 
significantly from those expected. The most sensitive estimates affecting the financial statements were: 

Management's estimate of depreciation expense is based on the assigned depreciation 
lives. We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the depreciation 
lives in determining that it is reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a 
whole. 

Management's estimate of capital contributed by developers is based on the estimated 
value of the developers' construction costs. We evaluated the key factors and assumptions 
used to develop the amount of contributed capital in determining that it is reasonable in 
relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. While the procedures used by 
management to estimate these costs appear reasonable, there may be differences between 
the City's estimates and actual costs paid by developers, and these differences may be 
material. 

CEDAR CITY FLAGSTAFF HURRICANE MESQUITE PHOENIX RICHFIELD ST. GEORGE 

w1-1,w.hintonb11rdick.com 



Management's estimate of the compensated absences accrual is based on current pay rates 
and accrued vacation and sick pay hours. We evaluated the key factors and assumptions 
used to develop the compensated absences accrual in determining that it is reasonable in 
relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. 

Management's estimate of other postemployment benefit obligations payable is based on 
an independent actuarial valuation as of April 28, 2015. The key factors and assumptions 
used to develop the valuation and the accrual appear reasonable in relation to the financial 
statements taken as a whole. 

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, management's 
estimates have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by the Nevada 
Public Employee Retirement System (PERS). The City's net pension liability was 
measured as of June 30, 2016, and the total pension liability used to calculate the net 
pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. Allocations 
between governmental and business-type activities are based on the pro-rata share of 
pension contributions. The key factors and assumptions used to develop the valuation and 
the accrual appear reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. 

The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear. 

Difficulties Encountered in Peiforming the Audit 

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and completing our 
audit. 

Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements 

Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified during the 
audit, other than those that are clearly trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of 
management. Management has corrected all such misstatements. 

Disagreements with Management 

For purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a financial accounting, reporting, or 
auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to the financial 
statements or the auditor's report. We are pleased to report that no such disagreements arose during the 
course of our audit. 

Management Representations 

We have requested certain representations from management that are included m the management 
representation letter dated November 6, 2017. 

Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants 

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting 
matters, similar to obtaining a "second opinion" on certain situations. If a consultation involves 
application of an accounting principle to the City's fmancial statements or a determination of the type of 
auditor's opinion that may be expressed on those statements, our professional standards require the 
consulting accountant to check with us to determine that the consultant has all the relevant facts. To our 
knowledge, there were no such consultations with other accountants. 

Other Audit Findings or Issues 

We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing 
standards, with management each year prior to retention as the City's auditors. However, these 
discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our responses were not a 
condition to our retention. 



Other Matters 

We applied certain limited procedures to management's discussion and analysis (MD&A), Budgetary 
Comparison Schedules, pension-related schedules and the Schedule of Funding Progress for other 
postemployment benefit which are required supplementary information (RSI) that supplements the basic 
financial statements. Our procedures consisted of inquiries of management regarding the methods of 
preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to 
our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the 
basic financial statements. We did not audit the RSI and do not express an opinion or provide any 
assurance on the RSI. 

We were engaged to report on the supplementary information including the combining statements, 
individual nonmajor fund and enterprise fund budgetary comparison schedules, statistical section, and 
schedule of fees imposed subject to the provision of NRS 354.5989, as listed in the table of contents, 
which accompanies the financial statements but are not RSI. With respect to this supplementary 
information, we made certain inquiries of management and evaluated the form, content, and methods of 
preparing the information to determine that the information complies with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America, the method of preparing it has not changed from the prior 
period, and the information is appropriate and complete in relation to our audit of the financial statements. 
We compared and reconciled the supplementary information to the underlying accounting records used to 
prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves. 

We were not engaged to report on the Statistical Information, which accompanies the financial statements 
but is not RSI. We did not audit or perform other procedures on this other information and we do not 
express an opinion or provide any assurance on it. 

Restriction on Use 

This information is intended solely for the use of City Council and management of City of Elko and is not 
intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties. 

Very truly yours, 

HintonBurdick, PLLC 



MEMBERS: 

A HINTONBURDICK 
CHAD 8. ATKINSON, CPA 

KRIS J. BRAUNBERGER, CPA 

ROBERT s. Cox, CPA 

TODD 8. FELTNER, CPA 

PHILLIPS. PEINE, CPA 

STEVEN D PALMER, CPA 

MICHAEL K. SPILKER, CPA 

KEVIN L. STEPHENS, CPA 
MARKE. TICHENOR, CPA 
MICHAEL J. TORGERSON, CPA 

,., CPAs & ADVISORS K. MARK FROST, CPA 
MORRIS J PEACOCK, CPA 

Findings and Recommendations 
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2017 

The Honorable Mayor and City Council 
City of Elko, Nevada 

Professional standards require that we communicate, in writing; deficiencies in internal control over 
financial reporting that are considered significant deficiencies or material weaknesses that are identified 
during the audit of the financial statements. During our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in 
internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies; however, we did 
note one compliance findings for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017. 

INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING: 

Material Weaknesses: 

None noted. 

Significant Deficiencies: 

None noted. 

Compliance/Other: 

2017-001 

CEDAR CITY 

Interest of member of governing body 

Criteria: The requirements NRS 332.800 state: "A member of the governing body may 
not be interested, directly or indirectly, in any contract entered into by the governing 
body, but the governing body may purchase supplies, not to exceed $1,500 in the 
aggregate in any 1 calendar month, from a member of such governing body when not to 
do so would be of great inconvenience due to a lack of any other local source." 

Condition: We noted that the City made a payment to a business which is directly owned 
by one of the City Councilmembers for $3,103. We also noted that the City identified the 
billing error before payment was made and contacted the parties involved to resolve the 
situation. 

Cause: It appears that the City did not follow established procedures to ensure 
compliance with NRS 332.800. Apparently the councilmembers business is a 
subcontractor for a major supplier of the City. During a project, the materials used were 
paid for by the councilmembers business instead of allowing the City to purchase them 
directly. Thus, the $3,103 payment was a reimbursement for those materials purchased 
and an invoice was submitted to the city for payment from the Councilmembers business 
and the City paid the invoice. 

FLAGSTAFF HURRICANE MESQUITE PHOENIX RICHFIELD ST. GEORGE 

www.hintonburdick.com 



Effect: The City was not in compliance with NRS 332.800. 

Recommendation: We recommend the City follow established procedures to ensure 
compliance with NRS 332.800 and review transactions for direct or indirect conflicts 
prior to payment. 

It has been a pleasure to be of service to the City this past year. We would like to express special thanks 
to the City staff that assisted us so efficiently in this year's audit. We invite you to ask questions of us 
throughout the year as you feel it necessary and we look forward to a continued pleasant professional 
relationship. 

Sincerely, 

~,PL£C-
HintonBurdick, PLLC 
November 6, 2017 



City of Elko, Nevada 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FISCAL YEAR ENDED 
JUNE 30, 2017 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 

Table of Contents 

Page 
FINANCIAL SECTION 

Independent Auditors' Report. ................................................................................................................ 1 

Management's Discussion and Analysis ................................................................................................. 3 

Basic Financial Statements: 

Government-wide Financial Statements: 
Statement of Net Position ........................................................................................... 17 

Statement of Activities ................................................................................................ 18 

Fund Financial Statements: 
Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds ........................................................................ 20 

Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet of Governmental Funds 
to the Statement of Net Position ...................................................................... 21 

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund 
Balances - Governmental Funds ..................................................................... 22 

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and 
Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds to the 
Statement of Activities .................................................................................... 23 

Statement of Net Position - Proprietary Funds ........................................................... 24 

Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in 
Net Position - Proprietary Funds .................................................................... 25 

Statement of Cash Flows - Proprietary Funds ............................................................ 26 

Notes to the Financial Statements ............................................................................... 27 

Required Supplementary Information: 

Schedule of the Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability ........................................... 60 

Schedule of Contributions ........................................................................................................ 61 

Schedule of Funding Progress - Other Post Employment Benefit Plans ................................. 62 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund 
Balances - Budget (Budgetary Basis) and Actual- General Fund ............................ 64 

Reconciliation of the General Fund (Budgetary Basis) to the Schedule of 
Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 
General Fund (GAAP Basis) ..................................................................................... 69 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund 
Balance - Budget and Actual - Recreation Special Revenue Fund ............................ 70 

Notes to Required Supplementary Information ................................................ , ...................... 71 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 

Table of Contents (Continued) 

Supplementary Information: 

Combining and Individual Fund Statements and Schedules: 
Combining Balance Sheet- Reconciliation of the General Fund 

(Budgetary Basis) to the General Fund (GAAP Basis) .................................. 75 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance 

Budget and Actual - Revenue Stabilization Fund ......................................... 7 6 

Combining Balance Sheet - Nonmajor Governmental Funds .................................... 78 

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in 
Fund Balances - Nonmajor Governmental Funds ......................................... 80 

Schedules of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund 
Balances - Budget and Actual - Nonmajor Governmental Funds: 

Youth Recreation - Special Revenue Fund ................................................................ 82 

Municipal Court Administration Assessment - Special Revenue Fund ..................... 83 

Narcotics Task Force- Special Revenue Fund .......................................................... 84 

Elko Redevelopment Agency - Special Revenue Fund .............................................. 85 

Debt Service Fund ...................................................................................................... 86 

Capital Construction- Capital Projects Fund ............................................................. 87 

Ad Valorem - Capital Projects Fund .......................................................................... 88 

Public Improvement Development -- Capital Projects Fund ...................................... 89 

Capital Equipment Reserve - Capital Projects Fund .................................................. 90 

Facility Reserve Fund ................................................................................................. 91 

Schedules of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net 
Position - Budget and Actual - Major Enterprise Funds: 

Water Utility- Enterprise Fund .................................................................................. 93 

Sewer Utility - Enterprise Fund ................................................................................. 94 

Airport - Enterprise Fund ........................................................................................... 95 

Landfill - Enterprise Fund .......................................................................................... 96 

Golf- Enterprise Fund ............................................................................................... 97 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenses and Change in Net Position- Health 
Insurance Fund ....................................................................................................... 99 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 

Table of Contents (Continued) 

STATISTICAL SECTION: 

Schedule of Revenues and Related Capital Expenditures - Cash Basis ............................................. 103 
Summary Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - General Fund -

Budgetary Basis ..................................................................................................................... 104 
Assessed Valuation - Secured and Unsecured Property ..................................................................... 106 
Countywide Secured Tax Levies, Collection and Delinquencies ....................................................... 107 
Ten Largest Property Owners ............................................................................................................. 108 
Statewide Average and Overlapping Tax Rates .................................................................................. 109 
Statutory Debt Limitation ................................................................................................................... 110 
Outstanding Bonded Indebtedness ...................................................................................................... 111 
Annual General Obligation Debt Service Requirements .................................................................... 112 
Total and Unfunded Accrued Liabilities ............................................................................................. 114 

COMPLIANCE SECTION: 

Independent Auditors' Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
and on Compliance and Other Matters .................................................................................. 117 

Independent Auditors' Report on Compliance Applicable to Each Major Program and 
on Internal Control over Compliance Required by the Uniform Guidance and the 
Passenger Facility Charge Audit Guide for Public Agencies ................................................ 119 

Summary of Auditors' Results ............................................................................................................ 121 

Financial Statement Findings ............................................................................................................... 122 

Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs .................................................................................. 122 

Passenger Facility Program Findings and Questioned Costs .............................................................. 122 

Summary of Prior Year Findings and Questioned Costs .................................................................... 122 

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards ..................................................................................... 123 

Notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards ................................................................. 124 

Schedule of Expenditures of Passenger Facility Charges ................................................................... 125 

Independent Auditors' Report on Compliance with State Fiscal Laws .............................................. 127 

Schedule of Fees Imposed Subject to the Provisions ofNRS 354.5989 
Limitation of Fees for Business Licenses .............................................................................. 129 



This page intentionally left blank 



FINANCIAL SECTION 



-------- -- --

This page intentionally left blank 



A HINTONBURDICK 
~ CPAs & ADVISORS 

Independent Auditors' Report 

The Honorable Mayor and City Council 
City of Elko, Nevada 

Report on the Financial Statements 

MEMBERS: 
CHAD B. ATKINSON, CPA 
KRIS J. BRAUNBERGER, CPA 
ROBERTS. COX, CPA 
TODD B. FELTNER, CPA 
K. MARK FROST, CPA 
MORRIS J PEACOCK, CPA 

PHILLIPS. PEINE, CPA 
STEVEN D PALMER, CPA 
MICHAEL K. SPILKER, CPA 
KEVIN L. STEPHENS, CPA 
MARKE. TICHENOR, CPA 
MICHAEL J. TORGERSON, CPA 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type 
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Elko, Nevada, as of 
and for the year ended June 30, 2017, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively 
comprise the City's basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor's Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the 
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of 
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those 
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation 
of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we 
express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 
the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinions. 

Opinions 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective 
financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the 
aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Elko, as of June 30, 2017, and the respective changes in 
financial position, and where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

1 

CEDAR CITY FLAGSTAFF HURRICANE MESQUITE PHOENIX RICHFIELD ST. GEORGE 

www.hintonburdick.com 



Other Matters 
Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's 
discussion and analysis, the schedule of the proportionate share of the net pension liability, the schedule of 
contributions, the schedule of funding progress-other postemployment benefit plans, and the budgetary 
comparison and reconciliation information and related notes, as listed in the table of contents, be presented to 
supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial 
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential 
part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or 
historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of 
inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for 
consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge 
we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any 
assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to 
express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Other lriformation 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the City of Elko's basic financial statements. The combining statements and individual nonmajor 
fund and enterprise fund budgetary comparison schedules, statistical section, and schedule of fees imposed 
subject to the provision of NRS 354.5989 are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a 
required part of the basic financial statements. The schedule of expenditures of federal awards is presented for 
purposes of additional analysis as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, 
Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements of Federal Awards, and is 
also not a required part of the financial statements. The combining statements and individual nonmajor fund 
and enterprise fund budgetary comparison schedules and the schedule of expenditures of federal awards are the 
responsibility of management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other 
records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing 
procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including 
comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to 
prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional 
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our 
opinion, the combining statements, individual nonmajor fund and enterprise fund budgetary comparison 
schedules, and the schedule of expenditures of federal awards are fairly stated in all material respects in 
relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 

The statistical section and the schedule of fees imposed subject to the provision of NRS 354.6989 have not 
been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and, 
accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on them. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated November 6, 2017, 
on our consideration of the City's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance 
with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of 
that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on 
compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards in considering the City's internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

HintonBurdick, PLLC 

St. George, Utah 
November 6, 2017 

2 



City of Elko 
Management's Discussion and Analysis 

June 30, 2017 

The following management's discussion and analysis (MD & A) is presented to provide the reader with an overview of the financial 
activity and overall financial condition of the City of Elko (the City). 

The MD&A is a component of Required Supplementary Information and introduces the basic financial statements and provides an 
analytical overview of the City's financial activities. 

Overview of the Financial Statements 

The City's basic financial statements include the following elements: 

Government-wide Financial Statements 

Government-wide financial statements provide both long-term and short-term information about the City's overall financial condition. 
Changes in the City's financial position may be measured over time by increases and decreases in the Statement of Net Position. 
Information on how the City's net position changed during the fiscal year is presented in the Statement of Activities. 

Fund Financial Statements 

Fund financial statements focus on individual parts of the City, reporting the City's operations in more detail than the government
wide financial statements. Fund financial statements include the statements for governmental, proprietary, and fiduciary funds. 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

Notes to the financial statements provide additional information that is essential to the full understanding of the data provided in the 
government-wide and fund financial statements. 

Refer to Note 1 to the financial statements for more detailed information on the elements of the financial statements. Table 1 below 
summarizes the major features of the basic financial statements. 

Scope 

Required 
Financial 
Statements 

Accounting 
Basis and 
Measurement 
Focus 

Table 1: Major Features of the Basic Financial Statements 

Fund Financial Statements 
Government-Wide 

Financial Statements 

Entire City government 
(except Fiduciary Funds) 

Governmental Funds 

Activities of the City that 
are not proprietary or 
fiduciary 

Statement of Net Position Balance Sheet 
Statement of Activities 

Accrual accounting and 
economic resources 
focus 

Statement of Revenues, 
Expenditures, and 
Changes in Fund 
Balances 

Modified accrual 
accounting and current 
financial resources focus 

3 

Proprietary Funds 

Activities of the City 
that are operated 
similar to private 
businesses 

Fiduciary Funds 

Instances in which the 
City is the trustee agent 
for someone else's 
resources 

Statement of Net Statement of Fiduciary Net 
Position Position 
Statement of Revenues, Statement of Changes in 
Expenses, and Fiduciary Net Position 
Changes in Net Position 

Statement of Cash 
Flows 

Accrual accounting 
and economic 
resources focus 

Accrual accounting 
No measurement focus 



Type of 
Asset/Liability 
Information 

Type of 
Inflow/Outflow 
Information 

Government-Wide 
Financial Statements 

All assets and liabilities, 
both financial and 
capital, and short-term 
and long-term 

All revenues and 
expenses during the 
year, regardless of 
when cash is received 
or paid 

City of Elko 
Management's Discussion and Analysis 

June 30, 2017 

Fund Financial Statements 

Governmental Funds 

Only assets expected to 
be used up and liabilities 
that come due during the 
year or soon thereafter; 
no capital assets included 

Revenues for which 
cash is received during 
or soon after the end of 
the year. Expenditures 
when goods or services 
have been received and 
payment is due during 
the year or soon 
thereafter 

4 

Proprietary Funds 

All assets and 
liabilities, both 
financial and capital, 
and short-term and 
long-term 

All revenues and 
expenses during the 
year, regardless of 
when cash is received 
or paid 

Fiduciary Funds 

All assets and liabilities, 
both short-term and long
term 

Results of operations 
are not measured 



Condensed Statement of Net Position 

City of Elko 
Management's Discussion and Analysis 

June 30, 2017 

The largest component, $ I 11,177,626, of the City's net position reflects its investment in capital assets (i.e. land, infrastructure, 
buildings, equipment, and others), less any related debt outstanding that was needed to acquire or construct the assets. The City uses 
these capital assets to provide services to the citizens and businesses in the City; consequently, these capital assets are not available for 
future spending. Restricted net position is the next component, totaling $9,285,747. Restricted net position represents resources that 
are subject to external restrictions, constitutional provisions, or enabling legislation on how they can be used. Unrestricted net 
position totals $9,816,629 and is available for the City's operations. 

Table 2 below presents the City's condensed statement of net position as of June 30, 2017 with comparisons for June 30, 2016. These 
are derived from the government-wide statement of net position. 

Table 2: Condensed Statement of Net Position 
As of June 30, 2017 and 2016 

Government Activities Business-type Activities Total Government 
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 

Current and other 
assest $ 21,738,161 $ 22,252,480 $ 27,885,453 $ 26,903,202 $ 49,623,614 $ 49,155,682 

Capital assets 46,677,507 48,469,598 85,575,018 83,053,619 132,252,525 131,523,217 

Total assets 68,415,668 70,722,078 113,460,471 109,956,821 181,876,139 180,678,899 
Deferred outflows 

of resources 5,332,506 3,247,934 1,370,159 831,873 6,702,665 4,079,807 
Current and other 

liabilities 4,091,833 3,401,486 1,348,322 1,902,762 5,440,155 5,304,248 
Long-tenn liabilities 41,985,970 42,083,294 8,608,439 8,429,301 50,594,409 50,512,595 

Total liabilities 46,077,803 45,484,780 9,956,761 10,332,063 56,034,564 55,816,843 
Deferred inflows 

of resources 1,801,382 2,444,443 462,856 626,079 2,264,238 3,070,522 
Net position 

Net investment in 
capital assets 28,113,936 28,804,151 83,063,690 80,351,066 111,177,626 109,155,217 

Restricted 9,060,808 9,847,450 224,939 176,248 9,285,747 10,023,698 
Unrestricted (11,305,755) (12,610,812) 21,122,384 19,303,238 9,816,629 6,692,426 

Total net position S 25,868,282 S 26040182 $104 411 013 $ 221830 552 $ 130 280 002 s 1251811 341 

Overall Analysis 

Financial highlights for the City, as a whole, during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017, include the following: 

• The assets and deferred outflows ofresources of the City exceeded its liabilities and deferred inflows ofresources (net position) at 
the close of the fiscal year by $25 .8 million for governmental activities and by $104.4 million for business-type activities. 

• The City's total net position increased during the year by $4,408,661 or by 3.5 percent. Net position of governmental activities 
decreased by $171,800 or by 0.67 percent, while net assets of business-type activities increased by $4,580,461 or by 4.6 percent. 

5 



City of Elko 
Management's Discussion and Analysis 

June 30, 2017 

Condensed Statement of Activities 

Table 3 presents the City's condensed statement of activities for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017, with 
comparisons for June 30, 2016, as derived from the government-wide Statement of Activities. 

Revenues: 

Program revenues: 

Charges for Services 

Operating Grants and 

Contributions 

Capital Grants and 

Contributions 

General Revenues: 

Ad Valorem Taxes 

Consolidated Taxes 

Motor Vehicle Fuel Taxes 

Room Taxes 

Other Taxes 

Gaming Licenses 

Franchise Fees 

Miscellaneous Revenues 

Gain (loss) on Sale of Assets 

Interest Income 

Total Revenues 

Expenses: 

General government 

Judicial 

Public safety 

Public works 

Health and sanitation 

Culture and recreation 

Community support 

Interest on long-term debt 

Water 

Sewer 

Landfill 

Aiiport 

Golf 

Total Expenses 

Increase( decrease) in net 

assets before transfers 

Special Item 

Transfers 

Change in net position 

Beginning net position 

Prior period adjustment 

Ending net position 

Table 3: Condensed Statement of Activities 
For Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 

Governmental Activities 

2017 

$2,020,424 

341,270 

368,492 

5,096,380 

13,057,838 

1,186,204 

3,607,717 

116,282 

104,354 

806,375 

3,100 

106,947 

112,851 

26,928,234 

2,352,443 

311,799 

10,595,010 

5,925,232 

704,116 

6,027,580 

96,435 

577,365 

26,589,980 

338,254 

2016 

$2,173,0ll 

255,350 

595,076 

4,795,350 

13,193,107 

1,195,078 

3,472,448 

116,660 

109,051 

853,766 

18,851 

63,431 

26,841,179 

1,984,492 

313,302 

10,203,279 

5,521,001 

677,439 

3,456,505 

96,479 

532,413 

22,784,910 

4,056,269 

Business-Type Activities 

2017 2016 

$13,155,927 $12,554,105 

4,279,271 8,150,358 

(169,209) (183,789) 

147,867 90,287 

17,413,856 20,610,961 

3,550,580 

4,164,327 

1,674,231 

3,349,722 

604,587 

13,343,447 

4,070,409 

3,370,941 

4,375,283 

1,557,394 

3,405,566 

730,078 

13,439,262 

7,171,699 

Totals 

2017 2016 

$15,176,351 

$0 

$341,270 

$4,647,763 

$5,096,380 

$13,057,838 

$1,186,204 

$3,607,717 

$116,282 

$104,354 

$806,375 

$3,100 

($62,262) 

$260,718 

44,342,090 

2,352,443 

311,799 

10,595,010 

5,925,232 

704,116 

6,027,580 

96,435 

577,365 

3,550,580 

4,164,327 

1,674,231 

3,349,722 

604,587 

39,933,427 

4,408,663 

$14,727,116 

$0 

$255,350 

$8,745,434 

$4,795,350 

$13,193,107 

$1,195,078 

$3,472,448 

$116,660 

$109,051 

$853,766 

$18,851 

($183,789) 

$153,718 

47,452,140 

1,984,492 

313,302 

10,203,279 

5,521,001 

677,439 

3,456,505 

96,479 

532,413 

3,370,941 

4,375,283 

1,557,394 

3,405,566 

730,078 

36,224,172 

ll,227,968 

----'-(S_l_0,"""0_54-'--) ___ 7--'4,_34_2 ____ 5_1_0,;_05_4 ____ ('-7--'4,_34_2-'-) _________ _ 

(171,800) 4,130,6ll 

26,040,789 22,219,316 

(309,138) 

$25,868,989 $26,040,789 

6 

4,580,463 7,097,357 

99,830,550 92,424,055 

309,138 

4,408,663 11,227,968 

125,871,339 114,643,371 

$104,411,013 $99,830,550 $130,280,002 $125,871,339 



City of Elko 
Management's Discussion and Analysis 

June 30, 2017 

Condensed Statement of Activities (continued) 

Over time, increases and decreases in net position measure whether the City's financial position is improving or deteriorating. Overall 
the City's total net position increased by $4,408,661 or 3.5 percent. The net position of the governmental activities decreased by 
$171,800 or by 0.7 percent, and the net position of the business-type activities increased by $4,580,461 or by 4.6 percent. The 
following is a breakdown of the major changes that occurred during fiscal year 2017: 

The City's general revenues increased by $87,055 or 0.3 percent. The increase was a combination of increases in some revenues and 
decreases in others. Ad valorem taxes increased by $301,030 or 6.3 percent and charges for services' revenues decreased by $152,587 
or 7 percent. The majority of this was due to a decrease in building permit issuances. Transient lodging taxes increased by $135,269 
or 9.7 percent, mainly due to the opening of new hotels in the City. 

The City received a total of $4,467,763 in grants and capital contributions. The majority of the grant funds received were for the 
airport and totaled $4,279,271. The water fund received $196,010 in connection fees and the sewer fund received $220,914 in 
connection fees. 

The City's general expenditures were up with an increase of $3,805,070 or 16.7 percent from the prior year. The majority of this 
change was in the Recreation fund for $2,571,075, due to purchases and subsequent transfer of the irrigation system and bond proceed 
transfer to the Golf Fund. This was significantly below the budgeted amount of$37,846,668 by $11,256,688 or 30%. This variance is 
due in total to timing of projects which were budgeted in 2017 and were not started. The City budgets almost one hundred percent of 
resources annually to dedicate funds for large projects that are not able to be completed within a current year with current resources. 

The City's business-type activities expenditures decreased $3,269,265 or 0.4% percent due to general operating expenses and capital 
outlay reductions. Revenues for the business-type activities decreased by 4.8% due to decreased capital contributions from airport 
grants of $3,8,71,087 or 47.5 percent; the water fund experienced a decrease in connection fees of $268,101 or 58 percent; and the 
sewer fund had a decrease in connection fees of $306,755 or 58 percent. In the prior years the City had several large apartment 
complexes and hotels constructed which generated an abnormally large amount of connection fees for both the water and sewer funds. 
Airport grant funding varies greatly from year to year based on federal funding as well as the type of projects the airport has in its 
capital improvement plan. 

7 



City of Elko 
Management's Discussion and Analysis 

June 30, 2017 

Program Expenses and Revenues for Governmental Activities 

Table 4 presents program expenses and revenues for governmental activities. Overall, program revenues were not sufficient to cover 
program expenses for governmental activities. The net program expenses of these governmental activities were, therefore, supported 
by general revenues, mainly taxes. 

City Programs 

General Government 
Judicial 
Public Safety 
Public Works 
Health 
Culture & Recreation 
Debt Service - interest 
Community Support 

Totals 

Table 4: Program Expenses and Revenues 
For Governmental Activities 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 

Program 
Expenses 

$ 2,352,443 
311,799 

10,595,010 
5,925,232 

704,116 
6,027,580 

577,365 
96435 

$26.589.980 

Program 
Revenues 

$ 999,948 
124,723 
309,641 
634,084 
145,150 
514,240 

2400 
$2.730.186 

Net Program 
Expenses 

(Revenues) (a) 
2017 

$ 1,352,495 
187,076 

10,285,369 
5,291,148 

558,966 
5,513,340 

577,365 
94 035 

$23,859.794 

(a) Net program expenses are mainly supported by taxes. 

8 

Net Program 
Expenses 

(Revenues) (a) 
2016 

$ 745,760 
142,404 

9,834,947 
4,776,302 

547,780 
3,096,558 

532,413 
85 309 

SJ9,76JA73 



City of Elko 
Management's Discussion and Analysis 

June 30, 2017 

Program Expenses and Revenues for Business-type Activities 

Table 5 presents program expenses and revenues for business-type activities. Program revenues generated from business-type 
activities were sufficient to cover program expenses. 

City Programs 

Water Enterprise 
Sewer Enterprise 
Landfill Enterprise 
Airport Enterprise 
Golf Entetprise 

Totals 

Table 5: Program Expenses and Revenues 
For Business-type Activities 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 

Net Program 
Expenses 

Program Program (Revenues) 
Expenses Revenues 2017 

$ 3,350,580 $ 3,568,297 $ (217,717) 
4,164,327 6,093,882 (1,929,555) 
1,674,231 1,803,544 (129,313) 
3,349,722 2,659,375 690,347 

604,587 2,663,015 (a) (2,058,428) 
$13.143.447 $16.788.113 $ C 3.644.666) 

(a) Contributed Proceeds/Capital from Bond Proceeds for Golf Course Irrigation Project. 

9 

Net Program 
Expenses 

(Revenues) 
2016 

$ ( 515,708) 
(2,044,955) 

(160,478) 
(4,579,755) 

35,695 
$ '7,265,201) 



Fund Analysis 

City of Elko 
Management's Discussion and Analysis 

June 30, 2017 

Funds that experienced significant changes during the year are as follows: 

Governmental Funds 
At the close of the fiscal year ending June 30, 2017, the City's governmental funds reported a combined ending fund balance of 
$18,506,307, with $1,784,517 reported as unassigned fund balance, $2,703,609 reported as assigned for the next year's budget 
shortfall, $8,287,672 reported as restricted, $5,718,410 reported as committed, and the remaining amount of $12,099 as non
spendable. See Note 1 to the financial statements for an explanation of the different types of fund balance categories. 

Major Funds: 

General Fund 
Fund balance at June 30, 2017, totaled $6,285,445, which includes $1,785,220 from the revenue stabilization fund. This represents an 
increase of $232,786 for the general fund or 3.8 percent and an increase of $38,320 or 2.2 percent for the revenue stabilization fund 
during the fiscal year. The increase is mainly due to property taxes coming in higher than the prior year in the amount of$301,030. 
There was an increase in overall expenditures of$657,840 or 3.6 percent. There was a $163,424 transfer to the airport fund to pay for 
administrative and ARFF fire services as well as AIP grant matches for the Elko Regional Airport. There was also an annual transfer 
of excess fund balance to the following in compliance with City Code: revenue stabilization fund- $28,165, facility fund - $42,248, 
and capital equipment fund - $42,248. That brought the total transfers out of the general fund to $276,085. 

Recreation Fund 
Fund balance at June 30, 2017, totaled $7,291,046 of which, $50,759 is committed for the Recreation Facilities Bond payment for the 
following year. In addition, $5,937,414 is restricted for recreation facilities associated with the bond issue. This is a decrease of 
$478,657 or 6.2 percent during the fiscal year. Transient lodging tax increased $135,269 or 3.9 percent mainly due to the construction 
of new properties within the City. Total expenditures for the fund were $2,966,278 which included replacement of the swimming pool 
boiler for $208,599; $8,614 for the sports complex design; and $994,938 for the golf course irrigation upgrade project. 

Nonmajor funds: 

Ad Valorem Capital Projects Fund 
Fund balance at June 30, 2017, totaled $631,880, which is a increase of$69,662 or 12.4 percent during the fiscal year. The City had 
one major project in the Ad Valorem Capital Projects fund for fiscal year 2017 totaling $486,953 for the Flagview Safe Routes to 
School sidewalk, curb and gutter project. The project was funded 100% by the City. This fund is used to leverage grant funding for 
infrastructure projects in the City. The total revenue received from the $0.05 cent property tax for capital projects was $293,814. 

Capital Equipment Reserve Fund 
Fund balance at June 30, 2017, totaled $1,234,356, which is an increase of $324,257 or 35.6 percent during the fiscal year. The City 
uses this fund for all major equipment purchases for governmental funds including fire trucks and police squad cars. The City made 
multiple purchases from this fund in fiscal year 2016/2017; purchases for general government totaled $56,392 which were for 
computer information systems equipment; equipment purchases for public safety departments totaled $270,047; and equipment 
purchases for public works departments totaled $191,397. 

Capital Construction Fund 
Fund balance at June 30, 2017 totaled $498,511, which is a decrease of$507,131 or 50.4 percent. The City had one major project in 
the Capital Construction fund for fiscal year 2017 which was the Cedar Street Reconstruction Phase I project totaling $1,343,558. 
These monies are accumulated over several years until such time there are sufficient resources to fund major street construction or 
reconstruction projects. The City will be starting the Cedar Street Phase II project in FY 2018 and will continue accumulating funds 
for the project. 

Redevelopment Fund 
Fund balance at June 30, 2017 totaled $931,314 which is an increase of$302,554 or 48.2 percent. The only expenses was $24,646; 
$8,440 for legal and consulting fees related to redevelopment and $15,949 for engineering of the Chilton Centennial Tower in the 
downtown corridor. Total tax revenues for the fund for fiscal year 2017 were $322,484. 

10 



Proprietary Funds 

City of Elko 
Management's Discussion and Analysis 

June 30, 2017 

The City's proprietary funds reported net position of$104,414,013 for fiscal year ending June 30, 2017. Following is a list of the 
proprietary funds and their respective net position at June 30, 2017 and 2016 with the percentage change. 

Fund June 30, 2017 June 30. 2016 Change %Change 
Water Enterprise $23,469,699 $23,424,356 $ 45,343 0.2% 
Sewer Enterprise 40,985,132 39,098,835 1,886,297 4.8% 
Landfill Enterprise 3,130,696 2,991,927 138,769 4.6% 
Airport Enterprise 32,952,196 33,177,607 (225,411) (0.7%) 
Golf Enterprise 3,876,290 1,137,827 2,738,463 (a) 240.7% 

Total Net Position $104.414.013 $99.830.552 $4.583.461 4.6% 

(a) Contributed Proceeds/Capital from Bond Proceeds for Golf Course Irrigation Project 

11 



Capital Asset and Long-term Debt Activity 

Capital Asset Activity 

City of Elko 
Management's Discussion and Analysis 

June 30, 2017 

At June 30, 2017, the City reported $46.7 million in capital assets for governmental activities and $85.6 million in capital assets for 
business-type activities. Major capital asset additions for the governmental activities were $128,675, for upgrades to information 
systems equipment and infrastructure; $265,187 in public safety vehicles, equipment and facility improvements; $2,043,204 in public 
works projects which included the Cedar Street Phase I reconstruction project as well as the Flagview sidewalk, curb and gutter 
project; and various equipment purchases totaling $212,693. 

Major capital additions for business-type activities for projects included $219,377 for the Exit 298 water line project; $225,774 for the 
water meter pit project and improvements on Cedar Street; as well as $438,131 for a hydro excavation truck and an additional 
$243,623 for various equipment purchases in the water fund. $1,156,663 for an odor control load out facility; $385,143 for 
improvements to Hot Springs Road; $155,941 for a new sewer line on Ruby Vista Drive; $132,846 for a sewer slip line project; 
$110,359 for primary digester improvements; and $151,107 for various equipment purchases in the sewer fund. $523,600 for a new 
refuse compactor; $46,240 for fencing; $33,699 for equipment purchases in the landfill fund. $111,307 for snow removal equipment; 
$323,844 on the airport 10 year master plan update; and $135,514 on various equipment and small projects in the airport fund; 
$1,058,901 for the golf course irrigation project and $12,000 for cultivation equipment purchases in the golf course fund. Refer to 
Notes 6 and 11 to the financial statements for additional information on capital assets. 

Long-term Debt Activity 

Long-term debt outstanding at June 30, 2017, excluding the annual required contribution for other post-employment benefits and the 
net pension liability, totaled $22,713,536, a decrease of 5.27 percent when compared to the prior year. 

As of June 30, 2017, the City of Elko had a bond rating of AA- from Standard & Poors Rating Services on the Airport Improvement 
Bonds, Series 2009A and Series 2009B as well as the 2015 Limited Tax Recreational Facilities Bonds and the 2010 Limited Tax 
Street Bonds. 

As of June 30, 2017, the City of Elko had $20,370,000 of general obligation debt outstanding, which is subject to the legal debt 
margin. This is well below the legal limit of$148,509,560 by $128,139,560. Refer to Note 7 of the financial statements for additional 
information on long-term debt. 

Economic Factors and Next Year's Budget and Rates 

The user fees for water users remained unchanged in fiscal year 2017/2018; there has been no change for the last eight years. The last 
sewer user fee increase was in fiscal year 2012/2013 to help fund minor shortfalls in required resources. During the year, there was a 
small increase to landfill tonnage fees to offset increased operating and capital costs in the fund. All fees are reviewed annually to 
determine whether increases are required to properly fund operational expenses as well as capital projects for both replacement and 
new capital purchases. 

The consolidated tax revenues increased $53,542 or 4.9 percent for fiscal year 2016/2017. In fiscal year 2017/2018 we have seen a 
slight increase of 1 percent in consolidated tax revenues for the first three months and the revenues are $261,395 above the budget for 
the same period. As consolidated tax revenues make up over 65 percent of the general fund revenues, any fluctuations either positive 
or negative can have significant impacts on the City's ability to provide the required services to its citizens. It is the City's policy to 
put most of the excess revenues into one time purchases for much needed improvements in capital projects as well as equipment 
purchases. This puts the City in a much better situation going forward as we don't increase staffing with the increased consolidated 
tax revenues. We will monitor all economic situations to determine whether any adjustments need to be made in order to keep the 
City fiscally sound. 

All of these factors were considered in preparing the City ofElko's budget for the 2018 fiscal year. 

12 



Requests for Information 

City of Elko 
Management's Discussion and Analysis 

June 30, 2017 

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the financial activity of the City of Elko to all having an interest in 
the City of Elko. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests of additional financial information 
should be addressed to the City of Elko Finance Department, 1751 College Avenue, Elko, Nevada 89801. 

13 



This page intentionally left blank 

14 



BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

15 



This page intentionally left blank 

16 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Statement of Net Position 

June 30, 2017 

Governmental Business-type 
Activities Activities Total 

Assets 

Cash and investments $ 11,384,119 $ 26,091,220 $ 37,475,339 
Receivables (net of allowance) 3,723,774 1,490,987 5,214,761 
Interest receivable 947 25,019 25,966 
Inventories and prepaids 81,462 51,999 133,461 
Restricted assets: 

Temporarily restricted: 

Cash and investments 6,547,859 226,228 6,774,087 
Capital assets (net of accumulated depreciation): 

Land and water rights 432,912 1,677,189 2,110,101 
Buildings 9,332,190 6,644,609 15,976,799 
Improvements 6,523,729 39,499,132 46,022,861 
Infrastructure 23,369,123 29,477,652 52,846,775 
Machinery, equipment, and vehicles 6,344,587 6,677,368 13,021,955 
Construction-in-progress 674,966 1,599,068 2,274,034 

Total assets 68,415,668 1132460,471 18128762139 

Deferred outflows of resources 

Deferred outflows related to pensions 5,332,506 12370,159 627022665 

Liabilities 

Accounts payable and other current liabilities 1,570,519 643,611 2,214,130 
Retainage payable 50,001 289,203 339,204 
Unearned revenue 218,175 7,503 225,678 
Refundable deposits 293,639 40,808 334,447 
Accrued interest 132,607 31,670 164,277 
Noncurrent liabilities: 

Due within one year 1,826,892 335,527 2,162,419 
Due in more than one year 41,985,970 8,608,439 502594,409 

Total liabilities 46,077,803 9,956,761 56,034,564 

Deferred inflows of resources 

Deferred inflows related to pensions 1,801,382 462,856 2,264,238 

Net position 

Net investment in capital assets 28,113,936 83,063,690 111,177,626 
Restricted for: 

Debt service 477,838 185,420 663,258 
Capital projects 6,584,889 6,584,889 
Judicial 109,038 109,038 

Elko Redevelopment Agency 931,314 931,314 
Health insurance claims 957,729 957,729 
Refundable deposits 39,519 39,519 

Unrestricted {11,305,755} 21,122,384 92816,629 
Total net position $ 25,868,989 $ 104,411,013 $ 13012sopo2 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 

17 



Functions/Programs 

Governmental activities: 

General government 

Judicial 

Public safety 

Public works 

Health 

Culture and recreation 

CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Statement of Activities 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 

Charges for 

Expenses Services 

$ 2,352,443 $ 633,616 
311,799 124,723 

10,595,010 173,689 
5,925,232 634,084 

704,116 128,837 
6,027,580 325,475 

Program Revenues 

Operating Capital 
Grants & Grants & 

Contributions Contributions 

$ $ 366,332 

135,952 

16,313 
186,605 2,160 

Community support and development 96,435 2,400 
Interest on long-term debt 577,365 

Total governmental activities 26,589,980 

Business-type activities: 

Water 3,550,580 
Sewer 4,164,327 
Airport 3,349,722 
Landfill 1,674,231 
Golf 604,587 

Total business-type activities 13,343,447 

Total primary government $ 39,933,427 $ 

2,020,424 

3,372,287 
5,872,968 
1,460,043 
1,803,544 

647,085 
13,155,927 

15,176,351 $ 

General revenues: 

Taxes: 

Ad valorem taxes 

Consolidated tax 

341,270 

341,270 

Motor vehicle fuel taxes 

Room tax 
Other 

Gaming licenses 

Franchise fees 

Miscellaneous 

$ 

Gain (loss) on disposal of capital assets 

Unrestricted investment earnings 

Transfers 

Total general revenues and transfers 

Change in net position 

Net position - beginning 

Net position - ending 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 

18 

368,492 

196,010 
220,914 

1,199,332 

2,663,015 
4,279,271 

4,647,763 



Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Position 

Governmental Business-type 

Activities Activities Total 

$ (1,352,495) $ $ (1,352,495) 
(187,076) (187,076) 

(10,285,369) ( I 0,285,369) 
(5,291,148) (5,291,148) 

(558,966) (558,966) 
(5,513,340) (5,513,340) 

(94,035) (94,035) 
(577,365} (577,365} 

(23,859,794} (23,859,794} 

17,717 17,717 
1,929,555 1,929,555 
(690,347) (690,347) 
129,313 129,313 

2,705,513 2,705,513 
4,091,751 4,091,751 

5,096,380 5,096,380 
13,057,838 13,057,838 
1,186,204 1,186,204 
3,607,717 3,607,717 

116,282 116,282 
104,354 104,354 
806,375 806,375 

3,100 3,100 
106,947 (169,209) (62,262) 
112,851 147,867 260,718 

(510,054} 510,054 
23,687,994 488,712 24,176,706 

(171,800) 4,580,463 4,408,663 
26,040,789 99,830,550 125,871,339 

$ 25,868,989 $ 104,411,013 $ 130,280,002 

19 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Balance Sheet 

Governmental Funds 
June 30, 2017 

Special 
Revenue 

Other Total 
Recreation Governmental Governmental 

General Fund Fund Funds Funds 
Assets 
Cash and investments $ 4,679,473 $ 1,186,898 $ 4,522,686 $ 10,389,057 
Receivables: 

Property taxes 43,652 31,165 74,817 
Room taxes receivable 503,935 503,935 
Interest receivable 4,271 6,796 4,711 15,778 
Other 201,519 13,210 329 215,058 

Due from other governments 2,519,503 392,655 2,912,158 
Inventories and prepaids 12,099 12,099 
Restricted cash and investments 5,988,173 559,686 6,547,859 

Total assets $ 7,460,517 $ 7,699,012 $ 5,511,232 $ 20,670,761 

Liabilities 
Accounts payable $ 548,422 $ 150,821 $ 54,404 $ 753,647 
Retainage payable 50,001 50,001 
Accrued liabilities 440,424 7,078 447,502 
Due to other governments 2,554 257,145 259,699 
Customer deposits 16,149 277,490 293,639 
Unearned revenue 123,871 94,304 218,175 

Total liabilities 1,131,420 407,966 483,277 2,022,663 

Deferred inflows ofresources 
Unavailable revenue - fuel taxes 66,974 66,974 
Unavailable revenue - property taxes 43,652 31,165 74,817 
Total deferred inflows of resources 43,652 98,139 141 791 

Fund balances 
Nonspendable: 

Inventories and prepaids 12,099 12,099 
Restricted for: 

Debt service 50,759 559,686 610,445 
Judicial 109,038 109,038 
Capital projects 5,937,414 647,475 6,584,889 
Public Safety 3,139 3,139 
Culture and recreation 48,847 48,847 
Redevelopment Agency 931,314 931,314 

Committed: 

Revenue stabilization 1,785,220 1,785,220 
Debt service 675,808 675,808 
Capital projects 1,302,873 1,954,509 3,257,382 

Assigned to: 

Next year's budget appropriation 2,703,609 2,703,609 
Unassigned 1,784,517 1,784,517 

Total fund balances 6,285,445 7,291,046 4,929,816 182506207 
Total liabilities, deferred inflows 

of resources, and fund balances $ 7,460,517 $ 7,699,012 $ 5,511,232 $ 20,670,761 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 

20 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet of Governmental Funds 

to the Statement of Net Position 
June 30, 2017 

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are 

different because: 

Total fund balances - total governmental funds 

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not fmancial resources and, 
therefore, are not reported in the funds. 

Governmental capital assets 

Accumulated depreciation 

$ 76,770;2.73 

(30,092,766) 

Some liabilities, including bonds payable, and interest payable are not due and 
payable in the current period and therefore are not reported in the funds. 

Bonds payable $ (17,870,000) 

Premium on bonds payable (693,571) 
Interest payable (132,607) 

Compensated absences (1,380,034) 

Other postemployment benefits liability (2,121,564) 

Net pension liability (21,747,693) 

Unavailable revenue associated with property taxes is recogniz.ed as revenue in 
the government-wide statements. 

An internal service fund is used by management to charge the costs of the self
funded health insurance program for City employees, dependents and retirees. 

The assets and liabilities of the internal service fund are included in 

governmental activities in the statement of net position. 

Deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions are applicable to 

future reporting periods and, therefore, are not reported in the funds. 

Deferred outflows related to pensions $ 

Deferred inflows related to pensions 

Net position of governmental activities 

5,332,506 

(1,801,382) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 

21 

$ 18,506,307 

46,677,507 

(43,945,469) 

141,791 

957,729 

3,531,124 

$ 25,868,989 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 

Governmental Funds 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 

Special 

Revenue 
Other Total 

Recreation Governmental Governmental 
General Fund Funds Funds 

Revenues 
Taxes $ 2,990,916 $ 3,607,717 $ 2,105,463 $ 8,704,096 
Licenses, permits and fees 1,626,787 1,626,787 
Intergovernmental revenue 13,352,210 1,576,403 14,928,613 
Charges for services 865,232 159,841 1,025,073 
Fines and forfeitures 114,464 114,464 
Other revenues 203,489 128,134 145,596 477,219 
Investment earnings 24,320 58,223 26,261 108,804 

Total revenues 19,177,418 3,794,074 4,013,564 26,985,056 

Expenditures 
Current: 

General government 2,255,979 5,310 2,261,289 
Judicial 321,273 321,273 
Public safety 10,150,217 25,670 10,175,887 
Public works 4,235,632 24,646 4,260,278 
Health 693,333 693,333 
Culture and recreation 1,225,183 1,754,392 197,529 3,177,104 
Community support and development 99,362 99,362 

Debt service: 

Principal 1,060,000 1,060,000 
Interest 626,915 626,915 

Capital outlay 1,211,886 2,511,780 3,723,666 

Total expenditures 18,980,979 2,966,278 4,451,850 26,399,107 

Excess ( deficiency) of revenues 

over (under) expenditures 196,439 827,796 {438,286} 585,949 

Other financing sources (uses) 
Transfers in 312,432 760,052 1,072,484 
Transfers out {276,085} {1,306,453} {1,582,538} 

Total other financing sources (uses: 36,347 {1,306,453} 760,052 {510,054} 

Net change in fund balances 232,786 (478,657) 321,766 75,895 

Fund balances, beginning of year 6,052,659 7,769,703 4,608,050 18,430,412 

Fund balances, end of year $ 6,285,445 $ 7,291,046 $ 4,929,816 $ 18,506,307 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 

22 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, 

Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds 
to the Statement of Activities 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are 

different because: 

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds 

Uovernmental tunds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the 

statement of activities, the costs of those assets is allocated over their estimated 

useful lives and reported as depreciation expense. This is the difference between 

depreciation expense and capital outlay in the current period. 

Capital outlay $ 

Depreciation expense 

3,794,149 

(2,735,032) 

The statement of activities reports losses from capital asset deletions. Conversely, 

governmental funds do not report any gain or loss on the retirement of capital 

assets. 

Repayment of bond principal is an expenditure in the governmental funds, but the 

repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the statement of net position. 

Governmental funds report the effect of premiums, discounts, and similar items 

when debt is first issued, whereas these amounts are deferred and amortized in 

the statement of activities. 
Amortization of premium on bonds 

Accrued interest for long-term debt is not reported as an expenditure for the 

current period while it is recorded in the statement of activities. This adjustment 

reflects the change in interest payable. 

Because some property taxes will not be collected in time to pay for obligations in 

the current period, they are not considered available revenues in the governmental 

funds and are instead reported as deferred revenues. These revenues are 

accounted for as revenue in the statement of activities. 

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of the self

funded health insurance program for City employees, dependents and retirees to 

individual funds. 

Pension contributions are reported as expenditures in the governmental funds 

when made. However, they are reported as deferred outflows ofresources in the 

statement of net position because the net pension liability is measured a year 

before the government's report date. Pension expense, which is the change in the 

net pension liability adjusted for changes in deferred outflows and inflows of 

resources related to pensions, is reported in the statement of activities. · 

Pension contributions $ 2,728,328 

Pension expense (2,855,447) 

Compensated absences and other postemployment benefit obligation expenses 

reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of current fmancial 

resources and therefore are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds. 

This adjustment reflects the change in compensated absences and other 

postemployment benefit obligations. 

Change in net position of governmental activities 

$ 75,895 

1,059,117 

(2,851,208) 

1,060,000 

41,875 

7,675 

(60,868) 

599,523 

(127,119) 

23,310 

$ (171,800) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
23 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Statement of Net Position 

Proprietary Funds 
June 30, 2017 

Business-type Activities 

Total 
Water Fund Sewer Fund Airport Fund Landfill Fund Golf Fund Ente!)2rise Funds 

Assets 

Current assets: 
Cash and investments $ 8,018,826 $ 15,428,877 $ 742,824 $ 1,232,752 $ 667,941 $ 
Receivables 340,491 593,729 35,355 230,801 1,391 

Due from other governments 289,220 
Interest receivable 7,658 14,684 866 1,185 626 

Inventory 51,999 

Prepaid expense 

Total current assets 8,418,974 16,037,290 1,068,265 1,464,738 669,958 

Noncurrent assets: 

Restricted cash and investments 39,519 185,420 1,289 

Capital assets: 

Land and water rights 573,740 207,668 884,269 2,467 9,045 

Buildings 1,665,568 1,791,956 6,120,631 668,955 782,983 

Improvements 20,299,349 46,853,019 118,341 1,064,624 3,228,933 

Infrastructure 681,773 48,573,657 
Machinery, equipment and vehicles 2,617,330 2,960,311 3,561,579 2,999,260 692,865 
Construction-in-progress 35,684 230,394 1,332,990 

Less accumulated depreciation (9,039,707} (25J00,372l (25,203,052} (1,881,833} (1,057,409} 
Total noncurrent assets 16,873J56 26,842,976 35,573,835 2,854,762 3,656,417 

Total assets 25,292,230 42,880,266 36,642,100 4,319,500 4,326,375 

Deferred outflows of resources 
Deferred outflows related to pensions 409 533 393 112 201J14 267,436 98864 

Liabilities 
Current liabilities: 

Accounts payable 150,211 249,807 40,984 50,152 19,694 

Retainage payable 289,203 

Accrued liabilities 43,039 37,032 15,728 25,406 11,558 
Refundable deposits 39,519 1,289 

Accrued interest 31,670 
Unearned revenue 7,503 

Compensated absences 19,020 48,497 13,176 39,817 8,792 

Bonds payable - current 206J25 
Total current liabilities 251,789 335,336 604,489 116,664 40,044 

Noncurrent liabilities: 

Compensated absences 19,019 48,497 13,176 39,818 8,791 
Other postemployment benefits obligation 155,703 168,379 79,762 118,723 63,515 

Bonds payable 2,305,103 

Net pension liability 1,670,208 1,603,236 820,616 1,090,692 403,201 

Total noncurrent liabilities 1,844,930 1,820,112 3,218,657 1,249,233 475,507 
Total liabilities 2,096,719 2,155,448 3,823,146 1,365,897 515,551 

Deferred inflows of resources 
Deferred inflows related to pensions 138,345 132,798 67,972 90,343 33,398 

Net position 
Net investment in capital assets 16,833,737 26,842,976 32,877,087 2,853,473 3,656,417 

Restricted for group health insurance claims 

Restricted for debt service 185,420 

Restricted for refundable deposits 39,519 

Unrestricted 6,593,443 14,142,156 (110,311} 277J23 219 873 
Total net position $ 23!4661699 $ 4019851132 $ 32,9521196 $ 3!130!696 $ 31876J:.90 $ 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
24 

26,091,220 

1,201,767 

289,220 

25,019 

51,999 

27,659,225 

226,228 

1,677,189 

11,030,093 

71,564,266 

49,255,430 

12,831,345 

1,599,068 

(62J82J73} 

85,801J46 

113,460,471 

1J70,159 

510,848 

289,203 

132,763 
40,808 

31,670 

7,503 

129,302 

206,225 

1J48,322 

129,301 

586,082 

2,305,103 

5,587,953 

8,608,439 

9,956,761 

462,856 

83,063,690 

185,420 

39,519 

21,122,384 

1041411p13 

Governmental 

Activities 

Internal 

Service Fund 

$ 995,062 

2,028 

947 

69J63 

1,067,400 

1,067,400 

109,671 

109,671 

109 671 

957,729 

$ 957?29 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 

Proprietary Funds 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 

Business-type Activities 

Water Fund Sewer Fund Airport Fund Landfill Fund Golf Fund 
Operating revenues 

Service fees $ 3,268,235 $ 2,915,762 $ 242,000 $ 1,750,667 $ 641,040 
Intergovernmental revenue 19,108 
Other revenues 104,052 20,324 1,198,935 52,877 6,045 

Total operating revenues 3,372,287 2,936,086 1,460,043 1,803,544 647,085 

Operating expenses 

Salaries 829,328 720,947 338,655 522,121 252,579 
Employee benefits 570,238 366,764 101,008 270,911 52,678 
Service, supplies and other 1,608,342 1,749,515 413,853 679,669 235,221 
Depreciation expense 542,672 1,327,101 2,368,673 201,530 64,109 

Total operating expenses 3,550,580 4,164,327 3,222,189 1,674,231 604587 

Operating income (loss) {178,293} {1,228,241} {1,762,146} 129,313 42,498 

Nonoperating revenues (expenses) 

Sewer improvement fees 2,936,882 

Interest income 47,033 85,316 4,458 7,841 3,219 
Gain/(loss) on disposals of 
capital assets (22,405) (128,574) (23,783) 1,615 3,938 
Interest expense {127,533} 

Total nonoperating revenues 
(expenses) 24,628 2,893,624 {146,858} 9,456 7,157 

Income (loss) before grants, 
contnbutions and transfers (153,665) 1,665,383 (1,909,004) 138,769 49,655 

Grant income 1,199,332 

Capital contnbutions 196,010 220,914 2,663,015 
Transfers in 484,261 25,793 

Change in net position 42,345 1,886,297 (225,411) 138,769 2,738,463 

Total net position, beginning of year 23,424,354 39,098,835 33,177,607 2,991,927 1,137,827 

Total net position, end of year $ 23,466,699 $ 40,985,132 $ 32,952,196 $ 3,130,696 $ 3,876,290 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
25 

Governmental 
Activities 

Total Internal 

Ente!Erise Funds Service Fund 

$ 8,817,704 $ 2,151,256 
19,108 

1,382,233 

10,219,045 2,151,256 

2,663,630 
1,361,599 1,555,778 
4,686,600 
4,504,085 

13J15,914 1,555,778 

{2,996,869} 595,478 

2,936,882 

147,867 4,045 

(169,209) 

{1272533} 

2,788,007 4,045 

(208,862) 599,523 

1,199,332 
3,079,939 

510,054 

4,580,463 599,523 

992830,550 358,206 

$ 104,411,013 $ 957,729 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Statement of Cash Flows 

Proprietary Funds 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 

Governmental 
Business-type Activities Activities 

Total Internal 
Water Fund Sewer Fund Airport Fund Landfill Fund Golf fund Enterprise Funds Service Fund 

Cash flows from operating activities: 
Cash received from customers, service fees $ 3,313,496 $ 2,858,963 $ 342,018 $ 1,648,323 $ 640,832 $ 8,803,632 $ 2,150,138 
Cash received from customers, 
capacity fees and other 104,052 20,324 1,218,043 52,877 6,045 1,401,341 
Cash paid to suppliers (1,918,414) (1,599,071) (798,452) (695,598) (233,561) (5,245,096) (111,797) 
Cash paid to employees (1,274,809) (1,068,317) (511,193) (764,168) (383,770) (4,002J57) (1,555,778) 

Net cash flows from operating activities 224,325 211,899 250,416 241,434 29,546 957620 482,563 

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities: 
Transfer from (to) other funds 484,261 25,793 510,054 

Cash flows from capital and related 
financing activities: 

Grant revenue 1,199,332 1,199,332 
Cash received from customer contributions 196,010 220,914 416,924 
Cash received for capital improvement user fee 2,936,882 2,936,882 
Principal paid on capital debt (190,000) (190,000) 
Interest paid on capital debt (130,836) (130,836) 
Acquisition and constructi:m of capital assets (1,232,180) (2,221,915) (1,020,153) (603,539) (11,392) (5,089,179) 
Proceeds from capital asset disposals 3,040 546 1,615 3,938 9,139 

Net cash flows from capital and related 
fmancing activities (1,033,130) 935,881 (141,111) (601,924) (7,454) (847,738) 

Cash flows from investing activities: 
Interest on investments 43,844 78119 3,682 7,473 2,747 135,865 3,345 

Net change in cash and investments (764,961) 1,225,899 597,248 (353,017) 50,632 755,801 485,908 
Cash and investments, including restricted, 

beginning of year 8,823,306 14J02,978 330,996 1,587,058 617,309 25,561,647 509154 
Cash and investments, including restricted, 

end of year $ 8,058,345 $ 15,428,877 $ 928,244 $ 1,234,041 $ 667,941 $ 26,317,448 $ 995,062 

Reconciliation of operating income to net cash 
flows from operating activities: 

Operating income (loss) $ (178,293) $ (1,228,241) $ (1,762,146) $ 129,313 $ 42,498 (2,996,869) $ 595,478 
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) 
to net cash flows from operating activities 

Depreciation expense 542,672 1,327,101 2,368,673 201,530 64,109 4,504,085 
Pension expense 333,818 219,329 31,390 155,160 8,851 748,548 
Pension contributions (209,534) (201,132) (102,949) (136,831) (50,583) (701,029) 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 

(Increase) decrease in receivables 5,742 (56,793) 100,018 (102,425) (208) (53,666) (1,118) 
(Increase) decrease in inventories 24,218 24,218 
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses (69,363) 
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable (334,290) 150,444 (384,599) (15,929) 1,660 (582,714) (42,434) 
Increase (decrease) in accrued liabilities 8,217 4,896 1,666 4,401 (589) 18,591 
Increase (decrease) in customer deposits 39,519 (6) 81 39,594 
Increase (decrease) in other 
postemployment benefits (5,507) (5,955) (2,821) (4,199) (2,246) (20,728) 
Increase (decrease) in 
compensated absences payable (2,237) 2J56 1,184 10,333 (33,946) (22,410) 

Net cash flows from operating activities $ 224,325 $ 211,899 $ 250,416 $ 241,434 $ 29,546 $ 957,620 $ 482,563 

Noncash investing, capital, and financing activities: 

Acquisition of capital assets with payables $ 98,028 $ 849 $ 449,485 $ $ $ 548,362 $ 
Acquisition of capital assets via contributions $ $ $ $ $ 2,663,015 $ 2,663,015 $ 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
26 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

June 30, 2017 

NOTE 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

The financial statements of the City of Elko, State of Nevada (City) have been prepared in conformity 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) as applied to 
government units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard
setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. A summary of 
the more significant accounting policies consistently applied in the preparation of the accompanying 
financial statements follows: 

Reporting entity 

The City of Elko, Nevada (City) was incorporated on April 15, 1917. The City is a municipal corporation 
governed by an elected mayor and four members of a City Council. The accompanying financial 
statements present all activities of the City and its blended component unit, an entity for which the City is 
considered to be financially accountable. The blended component unit is, in substance, part of the City's 
operations, even though it is a separate legal entity Thus the following blended unit is appropriately 
presented as a fund of the primary government. 

Elko Redevelopment Agency 

Although legally separate from the City, the Elko Redevelopment Agency is governed by a Board 
comprised of the City Council and Mayor. 

Description of government-wide financial statements 

The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the statement of 
activities) report information on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the primary government and its 
component units. All fiduciary activities are reported only in the fund financial statements. Governmental 
activities, which normally are supported by taxes, intergovernmental revenues, and other nonexchange 
transactions, are reported separately from business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on 
fees and charges to external customers for support. Likewise, when applicable, the primary government is 
reported separately from certain legally separate component units for which the primary government is 
financially accountable. 

Basis of presentation - government-wide financial statements 

While separate government-wide and fund financial statements are presented, they are interrelated. The 
governmental activities column incorporates data from governmental funds, while business-type activities 
incorporate data from the City's enterprise funds. Separate financial statements are provided for 
governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds, even though the latter are excluded from the 
government-wide financial statements. 

As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide financial 
statements. 

27 



NOTE 1. 

CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

June 30, 2017 

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, Continued 

Basis of presentation - fund financial statements 

The fund financial statements provide information about the City's funds, including its fiduciary funds 
and blended component units. Separate statements for each fund category-governmental and 
proprietary-are presented. The emphasis of fund financial statements is on major governmental and 
enterprise funds, each displayed in a separate column. All remaining governmental and enterprise funds 
are aggregated and reported as nonmajor funds. Major individual governmental and enterprise funds are 
reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements. 

The City reports the following major governmental funds: 

The General Fund is the City's primary operating fund. It accounts for all financial resources of 
the general government, except those accounted for in another fund. 

The Recreation Fund is a special revenue fund used to account for room tax monies received for 
the purposes of providing recreation improvements. 

The City reports the following major enterprise funds: 

The Water Fund is used to account for the provision of water services to the residents of the 
City. All activities necessary to provide such services are accounted for in this fund, including, 
but not limited to, administration, operations, maintenance, and billing and collection. 

The Sewer Fund is used to account for provision of sanitary sewer services for the residents of 
the City. All activities necessary to provide such services are accounted for in this fund, 
including, but not limited to, administration, operations, maintenance, and billing and collection. 

The Airport Fund is used to account for the operation of the Elko Regional Airport. All 
activities necessary to provide such services are accounted for in this fund, including, but not 
limited to, administration, operations, maintenance and improvement, financing and related debt 
services, and billing and collection (including collection of passenger facility charges). 

The Landfill Fund is used to account for the regional landfill and associated costs. All activities 
necessary to provide services are accounted for in this fund, including, but not limited to, 
administration, operations, maintenance, financing and related debt. 

The Golf Fund is used to account for the Elko Municipal Golf Course and associated costs. All 
activities necessary to provide services are accounted for in this fund, @eluding, but not limited 
to, administration, operations, maintenance, financing and related debt. 

Additionally, the City reports the following fund type: 

The Internal Service Fund accounts for operations of providing health insurance to City 
employees, retirees and their dependents on a cost reimbursement basis. 

28 



NOTE 1. 

CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

June 30, 2017 

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, Continued 

During the course of operations the City has activity between funds for various purposes. Any residual 
balances outstanding at year end are reported as due from/to other funds and advances to/from other 
funds. While these balances are reported in fund financial statements, certain eliminations are made in the 
preparation of the government-wide financial statements. Balances between the funds included in 
governmental activities (i.e., the governmental funds) are eliminated so that only the net amount is 
included as internal balances in the governmental activities column. Similarly, balances between the 
funds included in business-type activities (i.e., the enterprise funds) are eliminated so that only the net 
amount is included as internal balances in the business-type activities column. 

Further, certain activity occurs during the year involving transfers of resources between funds. In fund 
financial statements these amounts are reported at gross amounts as transfers in/out. While reported in 
fund financial statements, certain eliminations are made in the preparation of the government-wide 
financial statements. Transfers between the funds included in governmental activities are eliminated so 
that only the net amount is included as transfers in the governmental activities column. Similarly, 
balances between the funds included in business-type activities are eliminated so that only the net amount 
is included as internal balances in the business-type activities column. 

Measurement focus and basis of accounting 

The accounting and financial reporting treatment is determined by the applicable measurement focus and 
basis of accounting. Measurement focus indicates the type of resources being measured such as current 
financial resources or economic resources. The basis of accounting indicates the timing of transactions or 
events for recognition in the financial statements. 

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus 
and the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when 
a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Property taxes are recognized as 
revenues in the year for which they are levied. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon 
as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met. 

The governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources 
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon as 
they are both measurable and available. Revenues are considered to be available when they are collectible 
within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. For this 
purpose, the City considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the 
current fiscal period. Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual 
accounting. However, debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences, 
and claims and judgments, are recorded only when payment is due. General capital asset acquisitions are 
reported as expenditures in governmental funds. Issuance of long-term debt and acquisitions under capital 
leases are reported as other financing sources. 

Property taxes, consolidated taxes (sales taxes, cigarette taxes, government service tax, and liquor taxes), 
gaming taxes, gasoline taxes and interest associated with the current fiscal period are all considered to be 
susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period. Licenses and 
permits, franchise fees, charges for services and fines and forfeits are not susceptible to accrual because 

29 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

June 30, 2017 

NOTE 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, Continued 

generally they are not measurable until received in cash. Entitlements are recorded as revenues when all 
eligibility requirements are met, including any time requirements, and the amount is received during the 
period or within the availability period for this revenue source (within 60 days of year-end). Expenditure
driven grants are recognized as revenue when the qualifying expenditures have been incurred and all 
other eligibility requirements have been met, and the amount is received during the period or within the 
availability period for this revenue source (within 60 days of year-end). All other revenue items are 
considered to be measurable and available only when cash is received by the City. 

The proprietary fund and internal service funds are reported using the economic resources measurement 
focus and the accrual basis of accounting. 

Assets, liabilities, deferred outflows/inflows of resources, and net position/fund balance 

Cash equivalents 

The City's cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand, demand deposits, and short-term 
investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition. Based on the 
nature of the investment policies, all amounts are available on demand and are, therefore, classified as 
cash equivalents on the Statement of Cash Flows. 

Cash and Investments 

Cash balances from all funds are combined and, to the extent practicable, invested by the City 
administration as permitted by law. Investments are recorded at fair value. The City of Elko invests in 
the State of Nevada Local Government Investment Pool, which as regulatory oversight from the Board of 
Finance for the State of Nevada. All interest earned on these investments is recognized in the General 
Fund, except for amounts credited to certain other funds in accordance with law, contract and City policy. 

Investments for the City are reported at fair value (generally based on quoted market prices) 

State statues authorize the City to invest in obligations of the U.S. Treasury; certain farm loan bonds; 
certain securities issued by Nevada local governments and other state and local governments; certain 
repurchase agreements; certain bankers acceptances; certain commercial paper; and certain negotiable 
certificates of deposits and money market mutual funds, as well as the State of Nevada Local Government 
Investment Pool. 

30 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

June 30, 2017 

NOTE 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, Continued 

The following investments are allowed but must not exceed 20% of the total portfolio at the purchase date 
and 25% of such investments may not be in notes, bonds, or unconditional obligations issued by any one 
corporation: 

• Certain notes, bonds and other unconditional obligations for the payment of money issued by 

corporations organized and operating in the United States. 

• Collateralized mortgage obligations "AAA" rated. 

• Asset-backed securities "AAA: rated. 

Restricted Assets 

Bond covenants require resources be set aside to make future debt payments, these are reported as 
restricted cash in addition to unexpended bond proceeds. 

Receivables 

No allowance for accounts receivable has been established since management does not anticipate any 
material collection loss with respect the balances shown as accounts receivable. 

Inventories and prepaid items 

Proprietary fund inventories are valued at cost using the first-in/first-out (FIFO) method and consist of 
supplies and materials. Inventories of governmental funds in the fund financial statements consist of fuel 
and oil which are recorded as expenditures when consumed rather than when purchased. 

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as 
prepaid items in both the government-wide and fund financial statements. The cost of prepaid items is 
recorded as expenditures/expenses when consumed rather than when purchased. 

Capital assets 

Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment, and infrastructure assets (e.g., roads, bridges, 
sidewalks, and similar items), are reported in the applicable governmental or business-type activities 
columns in the government-wide financial statements. 

Capital assets are defined by the City as assets with an individual cost of more than $5,000 for non
infrastructure assets and an estimated useful life in excess of three years. Such assets are recorded at 
historical cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or constructed. Donated capital assets are recorded 
at estimated acquisition value at the date of donation. The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that 
do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend assets lives are not capitalized. Interest incurred 
during the construction phase of capital assets of business-type activities is included as part of the 
capitalized value of the assets constructed. 

31 



NOTE 1. 

CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

June 30, 2017 

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, Continued 

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following estimated 
useful lives: 

Buildings 
Improvements other than buildings 
Machinery, equipment and vehicles 
Infrastructure 

Deferred outflows/inflows of resources 

10 to 100 years 
8 to 100 years 

3 to 50 years 
15 to 50 years 

In addition to assets, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred 
outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, 
represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future period( s) and so will not be recognized as 
an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until then. The City has one item that qualifies for 
reporting in this category. It is a pension related item reported on the government-wide financial 
statements. See footnote 10 for more information. 

In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred 
inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, represents 
an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow 
of resources (revenue) until that time. The City has two types of items that qualify for reporting in this 
category. The first item arises only under a modified accrual basis of accounting. Accordingly, the item, 
unavailable revenue, is reported only in the governmental fund's balance sheet. The governmental funds 
report unavailable revenues from two sources: property taxes and fuel tax. These amounts are deferred 
and recognized as an inflow of resources in the period that the amounts become available. The second 
item is a pension related item reported on the government-wide financial statements. See footnote 10 for 
more information. 

Pensions 

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows 
of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the pension plan's fiduciary net 
position of the Public Employees' Retirement System of Nevada (PERS) and additions to/deductions 
from the plan's fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by 
PERS. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized 
when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value. 

32 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

June 30, 2017 

NOTE 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, Continued 

Net position flow assumption 

Sometimes the City will fund outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted (e.g., restricted bond or 
grant proceeds) and unrestricted resources. In order to calculate the amounts to report as restricted - net 
position and unrestricted - net position in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements, 
a flow assumption must be made about the order in which the resources are considered to be applied. It is 
the City's policy to consider restricted - net position to have been depleted before unrestricted - net 
position is applied. 

Fund balance flow assumptions 

Sometimes the City will fund outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted and unrestricted 
resources (the total of committed, assigned, and unassigned fund balance). In order to calculate the 
amounts to report as restricted, committed, assigned, and unassigned fund balance in the governmental 
fund financial statements a flow assumption must be made about the order in which the resources are 
considered to be applied. It is the City's policy to consider restricted fund balance to have been depleted 
before using any of the components of unrestricted fund balance. Further, when the components of 
unrestricted fund balance can be used for the same purpose, committed fund balance is depleted first, 
followed by assigned fund balance. Unassigned fund balance is applied last, unless the City Council has 
provided otherwise in its commitment or assignment actions. 

Fund balance policies 

Fund balance of governmental funds is reported in various categories based on the nature of any 
limitations requiring the use of resources for specific purposes. The City itself can establish limitations on 
the use of resources through either a commitment ( committed fund balance) or an assignment ( assigned 
fund balance). 

The committed fund balance classification includes amounts that can be used only for the specific 
purposes determined by a formal action of the City's highest level of decision-making authority. The 
governing council is the highest level of decision-making authority for the City that can, by adoption of a 
resolution prior to the end of the fiscal year, commit fund balance. Once adopted, the limitation imposed 
by the resolution remains in place until a similar action is taken (the adoption of another resolution) to 
remove or revise the limitation. 

Amounts in the assigned fund balance classification are intended to be used by the City for specific 
purposes but do not meet the criteria to be classified as committed. The City Manager is authorized to 
review and approve amounts assigned to specific purposes by the Director of Administrative Services and 
approved by the City Manager in accordance with the City's policy. Any funds assigned must be reported 
to the City Council at their next meeting. The council may also assign fund balance as it does when 
appropriating fund balance to cover a gap between estimated revenue and appropriations in the 
subsequent year's appropriated budget. Unlike commitments, assignments generally only exist 
temporarily. In other words, an additional action does not normally have to be taken for the removal of an 
assignment. Conversely, as discussed above, an additional action is essential to either remove or revise a 
commitment. 

33 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

June 30, 2017 

NOTE 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, Continued 

Revenues and expenditures/expenses 

Program revenues 

Amounts reported as program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, 
or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function or segment and 2) 
grants and contributions (including special assessments) that are restricted to meeting the operational or 
capital requirements of a particular function or segment. All taxes, including those dedicated for specific 
purposes, and other internally dedicated resources are reported as general revenues rather than as program 
revenues. 

Indirect costs 

Expenses relating to the functional activities include allocated indirect expenses. The City allocates 
indirect costs of general and administrative departments to the Proprietary Funds, except the Airport 
Fund, based on five year averages of expenditures and time studies. 

Compensated absences 

It is the City's policy to permit employees to accumulate earned but unused vacation and sick pay 
benefits. 

For governmental funds, amounts of vested or accumulated vacation and sick leave that are not expected 
to be liquidated with expendable available financial resources are reported as liabilities in the 
government-wide statement of net position and as expenses in the government-wide statement of 
activities. No expenditures are reported for these amounts in the fund financial statements. A liability for 
compensated absences is reported in the governmental funds, primarily the General Fund, only if they 
have matured as a result of employee resignations, terminations and retirements. 

Vested or accumulated vacation and sick leave in the proprietary fund are recorded as an expense and a 
liability of that fund as the benefits accrue to the employees and are thus recorded in both · the 
government-wide financial statements and the individual fund financial statements. 

Proprietary funds operating and nonoperating revenues and expenses 

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating 
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in 
connection with a proprietary fund's principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of 
the water and sewer fund are charges to customers for sales and services. Operating expenses for 
enterprise funds include the cost of sales and services, administrative expenses and depreciation on capital 
assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and 
expenses. 

34 



NOTE 1. 

CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

June 30, 2017 

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, Continued 

Use of estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of 
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenditures/expenses during the 
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

NOTE2. Reconciliation of Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements 

The governmental fund balance sheet includes a reconciliation between total governmental fund balances 
and net position of governmental activities as reported in the government-wide statement of net position. 
This difference primarily results from the long-term economic focus of the statement of net position 
versus the current financial resources focus of the governmental fund balance sheets. The details of these 
differences are reported in the reconciliation on page 21. 

The governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balance includes a 
reconciliation between net changes in fund balances-total governmental funds and changes in net position 
of governmental activities as reported in the government-wide statement of activities. These differences 
are the result of converting from the current financial resources measurement focus and modified accrual 
basis for governmental fund statements to the economic resources measurement focus and full accrual 
basis used for government-wide statements. The details of these differences are reported in the 
reconciliation on page 23. 

NOTE3. Stewardship, Compliance and Accountability 

Budgets and budgetary accounting 

The City of Elko adheres to the Local Government Budget and Finance Act (Act) incorporated within the 
statutes of the State of Nevada, in which annual budgets are legally adopted for all funds except Agency 
funds. The Act and City policy include the following procedures to establish the budgetary data, which is 
reflected in these financial statements: 

1. On or before April 15, the City Council files a tentative budget for the fiscal year commencing 
the following July 1 with the Nevada Department of Taxation 

2. Public hearings on the tentative budget are held no sooner than the third Tuesday in May and no 
later than the last day in May, to obtain taxpayer comments. 

35 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

June 30, 2017 

NOTE3. Stewardship, Compliance and Accountability, Continued 

3. Prior to June 1, at a public hearing, the Council indicates changes, if any, to be made to the 
tentative budget and adopts a final budget by the favorable vote of a majority of the members of 
the Council. The final budget must then be forwarded to the Nevada Department of Taxation for 
final approval. 

4. The City may not amend the budget without approval by the City Council. Transfer 
appropriations between accounts within any function are authorized with the approval of the 
budget officer and/or the City Council. Any revisions that alter the total appropriations of a 
function or fund must be approved in advance by the City Council. Formal budgetary integration 
in the financial records of all funds is employed to enhance management control during the year. 

5. Budgets for all fund types are adopted on a basis consistent with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America (GAAP). Appropriations lapse at year end. 

6. In accordance with state statute, actual expenditures may not exceed budgeted appropriations of 
the various governmental functions of the General, Special Revenue, and Capital Project Funds. 
Per NRS 354.626, expenditures over budgeted appropriations are allowed for bond repayments, 
medium term obligation repayments, and other long-term contracts expressly authorized by law. 
The sum of operating and nonoperating expenses in Proprietary Funds also may not exceed 
combined total appropriations. 

7. The above dates may be adjusted as necessary during legislative years. 

The budget reflected in the financial statements has been amended from the original budget amounts. 

Expenditures over Appropriations 

The individual Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures/Expenses and Changes in Fund Balances/Net 
Position - Budget and Actual reports as listed in the table of contents present all of the funds which 
incurred an excess of expenditures/expenses over appropriations for the year ended June 30, 2017, if any. 

Encumbrances 

Encumbrance accounting, under which purchase orders, contracts, and other commitments for the 
expenditure of monies are recorded in order to reserve that portion of the applicable appropriation, is not 
employed by the City. 

Deficit Fund Balances 

As of June 30, 2017 no funds had deficit fund balances 

Interest of Member of Governing Body 

The city was not in compliance with NRS 332.800 which does not allow a member of the governing body 
to be interested directly or indirectly in any contract entered into by the governing body. See the Report 
on State Legal Compliance at page 133 and also the separate schedule of findings and recommendations, 
as item 2017-001. 

36 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

June 30, 2017 

NOTE3. Stewardship, Compliance and Accountability, Continued 

Property tax calendar 

All real property within the city is assigned a parcel number by the County Assessor in accordance with 
state law, with each parcel being subject to physical reappraisal every five years. A factoring system is 
used to adjust the appraised value during the years between physical appraisals. The property and its 
improvements are being assessed at 35% of "taxable value" as defined by statue. 

The amount of tax levied is developed by multiplying the assessed value by the tax rate applicable to the 
area in which the property is located. Article X, Section 2, of the Constitution of the State of Nevada 
limits the total taxes levied by all overlapping governmental units within the boundaries of any county 
(i.e., the county, the county school district, the State, and any other city, town, or special district) to an 
amount not to exceed $5 per $100 of assessed valuation of the property being taxed. However, the 1979 
Nevada Legislature enacted provisions whereby, commencing July 1, 1979, the combined overlapping tax 
rate was limited to $3.64 per $100 of assessed valuation (as thereafter annually adjusted) except in cases 
of severe financial emergency as defined by NRS 354.705. In 2005 the Nevada State Legislature passed 
Assembly Bill 489 which provides for a partial abatement of the ad valorem taxes levied on qualified 
property. For qualified property, the abatement will limit the increase of property taxes based on the 
previous year's assessed value. 

Real property taxes result in a lien on the property and attach on July 1 (the levy date) of the year for 
which the taxes are levied. Taxes may be paid in four installments payable on the third Monday in 
August, and the first Mondays in October, January and March to the County Clerk/Treasurer of Elko 
County in which the City of Elko is located. Penalties are assessed if a taxpayer fails to pay an installment 
within ten days of the installment due date. After a two year waiting period, if taxes remain unpaid, a tax 
deed is issued conveying the property to Elko County with a lien for back taxes and accumulated charges. 
Redemption may be made by the owner and such persons as described by statute by paying all back taxes 
and accumulated penalties, interest and costs before sale. As such, real property taxes receivable reflect 
only those taxes receivable from the delinquent roll years, and current taxes collected within 60 days of 
year end and delinquent taxes from all roll years prior to 2012-2013 have been written off. No provision 
for uncollectible accounts has been established, as management does not anticipate any material 
collection losses with respect to the remaining balances. 

Delinquent taxes receivable not collected within sixty days after year-end are normally recorded as 
unavailable revenue as they are not available to pay liabilities of the current period. 

Taxes on personal property are collected currently. Personal property declarations are mailed out annually 
and the tax is computed using percentages of taxable values established by the Department of Taxation at 
the tax rates described above. 

37 



NOTE4. 

CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

June 30, 2017 

Cash and Investments 

A reconciliation of cash deposits and investments to the government-wide statement of net position is as 
follows: 

Deposits 

Cash and investments 

Restricted cash and investments 

Custodial credit risk 

$ 

$ 

37,475,339 

6,774,087 
44,249,426 

For deposits this is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the City's deposit may not be returned. The 
City does not have a formal policy for custodial credit risk. At June 30, 2017 cash on hand was $7,990 
and the carrying amount of the City's deposits was $9,428,635. None of the City's bank balance of 
$9,750,273 was exposed to custodial credit risk since it was insured and collateralized. 

Investments 

The Nevada State Treasurer's Office operates the Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP). The LGIP 
is available for investment of funds administered by any Nevada Public Treasurer. 

The LGIP is not registered with the SEC as an investment company. Deposits in the LGIP are not insured 
or otherwise guaranteed by the State of Nevada, and participants share proportionally in any realized gain 
or losses on investments. 

The provisions of State Law (NRS 355.170) govern the investment of public funds. 

38 



NOTE4. 

CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

June 30, 2017 

Cash and Investments, Continued 

As of June 30, 2017 the City had the following investments, maturities and credit ratings: 

Investment Type 

Money Market Fund 

U.S. Agencies 

U.S. Treasuries 

Nevada Local Government 

Investment Pool 

Total Fair Value 

Fair 

Value 

26,941 

3,853,166 

932,692 

30,000,000 

$ 34,812,800 

Credit 

Rating (1) Weighted Average 

S&P Moody's Maturity (2) 

NIA NIA NIA 

AA+ Aaa 539 

AA+ Aaa 215 

NIA NIA 310 

(1) Ratings are provided where applicable to indicate associated credit risk. NIA indicates not applicable. 

(2) Interest rate risk is estimated using the weighted average days to maturity. 

The City categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally 
accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure the fair 
value of the asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs 
are significant other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs. 

The City has the following recurring fair value measurements as of June 30, 2017: 
• Money Market Funds are valued using significant other observable inputs (Level 2 inputs) 
• U.S. Agencies investments are valued using quoted market prices (Level 1 inputs) 
• U.S. Treasuries bills are valued using quoted market prices (Level 1 inputs) 
• Nevada Local Government's Investment Pool (LGIP): 

Level 1 inputs 

Level 2 inputs 

Total LGIP investment 

39 

$ 3,066,000 
26,934,000 

$ 30,000,000 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

June 30, 2017 

NOTE4. Cash and Investments, Continued 

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an 
investment. The City's policy for managing its exposure to fair value loss arising from increasing interest 
rates is to comply with the provisions of State law (NRS 355.170). 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligations. 
The City's policy for reducing its exposure to credit risk is to comply with State law (NRS 355.170). 

Concentration of Credit Risk 

Concentration of Credit Risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of a government's investment 
in a single issuer. Securities held by the City or by the City's custodians are diversified to eliminate risk 
of loss from overconcentration of assets in a specific maturity, a specific issuer, or a specific class of 
securities. At June 30, 2017, the City investment in U.S. Treasuries and U.S. Agencies exceed 5% of the 
City's total investments. 

NOTES. Receivables 

Accounts Receivable 

No allowance for doubtful accounts receivable has been established since management does not anticipate 
any material collection loss with respect to the balances shown as accounts receivable. 

Due from other governments 

Due from other governments reported in the general fund and other governmental-type funds relate to 
consolidated tax and motor vehicle tax revenue receivable, grant revenue receivable, and other 
miscellaneous licenses and fees. 

Due from other governments reported in the airport fund relates to various grant revenue receivable. 

Other receivables 

The receivables reported in the general fund include property tax revenues receivable that were 
measurable and available per GASB, along with other miscellaneous grant, fee, and tax revenue. 

The other receivables reported in the Non-major governmental funds relate to miscellaneous court 
revenue receivable and transient lodging tax revenues receivable from various entities. 

40 



NOTE6. Capital Assets 

CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

June 30, 2017 

Governmental capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2017 was as follows: 

Governmental Activities: Balance 
6/30/2016 Additions Deletions 

Capital assets, not being depreciated: 

Land $ 432,912 $ $ 
Construction in progress 3,701,228 2,966,477 {5,992z739} 

Total capital assets, not being depreciated: 4,134,140 2,966,477 {5,992,739} 

Capital assets, being depreciated: 

Buildings 11,695,077 12,515 (20,069) 
Improvements 9,493,720 250,402 (319,078) 
Machinery and equipment 12,879,231 513,247 (389,453) 
Infrastructure 38,201,112 3,381,232 (35,541) 

Total capital assets, being depreciated: 72,269,140 4,157,396 {764,141) 

Less accumulated depreciation for: 
Buildings (2,204,926) (165,903) 15,496 
Improvements (2,815,632) (289,512) 203,829 
Machinery and equipment (6,084,235) (895,285) 321,082 
Infrastructure (16,828,889) (1,384,332) 35,541 

Total accumulated depreciation {27,933,682} {2,735,032} 575,948 

Total capital assets, being depreciated, net 44,335,458 1,422,364 {188,193} 

Governmental activities capital assets, net $ 48,469,598 $ 4,388,841 $ (6,180,932) 

Depreciation expense was charged to the functions/programs of the City as follows: 

Governmental Activities: 

Generalgovermnent $ 147,347 

Public safety 634,270 

Public works 1,652,278 

Cuhure and recreation 273,945 

Health 27,192 

Total depreciation expense - governmental activities $ 2,735,032 

41 

Balance 
6/30/2017 

432,912 
6741966 

1,107,878 

11,687,523 
9,425,044 

13,003,025 
41,546,803 

75,662,395 

(2,355,333) 
(2,901,315) 
(6,658,438) 

(18,177,680) 

po,092,766} 

45,569,629 

$ 46,677,507 



NOTE6. 

CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

June 30, 2017 

Capital Assets, Continued 

Business-type capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2017 was as follows: 

Business Type Activities: Balance 
6/30/2016 Additions Deletions 

Capital assets not being depreciated: 

Land $ 1,677,189 $ $ 
Construction in progress 2,804,361 3,524,303 (4,729,596} 

Total capital assets, not being depreciatec 4,481,550 3,524,303 (4,729,596} 

Capital assets being depreciated: 
Buildings 9,765,735 1,268,656 (4;1.98) 
Improvements 66,661 ;l.87 5,676,586 (773,607) 
Machinery and equipment 11,848,148 1,463,884 (480,687) 
Infrastructure 49,255,430 

Total capital assets, being depreciated 137,530,600 8,409,126 (1,258,592} 

Less accumulated depreciation for: 
Buildings (4,274,931) (114,851) 4;1.98 
Improvements (31,058,260) (1,632,839) 625,965 
Machinery and equipment (6,007,240) (596,717) 449,980 

Infrastructure (17,618,099) {2,159,679} 

Total accumulated depreciation (58,958,530} (4,504,086} 1,080,243 

Total capital assets, being depreciated, ne 78,572,070 3,905,040 {178,349} 

Business-type activities capital assets, ne1 $ 83,053,620 $ 7,429,343 $ (4,907,945) 

Depreciation expense was charged to the functions/programs of the City as follows: 

Business-Type Activities: 

Water $ 542,672 

Sewer 1,327,102 

Airport 2,368,674 

Landfill 201,529 

Golf 64,109 

Total depreciation expense - business-type activities $ 4,504,086 

42 

Balance 
6/30/2017 

$ 1,677,189 
1,599,068 

3,276;1.57 

11,030,093 
71,564;1.66 
12,831,345 
49,255,430 

144z681,134 

(4,385,484) 
(32,065,134) 
(6,153,977) 

(19,777,778} 

(62,382,373} 

82;1.98,761 

$ 85,575,018 



NOTE7. 

CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

June 30, 2017 

Long-Term Liabilities 

The following is a summary of changes in long-term liabilities for the year ended June 30, 2017: 

Governmental activities: Balance Balance 
6/30/2016 Additions Retirements 6/30/2017 

General obligation bonds: 

2015 Limited Tax Recreation 
Facilities and Refunding Bonds $ 7,715,000 $ $ (355,000) $ 7,360,000 $ 

Bond Premium - 2015 Limited Tax 
Recreation Facilities and Refunding Bon< 522,927 (27,048) 495,879 

2014 Limited Tax Medium-Term 
Public Safety Bonds 2,730,000 (275,000) 2,455,000 

2010 Limited Tax Street Bonds 8,485,000 (430,000) 8,055,000 

Bond Premium - 2010 Limited Tax 
Street Bonds 212,519 {14,827} 197,692 

Total general obligation bonds 19,665,446 (1,101,875) 18,563,571 

Net other post employment 
benefit obligations 2,196,600 (75,036) 2,121,564 

Net pension liability 18,892,940 2,981,873 (127,120) 21,747,693 

Accrued compensated absences 1,328,308 557,439 {505,713} 1,380,034 

Total governmental activity 
long-term liabilities $ 42,083,294 $ 3,539,312 $ {1,809,744) $43,812,862 $ 

Business-type activities: 

General obligation bonds: 
Limited Tax Airport Refunding Bonds 

Series 2009A and Series 2009B $ 2,690,000 $ $ (190,000) $ 2,500,000 $ 

Bond premium 12,553 {1,225} 11,328 

Total general obligation 2,702,553 (191,225) 2,511,328 

Net other post employment 
benefit obligations 606,810 (20,728) 586,082 

Net pension liability 4,838,925 749,028 5,587,953 

Accrued compensated absences 281,013 115,482 {137,892} 258,603 

Total business-type activity 
long-term liabilities $ 8,429,301 $ 864,510 $ {349,845l $ 8,943,966 $ 

Total long-term liabilities $ 50,512,595 $ 4,403,822 $ !2,159,589~ $52,756,828 $ 

43 

Current 
Portion 

365,000 

27,048 

285,000 

445,000 

14,827 

1,136,875 

690,017 

1,826,892 

205,000 

1,225 

206,225 

129,302 

335,527 

2,162,419 



NOTE 7. 

CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

June 30, 2017 

Long-Term Liabilities, Continued 

The City has issued general obligation bonds for both governmental and business-type activities, to 
provide funds for the acquisition and construction of major capital facilities. 

Bonds payable consist of the following at June 30, 2017: 

General obligation: 

General Obligation (Limited Tax) Recreation Facilities and Refunding 

Bonds, Series 2015, original issue $8,000,000, secured by pledged 

revenues, due in semiannual principal and interest instalhnents ranging 

from $416,806 to $538,856, bearing interest from 2.00% to 4.00%, 

maturing May 1, 2035. 

General Obligation (Limited Tax) Medium-Term Public Safety Bonds, 

Series 2014, original issue $3,000,000, secured by pledged revenues, 

due in semiannual principal and interest instalhnents ranging from 

$333,613 to $337,794, bearing interest at 2.25%, maturing on 

September 1, 2024. 

General Obligation (Limited Tax) Street Bonds, Series 2010, original 

issue $10,500,000, secured by pledged revenues, due in semiannual 

principal and interest instalhnents ranging from $741,700 to $745,781, 

bearing interest at 3.70%, maturing on October 1, 2030. 

Total bonds and notes payable - governmental activities 

Airport general obligation bonds: 

General Obligation (Limited Tax) Airport Improvement Bonds, Series 

2009A and 2009B, original issue $3,735,000, due in semiannual principal 

and interest instalhnents ranging from $309,400 to $327,475, bearing 

interest from 2.00% to 5.80%, maturing October 1, 2026. 

Total bonds and notes payable - business-type activities 

Total bonds and notes payable 

44 

$ 7,360,000 

2,455,000 

8,055,000 

17,870,000 

$ 2,500,000 

2,500,000 

$ 20,370,000 



NOTE7. 

CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

June 30, 2017 

Long-Term Liabilities, Continued 

Payments on the bonds payable that pertain to the City's governmental activities are made by the debt 
service fund. The compensated absence liability is paid from the fund responsible for the employee's 
compensation with significant liabilities payable from the general fund. The net pension liability and the 
net other postemployment benefit obligations of governmental activities are liquidated by the general 
fund. 

*See Note 17 regarding the 2015 current refunding bond issuance 

Estimated debt service requirements for bonds payable are as follows: 

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities 

Period Ending 

June 30, Princ!,eal Interest Princ!,eal Interest 

2018 $ 1,095,000 $ 593,924 $ 205,000 $ 122,055 

2019 1,130,000 558,306 215,000 112,475 

2020 1,165,000 521,476 225,000 102,166 

2021 1,215,000 479,524 225,000 91,290 

2022 1,250,000 438,181 245,000 79,571 
2023-2027 5,940,000 1,567,434 1,385,000 192,603 
2028-2032 4,735,000 620,014 

2033-2035 1,340,000 86,824 

$ 17,870,000 $ 4,865,683 $ 2,500,000 $ 700,160 

The combined total debt service for both governmental and business-type debt is as follows: 

Combined Total 
Period Ending 

June 30, Princ!,eal Interest 

2018 $ 1,300,000 $ 715,979 

2019 1,345,000 670,781 

2020 1,390,000 623,642 

2021 1,440,000 570,814 

2022 1,495,000 517,752 

2023-2027 7,325,000 1,760,037 

2028-2032 4,735,000 620,014 

2033-2035 1,340,000 86,824 

$ 20,370,000 $ 5,565,843 

45 



NOTES. 

CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

June 30, 2017 

Postemployment Retirement Health Insurance Benefit 

Plan Descriptions: The City administers a self-insured healthcare plan with Anthem Blue Cross. 
Additionally, the City contributes to an agent multiple-employer defined benefit postemployment 
healthcare plan, Public Employees' Benefits Plan (PEBP). Each plan provides medical, vision, dental, and 
life insurance benefits to eligible retired City employees and beneficiaries. 

Benefit provisions for the City's self-insured plan are established pursuant to NRS 287.023 and can be 
amended between the City and the respective associations. The plan provides healthcare insurance for 
eligible retirees and their beneficiaries through the City's group health insurance plan, which covers both 
active and retired members. Under NRS 287.023, eligible retirees are able to participate in the plan with 
blended rates, thereby benefitting from an implicit subsidy. Retirees are required to pay 100% of their 
premiums under the plan. As of June 30, 2017, eight City retirees were utilizing this benefit. The plan 
does not issue a publicly available financial report. 

Benefit provisions for the PEBP are administered by the State of Nevada. NRS 287.043 assigns the 
authority to establish and amend benefit provisions to the PEBP nine-member board of trustees. City 
employees who met the eligibility requirements effective September 1, 2008 for retirement within the 
Nevada Public Employee Retirement System had the option upon retirement to enroll in coverage under 
the PEBP. NRS 287.023 sunsetted the option to join PEBP for City employees who retired from the City 
after November 29, 2008. Local governments are required to pay the same portion of the cost of coverage 
for their retirees joining PEBP that the State of Nevada pays for state retirees participating in the plan. As 
of June 30, 2017, 62 City retirees were utilizing this benefit. The PEBP issues a publicly available 
financial report that includes financial statements. This report may be obtained by writing to Public 
Employee's Benefits Program, 901 S. Stewart Street, Suite 1001, Carson City, NV 89701, or by calling 
(775) 684-7000, or by accessing the website at https://pebp.state.nv.us/resources/fiscal-utilization
reports/. 

Funding Policy: For the City's self-insured plan, contribution requirements of the plan members and the 
City are established and may be amended through negotiations between the City and the associations. 
Retirees pay 100% of the premium. The City did not prefund any future benefits. The City's self-insured 
plan began July 1, 2012. 

For the PEBP, NRS 287.046 establishes the subsidies to be contributed toward the premium costs of the 
eligible retired City employees. The contribution requirements of plan members and the City may be 
amended by the PEBP board. Premium rates determined by PEBP are the same for all participating 
members. Plan members receiving benefits have their monthly contribution deducted from their pension 
checks based on the health plan chosen by the retiree, as reduced by the amount of the subsidy; therefore, 
their contributions are not available. For the plan year ended June 30, 2017, City retirees qualified for a 
subsidy of $116 at five years of service and $635 at twenty years of service, with incremental increases 
for years of service in between. As a participating employer, the City is billed for the subsidy on a 
monthly basis and is legally required to provide for it. For fiscal year 2017, the City contributed $304,259 
to the plan, equal to required contributions. The City did not prefund future benefits. 

46 



NOTES. 

CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

June 30, 2017 

Postemployment Retirement Health Insurance Benefit, Continued 

Annual OPEB Cost and Net OPEB Obligation: The City's annual other postemployment benefit (OPEB) 
cost (expense) for the plans is calculated based on the annual required contribution of the employer 
(ARC), an amount actuarially determined in accordance with parameters of GASB Statement 45. The 
ARC represents a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover normal cost each 
year and to amortize any unfunded actuarial liabilities ( or funding excess) over a period not to exceed 
thirty years. 

The City's annual OPEB cost, the percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed to the plans, and the net 
OPEB obligations, by plan, for fiscal years 2017, 2016, and 2015 were as follows: 

Annual OPEB Cost Percentage of 

Fiscal (Projected Unit Credit Employer AnnualOPEB NetOPEB 

Year End Cost Method) Contnbutions Contnbuted Obligation 

City's Plan June 30, 2017 $ 130,822 $ 25,099 19% $ 503,951 

City's Plan June 30, 2016 135,968 9,649 7% $ 398,228 

City's Plan June 30, 2015 138,081 19,642 14% 271,909 

PEBP June 30, 2017 102,770 304,259 296% 2,203,692 

PEBP June 30, 2016 90,015 237,189 263% 2,405,181 

PEBP June 30, 2015 87,619 221,852 253% 2,552,355 

Combined Totals June 30, 2017 233,592 329,358 2,707,643 

Combined Totals June 30, 2016 225,983 246,838 2,803,409 

Combined Totals June 30, 2015 225,700 241,494 2,824,264 

47 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

June 30, 2017 

NOTES. Postemployment Retirement Health Insurance Benefit, Continued 

The net OPEB obligation (NOPEBO) as of June 30, 3017, was calculated as follows: 

City's Plan PEBP 

Annual Required Contnbution (ARC) $ 130,718 $ 102,122 

Interest on net OPEB obligation 15,496 96,386 

Adjustment to annual required contribution {15,392} {95,738} 
Annual OPEB Cost 130,822 102,770 

Less: Contnbutions made 25,099 304,259 

Increase (decrease) in net OPEB obligation 105,723 (201,489) 

Net OPEB obligation- beginning of the year 398,228 2,405,181 

Net OPEB obligation - end of year $ 503,951 $ 2,203,692 

Funded Status and Funding Progress: The funded status of the plans as the most recent actuarial 
valuation follows: 

City's Plan PEBP 

Accrued actuarial liability (a) $ 939,953 $ 2,807,865 $ 
Actuarial value of plan assets (b) 

Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability (a) - (b) $ 939,953 $ 2,807,865 $ 

Funded Ratio (b) / (a) 0% 0% 

Covered payroll ( c) $ 11,220,000 $ 11,220,000 

Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability as a 

Percentage of Covered Payroll ([(a) -(b)] / (c)) 8.38% 25.03% 

Total 

$ 232,840 

111,882 
{111,130} 

233,592 

329,358 

(95,766) 

2,803,409 

$ 2,707,643 

Total 

3,747,818 

3,747,818 

0% 

Actuarial valuations involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions about the 
probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include assumptions about future 
employment, mortality, and the healthcare cost trend. Amounts determined regarding the funded status of 
the plan and the annual required contributions of the employer are subject to continual revision as actual 
results are compared to past expectations and new estimates are made about the future. The schedule of 
funding progress, presented as required supplementary information following the notes to the financial 
statements, presents information about whether the actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or 
decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liabilities for benefits. Multiyear information will be 
provided as it becomes available. 

48 



NOTES. 

CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

June 30, 2017 

Postemployment Retirement Health Insurance Benefit, Continued 

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions: Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on 
the substantive plan (the plan as understood by the employer and plan members) and include the types of 
benefits provided at the time of each valuation and the historical pattern of sharing of benefit costs 
between the City and plan members to that point. Actuarial calculations reflect long-term perspective and 
employ methods and assumptions that are designed to reduce short-term volatility in actuarial accrued 
liabilities and actuarial value of assets. 

In the July 1, 2014, actuarial valuation, the projected unit credit cost method was used. The actuarial 
assumptions included a 4% discount rate, which is a standard rate for unfunded plans such as the City's. 
The healthcare trend rate used for 2014 was 7%, declining 1 % per year through 2016. After 2016, the 
rate used was 5%. The assumptions reflect an implicit rate of general inflation of 5% per year. The 
Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability (UAAL) is being amortized as a level percentage of projected 
payroll on an open basis. The amortization period is 30 years. 

NOTE9. Interfund Transactions and Balance~ 

As of June 30, 2017, the City did not have any internal balances: 

Interfund balances resulted from the time lag between the dates that (1) interfund goods and services are 
provided or reimbursable expenditures occur, (2) transactions are recorded in the accounting system, and 
(3) payments between funds are made. All interfund balances are expected to be repaid within one year. 

49 



NOTE9. 

CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

June 30, 2017 

Interfund Transactions and Balances, Continued 

For the year ended June 30, 2017, the City made the following interfund transfers: 

Transfers in 

General Nonmajor 
Transfers out Fund Governmental Airport Golf 

General Fund $ 28,165 $ 84,496 $ 163,424 $ 
Recreation Fund 284,267 675,556 320,837 25,793 

Total $ 312,432 $ 760,052 $ 484,261 $ 25,793 

Total 

$ 276,085 
1,306,453 

$1,582,538 

Transfers are used to ( 1) move revenues from the fund that statute or budget requires to collect them to 
the fund that statute or budget requires to expend them, (2) move receipts restricted to debt service from 
the funds collecting the receipts to the debt service fund as debt service payments become due, and (3) 
use unrestricted revenues collected in the general fund to finance various programs accounted for in other 
funds in accordance with budgetary authorizations. 

NOTE 10. Defined Benefit Pension Plan 

Public Employees' Retirement System of Nevada (PERS) 

Plan description 

PERS administers a cost-sharing, multiple-employer, defined benefit public employees' retirement system 
which includes both Regular and Police/Fire members. The System was established by the Nevada 
Legislature in 1947, effective July 1, 1948. The System is administered to provide a reasonable base 
income to qualified employees who have been employed by a public employer and whose earnings 
capacities have been removed or substantially impaired by age or disability. 

50 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

June 30, 2017 

NOTE 10. Defined Benefit Pension Plan, Continued 

Benefits provided 

Benefits, as required by the Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS or statute), are determined by the number of 
years of accredited service at time of retirement and the member's highest average compensation in any 
36 consecutive months with special provisions for members entering the System on or after January 1, 
2010 and July 1, 2015. Benefit payments to which participants or their beneficiaries may be entitled 
under the plan include pension benefits, disability benefits, and survivor benefits. 

Monthly benefit allowances for members are computed as 2.5% of average compensation for each 
accredited year of service prior to July 1, 2001. For service earned on and after July 1, 2001, this factor is 
2.67% of average compensation. For members entering the System on or after January 1, 2010, there is a 
2.5% service time factor and for regular members entering the System on or after July 1, 2015, there is a 
2.25% factor. The System offers several alternatives to the unmodified service retirement allowance 
which, in general, allow the retired employee to accept a reduced service retirement allowance payable 
monthly during his or her lifetime and various optional monthly payments to a named beneficiary after his 
or her death. 

Post-retirement increases are provided by authority ofNRS 286.575 - .579. 

Vesting 

Regular members are eligible for retirement at age 65 with five years of service, at age 60 with 10 years 
of service, or at any age with thirty years of service. Regular members entering the System on or after 
January 1, 2010, are eligible for retirement at age 65 with five years of service, or age 62 with 10 years of 
service, or any age with thirty years of service. 

Police/Fire members are eligible for retirement at age 65 with five years of service, at age 55 with ten 
years of service, at age 50 with twenty years of service, or at any age with twenty-five years of service. 
Police/Fire members entering the System on or after January 1, 2010, are eligible for retirement at 65 with 
five years of service, or age 60 with ten years of service, or age 50 with twenty years of service, or at any 
age with thirty years of service. Only service performed in a position as a police officer or firefighter may 
be counted towards the eligibility for retirement as Police/Fire accredited service. 

The normal ceiling limitation on monthly benefits allowances is 75% of average compensation. However, 
a member who has an effective date of membership before July 1, 1985, is entitled to a benefit of up to 
90% of average compensation. Both Regular and Police/Fire members become fully vested as to benefits 
upon completion of five years of service. 

51 



NOTE 10. 

Contributions 

CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

June 30, 2017 

Defined Benefit Pension Plan, Continued 

The authority for establishing and amending the obligation to make contributions and member 
contribution rates is set by statute. New hires, in agencies which did not elect the Employer-Pay 
Contribution (EPC) plan prior to July 1, 1983, have the option of selecting one of two contribution plans. 
Contributions are shared equally by employer and employee. Employees can take a reduced salary and 
have contributions made by the employer (EPC) or can make contributions by a payroll deduction 
matched by the employer. 

The System's basic funding policy provides for periodic contributions at a level pattern of cost as a 
percentage of salary throughout an employee's working lifetime in order to accumulate sufficient assets to 
pay benefits when due. 

The System receives an actuarial valuation on an annual basis indicating the contribution rates required to 
fund the System on an actuarial reserve basis. Contributions actually made are in accordance with the 
required rates established by the Nevada Legislature. These statutory rates are increased/decreased 
pursuant to NRS 286.421 and 286.450. 

The actuarial funding method used is the Entry Age Normal Cost Method. It is intended to meet the 
funding objective and result in a relatively level long-term contributions requirement as a percentage of 
salary. 

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015, the Statutory Employer/employee matching rate was 13.25% for 
Regular and 20.75% for Police/Fire. For fiscal years ended June 30, 2016 and 2017, the Statutory 
Employer/employee matching rate was 14.50% for Regular and 20.75% for Police/Fire. 

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015 the Employer-Pay Contribution (EPC) rate was 25.75% for 
Regular and 40.50% for Police/Fire. For fiscal years ended June 30, 2016 and 2017, the EPC was 28% for 
Regular and 40.50% for Police/Fire. 

The City's contributions for the current and two preceding fiscal years, all of which were equal to the 
required contributions, were as follows: 

Year Ended Regular Police/Fire 
June 30, Fund Fund 

2015 $ 1,242,452 $ 1,954,147 
2016 1,407,974 2,036,534 
2017 1,401,781 2,027,576 

52 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

June 30, 2017 

NOTE 10. Defined Benefit Pension Plan, Continued 

Investment policy 

The System's policies which determine the investment portfolio target asset allocation are established by 
the Board. The asset allocation is reviewed annually and is designed to meet the future risk and return 
needs of the System. The following was the Board adopted policy target asset allocation as of June 30, 
2016: 

Asset Class Target Long-term Geometric Expected 
Allocation Real Rate of Return* 

Domestic equity 42% 5.50% 
International equity 18% 5.75% 
Domestic fixed income 30% 0.25% 
Private markets 10% 6.80% 

*As of June 30, 2016, PERS' long-term inflation assumption was 3.5%. 

Pension liability 

Net pension liability 

At June 30, 2017, the City reported a liability of $27,335,646 for its proportionate share of the PERS' net 
pension liability. The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2016, and the total pension 
liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. 
The employer allocation percentage of the net pension liability was based on the total contributions due 
on wages paid during the measurement period. Each employer's proportion of the net pension liability is 
based on their combined employer and member contributions relative to the total combined employer and 
member contributions for all employers for the period ended June 30, 2016. The City's proportion 
measured as of June 30, 2016, was .20313 percent, which was a decrease of 0.00396 percent from its 
proportion measured as of June 30, 2015. 

Pension liability discount rate sensitivity 

The following presents the net pension liability of the PERS as of June 30, 2017, calculated using the 
discount rate of 8.00%, as well as what the PERS net pension liability would be if it were calculated using 
a discount rate that is I-percentage-point lower (7.00%) or I-percentage-point higher (9.00%) than the 
current discount rate: 

1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase 

{7.00%2 {8.00%2 {9.00%2 
Proportionate share of 

Net pension (asset)/ liability $ 40,068,717 $ 27,335,646 $ 16,741,888 

53 



NOTE 10. 

CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

June 30, 2017 

Defined Benefit Pension Plan, Continued 

Pension plan fiduciary net position 

Detailed information about the pension plan's fiduciary net position is available in the PERS 
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report, available on the PERS website www.nvpers.org. 

Actuarial assumptions 

The City's net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2016, and the total pension liability used to 
calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. The total 
pension liability was determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods 
included in the measurement: 

Inflation rate 

Payroll growth 

Investment rate of return 

Productivity pay increase 

Projected salary increases 

Consumer Price Index 

Other assumptions 

3.50% 

5.00%, including inflation 

8.00% 

0.75% 
Regular: 4.60% to 9.75%, depending on service 
Police/Fire: 5.25% to 14.5%, depending on service 
Rates include inflation and productivity increases 
3.50% 
Same as those used in the June 30, 2016 funding 
actuarial valuation 

Actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2016 valuation were based on the results of the experience 
review completed in 2013. 

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 8.00% as of June 30, 2016 and June 30, 
2015. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that employee and 
employer contributions will be made at the rate specified in statute. Based on that assumption, the pension 
plan's fiduciary net position at June 30, 2016, was projected to be available to make all projected future 
benefit payments of current active and inactive employees. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of 
return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine 
the total pension liability as of June 30, 2016 and June 30, 2015. 

54 



NOTE 10. 

CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

June 30, 2017 

Defined Benefit Pension Plan, Continued 

Pension expense and deferred outflows/inflows of resources related to pensions 

For the year ended June 30, 2017, the City recognized pension expense for PERS of $174,635. At June 
30, 2017, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
pensions from the following sources: 

Differences between expected and actual experience 
Net difference between projected and actual earnings 
on pension plan investments 

Subtotal 
Changes in proportion and differences between 
contributions and proportional share of contributions 
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 

Total 

Governmental activities 

Deferred 

Outflows of 
Resources 

$ 

2,541,188 
2,541,188 

732,120 
3,429,357 

$ 6,702,665 

$ 5,332,506 

Business-type activities 1,370,159 

$ 6,702,665 

Average expected remaining service lives 6.48 years 

Deferred 

Inflows of 
Resources 

$ 1,830,465 

1,830,465 

433,773 

$ 2,264,238 

$ 1,801,382 

462,856 

$ 2,264,238 

The $3,429,357 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to PERS pensions resulting from City 
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net 
pension liability in the subsequent fiscal year. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources 
and deferred inflows of resources, excluding the changes in proportion and differences between actual 
contributions and proportionate share of contributions, will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 

Deferred 
Outflows 

Year Ending (Inflows) of 
June 30 Resources 

2018 $ 1,295,714 

2019 1,295,714 

2020 (5,542,076) 

2021 (2,680,610) 
2022 1,032,016 

2023 227,589 
Thereafter 

$ ~4,371,653l 

55 



NOTE 11. 

------ --

CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

June 30, 2017 

Landfill Fund Closure and Postclosure Care Costs 

State and federal laws and regulations require the City to place a final cover and perform certain 
maintenance and monitoring functions at the landfill site for 30 years after closure. Each year the City 
reassesses the life of the landfill, in the current year an analysis was obtained based on the August 2016 
airspace volumetric topographical survey. This assessment resulted in an expected landfill closure in the 
year 2105, with the available soil being depleted by the year 2091. Based on this survey, an estimate of 
1.03% of the landfill has been used. The City purchased insurance to cover the costs of closure and post
closure of the landfill. The City was obligated under the insurance policy to pay 15 annual installments of 
$91,139; the last payment was paid in 2014. The City of Elko has no further payments to cover closure 
and post-closure costs as long as the City does not experience exponential growth or expansion in the 
landfill. At June 30, 2017, financial assurance relative to costs of closure and post-closure of the landfill 
was fulfilled through insurance coverage (NAC 444.6855). 

NOTE 12. Risk Management 

The City, like any governmental entity, is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage 
to, and destruction of assets; errors and omissions; injuries of employees; and natural disasters. 

The City has joined together with similar public agencies ( cities, counties and special districts) throughout 
the State of Nevada to create a pool under the Nevada Interlocal Cooperation Act. The Nevada Public 
Agency Insurance Pool (Pool) is a public entity risk pool currently operating as a common risk 
management and insurance program for its members. 

The City pays an annual premium and specific deductibles, as necessary, to the Pool for its general 
insurance coverage. The Pool is considered a self-sustaining risk pool that will provide coverage for its 
members for up to $10,000,000 per event and a $10,000,000 general aggregate per member. Property, 
crime and equipment breakdown is provided to its members up to $300,000,000 per loss with various 
sublimits established for earthquake, flood, equipment breakdown and money and securities. 

The City carries an airport liability policy and a workers compensation policy through a third party 
carrier. 

The City continues to carry commercial insurance for other risks of loss, including specific risks of loss 
not covered by the Pool, including bonding and employee health and accident insurance. Settled claims 
resulting from these risks have not exceeded commercial coverage for the past three years. 

The City has chosen to establish a risk financing fund for risks associated with the employee's health 
insurance fund. The risk financing fund is accounted for as an internal service fund where assets are set 
aside for claim settlements. A premium is charged to each function which accounts for part-time and/or 
full time employees. 

56 



NOTE 12. 

CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

June 30, 2017 

Risk Management, Continued 

Liabilities of the funds are reported when it is probable that a loss has occurred and the amount can be 
reasonably estimated. Liabilities include an amount for claims that have been incurred but not reported 
(IBNR). Claim liabilities are calculated considering the effects of inflation, recent claim settlement trends 
including frequency and amount of pay-outs and other economic and social factors. Changes in the 
balances of claims liabilities during the past two fiscal years are as follows: 

Unpaid Claims Incurred Claims Unpaid Claims 

Fiscal Beginning of (Including Claim End of 

Year End Fiscal Year IBNRs) Payments Fiscal Year 

June 30, 2017 $ 152,106 $ 1,555,778 $ (1,598,213) $ 109,671 

June 30, 2016 172,086 1,965,739 (1,985,719) 152,106 

June 30, 2015 225,229 1,860,301 (1,913,444) 172,086 

NOTE 13. Stabilization Arrangement 

On May 14, 2002 the City Council adopted a Revenue Stabilization Fund Policy under NRS 354.6115. A 
fund was established to stabilize the operations of the City and mitigate the effects of natural disasters. 
The monies in the fund must be used only if the total actual revenues of the City fall short of the total 
anticipated revenue in the General Fund for the fiscal year in which the City uses the money, or to pay 
expenses incurred by the City to mitigate the effects of a natural disaster. Under GASB 54, Fund Balance 
Reporting and Governmental Fund Type Definitions, the Revenue Stabilization Fund no longer meets the 
definition of a Special Revenue Fund and it has been combined with the General Fund. 

NOTE 14. Ad Valorem Capital Projects Fund 

Pursuant to NRS 354.598155, the City is required to indicate in detail the projects that have been funded 
with the money from the Ad Valorem Capital Projects Fund, as well as, disclose any planned 
accumulations of the money. For June 30, 2017, $486,953was expended for the NDOT Flagview 
sidewalk project and $51,508 for the Cedar Street reconstruction project. 

57 



NOTE 15. 

CITY O:F ELKO, NEV ADA 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

June 30, 2017 

Commitments and Contingencies 

On January 9, 2002 the City of Carlin, the City of Elko and Elko County entered into a cooperative 
agreement to provide financial resources for the water-line extension for the University of Nevada-Reno 
Fire Academy located on the outskirts of the City of Carlin. The project was deemed beneficial to the 
economy of the three governmental entities. The water line was completed in fiscal year 2013 and is the 
property of the City of Carlin. The project was funded by a federal grant of up to $1 million obtained by 
the City of Carlin. This grant required matching funds of 25%. Therefore, a loan of $350,000 was 
obtained by the City of Carlin from the U.S. Department of Agriculture, Rural Development Agency. The 
cooperative agreement provides that the City of Elko and Elko County will each reimburse the City of 
Carlin one-third of the annual loan payment. The City of Elko and Elko County have each agreed to pay 
the City of Carlin the maximum sum of $6,916 per year until the loan is paid in full or for a maximum of 
40 years. A surcharge fee is charged by the City of Carlin for every water user who connects to the new 
water line within a period of 40 years. The proceeds collected from this fee will be used to equally 
reimburse the City of Elko and Elko County for any payments made by them. The surcharge fee collected 
by the City of Carlin for this fiscal year was insufficient to pay the City's portion of the loan; therefore, 
the City paid $6,800 to the City of Carlin. 

The City is involved in various matters of litigation. Although the outcome of the litigation is not 
presently determinable, it is the opinion of City officials that none of the cases will have a materially 
adverse effect on the City's financial condition. 

The City is involved with several significant construction contracts that will continue from fiscal year 
2017 through subsequent fiscal years. Details of some of the significant projects are as follows. 

On May 9, 2017, the City approved a construction contract for the Effluent Reuse and Sanitary Sewer to 
the Elko Sports Complex Project in the amount of $984,765. As of June 30, 2017, the City had spent 
$87,605. This project will be paid for with funds available in the Sewer Department. 

On February 28, 2017, the City approved a construction contract for the WRF Potable Water Air Gap 
System in the amount of $414,296. As of June 30, 2017, $13,375 has been spent on this project. This 
project will be paid for with the funds available in the Sewer Department. 

58 



REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

59 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Schedule of the Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability 

June 30, 2017 

PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM OF NEV ADA 

Proportion of the net pension liability (asset) 

Proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset) $ 

Covered payroll $ 

Proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset) 
as a percentage of its covered-employee payroll 

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the 
total pension liability 

Reporting Fiscal Year 
(Measurement Date) 

2017 
(2016) 

0.203130% 

27,335,646 

10,447,569 

261.65% 

72.2% 

$ 

$ 

2016 
(2015) 

0.207090% 

23,731,868 

10,099,417 

234.98% 

75.1% 

$ 

$ 

2015 
(2014) 

0.204490% 

21,311,585 

11,866,230 

179.600/o 

76.3% 

Note: The City implemented GASB 68 in fJScal year 2015. Information prior to fJScal year 2015 is not available. 

60 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Schedule of Contributions 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 

PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM OF NEV ADA 

Reporting Fiscal Year 
(Measurement Date) 

2017 2016 2015 
(2016) (2015) (2014) 

Statutorily required contribution $ 3,444,508 $ 3,196,599 $ 3,097,288 

Contributions in relation to the statutorily required 
contribution $ (3,444,508) $ (3,196,599} $ (3,097,288) 

Contribution deficiency (excess) $ $ $ 

Covered payroll $ 10,447,569 $ 10,099,417 $ 11,866,230 

Contributions as a percentage of covered-employee 
payroll 32.97% 31.65% 26.10% 

Note: The City implemented GASB 68 in fiscal year 2015. Information prior to fJScal year 2015 is not available. 

61 



PEBP 
PEBP 

PEBP 
City's Plan 

PEBP 
City's Plan 
PEBP 
City's Plan 

CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Schedule of Funding Progress - Other Post Employment Benefit Plans 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 

Actuarial 

Accrued 

Liability 
Actuarial (AAL)-
Value of Entry Age 

Actuarial Plan Normal Unfunded Funded Covered 
Valuation Assets Cost AAL(UAAL) Ratio Payroll 

Date {a} {b2 {b- a} (alb} {c2 
7/1/2009 $ 10,927,597 $ 10,927,597 0% $ 10,100,000 
7/1/2011 5,562,427 5,562,427 0% 9,900,000 
7/1/2012 3,243,801 3,243,801 0% 9,900,000 
7/1/2012 526,269 526,269 0% 9,900,000 
7/1/2014 2,566,101 2,566,101 0% 10,862,000 
7/1/2014 689,254 689,254 0% 10,862,000 
7/1/2016 2,807,865 2,807,865 0% 11,220,000 
7/1/2016 939,953 939,953 0% 11,220,000 

UAALas a 
Percentage 
of Covered 

Payroll 

m~ -a]/c} 
108.19% 
56.19% 
32.77% 
5.32% 
23.62% 
6.35% 
25.03% 
8.38% 

Note: GASB 45 was prospectively implemented in fiscal year 2009; therefore, prior year information is 
not available. 

Trend Data: 

Significant changes in the AAL between July 1, 2012 and July 1, 2014 actuarial valuations include: 

• PEBP - In 2012, the City was notified of a significant drop in subsidies to be paid to PEBP. 
Therefore, the City had an actuarial valuation performed for July 1, 2011, which shows the 
City's AAL decreased to $5,562,427, partly as a result of this reduced subsidy amount. 

• City's Plan-As of July 1, 2014, the City's AAL has decreased to $3,255,355, down from 
$3,770,070 in 2012. This is mainly due to the City's decision to withdraw from PEPB for 
active employees and become partially self-insured. As such, the PEBP program is closed to 
all active employees of the City. 

62 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Major Governmental Funds 

Schedules of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 
Budget and Actual 

June 30, 2017 

The General Fund is the City's primary operating fund. It accounts for all financial resources of the 
general government, except for those required to be accounted for in another fund. 

Budget and actual comparisons are presented for all funds of the City as required by Nevada 
Revised Statutes. Such budget comparisons are required to be presented using the budget as 
adopted, and approved by the State of Nevada Department of Taxation. However, guidance 
provided in governmental accounting standards specify that one of these internally reported funds 
of the City, does not meet the definition of a special revenue fund, and, therefore, does not qualify 
to be separately presented for external reporting purposes: 

The Revenue Stabilization Fund for the City is combined with the General Fund for external 
financial reporting. It accounts for the collection and disbursement of funds solely for the 
purpose of stabilizing revenues in those years that anticipated revenues do not meet original 
projections. The revenues will be derived from excess fund balances of the General Fund as 
determined by the Sustained Service and Revenue Policy. 

The Recreation Fund is special revenue fund used to account for room tax monies received for the 
purposes of providing recreation improvements. 

63 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
General Fund 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance 
Budget (Budgetary Basis) and Actual 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 

Original Final Variance with 

Budget Budget Actual Final Budget 
REVENUES 

Taxes: 
Ad valorem $ 2,998,675 $ 2,998,675 $ 2,990,916 $ {7,759} 

Total taxes 2,998,675 2,998,675 2,990,916 {7,759} 

Licenses, permits, and fees: 
Business licenses 682,000 682,000 668,308 (13,692) 
Other licenses 4,010 4,010 5,254 1,244 
Franchise fees 850,000 850,000 806,375 (43,625) 
Permits 200,000 200,000 146,850 {53,150} 

Total licenses, permits, and fees 1,736,010 1,736,010 1,626,787 {109,223} 

Intergovernmental: 
Grants 85,000 125,000 103,250 (21,750) 
Fuel taxes 505,099 505,099 503,716 (1,383) 
Consolidated revenues 11,567,071 11,567,071 12,607,978 1,040,907 
County shared revenues 140,000 140,000 116,282 (23,718) 
Other intergovernmental 7,500 7,500 20,984 13,484 

Total intergovernmental 12,304,670 12,344,670 13,352,210 1,007,540 

Charges for services: 
Community development 90,000 90,000 117,968 27,968 
Public work fees 383,000 383,000 391,648 8,648 
Public safety fees 73,600 73,600 79,186 5,586 
Culture and recreation fees 151,500 151,500 147,593 (3,907) 
Health fees 96,325 96,325 128,837 32,512 

Total charges for services 794,425 794,425 865,232 70,807 

Fines and forfeitures: 
Forensic service fees 5,000 5,000 2,570 (2,430) 
Municipal court fees 150,000 150,000 110,044 (39,956) 
Bail bond fees 2,000 2,000 1,750 (250) 
Alcohol assessment fees 100 100 

Total fmes and forfeitures 157,000 157,000 114,464 {42,536} 

Investment earnings: 
Interest earnings 2,500 2,500 14,165 11,665 

Total investment earnings 2,500 2,500 14,165 11,665 

Other revenues: 
Rent 850 850 850 
Reimbursements 17,000 17,000 42,019 25,019 
Private donations 10,000 10,000 83,249 73,249 
Miscellaneous 78,742 78,742 77,371 {1,371} 

Total other revenues 106,592 106,592 203,489 96,897 

Total revenues 18,099,872 18,139,872 19,167,263 l,027J91 
( continued) 

64 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
General Fund 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance 
Budget (Budgetary Basis) and Actual (Continued) 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 

Original Final Variance with 
EXPENDITURES Budget Budget Actual Final Budget 

General government: 
City manager: 

Salaries and wages $ 369,750 $ 369,750 $ 359,018 $ 10,732 
Employee benefits 164,800 164,800 152,987 11,813 
Services, supplies and other 195,664 244,664 249,104 {4,440} 

730,214 779,214 761,109 18,105 
Clerk: 

Salaries and wages 149,000 149,000 144,921 4,079 
Employee benefits 66,800 70,300 71,800 (1,500) 
Services, supplies and other 34,310 34,310 23,744 10,566 

250,110 253,610 240,465 13,145 
Personnel: 

Salaries and wages 52,000 52,000 52,034 (34) 
Employee benefits 23,900 23,900 23,460 440 
Services, supplies and other 30,587 31,587 31,360 227 

106,487 107,487 106,854 633 
Information systems: 

Salaries and wages 93,460 87,460 86,378 1,082 
Employee benefits 50,600 44,600 43,197 1,403 
Services, supplies and other 148,263 160,263 160,606 {343} 

292,323 292,323 290,181 2,142 
Finance: 

Salaries and wages 114,200 96,200 95,418 782 
Employee benefits 67,950 57,950 55,505 2,445 
Services, supplies and other 33,750 55,750 53,810 1,940 

215,900 209,900 204,733 5,167 
Central services: 

Employee benefits 317,800 307,800 301,494 6,306 
Services, supplies and other 125,500 125,500 128,023 {2,523} 

443,300 433,300 4291517 3,783 
Planning and zoning: 

Salaries and wages 128,250 121,250 120,444 806 
Employee benefits 66,950 66,950 63,442 3,508 
Services, supplies and other 45,650 20,650 9483 11167 

240,850 208,850 193,369 15,481 
Economic development: 

Services, supplies and other 28,300 29,800 29,751 49 
28,300 29,800 29,751 49 

Total general government 2,307,484 2,314,484 2;255,979 58,505 

Judicial: 
Municipal court: 

Services, supplies and other 418,000 411,000 321,273 89,727 
Total judicial 418,000 411,000 321J73 89727 

( continued) 

65 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
General Fund 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance 
Budget (Budgetary Basis) and Actual (Continued) 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 

Original Final Variance with 
Expenditures (continued) Budget Budget Actual Final Budget 

Public safety: 
Police: 

Salaries and wages $ 3,853,075 $ 3,753,075 $ 3,727,835 $ 25,240 
Employee benefits 2,255,310 2,185,310 2,173,454 11,856 
Services, supplies and other 950,150 970,150 1,000,603 p0,453} 

7,058,535 6,908,535 6,901,892 6,643 

Fire- Main station I ARFF: 

Salaries and wages 1,822,550 1,832,550 1,808,552 23,998 
Employee benefits 1,112,010 1,112,010 952,682 159,328 
Services, supplies and other 443,075 443,075 455,473 {12,398} 

3,377,635 3,387,635 3,216,707 170,928 

Fire - Southside station: 

Services, supplies and other 8250 8,250 5~)9 2971 
8,250 8,250 5,279 2,971 

Fire - Downtown station: 

Salaries and wages 19,000 19,000 6,960 12,040 
Services, supplies and other 252100 25,100 19379 5 721 

44,100 44,100 26,339 17,761 
Total public safety 10,488,520 102348,520 10,150,217 198,303 

Public works: 
Public works: 

Salaries and wages 669,875 689,875 678,001 11,874 
Employee benefits 351,500 341,500 338,953 2,547 
Services, supplies and other 1,246,200 1,226,200 1,206,380 19,820 
Capital outlay 60,000 38,108 21,892 

2,267,575 2,317,575 2,261,442 56,133 
Fleet maintenance: 

Salaries and wages 310,450 310,450 305,633 4,817 
Employee benefits 161,950 156,950 153,351 3,599 
Services, supplies and other 63,850 63,850 39,352 24,498 

536,250 531,250 498,336 32,914 
Engineering: 

Salaries and wages 85,950 80,950 79,289 1,661 
Employee benefits 42,250 42,250 39,228 3,022 
Services, supplies and other 75,924 75,924 42,828 33,096 
Capital outlay 20,000 20,000 

204,124 219,124 161,345 57779 
Building inspection: 

Salaries and wages 309,725 309,725 266,313 43,412 
Employee benefits 160,300 160,300 133,442 26,858 
Services, supplies and other 98,560 98,560 85,363 13,197 

568,585 568,585 485,118 83,467 
( continued) 

66 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
General Fund 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance 
Budget (Budgetary Basis) and Actual (Continued) 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 

Original Final Variance with 

Expenditures (continued) Budget Budget Actual Final Budget 

Facilities maintenance: 

Salaries and wages 217,795 219,795 217,948 1,847 
Employee benefits 121,000 121,000 116,182 4,818 
Services, supplies and other 348,900 348,900 294,188 54,712 

687,695 689,695 628,318 61,377 
Community development: 

Salaries and wages 112,500 112,500 112,450 50 
Employee benefits 51,050 52,050 51,752 298 
Services, supplies and other 82,500 82,500 36,871 45,629 

246,050 247,050 201,073 45,977 
Total public works 4,510,279 4,573,279 4,235,632 337,647 

Health: 
Animal control: 

Salaries and wages $ 257,995 $ 249,995 $ 238,177 $ 11,818 
Employee benefits 143,625 143,625 130,074 13,551 
Services, supplies and other 112,800 142,800 135,404 7,396 

514,420 536,420 503,655 32,765 
Cemetery 

Salaries and wages 119,850 119,850 108,740 11,110 
Employee benefits 72,960 72,960 66,957 6,003 
Services, supplies and other 21,750 21,750 13,981 7,769 

214,560 214,560 189,678 24,882 

Total health 728,980 750,980 693,333 57,647 

Culture and recreation: 
Parks: 

Salaries and wages 419,850 449,850 448,047 1,803 
Employee benefits 208,050 223,050 221,449 1,601 
Services, supplies and other 140,960 140,960 119,128 21,832 

768,860 813,860 788,624 25,236 
Swimming pool: 

Salaries and wages 251,350 251,350 237,674 13,676 
Employee benefits 79,050 79,050 78,069 981 
Services, supplies and other 164,150 164,150 120,816 43,334 

494,550 494,550 436,559 57,991 
Total culture and recreation 1,263,410 1,308,410 1,225,183 83,227 

Community support: 
Services, supplies and other 49,362 99,362 99,362 

Total community support 49,362 99,362 99,362 

( continued) 

67 



------------~ - ----- - --- --

CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
General Fund 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance 
Budget (Budgetary Basis) and Actual (Continued) 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 

Original Final 
Expenditures (continued) Budget Budget Actual 

Contingencies 296,491 296,491 

Total expenditures 20,062,526 20,102,526 18,980,979 
Excess ( deficiency) of revenues 

over(under)expenditures (1,962,654) (1,962,654) 186,284 

Other financing sources (uses): 
Transfer to other funds (410,111) (410,111) (276,085) 
Transfer in from other funds 284,267 284,267 284,267 

Total other fmancing sources (uses) (125,844) (125,844) 8,182 

Net change in fund balance (2,088,498) (2,088,498) 194,466 

Fund balance, beginning of year 1,686,436 1,605,566 4,305,759 

Fund balance, end of year $ (402,062~ $ (482,932) $ 4,500,225 

68 

Variance with 

Final Budget 

296,491 

1,121,547 

2,148,938 

134,026 

134,026 

2,282,964 

2,700,193 

$ 4,983,157 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
General Fund 

Reconciliation of the General Fund (Budgetary Basis) to the 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances- General Fund (GAAP Basis) 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 

Revenues 

Taxes 

Licenses and permits 

Intergovernmental 

Charges for services 

Fines and forfeitures 

Other revenues 

Interest earnings 

Total revenues 

Expenditures 

General government 

Judicial 

Public safety 

Public works 
Health 

Culture and recreation 

Community support 

Total expenditures 

Excess ( deficiency) of revenues 

over (under) expenditures 

Other financing sources (uses) 

Transfers out 

Transfers in 

General Revenue 

(Budgetary Basis) Stabilization 

$ 2,990,916 

1,626,787 

13,352,210 

865,232 

114,464 

203,489 

14,165 

19,167,263 

2,255,979 

321,273 

10,150,217 

4,235,632 

693,333 

1,225,183 

99,362 

18,980,979 

186,284 

(276,085) 

284,267 

$ 

10,155 

10,155 

10,155 

28,165 

Total other fmancing sources (uses) 8,182 ---~- 28,165 

Net change in fund balance 

Fund balance, beginning of year 

Fund balance, end of year 

194,466 

4,305,759 

$ 4,500,225 

69 

38,320 

1,746,900 

$ 1,785,220 

General 

( GAAP Basis) 

$ 2,990,916 

1,626,787 

13,352,210 

865,232 

114,464 

203,489 

24,320 

19,177,418 

2,255,979 

321,273 

10,150,217 

4,235,632 

693,333 

1,225,183 

99,362 

18,980,979 

196,439 

(276,085) 

312,432 

36,347 

232,786 

6,052,659 

$ 6,285,445 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Recreation Fund 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance 
Budget and Actual 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 

Original Final Variance with 

Budget Budget Actual Final Budget 
Revenues 

Taxes: 

Room taxes $ 3,500,000 $ 3,500,000 $ 3,607,717 $ 107,717 
Other revenues 100,000 189,657 128,134 (61,523) 
Interest earnings 10,000 10,000 58,223 48,223 

Total revenues 3,610,000 3,699,657 3,794,074 94,417 

Expenditures 

Current: 

Culture and recreation: 

Parks and recreation: 

Services and supplies 35,000 35,000 5,000 30,000 
Capital outlay 8,316,336 8,405,993 1,211,886 7,194,107 

Other recreation: 

Elko Convention Center 1,210,414 1,210,414 1,263,422 (53,008) 
Elko County Fairboard 125,000 125,000 129,327 (4,327) 
Elko County Recreation Fairboard 156,250 156,250 161,659 (5,409) 
Elko Snobowl Foundation 31,250 31,250 32,332 (1,082) 
NV State Tourism 93,750 93,750 97,988 (4,238) 
Western Folklife Center 62,500 62,500 64,664 (2,164) 

Total expenditures 10,030,500 10,120,157 2,966,278 7,153,879 

Excess ( deficiency) ofrevenues 

over(under)expenditures (6,420,500) (6,420,500) 827,796 7,248,296 

Other financing sources (uses) 

Transfers out (1,306,453) (1,306,453) (1,306,453) 

Total other fmancing sources (uses) (1,306,453) (1,306,453) (1,306,453) 

Net change in fund balance (7,726,953) (7,726,953) (478,657) 7,248,296 

Fund balance, beginning of year 7,769,703 7,769,703 7,769,703 

Fund balance, end of year $ 42,750 $ 42,750 $ 7,291,046 $ 7,248,296 

70 



NOTE 1. 

CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Notes to Required Supplementary Information 

June 30, 2016 

Budgetary Reconciliations 

The accompanying Reconciliation of the General Fund (Budgetary Basis) to the General Fund (GAAP 
Basis) presents balances combined for external reporting purposes. 

Budget to actual comparisons are presented for all funds of the City as required by Nevada Revised 
Statutes. Such budget comparisons are required to be presented using the budget as adopted, and 
approved by the State of Nevada Department of Taxation. However, guidance provided in governmental 
accounting standards specify that one of these internally reported funds of the City, does not meet the 
definition of special revenue funds, and therefore does not qualify to be separately presented for external 
reporting purposes. 

The Revenue Stabilization Fund for the City is combined with the General Fund for external reporting 
purposes 

71 



This page intentionally left blank 

72 



------- - -- ----- --- -------------- --

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

73 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
INTERNALLY REPORTED (BUDGETARY BASIS) FUND REPORTED AS A PART OF THE 

GENERAL FUND FOR EXTERNAL REPORTING PURPOSES 

COMBINING STATEMENTS 
AND 

BUDGET AND ACTUAL REPORTS 

The Revenue Stabilization Fund for the City is combined with the General Fund for external financial 
reporting. It accounts for the collection and disbursement of funds solely for the purpose of stabilizing 
revenues in those years that anticipated revenues do not meet original projections. The revenues will be 
derived from excess fund balances of the General Fund as determined by the Sustained Service and 
Revenue Policy. 

74 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Combining Balance Sheet 

Reconciliation of the General Fund (Budgetary Basis) to the General Fund (GAAP Basis) 
June 30, 2017 

General Fund Revenue General Fund 
(Budgetary Basis) Stabilization (GAAP Basis) 

Assets 
Cash and investments $ 2,895,958 $ 1,783,515 $ 4,679,473 
Receivables: 

Property taxes 43,652 43,652 
Interest receivable 2,565 1,705 4,270 
Other 201,519 201,519 

Due from other governments 2,519,503 2,519,503 
Due from other funds 

Inventories and prepaids 12,099 12,099 
Restricted cash and investments 

Total assets $ 5,675,296 $ 1,785,220 $ 7,460,516 

Liabilities 
Accounts payable $ 548,421 $ $ 548,421 
Accrued liabilities 440,424 440,424 
Due to other governments 2,554 2,554 
Customer deposits 16,149 16,149 
Unearned revenue 123,871 123,871 

Total liabilities 1,131,419 1,131,419 

Deferred inflows of resources 

Unavailable revenue - property taxes 43,652 43,652 
Total deferred inflows of resources 43,652 43,652 

Fund balances 
Nonspendable: 

Inventories and prepaids 12,099 12,099 
Committed: 

Revenue stabilization 1,785,220 1,785,220 
Assigned to: 

Next year's budget appropriation 2,703,609 2,703,609 
Unassigned 1,784,517 1,784,517 

Total fund balances 4,500,225 1,785,220 6,285,445 
Total liabilities, deferred inflows 

of resources, and fund balances $ 5,675,296 $ 1,785,220 $ 7,460,516 

75 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Revenue Stabilization Fund 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance 
Budget and Actual 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 

Final Variance with 

Budget Actual Final Budget 
Revenues 

Interest earnings $ 5,000 $ 10,155 $ 5,155 

Total revenues 5,000 10,155 5,155 

Other Financing Sources 

Transfers in 28,165 28,165 

Net change in fund balance 33,165 38,320 5,155 

Fund balance, beginning of year 1,746,900 1,746,900 

Fund balance, end of year $ 1,780,065 $ 1,785,220 $ 5,155 

76 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 

COMBINING STATEMENTS 
AND 

BUDGET AND ACTUAL REPORTS 

Special revenue funds are used to account for specific revenues that are restricted or committed to 
expenditure for particular purposes. 

The Youth Recreation Fund is used to account for state grants and charges for participation in the 
"latchkey" program with expenditures related to providing these after school services for youth. 

The Municipal Court Administrative Assessment Fund is used to account for the revenues derived 
from additional ticketed fines and is to be used to improve the court premises and equipment. 

The Narcotics Tax Force Fund accounts for proceeds from state grants and monies collected from 
other local governments to be used for narcotics enforcement. 

The Elko Redevelopment Agency Fund accounts for revenues including ad valorem taxes to be used 
for improvements and/or new construction of facilities and infrastructure for all activities associated 
with the Elko Redevelopment Agency area. 

Debt service fund is used to account for the accumulation of resources and payment of general obligation 
bond principal and interest from governmental resources when the government is obligated in some manner for 
the payment. 

Capital projects funds are used to account for the acquisition and construction of major capital facilities other 
than those financed by proprietary funds and trust funds. 

The Ad Valorem Capital Projects Fund is used to account for projects funded by capital projects ad 
valorem tax revenues. 

The Public Improvement Development Fund is used to account for revenues collected from 
developers for costs relating to public capital improvements and development programs. 

The Capital Equipment Reserve Fund is used to account for the collection and disbursement of 
funds solely for the purpose of purchasing capital equipment or replacement of existing capital 
equipment. 

The Capital Construction Fund is used to account for projects financed from property taxes, land 
sales, and operating transfers. 

The Facility Reserve Capital Projects Fund is used to account for the collection and disbursement of 
funds solely for the purpose of improving existing facilities or constructing new facilities. The 
revenues will be derived from facility user fees, investment earnings and approved transfers. 

77 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Combining Balance Sheet 

Nonmajor Governmental Funds 
June 30, 2017 

Special Revenue 
Municipal 

Court Narcotics Elko 

Youth Administration Task Redevelopment Debt 

Recreation Assessment Force Agency Senice 

Assets 

Cash and investments $ 65,883 $ 108,709 $ 94,978 $ 927,479 $ 560,389 
Receivables: 

Taxes, delinquent 9,517 4,973 
Interest 59 897 1,055 
Other 329 

Due from other governments 4,090 2,989 181,338 
Restricted cash 559,686 

Total assets $ 65,942 $ 109,038 $ 99,068 $ 940,882 $ 1,307,441 

Liabilities and 
Fund Balances 

Liabilities: 
Accounts payable $ 10,017 $ $ 1,625 $ 51 $ 
Retainage payable 
Accrued liabilities 7,078 
Customer deposits 
Unearned revenue 94,304 

Total liabilities 17,095 95,929 51 

Deferred Inflows of Resources: 
Unavailable revenues - fuel taxes 66,974 
Unavailable revenues - property 

taxes 9,517 4,973 
Total deferred inflows of 

resources 9,517 71,947 

Fund Balances: 
Restricted for: 

Debt service 559,686 
Judicial 109,038 

· Capital projects 
Public Safety 3,139 
Culture and recreation 48,847 
Redevelopment Agency 931,314 

Committed: 
Debt service 675,808 
Capital projects 

Unassigned 
Total fund balances (deficits) 48,847 109,038 3,139 931,314 1,235,494 

Total liabilities and 
fund balances (deficits) $ 65,942 $ 109,038 $ 99,068 $ 940,882 $ 1,307,441 

78 



Capital Projects 
Total 

AdValorem Public Capital Facility Nonmajor 

Capital Capital hnprovement Equipment Reserve Governmental 

Construction Projects Development Reserve Fund Funds 

$ 775,262 $ 549,012 $ 15,580 $ 1,154,011 $ 271,383 $ 4,522,686 

10,839 5,836 31,165 
739 539 15 1,147 260 4,711 

329 
82,329 121,909 392,655 

559,686 

$ 786,840 $ 631,880 $ 15,595 $ 1,282,903 $ 271,643 $ 5,511,232 

$ $ $ $ 42,711 $ $ 54,404 
50,001 50,001 

7,078 
277,490 277,490 

94,304 
277,490 42,711 50,001 483,277 

66,974 

10,839 5,836 31,165 

10,839 5,836 98,139 

559,686 
109,038 

631,880 15,595 647,475 
3,139 

48,847 
931,314 

675,808 
498,511 1,234,356 221,642 1,954,509 

498,511 631,880 15,595 1,234,356 221,642 4,929,816 

$ 786,840 $ 631,880 $ 15,595 $ 1,282,903 $ 271,643 $ 5,511,232 

79 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 

Nonmajor Governmental Funds 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 

Special Revenue 
Municipal 

Court Narcotics FJko 

Youth Administration Task Redevelopment Debt 

Recreation Assessment Force Agency Service 

Revenues 
Taxes $ $ $ $ 322,484 $ 449,915 
Intergovernmental revenue 5,565 27,497 743,356 
Charges for services 159,841 
Other revenues 20,441 2,000 
Investment earnings 301 4,716 5;257 

Total revenues 180,583 5,565 29,497 327;200 1,198,528 

Expenditures 
Current: 

General government 

Public safety 25,670 
Public works 24,646 
Culture and recreation 197,529 

Debt service: 

Principal 1,060,000 
Interest 626,915 

Capital outlay 

Total expenditures 197,529 25,670 24,646 1,686,915 

Excess ( deficiency) of 

revenues over (under) 

expenditures (16,946) 5,565 3,827 302,554 (488,387) 

Other financing 
sources (uses) 

Transfers in 65,793 609,763 
Total other fmancing 

sources and uses 65,793 609,763 

Net change in 

in fund balances 48,847 5,565 3,827 302,554 121,376 

Fund balances (deficits), 

beginning of year 103,473 {688} 628,760 1,114,118 
Fund balances, 

end of year $ 48,847 $ 109,038 $ 3,139 $ 9311314 $1;2351494 

80 



Capital Projects 
Total 

AdValorem Public Capital Facility Nonmajor 

Capital Capital Improvement Equipment Reserve Governmental 

Construction Projects Development Reserve Fund Funds 

$ 745,456 $ 293,814 $ $ 293,794 $ $ 2,105,463 
311,419 488,566 1,576,403 

159,841 
106,947 16,208 145,596 

4,166 2,849 91 6,587 2,294 26,261 

856,569 608,082 91 805,155 2,294 4,013,564 

5,310 5,310 
25,670 
24,646 

197,529 

1,060,000 
626,915 

1,363,700 538,460 517,836 91,784 2,511,780 

1,363,700 538,460 523,146 91,784 4,451,850 

(507,131) 69,622 91 282,009 (89,490) (438,286) 

42,248 42,248 760,052 

42,248 42,248 760,052 

(507,131) 69,622 91 324,257 (47,242) 321,766 

1,005,642 562,258 15,504 910,099 268,884 4,608,050 

$ 498,511 $ 631,880 $ 15,595 $ 1,234,356 $ 221,642 $ 4,929,816 

81 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Youth Recreation Special Revenue Fund 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance 
Budget and Actual 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 

Final 

Budget Actual 
Revenues 

Charges for services $ 183,250 $ 159,841 
Other revenues 16,000 20,441 
Investment earnings 100 301 

Total revenues 199,350 180,583 

Expenditures 

Culture and recreation: 

Salaries and wages 110,875 86,503 
Employee benefits 48,360 29,578 
Service, supplies and other 76,050 81,448 
Capital outlay 

Total expenditures 235,285 197,529 

Excess ( deficiency) of revenues 

over(under)expenditures (35,935) (16,946) 

Other financing sources (uses) 

Transfers in from other funds 65,793 65,793 

Total other fmancing sources (uses) 65,793 65,793 

Net change in fund balance 29,858 48,847 

Fund balance, beginning of year 

Fund balance, end of year $ 292858 $ 48847 

82 

Variance with 

Final Budget 

$ (23,409) 
4,441 

201 

(18,767) 

24,372 
18,782 
(5,398) 

37,756 

18,989 

18,989 

$ 182989 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Municipal Court Administrative Assessments Special Revenue Fund 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance 

Budget and Actual 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 

Final 

Budget Actual 
Revenues 

Intergovernmental revenue $ 8,000 $ 5,565 

Total revenues 8,000 5,565 

Expenditures 

Judicial: 
Municipal court: 

Capital outlay 139,167 

Total expenditures 139,167 

Excess ( deficiency) of revenues 

over(under)expenditures (131,167) 5,565 

Other financing sources (uses) 

Transfers to other funds 

Total other fmancing sources (uses) 

Net change in fund balance (131,167) 5,565 

Fund balance, beginning of year 103,473 103,473 

Fund balance (deficit), end of year $ (272694} $ 109p38 

83 

Variance with 

Final Budget 

$ (2,435) 

(2,435) 

139,167 

139,167 

136,732 

136,732 

$ 136?32 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Narcotics Task Force Special Revenue Fund 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance 
Budget and Actual 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 

Final Variance with 

Budget Actual Final Budget 
Revenues 

Intergovernmental revenue $ 34,000 $ 27,497 $ (6,503) 
Other revenues 2,000 2,000 

Total revenues 34,000 29,497 (4,503) 

Expenditures 

Public safety: 

Services, supplies and other 31,000 25,670 5,330 
Capital outlay 3,000 3,000 

Total expenditures 34,000 25,670 8,330 

Excess ( deficiency) of revenues 

over (under) expenditures 3,827 3,827 

Fund balance (deficit), beginning of year (688) (688) 

Fund balance (deficit), end of year $ !688} $ 32139 $ 32827 

84 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Elko Redevelopment Agency Special Revenue Fund 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance 
Budget and Actual 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 

Final Variance with 

Budget Actual Final Budget 
Revenues 

Taxes: 

Ad valorem $ 264,429 $ 322,484 $ 58,055 
Interest earnings 1,500 4,716 3,216 

Total revenues 265,929 327,200 61,271 

Expenditures 

Public works: 

Highways/streets: 

Services, supplies and other 25,000 8,697 16,303 
Capital outlay 862,377 15,949 846,428 

Total expenditures 887,377 24,646 862,731 

Excess ( deficiency) of revenues 

over (under) expenditures (621,448) 302,554 924,002 

Fund balance, beginning of year 628,760 628,760 

Fund balance, end of year $ 7,312 $ 931,314 $ 924,002 

85 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Debt Service Fund 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance 
Budget and Actual 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 

Revenues 

Taxes: 

Ad valorem 

Intergovernmental revenue 

Interest earnings 

Total revenues 

Expenditures 

Debt service: 

Principal 

General obligation street bonds 

General obligation recreation bonds 

General obligation medium-term 

public safety bonds 

General obligation recreation facility bonds 

Interest 

General obligation street bonds 
General obligation recreation bonds 

General obligation medium-term 

$ 

Final 

Budget 

438,973 
699,750 

2,500 

1,141,223 

430,000 

275,000 
355,000 

313,131 

public safety bonds 58,331 
General obligation recreation facility bonds 255,763 -----'---

Total debt service 

Total expenditures 

Excess ( deficiency) of revenues 

over (under) expenditures 

Other financing sources (uses) 

Transfers in from other funds 

Total other fmancing sources (uses) 

Net change in fund balance 

Fund balance, beginning of year 

Fund balance, end of year 

1,687,225 

1,687,225 

(546,002) 

609,763 

609,763 

63,761 

1,114,118 

$ 1,177,879 

86 

$ 

Actual 

449,915 
743,356 

5,257 

1,198,528 

430,000 

275,000 
355,000 

313,131 

58,331 
255,453 

1,686,915 

1,686,915 

(488,387) 

609,763 

609,763 

121,375 

1,114,118 

$ 1,235,494 

Variance with 

Final Budget 

$ 

$ 

10,942 
43,606 

2,757 

57,305 

310 

310 

310 

57,615 

57,614 

115,229 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Capital Construction Capital Projects Fund 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance 
Budget and Actual 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 

Final Variance with 

Budget Actual Final Budget 
Revenues 

Taxes: 

Ad valorem $ 756,985 $ 745,456 $ (11,529) 
Other revenues 106,947 106,947 
Interest earnings 1,000 4,166 3,166 

Total revenues 757,985 856,569 98,584 

Expenditures 

Capital outlay 2,636,138 1,363,700 1,272,438 

Total expenditures 2,636,138 1,363,700 1,272,438 

Excess ( deficiency) of revenues 

over (under) expenditures (1,878,153) (507,131) 1,371,022 

Fund balance, beginning of year 1,005,642 1,005,642 

Fund balance, end of year $ (8721511} $ 4981511 $ l1371p22 

87 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Ad Valorem Capital Projects Fund 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance 
Budget and Actual 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 

Final Variance with 

Budget Actual Final Budget 
Revenues 

Taxes: 

Ad valorem $ 283,080 $ 293,814 $ 10,734 
Intergovernmental revenue 902,500 311,419 (591,081) 
Interest earnings 1,500 2,849 1,349 

Total revenues 1,187,080 608,082 (578,998) 

Expenditures 

Public works: 

Highways/streets: 

Capital outlay 1,984,561 538,460 1,446,101 

Total expenditures 1,984,561 538,460 1,446,101 

Excess ( deficiency) of revenues 

over(under)expenditures (797,481) 69,622 867,103 

Fund balance, beginning of year 562,258 562,258 

Fund balance, end of year $ (235,223) $ 631,880 $ 867,103 

88 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Public Improvement Development Capital Projects Fund 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance 
Budget and Actual 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 

Final Variance with 

Budget Actual Final Budget 
Revenues 

Interest earnings $ 50 $ 91 $ 41 

Total revenues 50 91 41 

Expenditures 

Public works: 

Capital outlay 15,554 15,554 

Total expenditures 15,554 15,554 

Excess ( deficiency) of revenues 

over (under) expenditures (15,504) 91 15,595 

Fund balance, beginning of year 15,504 15,504 

Fund balance (deficit), end of year $ $ 15,595 $ 15,595 

89 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Capital Equipment Reserve Capital Projects Fund 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance 
Budget and Actual 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 

Final Variance with 

Budget Actual Final Budget 
Revenues 

Taxes: 

Ad valorem $ 292,650 $ 293,794 $ 1,144 
Intergovernmental revenue 967,900 488,566 (479,334) 
Other revenues 96,000 16,208 (79,792) 
Interest earnings 2,500 6,587 4,087 

Total revenues 1,359,050 805,155 (553,895) 

Expenditures 

General government: 

Services, supplies and other 56,000 5,310 50,690 
Capital outlay 250,000 56,392 193,608 

306,000 61,702 244,298 
Public safety: 

Capital outlay 1,267,050 270,047 997,003 

1,267,050 270,047 997,003 
Public works: 

Capital outlay 202,000 191,397 10,603 

Total expenditures 1,831,050 523,146 1,307,904 

Excess (deficiency) ofrevenues 

over (under) expenditures (472,000) 282,009 754,009 

Other Financing Sources 
Transfers in 58,498 42,248 16,250 

Net change in fund balance (413,502) 324,257 737,759 

Fund balance, beginning of year 910,099 910,099 

Fund balance, end of year $ 496,597 $ 1,234,356 $ 737,759 

90 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Facility Reserve Fund 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance 
Budget and Actual 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 

Final Variance with 

Budget Actual Final Budget 
Revenues 

Other revenues $ $ $ 
Interest earnings 1,000 2,294 1,294 

Total revenues 1,000 2,294 1,294 

Expenditures 

Capital outlay 300,000 91,784 208,216 

Total expenditures 300,000 91,784 208,216 

Excess ( deficiency) of revenues 

over (under) expenditures (299,000) (89,490) 209,510 

Other Financing Sources 
Transfers in 42,248 42,248 

Net change in fund balance (256,752) (47,242) 209,510 

Fund balance, beginning of year 268,884 268,884 

Fund balance, end of year $ 12,132 $ 221,642 $ 209,510 

91 



----------~-- --- - -

CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
ENTERPRISE FUNDS 

COMBINING STATEMENTS 
AND 

BUDGET AND ACTUAL REPORTS 

Enterprise funds are used to account for operations which are financed and operated in a manner similar 
to private business enterprises - where the intent of the City Council is that the costs of providing goods 
or services to the general public on a continuing basis be financed or recovered primarily through user 
charges; or where the City Council has decided that periodic determination of net income is appropriate 
for accountability purposes. The Enterprise Funds consist of the following: 

Major Enterprise Funds 

The Water Utility Fund is used to account for the provision of water services to the residents of 
the City. All activities necessary to provide services are accounted for in this fund, including, but 
not limited to, administration, operations, maintenance, financing and related debt. 

The Sewer Utility Fund is used to account for sewer service and improvements to sewer 
facilities for the residents of the City. All activities necessary to provide services are accounted 
for in this fund, including, but not limited to, administration, operations, maintenance, financing 
and related debt. 

The Airport Fund is used to account for the Elko Regional Airport and associated costs. All 
activities necessary to provide services are accounted for in this fund, including, but not limited 
to, administration, operations, maintenance, financing and related debt. 

The Landfill Fund is used to account for the regional landfill and associated costs. All activities 
necessary to provide services are accounted for in this fund, including, but not limited to, 
administration, operations, maintenance, financing and related debt. 

The Golf Fund is used to account for the Elko Municipal Golf Course and associated costs. All 
activities necessary to provide services are accounted for in this fund, including, but not limited 
to, administration, operations, maintenance, financing and related debt. 

92 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Water Fund 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 
Budget and Actual 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 

Operating revenues 

Charges for services 

Other revenues 

Total operating revenues 

Operating expenses 

Administration 

Salaries 

Employee benefits 

Service, supplies and other 

Operations 

Salaries 
Employee benefits 

Service, supplies and other 

Plant and facilities 

Salaries 
Employee benefits 

Service, supplies and other 

Depreciation and amortization 

Total operating expenses 

Operating income (loss) 

Nonoperating revenues (expenses) 

Interest income 

Gain/(loss) on disposals of capital assets 

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 

Income (loss) before contnbutions 

and transfers 

Connection fees 

Transfers out 

Change in net position 

Net position, beginning of year 

Net position, end of year 

Final 

Budget 

$ 3,363,705 
145,000 

3,508,705 

139,850 
68,350 

151,359 
359,559 

637,300 
371,000 
823,243 

1,831,543 

75,000 
25,100 

845,400 
945,500 

533,334 

3,669,936 

(161,231) 

30,000 

30,000 

(131,231) 

500,000 
(16,250) 

352,519 

23,424,354 

$ 23,776,873 

93 

Actual 

$ 3,268,235 
104,052 

3,372,287 

129,508 
75,182 

132,169 
336,859 

635,076 
471,700 
819,069 

1,925,845 

64,744 
23,356 

657,104 
745,204 

542,672 

3,550,580 

(178,293) 

47,033 
{22,405) 

24,628 

(153,665) 

196,010 

42,345 

23,424,354 

$ 23,466,699 

Variance with 

Final Budget 

$ 

$ 

(95,470) 
(40,948) 

(136,418) 

10,342 
(6,832) 
19190 
22,700 

2,224 
(100,700) 

4,174 
(94,302) 

10,256 
1,744 

188,296 
200,296 

(9,338) 

119,356 

(17,062) 

17,033 
(22,405) 

(5,372) 

(22,434) 

(303,990) 
16,250 

(310,174) 

(310,174) 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Sewer Fund 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 
Budget and Actual 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 

Operating revenues 

Charges for services 
Other revenues 

Total operating revenues 

Operating expenses 

Administration 
Salaries 
Employee benefits 
Service, supplies and other 

Operations 
Salaries 
Employee benefits 
Service, supplies and other 

Plant and facilities 
Salaries 
Employee benefits 
Service, supplies and other 

Laboratory 
Salaries 
Employee benefits 
Service, supplies and other 

Depreciation and amortization 

Total operating expenses 

Operating income (loss) 

Nonoperating revenues (expenses) 

Sewer improvement fees 
Interest income 
Gain/(loss) on disposals of capital assets 

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 

Income (loss) before contnbutions 
and transfers 

Connections fees 

Change in net position 

Net position, beginning of year 

Net position, end of year 

Final 
Budget 

$ 2,935,638 
17,500 

2,953,138 

178,750 
91,200 

177,041 
446,991 

50,000 
19,400 

215,625 
285,025 

507,000 
277,300 

1,388,713 
2,173,013 

71,000 
37,400 
73,875 

182,275 

1,557,126 

4,644,430 

(1,691,292) 

2,982,005 
35,000 

3,017,005 

1,325,713 

600,000 

1,925,713 

39,098,835 

$ 41,024,548 

94 

Actual 

$ 2,915,762 
20,324 

2,936,086 

176,673 
83,434 

163,291 
423,398 

17,818 
5,270 

227,483 
250,571 

456,113 
241,001 

1,301,029 
1,998,143 

70,343 
37,059 
57,712 

165,114 

1,327,101 

4,164,327 

( 1,228,241) 

2,936,882 
85,316 

(128,574) 

2,893,624 

1,665,383 

220,914 

1,886,297 

39,098,835 

$ 40,985,132 

Variance with 
Final Budget 

$ 

$ 

(19,876) 
2,824 

(17,052) 

2,077 
7,766 

13,750 
23,593 

32,182 
14,130 

(11,858) 
34,454 

50,887 
36,299 
87,684 

174,870 

657 
341 

16,163 
17,161 

230,025 

480,103 

463,051 

(45,123) 
50,316 

(128,574) 

(123,381) 

339,670 

(379,086) 

(39,416) 

(39,416) 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Airport Fund 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 
Budget and Actual 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 

Final Variance with 
Budget Actual Final Budget 

Operating revenues 

Intergovernmental $ 21,220 $ 19,108 $ (2,112) 
Charges for services 268,000 242,000 (26,000) 
Other revenues 665,690 1,198,935 533,245 

Total operating revenues 954,910 1,460,043 505,133 

Operating expenses 
Airport administration 

Salaries 73,900 70,565 3,335 
Employee benefits 36,550 17,960 18,590 

110,450 88,525 21,925 

Public Safety 
Salaries 50,000 36,139 13,861 
Employee benefits 36,000 14,701 21,299 

86,000 50,840 35,160 

Airport operations 
Salaries 241,900 231,951 9,949 
Employee benefits 129,100 68,347 60,753 
Service, supplies and other 377,400 322,185 55,215 

748,400 622,483 125,917 

Airport terminal operations 
Service, supplies and other 156,700 91,668 65,032 

Depreciation and amortization 
City funded 248,893 359,258 (110,365) 
Federal unfunded 2,125,603 2,009,415 116,188 

2,374,496 2,368,673 5,823 

Total operating expenses 3,476,046 3,222,189 253:857 

Operating income (loss) (2,521,136) (1,762,146) 758,990 

Nonoperating revenues (expenses) 

Interest income 1,000 4,458 3,458 
Gain/(loss) on disposals of capital assets (23,783) (23,783) 
Interest expense (130,837) (127,533) 3,304 

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) (129,837) (146,858) (17,021) 

Income (loss) before contnbutions 
and transfers (2,650,973) (1,909,004) 741,969 

Grant revenue 726,063 1,199,332 473,269 
Transfers in 618,287 484,261 (134,026) 

Change in net position (1,306,623) (225,411) 1,081,212 

Net position, beginning of year 33,177,607 33,177,607 

Net position, end of year $ 31,870,984 $ 32,952,196 $ 1,081,212 

95 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Landfill Fund 

Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 
Budget and Actual 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 

Final Variance with 
Budget Actual Final Budget 

Operating revenues 

Charges for services $ 1,742,950 $ 1,750,667 $ 7,717 
Other revenues 57,359 52,877 {4,482) 

Total operating revenues 1,800,309 1,803,544 3J35 

Operating expenses 
Administration 

Salaries 68,050 59,478 8,572 
Employee benefits 34,300 31,257 3,043 
Service, supplies and other 37,726 42,138 {4,412) 

140,076 132,873 7,203 

Operations 
Salaries 468,075 462,643 5,432 
Employee benefits 252,000 239,654 12,346 
Service, supplies and other 782,000 637,531 144,469 

1,502,075 1,339,828 162,247 

Depreciation and amortization 170,864 201,530 {30,666) 

Total operating expenses 1,813,015 1,674,231 138,784 

Operating income (loss) 02,706) 129,313 142,019 

Nonoperating revenues (expenses) 

Interest income 5,000 7,841 2,841 
Gain/(loss) on disposals of capital assets 1,615 1,615 

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 5,000 9,456 4,456 

Change in net position (7,706) 138,769 146,475 

Net position, beginning of year 2,991,927 2,991,927 

Net position, end of year $ 2,984,221 $ 3,130,696 $ 146,475 

96 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Golf Fund 

Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 
Budget and Actual 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 

Final Variance with 

Budget Actual Final Budget 
Operating revenues 

Charges for services $ 782,620 $ 641,040 $ (141,580) 
Other revenues 11,000 6,045 {4,955) 

Total operating revenues 793,620 647,085 {146,535) 

Operating expenses 

Adrninistra tion 

Salaries 22,700 21,905 795 
Employee benefits 10,450 5,457 4,993 

33,150 27,362 5,788 

Operations 

Salaries 277,950 230,674 47,276 
Employee benefits 112,150 47,221 64,929 
Service, supplies and other 363,550 235,221 128,329 

753,650 513,116 240,534 

Depreciation and amortization 66,547 64,109 2,438 

Total operating expenses 853,347 604,587 248,760 

Operating income (loss) {59,727) 42498 102,225 

Nonoperating revenues (expenses) 

Interest income 2,000 3,219 1,219 
Gain/(loss) on disposals of capital assets 3,938 3,938 

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 2,000 7,157 5,157 

Income (loss) before contributions 

and transfers (57,727) 49,655 107,382 

Capital contributions 2,663,015 2,663,015 
Transfers in from other funds 25,793 25,793 

Change in net position (31,934) 2,738,463 2,770,397 

Net position, beginning of year 1,137,827 1,137,827 

Net position, end of year $ 1,105,893 $ 3,876,290 $ 2,770,397 

97 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
INTERNAL SERVICE FUND 

BUDGET AND ACTUAL REPORT 

Internal Service Funds are used to account for the financing of goods or services provided by one 
department or agency to other departments or agencies of the government and to other government units, 
on a cost reimbursement basis. 

The Health Insurance Fund is a partially self-insured health insurance program for City 
employees, dependents and retirees. Revenues include City contributions, employee/retiree 
contributions, and individual stop loss recovery. 

98 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Health Insurance Internal Service Fund 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 
Budget and Actual 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 

Final Variance with 

Budget Actual Final Budget 
Operating revenues 

Charges for services $ 2,471,040 $ 2,151,256 $ {319,784} 

Total operating revenues 2,471,040 2,151,256 {319,784} 

Operating expenses 

Employee benefits 2,400,000 1,555,778 844,222 

Total operating expenses 2,400,000 1,555,778 844,222 

Operating income (loss) 71,040 595,478 524,438 

Nonoperating revenues (expenses) 

Interest income 4,045 4,045 

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 4,045 4,045 

Change in net position 71,040 599,523 528,483 

Net position, beginning of year 358,206 358,206 

Net position, end of year $ 429,246 $ 957,729 $ 528,483 

99 



This page intentionally left blank 

100 



-------- -

STATISTICAL SECTION 

101 



This page intentionally left blank 

102 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Schedule of Revenue and Related 
Capital Expenditures - Cash Basis 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 

Capital Construction Fund: 

Beginning Balance July 1, 2016 $ (571,190) 

Additions: 

Revenue from Ad Valorem Taxes 747,594 

Total Additions 747,594 

Deletions: 

Fairgrounds Sidewalk Construction (20,506) 

Cedar Street Reconstruction (1,343,559) 

$ 
Total Deletions (1,343,559) 

Funds remaining to be spent on Street Projects 

based on Monies Collected from Ad Valorem Taxes $ (1,167,155) 

Water Fund: 

Beginning Balance July 1, 2016 $ 332,269 

Additions: 

Revenue from Connection Fees 196,010 

Deletions: 

Capital Expenses for Projects relating to Growth: 

Exit 298 Water Line (317,297) 

N 5th Street R-O-W (9,436) 

Total Deletions (326,733) 

Funds remaining to be spent on Growth based 

on Monies Collected from Connection Fees $ 201,546 

Sewer Fund: 

Beginning Balance July 1, 2016 $ 13,622,186 

Additions: 

Revenue from Sewer Improvement Fees 2,950,030 

Deletions: 

Capital Expenses for Projects or Replacement 

Equipment Replacement (99,983) 

NDOT Manholes & Valve Boxes (51,125) 

So. Reservoir liner Repair (34,486) 

Odor Control (1,157,547) 

Ruby Vista Effluent Line Replacement (162,965) 

Hot Springs Road Improvements (385,143) 

Golf Reuse Pipe Replacement (6,092) 

Slip Line Replacement (158,446) 

Potable Water Gap (12,790) 

Primary Digester Cleaning and Dome Repair (110,359) 

Reuse to New Sports Complex (39,414) 
Total Deletions (2,218,350) 

Funds remaining to be spent on Capital Projects 

Monies Collected from Improvement Fees $ 14,353,866 

Sewer Fund: 

Beginning Balance July 1, 2016 $ 3,793,840 
Additions: 

Revenue from Connection Fees $ 220,914 

Deletions: 

Capital Expenses for Projects Relating to Growth 

Total Deletions $ 

Funds remaining to be spent on Growth based 

on Monies Collected from Connection Fees $ 4,014,754 

103 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA - General Fund 
Summary Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures 
And Changes in Fund Balance - Budgetary Basis 
For the Years Ended June 30 

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 
(Actual) (Actual) (Actual) (Actual) (Actual) 

REVENUES 
Taxes $ 2,053,557 $ 2,138,384 $ 2,239,938 $ 2,253,941 $ 2,373,842 

Licenses and Permits 1,517,248 1,555,808 1,491,501 1,765,089 1,913,770 

Intergovernmental Revenue 10,822,650 10,483,689 9,868,372 11,543,028 13,399,230 

Charges for Services 619,864 577,488 575,032 769,662 876,366 

Fines and Forfeits 225,240 250,115 199,207 209,940 185,480 

Miscellaneous 287,861 171,484 86,388 105,473 101,462 

Total Revenues 15,526,420 15,176,968 14,460,438 16,647,133 18,850,150 

EXPENDITURES 
General Government 1,793,403 2,108,515 2,111,813 2,099,734 1,895,752 

Judicial 301,401 386,154 387,548 364,974 335,305 

Public Safety 7,905,349 8,116,542 8,339,502 8,294,482 8,423,606 

Public Works 4,273,874 3,362,015 3,307,233 3,059,259 3,008,660 

Health 507,835 525,658 525,384 526,608 518,702 

Culture and Recreation 952,538 1,028,101 1,027,251 977,659 900,388 

Community Support 36,000 36,000 32,000 21,000 29,500 

Contingency 
Intergovernmental 

Total Expenditures 15,770,400 15,562,985 15,730,731 15,343,716 15,111,913 

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES 
OVER(UNDER)EXPENDITURES (243,980) (386,017) (1,270,293) 1,303,417 3,738,237 

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) 
Transfers from other funds 234,298 246,256 406,136 1,021,168 223,508 

Transfers to other funds (1,372,655) (397,690) (398,715) (1,061,631) (2,081,554) 

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (I, 138,357) (151,434) 7,421 (40,463) (1,858,046) 

Net Change in Fund Balance (1,382,337) (537,451) (1,262,872) 1,262,954 1,880,191 

Fund Balance - July I 4,931,270 3,548,933 3,011,482 1,748,609 3,0ll,563 
Fund Balance - June 30 $ 3,548,933 $ 3,011,482 $ 1,748,609 $ 3,011,563 $ 4,891,754 

104 



2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 
(Actual) (Actual) (Actual) (Actual) (Actual) (Budget) 

$ 2,473,737 $ 2,509,838 $ 2,666,813 $ 2,926,547 $ 2,990,916 $ 3,106,742 

2,048,308 2,022,603 2,087,384 1,805,306 1,626,787 1,596,095 

13,791,267 12,334,542 12,633,948 13,461,108 13,352,210 12,771,879 

870,660 883,422 943,598 818,959 865,232 789,300 

199,833 171,437 169,913 155,581 114,464 154,500 

161,538 110,615 122,543 245,931 217,654 119,500 

19,545,343 18,032,457 18,624,199 19,413,432 19,167,263 18,538,016 

2,131,446 2,147,213 2,110,308 2,087,961 2,255,979 2,609,716 

339,637 306,058 271,025 321,366 321,273 468,000 

9,226,056 9,365,562 9,388,271 10,005,524 10,150,217 10,645,035 

4,031,364 3,914,165 3,854,165 3,983,563 4,235,632 4,574,838 

615,350 674,668 664,070 668,458 693,333 729,260 

1,026,925 1,074,605 1,131,856 1,157,473 1,225,183 1,361,285 

45,000 57,000 53,827 98,964 99,362 105,011 
307,397 

17,415,778 17,539,271 17,473,522 18,323,309 18,980,979 20,800,542 

2,129,565 493,186 1,150,677 1,090,123 186,284 (2,262,526) 

239,464 243,582 375,43 I 304,109 284,267 306,289 

(1,272,049) (3,481,257) (1,187,606) (671,390) (276,085) (747,372) 

(1,032,585) (3,237,675) (812,175) (367,281) 8,182 (441,083) 

1,096,980 (2,744,489) 338,502 722,842 194,466 (2,703,609) 

4,891,754 5,988,734 3,244,245 3,582,747 4,305,589 4,430,012 
$ 5,988,734 $ 3,244,245 $ 3,582,747 $ 4,305,589 $ 4,500,055 $ 1,726,403 

105 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Assessed Valuation- Secured and Unsecured Property 
For the Years Ended June 30 

Fiscal Assessed 
Year Valuation 
1995 $ 202,479,335 
1996 218,662,312 
1997 231,485,367 
1998 247,881,803 
1999 263,888,126 
2000 272,263,390 
2001 291,389,822 
2002 295,123,546 
2003 288,766,550 
2004 297,619,553 
2005 296,187,696 
2006 296,750,239 
2007 312,805,735 
2008 337,353,408 
2009 363,571,663 
2010 389,109,714 
2011 390,921,792 
2012 386,309,054 
2013 404,635,915 
2014 427,797,045 
2015 465,656,772 
2016 482,389,245 
2017 495,031,866 
2018 513,337,800 

106 

Percent 
Change 
2.74% 
7.99% 
5.86% 
7.08% 
6.46% 
3.17% 
7.02% 
1.28% 
-2.15% 
3.07% 
-0.48% 
0.19% 
5.41% 
7.85% 
7.77% 
7.02% 
0.47% 
-1.18% 
4.74% 
5.72% 
8.85% 
3.59% 
2.62% 
3.70% 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Countywide Secured Tax Levies, Collection and Delinquencies 
For the Years Ended June 30 

Fiscal Net Total Taxes 
Year Levy Roll Collected 

1995 $ 5,046,187 $ 5,000,696 
1996 5,653,208 5,430,161 
1997 5,848,794 5,777,337 
1998 6,184,268 6,091,667 
1999 6,557,417 6,422,643 
2000 6,916,989 6,769,209 
2001 7,223,108 7,145,453 
2002 7,515,678 7,352,732 
2003 7,913,598 7,773,886 
2004 8,168,939 8,089,734 
2005 8,450,691 8,391,493 
2006 8,806,052 8,764,671 
2007 9,414,388 9,357,982 
2008 9,416,173 9,285,228 
2009 10,572,851 10,270,543 
2010 10,983,383 10,580,559 
2011 11,155,991 10,850,072 
2012 11,210,243 11,077,462 
2013 11,899,450 11,747,688 
2014 12,816,924 12,681,650 
2015 13,488,972 13,400,822 
2016 13,944,505 13,858,661 
2017 14,663,343 14,583,800 

107 

Collected 
as a% of 

Taxes Levied 
99.1% 
96.1% 
98.8% 
98.5% 
97.9% 
97.9% 
98.9% 
97.8% 
98.2% 
99.0% 
99.3% 
99.5% 
99.4% 
98.6% 
97.1% 
96.3% 
97.3% 
98.8% 
98.7% 
98.9% 
99.3% 
99.4% 
99.5% 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Ten Largest Property Owners 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 

Taxpayer Type of Business Total Value 
1. Elko Acquisitions LLC Gaming $ 10,763,822 
2. PHC-Elko Inc. Community Healthcare 9,226,176 
3. MP Elko LLC Real Estate/Commercial 7,775,464 
4. KLO Global LLC Real Estate/Residential 7,400,093 
5. Ruby Vista Apartments LLC Real Estate/Residential 5,300,932 
6. NA Degerstrom Mining 5,169,705 
7. Sonora LLC Real Estate/Commercial 4,853,538 
8. Wal-Mart Real Estate Business Grocery Retail 4,664,159 
9. Reality Income Properties 6 LLC Real Estate/Commercial 4,098,073 

10. Riverside Villas Nevada LLC Real Estate/Residential 3,733,395 
$ 62,985,357 

Total Assessed Valuation of Elko City $ 493,262,382 

Notes 
* The valuations for Mining are values provided by the Department of Taxation, 

Centrally Assessed Division 
* These assessed values do not account for any abatement applied 
* These are Assessed Values as of November 22, 2017 
* These values are from the Secured AND Unsecured Roll (Combined) 
* Prepared by the Elko County Assessor's Office 

108 

% of Value 
2.2% 
1.9% 
1.6% 
1.5% 
1.1% 
1.0% 
1.0% 
0.9% 
0.8% 
0.8% 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Statewide Average and Overlapping Tax Rates 
For the Years Ended June 30 

2010 2011 2012 
Average Statewide 

Rate 3.2162 3.1320 3.1171 

CityofElko 0.9200 0.9200 0.9200 
Elko County 0.8386 0.8386 0.8386 
Elko County School District 1.5000 1.5000 1.5000 
Special Districts 0.0681 0.0681 0.0537 
State ofNevada 0.1700 0.1700 0.1700 

Total 3.4967 3.4967 3.4823 

109 

2018 
2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Budget 

3.1304 3.1212 3.1360 3.1360 3.1500 3.1615 

0.9200 0.9200 0.9200 0.9200 0.9200 0.9200 
0.8386 0.8386 0.8386 0.8386 0.8386 0.8386 
1.5000 1.5000 1.5000 1.5000 1.5000 1.5000 
0.0537 0.0537 0.0537 0.0537 0.0537 0.0537 
0.1700 0.1700 0.1700 0.1700 0.1700 0.1700 

3.4823 3.4823 3.4823 3.4823 3.4823 3.4823 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Statutory Debt Limitation 
For the Years Ended June 30 

Fiscal Assessed 

Year Valuation 
1995 $ 202,479,335 
1996 218,662,312 
1997 231,485,367 
1998 247,881,803 
1999 263,888,126 
2000 272,263,390 
2001 291,416,822 
2002 295,138,546 
2003 288,780,550 
2004 297,631,533 
2005 296,207,696 
2006 296,770,239 
2007 312,816,735 
2008 337,353,408 
2009 363,571,663 

2010 389,109,714 
2011 390,921,792 

2012 386,309,054 
2013 404,635,925 

2014 427,797,045 

2015 465,656,772 

2016 482,389,245 
2017 495,031,866 
2018 513,337,800 

Debt Limit 
$ 60,743,801 

65,598,694 
69,445,610 
74,364,541 
79,166,438 
81,679,017 
87,425,047 
88,541,564 
86,634,165 
89,289,460 
88,862,309 
89,031,072 
93,845,021 

101,206,022 
109,071,499 

116,732,914 
117,276,538 

115,892,716 
121,390,778 

128,339,114 

139,697,032 

144,716,774 
148,509,560 
154,001,340 

Note: Legal debt limit per NRS 266.600. 

110 

Outstanding 
General Additional 

Obligation Statutory 
Debt11 

Debt Capacity 
$ 5,088,990 $ 55,654,811 

5,035,966 60,562,728 
6,106,422 63,339,188 
5,854,044 68,510,497 
9,356,291 69,810,147 

12,009,569 69,669,448 
11,679,464 75,745,583 
11,055,964 77,485,600 
10,616,125 76,018,040 
10,080,917 79,208,543 
9,681,808 79,180,501 

10,882,881 78,148,191 
10,204,260 83,640,761 
9,508,686 91,697,336 
8,775,724 100,295,775 

7,383,511 109,349,403 
17,427,471 99,849,067 

15,035,000 100,857,716 
14,385,000 107,005,778 

13,710,000 114,629,114 

16,025,000 123,672,032 

21,620,000 123,096,774 
20,370,000 128,139,560 

NIA NIA 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Outstanding Bonded Indebtedness 
June 30, 2017 

Bonds Payable 

General Obligation Bonds: 
General Government 

2010 Limited Tax Street Bonds 

2015 Limited Tax Recreational Facilities and Refunding Bonds 

General Obligation (Lomited Tax) Bonds: 
General Government 

Medium-Term Public Safety Bond 
Series 2014 

Enterprise Fund 
Airport Improvement Bonds 
Series 2009A and Series 2009B 

Total Bonds Payable 

111 

Date of 
Issue 

10/5/2010 

l 1/12/2015 

7/30/2014 

12/1/2009 

Principal 
Original Outstanding 

Issue Amount June 30, 2017 

$ 10,500,000 $ 8,055,000 

8,000,000 7,360,000 

3,000,000 2,455,000 

3,735,000 2,500,000 

$ 25,235,000 $ 20,370,000 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Annual General Obligation Debt Service Requirements 
June 30, 2017 

Fiscal 
Year 

2018 
2019 
2020 

2021 
2022 
2023 
2024 
2025 

2026 
2027 
2028 

2029 
2030 
2031 
2032 
2033 
2034 
2035 

TOTAL 

2010 Street Bonds 
Limited Tax 

Principal Interest 

445,000 297,781 
465,000 279,581 
485,000 260,581 
505,000 240,781 
520,000 222,556 
540,000 205,656 
555,000 187,516 
575,000 168,375 
595,000 146,700 
620,000 122,400 
645,000 97,100 
675,000 70,700 
700,000 43,200 
730,000 14,600 

8,055,000 2,357,527 

112 

$ 

2009 Airport Improvement 
Limited Tax Bond 

Principal Interest 

205,000 122,055 
215,000 112,475 
225,000 102,166 
225,000 91,290 
245,000 79,571 
250,000 66,980 
270,000 53,578 
270,000 39,400 

290,000 24,380 
305,000 8,265 

2,500,000 $ 700,160 



$ 

2015 Recreational Facilities 
Limited Tax Bonds 

Principal Interest 

365,000 244,112 
375,000 233,162 
385,000 221,914 
405,000 206,512 
420,000 190,312 
440,000 173,512 
455,000 155,914 
470,000 137,712 

355,000 123,612 

365,000 112,962 
375,000 102,014 
385,000 90,762 
395,000 79,212 
410,000 67,362 
420,000 55,064 
435,000 42,462 
445,000 29,412 
460,000 14,950 

7,360,000 $ 2,280,962 

2014 Public Safety Bond 
Limited Tax Bond 

Principal Interest 

285,000 52,031 
290,000 45,563 
295,000 38,981 
305,000 32,231 

310,000 25,313 

315,000 18,281 

325,000 11,081 

330,000 3,713 

$ 2,455,000 $ 227,194 

113 

Total 

2,015,979 
2,015,781 
2,013,642 
2,010,814 
2,012,752 
2,009,429 
2,013,089 
1,994,200 
1,534,692 
1,533,627 
1,219,114 
1,221,462 
1,217,412 
1,221,962 

475,064 
477,462 
474,412 
474,950 

$ 25,935,843 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Total and Unfunded Accrued Liabilities 
Years Ended June 30 

Total Actuarial Accrued Liability 

Net Assests at Actuarial Value 

Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability 

Assets as % of Total Accrued Laibility 

2017 

48,459,200,000 

35,896,200,000 

12,563,000,000 

74.08% 

All Members 

2016 

46,070,157,029 

34,610,720,184 

11,459,436,845 

75.13% 

Source: June 30, 2016 Public Employees' Retirement System of Nevada Comprehensive Annual Financial Repor 

114 



COMPLIANCE SECTION 

115 



This page intentionally left blank 

116 



------------- -----

A HINTONBURDICK 
., CPAs & ADVISORS 

MEMBERS: 
CHAD B. ATKINSON, CPA 
KRIS J. BRAUNBERGER, CPA 
ROBERTS. Cox, CPA 
TODD B. FELTNER, CPA 
K. MARK FROST, CPA 
MORRIS J PEACOCK, CPA 

Independent Auditors' Report on Internal Control Over 
Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters 

Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed 
in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 

The Honorable Mayor and City Council 
City of Elko, Nevada 

PHILLIPS. PEINE, CPA 
STEVEN D PALMER, CPA 
MICHAEL K. SPILKER, CPA 
KEVIN l. STEPHENS, CPA 
MARK E. TICHENOR, CPA 
MICHAEL J. TORGERSON, CPA 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental 
activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of 
the City of Elko, Nevada, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2017, and the related notes to the financial 
statements, which collectively comprise the City's basic financial statements and have issued our report 
thereon dated November 6, 2017. 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City's internal control 
over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal control. Accordingly, we do 
not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination 
of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement 
of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A 
significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less 
severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 
governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may 
exist that were not identified. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses 
may exist that have not been identified. 

117 

CEDAR CITY FLAGSTAFF HURRICANE MESQUITE PHOENIX RICHFIELD ST.GEORGE 

www.hintonburdick.com 



-------------------

Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City's financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The 
results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be 
reported under Government Auditing Standards. 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal 
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, 
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

HintonBurdick, PLLC 
St. George, Utah 
November 6, 2017 

118 



A HINTON BURDICK 
., CPAs & ADVISORS 

MEMBERS: 
CHAD B. ATKINSON, CPA 
KRIS J. BRAUNBERGER, CPA 

ROBERTS. Cox, CPA 
TODD B. FELTNER, CPA 
K. MARK FROST, CPA 
MORRIS J PEACOCK, CPA 

Independent Auditors' Report on Compliance for 
Each Major Program and on Internal Control Over 

Compliance Required by the Uniform Guidance and the 
Passenger Facility Charge Audit Guide for Public Agencies 

The Honorable Mayor and 
City Council 
City of Elko, Nevada 

PHILLIPS. PEINE, CPA 
STEVEN O PALMER, CPA 
MICHAEL K. SPILKER, CPA 
KEVIN L. STEPHENS, CPA 
MARKE. TICHENOR, CPA 
MICHAEL J. TORGERSON, CPA 

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program and Passenger Facility Charge Program 

We have audited the City of Elko, Nevada's compliance with the types of compliance requirements 
described in the 0MB Compliance Supplement and the Passenger Facility Charge Audit Guide for Public 
Agencies, issued by the Federal Aviation Administration (Guide), that could have a direct and material 
effect on each of the City of Elko, Nevada's major federal programs and on its passenger facility charge 
program for the year ended June 30, 2017. The City of Elko, Nevada's major federal programs are 
identified in the summary of auditor's results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and 
questioned costs. 

Management's Responsibility 

Management is responsible for compliance with federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and conditions 
of its federal awards applicable to its programs and its passenger facility charge program. 

Auditor's Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of the City of Elko, Nevada's major 
federal programs and passenger facility charge program based on our audit of the types of compliance 
requirements referred to above. We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits 
contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; the 
audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative 
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance); and the 
audit requirements of the Guide. Those standards, the Uniform Guidance and the Guide require that we 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of 
compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal 
program and on the passenger facility charge program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test 
basis, evidence about the City of Elko, Nevada's compliance with those requirements and performing 
such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. 

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major 
federal program and the passenger facility charge program. However, our audit does not provide a legal 
determination of the City of Elko, Nevada's compliance. 

119 

CEDAR CITY FLAGSTAFF HURRICANE MESQUITE PHOENIX RICHFIELD ST.GEORGE 

www.hintonburdick.com 



Opinion on Each Major Federal Program and Passenger Facility Charge Program 

In our opinion, the City of Elko, Nevada, complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance 
requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal 
programs and on its passenger facility charge program for the year ended June 30, 2017. 

Report on Internal Control over Compliance 

Management of the City of Elko, Nevada is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal 
control over compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. In planning and 
performing our audit of compliance, we considered the City of Elko, Nevada's internal control over 
compliance with the types of requirements that could have a direct and material effect on each major 
federal program and on its passenger facility charge program to determine the auditing procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on compliance for each major 
federal program and passenger facility charge program to test and report on internal control over 
compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance and the Guide, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we do not 
express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Elko, Nevada's internal control over compliance. 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a 
federal program or passenger facility charge program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal 
control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over 
compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of 
compliance requirement of a federal program or passenger facility charge program will not be prevented, 
or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance 
is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of 
compliance requirement of a federal program or passenger facility charge program that is less severe than 
a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those 
charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first 
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over 
compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, 
material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the 
Uniform Guidance and the Guide. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 

~PL£e-
HintonBurdick, PLLC 
St. George, Utah 
November 6, 2017 

120 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 

Section I - Summary of Auditor's Results 

Financial Statements 

Type of auditor's report issued: 
Internal control over financial reporting: 

• Material weaknesses identified? 
• Significant deficiencies identified? 

Noncompliance material to financial statements noted? 

Federal Awards 

Internal Control over major programs: 

• Material weaknesses identified? 
• Significant deficiencies identified? 

Type of auditor's report issued on compliance 
for major programs: 

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported 
in accordance with 2 CFR 200.516? 

Identification of major programs. 

Unmodified 

__ yes ___x__no 
__ yes ___x__ no 

__ yes ___x__ no 

__ yes ___x__ no 
__ yes ___x__ no 

Unmodified 

__ yes ___x_ no 

CFDA Number(s) 

20.106 

Name of Federal Program or Cluster 

U.S. Department of Transportation Airport Improvement Program 

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between type 
A and type B programs: 

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? 

121 

$750,000 

__ yes ___x_ no 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs, Continued 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 

Section II - Financial Statement Findings 

Material Weaknesses: 

None noted. 

Significant Deficiencies: 

None noted. 

Section Ill- Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs 

No significant matters were noted. 

Section IV - Passenger Facility Program Findings and Questioned Costs 

No significant matters were noted. 

Section V - Summary Schedule of Prior Audit Findings 

No significant matters were noted. 

122 



------------- --- - --

CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 

Federal Grantor/pass-through 
Grantor/program Title 

U.S. Department of Justice: 

Direct Program: 
Narcotics Seizure Funds - Equitable Sharing Program 

Office of Community Oriented Policing Services (COPS) 

Passed through Nevada Department of Public Safety: 
Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant Program: 

Office of Narcotic Control Assistance 
Office of Narcotic Control Assistance 

Direct Programs: 

Federal 
CDFDA 
Number 

16.922 

16.710 

16.738 
16.738 

Pass-Through 
Entity 

Identifying 
Number 

n/a 

2014UMWX0144 

15-JAG-08 

16-JAG-08 

Office of Traffic Safety- Ecitations 
Bulletproof Vest Partnership program 
Amor Plates and Shields 

20.616 LFD-2017-ELKOPD-00009 

Total Department of Justice 

U.S. Department of Transportation 
Direct Program: 
Airport Improvement Program 
Airport Improvement Program 

Airport Improvement Program 

Passed through State of Nevada Department of Transportation 
and Public Safety: 

Highway Safety Cluster: 

HWY Planning & Const. NT AP Safe Routes To School - Jennings 

Total Department of Transportation 

The Department of Homeland Security 
Direct Program: 

Staffing for Adequate Fire and Emergency Response (SAFER) 

Total Department of Homeland Security 

Total Expenditures of Federal Awards 

123 

16.607 
16.738 

20.106 
20.106 
20.106 

20.205 

97.083 

n/a 
15-JAG-36 

3-32-0005-045-2015 
3-32-0005-046-2016 
3-32-0005-047-2016 

P90-14-063 

Federal 
Expenditures 

$ 21,725 

18,280 

9,934 

12,853 

38,705 

7,416 
19,635 

128,548 

775,276 
318,427 
105,629 

1,199,332 

479 

1,199,811 

50,760 

50,760 

$ 1,379,119 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 

Note 1. Basis of Presentation 

Reporting Entity: 

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards presents the activity or expenditure of all federal 
awards programs of the City of Elko, Nevada (the City) for the year ended June 30, 2017. The City's reporting entity 
is defined i1,1 Note 1 of the basic financial statements. All expenditure of federal awards received directly from 
federal agencies as well as federal awards passed through other government agencies are included in the schedule. 

Basis of Accounting: 

This accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards has been prepared on the modified accrual basis of 
accounting. The information in this schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements Title 2 U.S. Code of 
Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for 
Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). 

Relationship to Basic Financial Statements: 

Expenditures of federal awards have been reported in the following funds: 

Governmental-Type Activities: 
General fund $ 113,106 

Non-major funds: 

Narcotics Task Force fund 27,497 

Capital Equipment Reserve fund 38,705 

Ad Valorem fund 479 

179,787 

Business-Type Activities: 
Airport Fund 1,199,332 

Total $ 1,379,119 

Indirect Cost Rate: 

The City did not elect to use the 10% de minimis indirect cost rate for fiscal year 2017. 

Federal Loans: 

The City did not have any federal loans for fiscal year 2017. 

Sub recipients: 

There were no subrecipients for fiscal year 2017. 

124 



00-02-C-01-EKO 
Total 

CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 
Schedule of Expenditures of Passenger Facility Charges 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2017 

September 30 December 31 March 31 June 30 Total 

$ 

$ 

18,909 $ 

18,909 $ 

10,889 $ 

10,889 $ 

125 

13,324 $ 15,361 $ 58,483 --------
13,324 $ 15,361 $ 58,483 

======== 



This page intentionally left blank 

126 



A HINTONBUROICK 
~ CPAs & ADVISORS 

MEMBERS: 
CHAD B. ATKINSON, CPA 
KRIS J. BRAUNBERGER, CPA 
ROBERTS. Cox, CPA 
TODD B. FELTNER, CPA 
K. MARK FROST, CPA 
MORRIS J PEACOCK, CPA 

Independent Auditors' Report on 
State Legal Compliance 

The Honorable Mayor and City Council 
City of Elko, Nevada 

PHILLIPS. PEINE, CPA 
STEVEN D PALMER, CPA 
MICHAEL K. SPILKER, CPA 
KEVIN L. STEPHENS, CPA 

MARK E. TICHENOR, CPA 
MICHAEL J. TORGERSON, CPA 

We have audited the financial statements of the City of Elko, Nevada for the year ended June 30, 2016 
and have issued our report thereon dated November 6, 2017. Our audit also included test work on the 
City's compliance with selected requirements identified in the State of Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) 
including, but not limited to, NRS section 354.624 and section 354.6241. 

Management of the City is responsible for the City's compliance with all requirements identified above. 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance with those requirements based on our audit and 
make specific statements regarding funds established and the status of prior year findings and 
recommendations; accordingly, we make the following statements: 

For the year ended June 30, 2017, the City of Elko has taken steps to act upon recommendations 
made in prior years. 

We noted one new instance of noncompliance during fiscal year 2017. 

The City has established a number of funds in accordance with NRS 354.624 as follows: 

CEDAR CITY 

Enterprise Funds: 
Water Utility Fund 
Sewer Utility Fund 
Airport Fund 
Landfill Fund 
Golf Fund 

Funds whose balance is required to be used only for a specific purpose or carried forward to 
the succeeding fiscal year in any designated amount: 

Special Revenue Funds: · 
Recreation Fund 
Youth Recreation Fund 
Municipal Court Administration Assessment Fund 
Narcotics Task Force Fund 
Elko Redevelopment Agency Fund 

Debt Service Fund 

Capital Projects Funds: 
Ad Valorem Capital Projects Fund 
Public Improvement Development Fund 
Capital Equipment Reserve Fund 
Capital Construction Fund 
Facility Reserve Fund 

127 

FLAGSTAFF HURRICANE MESQUITE 

www.hintonburdick.com 

PHOENIX RICHFIELD ST.GEORGE 



The City appears to be using the above listed funds expressly for the purposes for which they were 
created and in accordance with NRS 354.624. The funds are being administered in accordance with 
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles and the reserves, as applicable, appear reasonable and 
necessary to carry out the purposes of the funds. Sources ofrevenues available and fund balances and net 
position are reflected in the individual fund financial statements. 

The statutory and regulatory requirements of the funds are as follows: 

Water Fund 
Sewer Fund 
Airport Fund 
Landfill Fund 

Golf Fund 
Recreation Fund 

Youth Recreation Fund 
Municipal Court Administration Assessment Fund 

Narcotics Task Force Fund 

Elko Redevelopment Agency Fund 
Debt Service Fund 
Ad Valorem Capital Projects Fund 
Public Improvement Development Fund 
Capital Equipment Reserve Fund 
Capital Construction Fund 

Facility Reserve Fund 

City Resolution 12-96 
City Resolution 12-96 
City Resolution 13-02 
City Resolution 12-96 
City Resolution 14-02 
City Resolution 12-96 
City Resolution 21-98 

NRS 268.4085 

City Resolution 18-01 

Component unit: NRS 279.382 through 279.685 
City Resolution 12-96 
NRS 354.598155 
City Resolution 12-96 
City Resolution 19-01 
City Resolution 3 7-99 
City Resolution 11-02 

NRS 354.624 requires a schedule of all fees imposed by the City that were subject to the provisions of 
NRS 354.5989. See the following page for the schedule. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
material noncompliance with the requirements referred to above occurred. An audit includes examining, 
on a test basis, evidence about the City's compliance with those requirements. We believe that our audit 
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the City of Elko complied, in all material respects, with the requirements identified above 
for the year ended June 30, 2017. 

Other Matters 

The results of our auditing procedures disclosed instances of noncompliance, which are required to be 
reported in accordance with NRS 354.624 and 354.6241. Our finding is described in a separate schedule 
of findings and recommendations, as item 2017-001. Our opinion on compliance is not modified with 
respect to these matters. 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of the applicable compliance 
requirements identified in the Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) and the results of that testing based on the 
state requirements. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 

HintonBurdick, PLLC 
St. George, Utah 
November 6, 2017 

128 



CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 

Schedule of Fees Imposed Subject to the Provisions of NRS 
354.5989 - Limitation of Fees for Business Licenses 

For the Year ended June 30, 2017 

Flat fixed fees: 

Business license revenue for the year ended June 30, 2016 $ 

Adjustment to base: 

Base year: 

1. Percentage change in population of the local 

government (June 30, 2017 data unavailable) 0.00% 

2. Percentage increase in the Consumer Price Index for 

the year ending on December 31, next preceding the 

year for which the limit is being calculated 1.6% 

Adjusted base at June 30, 2017 1.60% 

Actual revenue for the year ended June 30, 2017 

Actual amount over (under) allowable amount $ 

129 

488,155 

495,965 

491,720 

{4,245} 



This page intentionally left blank 

130 



Agenda Item 111.D. 

Elko City Council 
Agenda Action Sheet 

1. Title: Review, consideration, and possible approval to solicit bids for the City of 
Elko Water Main Removal and Replacement Project, and matters related thereto. 
FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

2. Meeting Date: January 9, 2018 

3. Agenda Category: APPROPRIATION 

4. Time Required: 5 Minutes 

5. Background Information: This project is included in the current fiscal year budget. 
There are four alley locations targeted for replacement in this project. These 
locations have been selected based on the high volume of waterline repairs in these 
areas (9 this past year). RL 

6. Budget Information: 

Appropriation Required: 
Budget amount available:$ 297,000.00 
Fund name: Water 

7. Business Impact Statement: Not Required 

8. Supplemental Agenda Information: 

9. Recommended Motion: Move to approve soliciting bids 

10. Prepared By: Ryan Limberg, Utilities Director 

11. Committee/Other Agency Review: 

12. Council Action: 

13. Council Agenda Distribution: 

Created on 12/13/2018 Council Agenda Action Sheet Page 1 of 1 

···\ 



Agenda Item 111.E. 

Elko City Council 
Agenda Action Sheet 

1. Title: Review, consideration, and possible approval to solicit equipment bids for the 
WRF- Emergency Diesel Generator Project, and matters related thereto. FOR 
POSSIBLE ACTION 

2. Meeting Date: January 9, 2018 

3. Agenda Category: APPROPRIATION 

4. Time Required: 10 Minutes 

5. Background Information: The current generator (700 KW) in undersized to run all of 
the necessary plant equipment during power outages and high flows or full plant 
load. A minimum generator size of 1000 KW is required to do that. Staff desires to 
solicit bids for a new, larger, 1250 KW generator. This project is budgeted for in the 
current fiscal year. RL 

6. Budget Information: 

Appropriation Required: 
Budget amount available: $500,000.00 
Fund name: WRF 

7. Business Impact Statement: Not Required 

8. Supplemental Agenda Information: 

9. Recommended Motion: Move to approve soliciting equipment bids for WRF-
Emergency Diesel Generator Project 

10. Prepared By: Ryan Limberg, Utilities Director 

11. Committee/Other Agency Review: 

12. Council Action: 

13. Council Agenda Distribution: 

Created on 12/18/2018 Council Agenda Action Sheet Page 1 of 1 



Agenda Item 111.F. 

Elko City Council 
Agenda Action Sheet 

1. Title: Review, consideration, and possible approval to solicit construction bids for 
the WRF- Emergency Diesel Generator Project, and matters related thereto. FOR 
POSSIBLE ACTION 

2. Meeting Date: January 9, 2018 

3. Agenda Category: APPROPRIATION 

4. Time Required: 10 Minutes 

5. Background Information: 

The current generator (700 kW) in undersized to run all of the necessary plant 
equipment during power outages and high flows or full plant load. A minimum 
generator size of 1000 kW is required to do that. Staff desires to replace this 
generator with a larger unit (1250 kW) and solicit bids for the necessary related 
construction work to remove and replace this unit. This project is budgeted for in 
the current fiscal year. RL 

6. Budget Information: 

Appropriation Required: 
Budget amount available: $500,000.00 
Fund name: WRF 

7. Business Impact Statement: Not Required 

8. Supplemental Agenda Information: 

9. Recommended Motion: Move to approve soliciting construction bids for WRF-
Emergency Diesel Generator Project 

10. Prepared By: Ryan Limberg, Utilities Director 

11. Committee/Other Agency Review: 

12. Council Action: 

13. Council Agenda Distribution: 

Created on 12/18/2018 Council Agenda Action Sheet Page 1 of 1 



Agenda Item III.G. 

Elko City Council 
Agenda Action Sheet 

1. Title: Review, consideration, and possible final acceptance of the Chilton Centennial 
Tower Construction Project, and matters related thereto. FOR POSSIBLE 
ACTION 

2. Meeting Date: January 9, 2018 

3. Agenda Category: APPROPRIATION 

4. Time Required: 5 Minutes 

5. Background Information: This project was awarded to YESCO in the amount of 
$183,860.00 on August 22, 2017. This project had no change orders and was 
completed on time and in conformance with the plans and specifications. BT 

6. Budget Information: 

Appropriation Required: $183,860.00 
Budget amount available: $183,860.00 
Fund name: Chilton Centennial Tower 

7. Business Impact Statement: Not Required 

8. Supplemental Agenda Information: None 

9. Recommended Motion: Approve the final acceptance of the Chilton Centennial 
Tower Construction Project, in the amount of $183,860. 

10. Prepared By: Bob Thibault, Civil Engineer 

11. Committee/Other Agency Review: 

12. Council Action: 

13. Council Agenda Distribution: YESCO, Gordie Rogers 
grogers@yesco.com 

Created on 12/26/2018 Council Agenda Action Sheet Page 1 of 1 



Agenda Item 111.H. 

Elko City Council 
Agenda Action Sheet 

1. Title: Review, consideration, and possible approval for the Fire Department to 
accept a Local Giving Grant of $2,500.00 from Wal-Mart Stores Inc. to assist with 
cost associated with fire prevention education and matters related thereto. FOR 
POSSIBLE ACTION 

2. Meeting Date: January 9, 2018 

3. Agenda Category: APPROPRIATION 

4. Time Required: 5 Minutes 

5. Background Information: Wal-Mart Stores Inc. has established grants to assist local 
agencies to fund public education. The City of Elko Fire Department Prevention 
Bureau has been selected as the recipient of a $2,500.00 grant for community fire 
prevention education materials. Wal-Mart has been a great supporter of the Elko 
Fire Department's fire prevention efforts for many years. JH 

6. Budget Information: 

Appropriation Required: N/ A 
Budget amount available: N/ A 
Fund name: N/A 

7. Business Impact Statement: Not Required 

8. Supplemental Agenda Information: N/A 

9. Recommended Motion: Recommend approval for the Fire Department to accept a 
Local Giving Grant of $2,500.00 from Wal-Mart Stores Inc. 

10. Prepared By: John Holmes, Fire Marshal 

11. Committee/Other Agency Review: N/A 

12. Council Action: 

13. Agenda Distribution: 

Created on O 1/03/2018 Council Agenda Action Sheet Page 1 of 1 



Agenda Item IV .A. 

Elko City Council 
Agenda Action Sheet 

1. Title: Review, consideration, and possible approval of a lease agreement between the 
City of Elko and Elko Television District, for 2, 500 square feet of property located 
at Elko Regional Airport, and matters related thereto. FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

2. Meeting Date: January 9, 2018 

3. Agenda Category: UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

4. Time Required: 5 Minutes 

5. Background Information: The Elko Television District is requesting to lease 2,500 
square feet of property in the vicinity of the airport beacon, for the purposes of 
installing a utility building and related Elko Television District equipment. A copy 
of the proposed lease has been included in the agenda packet for review. CC 

6. Budget Information: 

Appropriation Required: NI A 
Budget amount available: N/A 
Fund name: N/A 

7. Business Impact Statement: Not Required 

8. Supplemental Agenda Information: A copy of the proposed lease. 

9. Recommended Motion: Approve lease agreement between the City of Elko and Elko 
Television District. 

10. Prepared By: Curtis Calder, City Manager 

11. Committee/Other Agency Review: City Attorney 

12. Council Action: 

13. Council Agenda Distribution: Mr. Paul Gardner 
1800 Idaho Street 
Elko, NV 89801 

Email: paul@elkoradio.com 

Created on O 1/03/2018 Council Agenda Action Sheet Page 1 of 1 



LEASE AGREEMENT 

THIS AGREEMENT (hereinafter "Lease" or "Agreement") made this __ day of 

-------, 2018 by and between the CITY OF ELKO, a special charter municipal 
corporation of the State of Nevada, hereinafter referred to as the "Lessor," and ELKO 
TELEVISION DISTRICT, a general improvement district organized under Chapter 
318 of Nevada Revised Statutes, hereinafter referred to as "Lessee." 

WITNESSETH 

That for and in consideration of the rents, covenants and agreements herein contained, Lessor 
hereby leases to Lessee, and Lessee hereby leases from Lessor, the following property upon 
the terms and conditions described hereinafter. 

I. PREMISES 

Lessor does hereby lease to Lessee, and Lessee does hereby lease from Lessor, a portion of 
that certain parcel of property (the entirety of Lessor's property is referred to hereinafter as 
the "Property"), located at Elko Regional Airport, Elko, Nevada, and being described as a 
50' x 50' parcel containing 2,500 square feet ("Land Space"), as shown on the Tax Map of 
the County of Elko as a portion of Assessor's Parcel Number 001-660-106, together with the 
non-exclusive right of ingress and egress, seven (7) days a week, twenty-four (24) hours a 
day, on foot or motor vehicle, including trucks, over or along a fifteen (15) foot wide right
of-way extending from the nearest public right-of-way, being Terminal Way, to the demised 
premises, and for the installation and maintenance of utility wires, poles, cables, conduits, 
and pipes over, under, or along one or more ten (10) foot wide rights-of-way from the Land 
Space. The demised premises and rights-of-way are hereinafter collectively referred to as the 
"Premises." The Premises are described in Exhibit A attached hereto and made a part hereof, 
and as shown on the plat of survey attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit B. In 
the event any public utility is unable to use the aforementioned right-of-way, Lessor may, in 
its discretion, grant an additional right-of-way either to the Lessee or to the public utility at no 
cost to the Lessee. 

II. TERM OF LEASE 

A. Initial Term. Lessee shall have and hold the Premises for a term often (10) years (the "Initial 
Term"), commencing on February 1, 2018 (the "Commencement Date"). The term "Lease 
Year" shall refer to each consecutive twelve (12) month period during the Term, beginning with 
the first Lease Year, which commences on the Commencement Date and ends on the last day of 
the twelfth (12th) calendar month thereafter. The second and each succeeding Lease Year 
commences on the first day of the year following the preceding Lease Year. 



B. Extensions. Lessee at its option, shall be entitled to the privilege and option of three (3) 
successive extensions of this Lease for a period of five (5) years each (each an "Extension Term" 
and, collectively, the "Extension Terms"); provided, that Lessee's right to extend is subject to 
the following conditions precedent: (i) this Lease shall be in full force and effect at the time 
Lessee exercises its option to extend; (ii) no uncured Event of Default, beyond applicable notice 
and cure periods, shall exist at the time notice is given or during the period from exercise of the 
extension through and including the last day of the then current Term; (iii) prior to Lessee's 
exercise of any extension option, Lessee shall not have abandoned the Premises; and (iv) Lessee 
shall exercise its option to extend the Term by giving Lessor written notice thereof not less than 
six ( 6) months, and not more than nine (9) months, prior to the expiration of the then-current 
Term. Any exercise of an extension option as herein provided shall operate as an extension of 
the Term hereof, so that this Lease and each and every covenant and provision thereof shall be 
and remain in full force and effect during the Term as extended and with the same force and 
effect as if the Term of this Lease were originally for such extended period, except that: (i) Lessor 
shall have no obligation to make any improvement to the Premises or provide a tenant 
improvement allowance to Lessee for improvements, and (ii) there shall be no further right to 
extend the Term beyond the three (3) extension provided herein. "Term" shall mean and refer 
to the period of time during which this Lease is in effect, including any Extension Terms. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Lessor may, by resolution of the Elko City Council, at any time 
after the Initial Term, waive the requirement for Lessee to provide written notice pursuant to 
Subsection II.B(iv), above. 

III. TERMINATION BY THE LESSOR 

The Lessee understands that the Lessor is developing and adjusting a master plan for the Elko 
Regional Airport that may include, without limitation, future Airport expansion. 

This Agreement shall may be terminated by Lessor in the event of either of the following: 

A. The lawful assumption by the United States Government, or any authorized 
agency thereof, of the operation, control or use of the Airport, or any substantial 
part or parts thereof, in such a manner as substantially to restrict Lessee for a period 
of at least sixty ( 60) days, from operating thereon. Termination pursuant to this 
subsection III.A. may, in the Lessor's sole discretion, be immediate and without 
prior notice. 

B. The Premises are needed for Airport and/or airline service purposes and/or 
City purposes. Lessor shall give Lessee one hundred twenty (120) days 
advance written notice of any cancellation under this Subsection 111.B. 

IV. TERMINATIONBYLESSEE 

This Agreement may be terminated by Lessee upon giving Lessor one hundred twenty 
( 120) days' written notice prior to the termination date and by paying Lessor the rental 
that would have been due through the date of termination. 

2 



V. RENT 

A The initial annual rent shall be the sum of SEVEN HUNDRED DOLLARS 
($700.00), calculated in the following manner: 2,500 square feet x $0.28/year. 
The first annual rental payment shall be payable on Februaty 1,2018. 

B. Subsequent annual rental payments shall increase at the rate of three percent 
(3%) per year, payable on February pt thereafter during the Term, or 
subsequent extensions of this Lease. Rental payments shall be delivered to 
City Hall, 1751 College Ave., Elko, NV 89801, or whenever Lessor may 
demand the same to be paid in writing. 

VI. ABANDONMENT 

In the event the Lessee abandons the Premises at any time during the Term, or fails to begin 
construction of the improvements within twenty-four (24) months from the Commencement 
Date, the Lease shall immediately terminate without further notice and Lessee shall 
thereupon immediately pay to Lessor all rent then due plus all amounts that would have 
otherwise been due for the remainder of the Term then in effect, as calculated in Article V. 

VII. ALTERATIONS AND IMPROVEMENTS 

A. The Lessee shall not construct, erect or place any improvements to the leased 
premises without the prior consent of the City of Elko. All construction shall be 
in compliance with all applicable building and construction codes. 

B. Lessor shall have the right to inspect and approve the plans and specifications 
of any improvements of Lessee prior to construction or installation thereof and 
to refuse to permit such construction or installation if the external appearance 
thereof does not meet Lessor's reasonable requirements of appearance of 
structures on the airport, or if the manner or type of construction or installation 
or the location thereof does not comply with the master plan or meet Lessor's 
requirements for the safe use of the airport or if it does not comply with the 
building or construction ordinances of the City of Elko. Any alteration, 
modification or remodeling of any building or structure on the demised 
premises shall be subject to the inspection and approval of the Lessor above 
provided. 

VIII. MAINTENANCE AND REPAIRS 

Lessee shall maintain all improvements on the Premises in good order and repair and 
shall keep the Premises in a clean and orderly condition. Upon termination of this Lease, 
Lessee shall repair any damage caused to the Premises. 

3 



IX. APPLICABLE RULES AND LAWS 

Lessee agrees to observe and comply with, during the Term, all laws of the State of 
Nevada, and of the United States, and all applicable ordinances of the County of Elko 
and the City of Elko, together with any applicable rules, policies or procedures 
implemented by the City of Elko. 

X. INTERFERENCE 

Lessee agrees to install equipment of the type and frequency which will not cause harmful 
interference which is measurable in accordance with the existing Federal Communications 
Commission (FCC) standards to any equipment of the Lessor or other persons, to include 
other lessees, utilizing Airport property as of the Commencement Date. In the event any 
of Lessee's equipment causes such interference, Lessee will take all reasonable steps 
necessary to correct and eliminate the interference, including but not limited to, powering 
down. 

XI.WASTE 

Lessee shall keep the Premises clean and shall dispose of all debris and other waste matter 
which may accumulate, and shall provide proper containers, with proper covers, for waste 
within the premises utilized by the Lessee. 

XII. UTILITIES 

Lessee shall promptly pay when due all charges for light, power, water, sewer and all other 
utilities and services used upon or in connection with the Premises by the Lessee. 

XIII. TAXES 

Lessee will pay any city, county and state taxes levied or assessed against property placed 
upon the premises by the Lessee, together with all necessary license fees. 

XIV. INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE 

A. The Lessee agrees to hold harmless, release, indemnify and defend the Lessor, its 
officers, supervisors, employees, and agents from and against all fines, suits, claims, 
demands, expenses, fees, liabilities, defenses and actions of any kind and nature by 
reason of any and all of its operations hereunder and any and all negligence, acts and 
omissions of the Lessee and its agents, employees, officers, and directors, and 
hereby assumes all risk and liability of relating to its use of the Premises. 

4 



B. Lessee shall maintain with insurance underwriters satisfactory to the Lessor a 
standard form policy or policies of insurance in such amounts as may from time to 
time be approved by the Lessor protecting both the Lessee and the Lessor against 
public liability and property damage. Lessee shall promptly, after the execution of 
this Agreement, furnish such policy or policies for public liability and property 
damage growing out of accidents occurring in or around the Premises in a minimum 
amount of $500,000 for each person injured; $1,000,000 for any one accident or 
event of loss; and $100,000 for property damage. The specified amounts of 
insurance in no way limits the liability of Lessee and Lessee shall carry insurance 
in such amounts as are reasonably necessary to indemnify and save harmless the 
Lessor from all claims, suits, demands and actions. 

XV. DEFAULT AND REMEDIES 

This Lease is entered into by Lessor on the condition that Lessee shall perform all of the 
covenants and agreements set forth in this Lease which are to be performed by the Lessee. If 
at any time there is a default on the part of the Lessee in the payment of rent (the term rent 
meaning all rentals and any other sums payable to the Lessor pursuant to this Lease), taxes, 
assessments, utility charges or any other charges and payments by Lessee to be made, or any 
part thereof, and if such default shall continue for a period of thirty-five (35) days after 
written notice from Lessor as provided for herein; or if the Lessee shall fail, refuse or neglect 
to forthwith cease the violation of any of the provisions of this Lease, or if there shall be 
default on the part of the Lessee in the performance of any of the remaining covenants or 
agreements of this Lease by the Lessee which are to be performed, and such default shall 
continue for a period of thirty-five (35) days after written notice of such default being given 
by the Lessor as provided for herein and Lessee has not diligently commenced action to cure 
such default, the Lessor shall have the right to pursue all rights and remedies it may have at 
law or in equity, including injunctive relief, or it shall have the right, without further demand 
or notice (which is hereby waived) at its election, to terminate this Lease and to enter upon 
the Premises with or without legal process and take immediate possession thereof. In 
addition, Lessor may bring suit for and collect all rents and payments payable to the Lessor, 
and all costs, expenses, attorney fees and damages incurred or suffered by the Lessor. From 
the time of such entry, this Lease and all rights, privileges, easements and leasehold interests 
herein granted shall terminate; provided, that for rents due and nonperformance of other 
conditions, Lessor may sue at once and pursue all remedies that it may have at law or in 
equity without being required to enter into possession and forfeit the Lessee's term as herein 
provided. Lessor and Lessee further agree that in the event of any default, the defaulting 
party shall pay all costs and expenses, inclucling a reasonable attorney's fee, which may arise 
or accrue from enforcing this Lease, or in pursuit of any remedies provided hereunder, or by 
the statutes of the State of Nevada, whether such remedy is pursued by filing a suit or 
otherwise. 

5 



XVI. OUIET POSSESSION 

The Lessee, upon making the payments herein provided for and in the manner provided, and 
complying with each, every and all of the terms, clauses and covenants of this Lease, shall 
have the sole right and option of occupying said Premises under the terms of this Lease during 
the full Term, without any let or hindrance by said Lessor. The occupancy for the Term is 
subject to the rental and renewal provisions as set forth herein. 

XVII. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING 

Lessee shall not, at any time during the Term, or in any manner, either directly or indirectly, 
assign, hypothecate or transfer this Lease or any interest therein, or sublet the Premises, or any 
portion thereof, without the prior written consent of Lessor, which consent may be withheld for 

. any reason or no reason. 

XVIII. LIABILITY FOR LESSEE'S PROPERTY 

Lessee shall be solely responsible for loss or damage to Lessee's personal property or any 
improvements placed upon the Premises by Lessee. 

XIX. INSPECTION 

Lessor reserves the right to enter upon the Premises at any reasonable time for the purpose 
of making any inspection it may deem appropriate for the proper enforcement of any of the 
covenants or conditions of this Lease. However, except in emergency situations, prior to 
Lessor's exercise of this right, Lessor must first contact Lessee and advise Lessee of Lessor's 
intent to inspect, thereby allowing Lessee the opportunity to be present at suchinspection. 

XX. WAIVERS 

No waivers by the Lessor of default, violation of or non- performance of any of the terms, 
covenants or conditions hereof to be performed, kept and observed by the Lessee shall be 
construed to or act as a waiver of any subsequent default, violation or non-performance. The 
acceptance of rental or theperformance of all or any part of this Lease by Lessor for or during 
any period or periods after a default, violation or non-performance of any of the terms, 
covenants and conditions herein contained shall not be deemed a waiver of any right on the 
part of the Lessor to cancel this Lease for failure of Lessee to so perform, keep or observe any 
of the terms, covenants or conditions herein. 

XXI.NOTICES 

Any and all notices and demands by or from Lessor to Lessee, or by or from Lessee to Lessor, 
required or desired to be given hereunder shall be in writing and shall be validly given or 
made if served either personally or if deposited in the United States mail, certified or 
registered, postage prepaid, return receipt requested. If such notice or demand is served by 

6 



registered or certified mail in the manner provided herein, service shall be conclusively 
deemed given three (3) days after mailing or upon receipt, whichever is sooner. 

A. Any notice or demand to Lessor shall be addressed to Lessor at: 

City of Elko 
Attention: City Manager 
1751 College Avenue 
Elko, Nevada 89801 

B. Any notice or demand to Lessee shall be addressed to Lessee at: 

Elko Television District 
P.O. Box 456 
Elko, Nevada 89803 

C. Either party hereto may change its address for the purpose of receiving notices or 
demands as herein provided by a written notice given in the manner aforesaid to the 
other party hereto. 

XXII. ATTORNEY FEES 

In the event either party herein is required to file suit in order to enforce this Agreement, or 
to obtain a judicial interpretation of this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be entitled to 
reasonable attorney fees and court costs. 

XXIII. BINDING EFFECT 

Subject to any restrictions on assignments or subleasing, this Lease shall be binding upon 
and inure to the benefit of the parties, and their successors and assigns and upon their heirs, 
executors, successors, assigns and any sub lessees of any portion of the Premises. 

XXIV.GOVERNING LAW 

The validity, construction and enforcement of this Agreement shall be governed in all respects 
by the laws of the State of Nevada. 

XXV. ENTIRE AGREEMENT; MODIFICATION; WAIVER 

This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between Lessee and Lessor pertaining to the 
subject matter contained in it and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous agreements, 
representations and understandings. No supplement, modification or amendment of or to this 
Agreement shall be binding unless executed in writing by all the parties. No waiver of any 

7 



of the provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed or shall constitute a waiver of any other 
provision, whether or not similar, nor shall any waiver constitute a continuing waiver. No 
waiver shall be binding unless executed in writing by the party making the waiver. 

XXVI. COUNTERPARTS 

This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts and each counterpart shall 
constitute an original instrument, but all such counterparts shall only constitute one and the 
same instrument. 

XXVII. CAPTIONS 

The captions of this Agreement do not in any way limit or amplify the terms and provisions 
of this Agreement. 

XXVIII. MERGER 

The obligations of Lessor and Lessee pursuant to this Agreement shall survive the close of 
escrow contemplated hereunder, and shall not be deemed to merge with the deed of 
conveyance. 

XXIX. SEVERABILITY 

Each provision of this Agreement is severable from any and all other provisions of this 
Agreement. Should any provision( s) of this Agreement be for any reason unenforceable, the 
balance shall nonetheless be of full force and effect. 

XXXI. AUTHORSHIP 

This Agreement has been reviewed by attorneys representing the respective parties and 
therefore shall not be construed in favor of or against any party hereto based on the sole or 
primary authorship of this Agreement being the work of one party hereto. 

8 

___ ___J 



ATTEST: 

Shanell Owen, City Clerk 

LESSOR: 
CITY OF ELKO 

By: ---------
Chris J. Johnson, Mayor 

LESSEE: 
ELKO TELEVISION DISTRICT 

By: ---------

Title: ----------

9 



EXHIBIT A 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF ELKO TV DISTRICT LEASE AREA 

A portion of Parcel No. 3, as shown on the Parcel Map for The City of Elko, Nevada, recorded as file no. 

528401, in the office of the Elko county Recorder, on December 10, 2004, further described as follows; 

Beginning at a point that bears South 1"22'04" East, a distance of 1,199.76 feet, from the west quarter 

corner of said Section 16; 

Thence, North 89°12'07" East, a distance of 50.00 feet; 

Thence, South 0°47'53" East, a distance of 50.00 feet; 

Thence, South 89°12'07" West, a distance of 50.00 feet; 

Thence, North 0°47'53" West, a distance of 50.00 feet, more or less, to the point of beginning. 

This lease area contains an area of ±2,500 square feet. 

The basis of bearings for this description is the Parcel Map for The City of Elko, Nevada, recorded as file 

no. 528401, in the office of the Elko county Recorder, on December 10, 2004. 

Description prepared by: 

City of Elko 

Robert Thibault, P.E., P.L.S. II 

.,, 

j 



FOUND ~ STEEL FENCE POST ~ 
WEST j CORNER SECTION 16, --------- L 

T 34 N, R 55 E -; \ 

I \ 
I~\:: 
ltv lO 

tv tD 
o\'....J I ~\ (1) 

\ 

, 
no 
LO 0 
i---o v LO 
b z 

EXISTING VERIZON LEASE AREA 

~ EXISTING TOWER 

50.00 
N89. 12'07"E 

w 
: 

ELKO TV DISTRICT ~ 8 
LEASE AREA j-... • 

2,500 SF -v ~ 
b 
V) 

50.00 
ssg· 12·01"w 

+ FOUND BRASS CAP, LS 20908 
~ ~ SOUTHWEST CORNER SECTION 16, 
~ T 34 N, R 55 E 

~ -----0 30' 

- "-""'----

60' 

• ""'"'°"" .,.,._..,. 
•IY:?:m-n••-

-iffl --- EXHIBIT B 
MAP OF ELKO TV DISTRICT - "-"-"'----

IN SECTION 16, T 34 N, 
R 55 E, M.0.8.&M. -·-- - 11/,Y!!)J --

'I 



Agenda Item V.A. 

Elko City Council 
Agenda Action Sheet 

1. Title: Review, consideration, and possible action to accept the resignation of Arts 
and Culture Advisory Board Member Simone Turner, and matters related thereto. 
FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

2. Meeting Date: January 9, 2018 

3. Agenda Category: NEW BUSINESS 

4. Time Required: 5 Minutes 

5. Background Information: Ms. Simone Turner's letter of resignation has been 
included in the agenda packet for review. CC 

6. Budget Information: 

Appropriation Required: N/ A 
Budget amount available: N/A 
Fund name: N/ A 

7. Business Impact Statement: Not Required 

8. Supplemental Agenda Information: Resignation Letter from Ms. Simone Turner 

9. Recommended Motion: Accept the resignation of Arts and Culture Advisory Board 
Member Simone Turner 

10. Prepared By: 

11. Committee/Other Agency Review: 

12. Council Action: 

13. Council Agenda Distribution: Ms. Simone Turner 
simonemariet@gmail.com 

Created on 12/18/2018 Council Agenda Action Sheet Page 1 of 1 



From: Simone Turner [mailto:simonemariet@gmail.com1 
Sent: Wednesday, November 01, 2017 2:41 PM 
To: Jeremy Draper <jdraper@elkocitynv.gov>; Catherine Wines <catherine@r6studio.com>; Kim 
Wilkinson <kwilkinson@elkocitynv.gov> 
Subject: My resignation. 

Hello all, 
I am tendering my resignation as of today 11/1/2017. I can no longer fulfill my duties as a 
chairperson on the Arts and Cultural advisory board. As some of you may know I am care giver 
to my father, and I need to be closer to home more. Also I am an artist first and foremost and I 
worry about conflicts of interest with my membership on the board. I can and intend to serve the 
rest of this year, and December 31st. will be my last day. Thank you for allowing me to serve, 
and I do look forward to contributing my time and efforts to helping advance the arts and culture 
in Elko, but as a private citizen. Sincerely 
Simone Turner 



Agenda Item V .B. 

Elko City Council 
Agenda Action Sheet 

1. Title: Review, discussion, and possible authorization to advertise for one (1) vacant 
position on the Arts and Culture Advisory Board, and matters related thereto. FOR 
POSSIBLE ACTION 

2. Meeting Date: January 9, 2018 

3. Agenda Category: NEW BUSINESS 

4. Time Required: 5 Minutes 

5. Background Information: Arts and Culture Advisory Board Member Simone 
Turner has submitted her resignation from the Board, which leaves one vacant 
position. CC 

6. Budget Information: 

Appropriation Required: NI A 
Budget amount available: N/A 
Fund name: N/A 

7. Business Impact Statement: Not Required 

8. Supplemental Agenda Information: Letter of Resignation submitted by Ms. Simone 
Turner 

9. Recommended Motion: Authorize Staff to advertise for one (1) vacant position on the 
Arts and Culture Advisory Board 

10. Prepared By: Curtis Calder, City Manager 

11. Committee/Other Agency Review: 

12. Council Action: 

13. Council Agenda Distribution: Catherine Wines, Chairperson 

Created on 12/18/2017 

Arts and Culture Advisory Board 
catherine@r6studio.com 

Council Agenda Action Sheet Page 1 of 1 



From: Simone Turner [mailto:simonemariet@gmail.com] 
Sent: Wednesday, November 01, 2017 2:41 PM 
To: Jeremy Draper <idraper@elkocitynv.gov>; Catherine Wines <catherine@r6studio.com>; Kim 
Wilkinson <kwilkinson@elkocitynv.gov> 
Subject: My resignation. 

Hello all, 
I am tendering my resignation as of today 11/1/2017. I can no longer fulfill my duties as a 
chairperson on the Arts and Cultural advisory board. As some of you may know I am care giver 
to my father, and I need to be closer to home more. Also I am an artist first and foremost and I 
worry about conflicts of interest with my membership on the board. I can and intend to serve the 
rest of this year, and December 31st. will be my last day. Thank you for allowing me to serve, 
and I do look forward to contributing my time and efforts to helping advance the arts and culture 
in Elko, but as a private citizen. Sincerely 
Simone Turner 



Agenda Item V.C. 

Elko City Council 
Agenda Action Sheet 

1. Title: Review, consideration, and possible action to modify the fees currently 
charged for reuse water as defined in Resolution 2-08, and matters related thereto. 
FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

2. Meeting Date: January 9, 2018 

3. Agenda Category: NEW BUSINESS 

4. Time Required: 15 Minutes 

5. Background Information: At the December 12, 2017 Council meeting, "a Motion was 
made by Mayor Johnson, seconded by Councilwoman Simons, to direct Staff to 
solicit bids for the WRF Fill Station less the scope of work of the electronic reader 
that the City of Elko would not bill for effluent water". 

Currently, construction water is the only use which we bill for reuse water. RL 

6. Budget Information: 

Appropriation Required: 
Budget amount available: 
Fund name: 

7. Business Impact Statement: Not Required 

8. Supplemental Agenda Information: Resolution 2-08 

9. Recommended Motion: My recommendation would not be to waive the fee, but 
rather increase this fee to $.75/1000 gallons (1/2 the potable water rate). RL 

10. Prepared By: Ryan Limberg, Utilities Director 

11. Committee/Other Agency Review: 

12. Council Action: 

13. Council Agenda Distribution: 

Created on 12/2lc/2017 Council Agenda Action Sheet Page 1 of 1 



- -
Upon introduction by Councilman Jay Elquist, seconded by Councilman Jim Conner following 
Resolution and Order was passed and adopted: 

CITY OF ELKO 
Resolution No. 2-08 

A Resolution Establishing a Fee for Treated Effluent Construction Water pursuant to Title 
9, Chapter 5, Section 30 of the Elko City Code, and matters related thereto. 

WHEREAS, the Elko City Code Title 9, Chapter 5, Section 30, provides that the City 
Council may, by resolution, establish a fee for treated effluent construction water; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Elko has deemed it necessary WHEREAS, 
In order to recover costs and meet demands of the public, the City has determined a need to 
adopt Treated Effluent Construction Water Metered Rates. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED AND ORDERED by the City Council of 
the City of Elko that fees for treated effluent construction water be added as follows: 

TREATED EFFLUENT CONSTRUCTION WATER METERED RATES 

Deposit: The applicant shall deposit, in advance, the estimated cost of installing and 
removing the facilities required to furnish said service, exclusive of the cost of salvageable 
material. Upon discontinuance of service, the actual cost shall be determined and an 
adjustment made as an additional charge, refund or credit. If service is supplied through a fire 
hydrant, the applicant will be charged in accordance with the following rate schedule: 

Flat charge per connection, for both installation and removal of service facilities, 
including meter 

Each additional move of facilities to another location 

$75.00 

$25.00 

Rates: The rate for metered service shall be forty cents ($.40) per one thousand (1,000) 
gallons. The minimum charge for water shall be fifteen dollars ($15.00) per month. Water 
charges shall be billed monthly. 

IT IS FURTHER RESOLVED, that upon adoption of this Resolution by the City Council, it 
shall be signed by the Mayor and attested to by the City Clerk and shall be in full force and effect 
April 1, 2008. 



• -
PASSED AND ADOPTED this 11th day of March, 2008. 

CITY OF ELKO 

ATTEST: 

~(O~ 
SHANELL OWEN, City Clerk 

A YES: Mayor Mike Franzoia, Councilmen: Jay Elquist, Jim Conner, Chris Johnson, John 
Patrick Rice 

NAYS: None 

ABSENT: None 

ABSTAIN: None 



Agenda Item V.D. 

Elko City Council 
Agenda Action Sheet 

1. Title: Review, consideration, and possible action to initiate an amendment to Title 4, 
Chapter 6 of the Elko City Code entitled "Room Tax" and matters related thereto. 
FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

2. Meeting Date: January 9, 2018 

3. Agenda Category: NEW BUSINESS 

4. Time Required: 10 Minutes 

5. Background Information: City Staff is recommending several changes to the Room 
Tax Code to assist with reporting deadlines and auditing compliance. SO 

6. Budget Information: 

Appropriation Required: N/A 
Budget amount available: N/ A 
Fund name: NI A 

7. Business Impact Statement: Not Required 

8. Supplemental Agenda Information: Draft Ordinance 

9. Recommended Motion: Approve initiation of Title 4, Chapter 6 of the Elko City Code 
entitled "Room Tax" and refer the matter for first reading. 

10. Prepared By: Shanell Owen, City Clerk 

11. Committee/Other Agency Review: 

12. Council Action: 

13. Agenda Distribution: 

Created on 12/21/2017 Council Agenda Action Sheet Page 1 of 1 



CITY OF ELKO 

ORDINANCE NO. 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE 4, CHAPTER 6 OF THE ELKO CITY CODE, 
ENTITLED "ROOM TAX" AND MATTERS RELATED THERETO 

WHEREAS, the City of Elko desires to amend the Elko City Room Tax Code pertaining 
to room tax due dates and penalties; 

WHEREAS, the City of Elko has determined that the proposed amendments will assist 
with transient lodging audits; 

WHEREAS, the City of Elko has determined that the proposed amendments will provide 
clarification for transient lodging twenty-eight (28) day exemptions. 

WHEREAS, the City of Elko has determined that the proposed amendment will assist in 
meeting the State requirements for transient lodging tax distributions and required reporting; 

WHEREAS, the City of Elko has determined that promotional packages associated with 
transient lodging are no longer needed; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 

For amendment purposes, words which are in bold and underlined are additions to the 
Ordinance, and words which are lined through and bold are deleted from the Ordinance. 

SECTION 1. Title 4, Chapter 6, Section 1 of the Elko City Code is hereby amended as follows: 

4-6-1 DEFINITIONS: 

RENTAL BUSINESS: 
A. Rent: The act of permitting a person to use or occupy any portion of a transient lodging 

rental business in exchange for a fee paid, or the compensation paid for such use or 
occupancy. The terms "rent" and "lease" shall have the same meaning in this Chapter. 

B. Transient Lodging Rental Business: The operating of any business which provides 
"transient lodging", wherein a room, space of other accommodation is rented for a period 
of less than twenty-eight (28) days for use by the same tenant, to include any room, space 
or other accommodation which is rented to the same tenant in successive terms, the total 
of which is less than twenty-eight (28) days each, but not to include any room, space or 
other accommodation which is rented, for a tenant, who is a natural person, that signs, 
prior to their stay, a Transient Occupancy Tax 28 Day Exemption Form to stay at 
that Transient Lodging facility for a term of twenty-eight days (28) or longer. The fact 
that the guest may have actually stayed for twenty-eight (28) days or longer is not in 
itself sufficient to claim exemption from the tax. In the event a business rents a portion 
of its rooms, spaces or other accommodations ·for terms of less than twenty-eight (28) 
days and another portion of its rooms, spaces or other accommodations for terms of 
twenty-eight (28) days or more, only those rooms, spaces or other accommodations 

1 



rented for terms of less than twenty-eight (28) days shall constitute a "transient lodging 
rental business". 

TRANSIENT LODGING: The following types of lodging: 

I. Any other establishment that rents rooms, spaces or other accommodations to temporary 
or transient guests having three (3) four (4) or more rooms, spaces or other 
accommodations for rent. 

SECTION 2. Title 4, Chapter 6, Section 2 of the Elko City Code is hereby amended as follows: 

4-6-2: TAX ON TRANSIENT LODGING: 

There is hereby fixed and imposed on every licensee operating a transient lodging rental business 
within the city a transient lodging tax in the total amount of fourteen percent ( 14%) to be 
collected as follows: 

Fourteen percent ( 14%) of the gross income actually received, excluding the lodging tax, by each 
licensee for transient lodging rentals. Complimentary transient lodging (transient lodging which 
is provided at no cost to the occupant) is nontaxable. To be considered complimentary transient 
lodging, the transient lodging must be provided on an individual basis and not as part of any 
established package, advertised or otherwise, which includes other products or services. 
Transient lodging included in promotional packages is tax.able. The tax.able amount for such 
transient lodging, except those promotional packages that ineJude airfare, is computed by 
obtaining the percentage that the transient lodging rack rate bears to the retail Yalue of the 
package and multiplying thar percentage by the package cost to the occupant, or the actual 
affiount charged for the transient lodging, •.vhichever is greater. 

EJrnmple: Transient lodging with an established rack rate of fifty dollars ($50.00) is included in 
the follmving package, •.vhieh is sold for forty dollars ($40.00): 

Food credit $ 10 .00 ' 

Coins 10 .00 

Cabaret sho•w :20.00 

! 10 .00 
., 

Drink tokens 

R:aek rate :so.oo 

R:etail value of package · 100 .00 

2 



The rack rate equals fifty percent (50%) of the retail value of the package. Therefore, fifty 
percent (50%) of the package cost, or hventy dollars ($20.00), must be allocated to transient 
lodging and included in taxable revenue. 
Transient lodging tax charged for transient lodging rented as part of a promotional package that 
includes airfare shall be set by resolution of the city council. 

SECTION 3. Title 4, Chapter 6, Section 4 of the Elko City Code is hereby amended as follows: 

There shall be, and hereby is, exempted from the license tax on transient lodging, each rental by 
any lessee of a room, space or other accommodation when the room, space, or other 
accommodation is paid for, directly, from a federal, state or local governmental entity provided 
that a Governmental Agency Exemption Claim Form is completed. 

A Licensee is entitled to an exemption for any Lessee who is a natural person, that signs, 
prior to their stay, a Transient Occupancy Tax 28 Day Exemption Form to stay at that 
Transient Lodging facility for a period of at least 28 days. If the Lessee does not honor the 
Exemption Form and leaves before staying at least 28 days, the Licensee will owe the 
Transient Lodging Tax for the period the room was occupied. The fact that the guest may 
have actually stayed 28 or more days is not in itself sufficient to claim exemption from the 
tax. 

SECTION 4. Title 4, Chapter 6, Section 9 of the Elko City Code is hereby amended as follows: 

4-6-9: PAYMENT OF TAX, INTEREST AND PENALTIES: 

Every licensee shall pay the transient lodging tax to the city clerk on or before the tenth day of 
the month when such tax shall accrue. Payment of the transient lodging tax shall become 
delinquent on the sixteenth eleventh day of the month. Such tax becomes payable to the city 
clerk by the licensee pursuant hereto. All electronic payments must be transmitted and 
received by the City on or before the tenth day of the month. Mailed payments must be 
postmarked on or before the tenth day of the month. 

SECTION 5. Title 4, Chapter 6, Section 11 of the Elko City Code is hereby amended as 
follows: 

4-6-11: EXAMINATION OF BOOKS AND RECORDS: 

The tax administrator and his duly authorized agent are empowered to examine and audit the 
books, papers and records of any licensee or person operating a transient lodging rental business 
and to make investigations in connection therewith. Audits will cover a three (3) year period. 
The audit will be conducted at no expense to the Licensee. 

A. Required Records. Each Licensee is required to maintain daily records which support 
amounts reported on the Operator's Transient lodging tax returns. Records shall 
include, but may not be limited to the following minimum information: 

3 



1. Total rooms available and occupied. 

2. Receipts, guest folios, registration detail, including the name of the property, name 
of the guest occupying the room, room number, date paid, dates of occupancy, and 
breakdown of what was paid for by the guest with Transient Lodging Tax stated 
separately. 

3. Total daily Gross Receipts. 

4. A detailed listing of claimed nontaxable/exempt room revenue that include name of 
guest, room number, dates and amounts paid, and date(s) of occupancy. 

5. Total amount of Transient Lodging Tax collected. 

6. Number of non-revenue or Complimentary Rooms. 

7. Folio and other documentation for all exemptions and adjustments to revenue to 
include proof of payment directly from governmental entity per Section 4-6-4. 

8. Records supporting Complimentary Rooms revenue. 

9. Transient Occupancy Tax 28 Day Exemption Forms. 

10. Government Exemption Claim Forms. 

11. All documentation used to complete the Operator's Transient lodging tax return 
and retained as backup to the return. 

Acceptable methods of maintaining the above list include bound receipt books, guest 
folios, registration cards, daily transaction reports, general ledgers, cash journals, 
register and/or computer tapes, computerized records, and any other books and 
records deemed necessary to complete the Transient Lodging Tax audit. In addition, 
Licensees shall provide documents that can be used to support revenues and 
exemptions. Failure to provide adequate documentation supporting transient lodging 
tax returns may result in revocation, suspension or termination of Business License. All 
information provided during the course of an audit, including tax returns, audit 
records, etc., will be kept confidential. 

B. Retention of Records. Every Licensee shall keep all financial records, receipts, invoices, 
and other pertinent documents as listed and described in Required Records for a period 
of not less than four (4) years from the close of the accounting year to which the returns 
relate. 

C. Availability of Records. Upon written notification of a Transient Lodging Tax audit, 
the Licensee shall provide all records supporting Transient lodging tax returns flied 
with the City of Elko. These records shall be available to the Room Tax Auditors at the 
property location or the offices of the City of Elko within ten (10) business days unless 
other arrangements are made with the City of Elko. 

If the Transient Lodging Tax audit is conducted at the property, the Licensee shall 
provide reasonable accommodations for the Room Tax auditors. 

4 



Auditors will make copies or request that the property make copies of original records 
to be retained as part of the audit work papers which substantiate the audit findings. 
Records may also be provided electronically either through e-mail, cd or flash drive. 

Failure to retain or refusal to furnish such records as described in this section shall not 
affect the City of Elko's authority to assess a deficiency for such periods. The City may 
utilize and apply available data to those periods in which records are unavailable. 

1. Failure to Cooperate with a Transient Lodging Tax Audit. Upon notification to 
the City by the Auditor that a Licensee is failing to cooperate with a Transient 
Lodging Tax Audit, the City Council may terminate, suspend or revoke the 
Licensee's Business License as outlined in City Code 4-1-14. Failing to cooperate 
is defined as refusing to provide sufficient information to the auditor in order to 
conduct the audit. 

D. Notice of Audit Determination. Following the completion of a Transient Lodging Tax 
audit, the Licensee will be advised in writing of the audit findings. The notice may be 
served personally, by certified mail, and/or e-mail. 

E. Time Limitation. If an assessment for underpayment or nonpayment of Transient 
Lodging Tax is made, the Licensee has thirty (30) calendar days in which to make 
payment and/or file a written appeal of the findings. If payment and/or written appeal 
of the assessment is not received within thirty (30) calendar days, the City of Elko shall 
place a lien against the property. Appeals shall be placed on a City Council agenda for 
consideration. 

Should a credit for overpayment be due, the credit will be refunded within thirty (30) 
calendar days. 

SECTION 6. Title 4, Chapter 6, Section 12 of the Elko City Code is hereby amended as 
follows: 

4-6-12: PENAL TIES AND INTEREST: 

If the transient lodging tax is not paid on or before the fifteenth tenth day of the month in which 
it becomes due, or if such day falls on a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday, on the next 
succeeding day not a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday, then the licensee shall pay a penalty of 
fifteen percent ( 15%) of the unpaid, due and delinquent transient lodging tax, and the licensee 
shall also pay the costs of collection of the tax, penalty, court costs and attorney fees. If 
payment of the transient lodging tax is not received within sixty (60) calendar days 
following the tenth day of the month, the City of Elko shall place a lien against the 
property. Further action beyond seventy (70) calendar days may include termination, 
suspension or revocation of the Licensee's Business License as outlined in City Code 4-1-14. 

SECTION 7. Title 4, Chapter 6, Section 15 of the Elko City Code is hereby amended as 
follows: 

5 



4-6-15 FORMSl AND COSTS AND REQUIRED REPORTING: 

A. The city clerk is hereby empowered and authorized to designate the form of and have 
prepared or printed all stationery, supplies, records, notices, receipts, licenses and other 
forms that the city clerk deems necessary or advisable in connection with the collection, 
administration and disbursement of the proceeds of this transient lodging tax, and to 
obtain all supplies, records and other property and equipment deemed necessary by the 
city clerk in connection with the collection, administration, use and disbursement of the 
said transient lodging tax proceeds. All costs, expenses, charges and debts incurred by the 
city, or by the city clerk under the provisions of this chapter, in connection with the 
imposition, collection, administration, use and disbursement of this transient lodging tax 
and the proceeds thereof shall be paid out of the recreational fund provided for in this 
chapter. 

B. The Licensee shall complete all noted "required information" on transient lodging 
forms in their entirety. The Licensee may complete all noted "optional 
information" on transient lodging forms. 

SECTION 8. All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed, but 
only to the extent of such conflict. 

SECTION 9. If any section, paragraph, clause or provision of this Ordinance shall for any 
reason be held to be invalid, unenforceable or unconstitutional by any court of competent 
jurisdiction, the invalidity, unenforceability of such section, paragraph, clause or provision shall 
not affect any remaining provision of this Ordinance. 

SECTION 10. Upon adoption, the City Clerk of the City of Elko is hereby directed to have this 
ordinance published by title only, together with the Councilman voting for or against its passage 
in a newspaper of general circulation within the time established by law, for at least one 
publication. 

SECTION 11. This Ordinance shall be effective April 1, 2018. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this __ day of _______ , 2018, by the following vote 
of the Elko City Council. 

VOTE: 
AYES: ________________________ _ 

NAYES: ______________________ _ 

ABSENT: ______________________ _ 

ABSTAIN: ____________________ _ 

6 



APPROVED this __ day of ________ , 2018. 

ATTEST: 

SHANELL OWEN, City Clerk 

CITY OF ELKO 

By:----------
CHRIS JOHNSON, Mayor 

7 



Agenda Item V.E. 

Elko City Council 
Agenda Action Sheet 

1. Title: Review, consideration, and possible initiation for the adoption of the '2018 
International Existing Building Code' and possible amendments to related existing 
City Code sections and/or the model IEBC, and matters related thereto. FOR 
POSSIBLE ACTION 

2. Meeting Date: January 09, 2018 

3. Agenda Category: NEW BUSINESS 

4. Time Required: 15 Minutes 

5. Background Information: The Council took action at its meeting on April, 11 2017 
directing Staff to adopt the 2018 Building Code. Currently the City has adopted the 
2009 Building code. During the 2015 code change cycle the international code 
council membership voted to delete Chapter 34, Existing Structures, from the 2015 
IBC code and reference the International Existing Building Code (IEBC). As a 
result, the City will be required to adopt the International Existing Building Code as 
a separate model code. The 2015 IEBC contains more extensive provisions than 
Chapter 34 of the 2009 IBC, such as seismic and energy requirements. Staff will 
evaluate the appropriateness of the level of adoption and make a recommendation to 
the Council. JF 

6. Budget Information: 
Appropriation Required: NI A 
Budget amount available: N/A 
Fund name: N/A 

7. Business Impact Statement: Not Required 

8. Supplemental Agenda Information: Agenda Action Sheet Referencing motion made 
for adoption of 2018 Model Building Codes. 

9. Recommended Motion: Direct Staff to initiate the adoption of the '2018 
International Existing Building Code' and possible amendments to related existing 
City Code sections and/or the model IEBC. 

10. Prepared By: Jeff Ford, Building Official 

11. Committee/Other Agency Review: Scott A. Wilkinson; Assistant City Manager; 
David Stanton, City Attorney 

12. Council Action: 

13. Agenda Distribution: 

Created on 0 1/03/2018 Council Agenda Action Sheet Page 1 of 1 



Agenda Item# V.C. 

Elko City Council 
Agenda Action Sheet 

I. Title: Discussion and possible direction to Staff to pursue adoption of the 2018 
Model Building Codes, and matters related thereto. FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

2. Meeting Date: April 11, 2017 

3. Agenda Category: UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

4. Time Required: 15 Minutes 

5. Background Information: At a recent NOBO (Nevada Organization of Building 
Officials) meeting a proposal was presented to the members to have a statewide 
adoption of the 2018 Model Building Codes. This would be a combined effort of all 
jurisdictions to develop common amendments, and have the entire State 
implementing a common code. The goal is to adopt the 2018 Model Building Codes 
by July of 2018. TS 

6. Budget Information: NA 

7. Business Impact Statement: Not Required 

8. Supplemental Agenda Information: NA 

9. Recommended Motion: Pleasure of the Council for possible preparation for possible 
adoption of the 2018 Model Building Codes. 

10. Prepared By: Ted Schnoor, Building Official 

11. Committee Other Agency Review: NA 

12. Council Action: 
** A motion was made by Councilwoman Simons, seconded by Councilman 
Schmidtleln, to direct staff to prepare for possible adoption of the 2018 Model Building 
Codes. 

Tl,e motion passed unanimously. (4·0) 

13. Agenda Distribution: 

Created on 04 04,2017 Council Agenda Action Sheet 



Agenda Item V.F. 

Elko City Council 
Agenda Action Sheet 

1. Title: Review, consideration, and possible initiation for the adoption of the '2018 
International Property Maintenance Code' and possible amendments to related 
existing City Code sections and/or the model IPMC, and matters related thereto. 
FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

2. Meeting Date: January 9, 2018 

3. Agenda Category: NEW BUSINESS 

4. Time Required: 15 Minutes 

5. Background Information: The Council took action at its meeting on April 11, 2017 
directing Staff to adopt the 2018 Building Code. Currently the City has adopted the 
2009 Building Code. The 2018 Building Code contains a section entitled 
"International Property Maintenance Code". Enforcement of this code will require 
additional staff and training. As a result, Staff is not recommending adoption of this 
model code. In addition, the adoption process would require a business impact 
statement. JF 

6. Budget Information: 

Appropriation Required: N/ A 
Budget amount available: N/A 
Fund name: NIA 

7. Business Impact Statement: Required 

8. Supplemental Agenda Information: Overview of Code & Additional Information 

9. Recommended Motion: Pleasure of the Council. 

10. Prepared By: Jeff Ford, Building Official 

11. Committee/Other Agency Review: Scott A. Wilkinson, Assistant City Manager; David 
Stanton, City Attorney 

12. Council Action: 

13. Agenda Distribution: 

Created on O 1/03/2018 Council Agenda Action Sheet Page 1 of 1 



CODE OVERVIEW 
The International Property Maintenance Code (IPMC) establishes minimum requirements for the 
maintenance of existing buildings through model code regulations that contain clear and specific 
property maintenance and property improvement provisions. The IPMC is a maintenance 
document intended to establish minimum maintenance standards for basic equipment, light, 
ventilation, heating, sanitation and fire safety. Responsibility is fixed among owners, 
operators and occupants for code compliance. The IPMC provides for the regulation and safe 
use of existing structures in the interest of the social and economic welfare of the community. 

GENERAL REQUIREMENTS 
1. Exterior Property Areas: Exterior property/premises shall be maintained in a clean, safe 

and sanitary condition. Grading and drainage shall be maintained to prevent erosion. 
Sidewalks and driveways, parking spaces and similar areas shall be kept in a proper state 
of repair. Property shall be maintained free from weeds or excessive plant growth. 
Premises shall be kept free from rodent harborage and infestation. Assessory structures, 
fences and walls shall be maintained structurally and in good repair. Motor vehicles that 
are inoperative or unlicensed shall not be parked, kept or stored on any premises in a state 
of major disassembly, disrepair, or in the process of being stripped or dismantled 
(vehicles may only be painted in an approved spray booth). 

2. Swimming Pools, Spas and Hot Tubs: Pools shall be maintained in clean/sanitary 
condition/good repair. Private pools, hot tubs and spas enclosures compliance items 
apply. 

3. Exterior Structure: Exterior of structures shall be maintained in good repair, structurally 
sound and sanitary so as not to pose a threat to public health, safety or welfare. This 
includes insect screens on windows, all windows ( except fixed) must be openable and 
capable of being held in position by window hardware. Roofs shall have no defects, 
chimney, stairways, decks, porches and balconies, overhang extensions, exterior walls, 
foundation walls, structural members, premises identification, exterior coverings, doors, 
basement window guards, building security, hatchways and gates would all be regulated 
by this code. 

4. Interior Structure: The interior of a structure and equipment therein shall be maintained 
in good repair, structurally sound and in a sanitary condition. Occupants shall keep that 
part of the structure that they occupy or control in a clean and sanitary condition. Every 
owner of a structure containing a rooming house, housekeeping units, a hotel, a 
dormitory, two or more dwelling units or two or more nonresidential occupancies, shall 
maintain, in a clean and sanitary condition, the shared or public areas of the structure and 
exterior property. This section of the code regulates unsafe conditions, structural 
members, interior surfaces (including peeling, chipping, flacking, or abraded paint), stairs 
and walking surfaces, handrails and guards and interior doors. 

5. Component Serviceability: This section regulates unsafe conditions of components such 
as concrete, soil, aluminum, masonry, steel and wood. 

6. Handrails and Guardrails: Existing stairs/guardrails/handrails would have to be 
maintained to currently IRC/IBC regulations. 

7. Rubbish and Garbage: This section regulates the accumulation of rubbish or garbage, 
rubbish disposal, rubbish storage facilities, refrigerators, garbage disposal, garbage 

Page 1 of3 



facilities and containers. Leak-proof covered containers for rubbish/garbage (at all times) 
are some of the requirements of this section. 

8. Pest Elimination: Structures shall be kept free from insect and rodent infestation. All 
insects/rodents have to be exterminated by approved processes that are not injurious to 
human health. The owner shall be responsible for pest elimination within the structure 
prior to renting or leasing the structure. The occupant of a one-family dwelling or of a 
single-tenant nonresidential structure shall be responsible for pest elimination on the 
premises. The same applies for multiple occupancy dwelling units. 

LIGHT, VENTILATION AND OCCUPANCY LIMITATIONS 
Provisions in this section regulate light and ventilation requirements. The owner of the structure 
shall be responsible for providing and maintaining light, ventilation and space conditions in 
compliance with these requirements. A person shall not occupy as owner-occupant, or permit 
another person to occupy and premises that do not comply with the requirements. This section 
requires spaces to be maintained to more modem codes. This includes habitable spaces, common 
halls and stairways, bathing and toilet rooms, cooking facilities, and other spaces. Minimum 
room widths and heights and occupancy limits would be enforceable. 

PLUMBING FACITLITIES AND FIXTURE REQUIREMENTS 
Minimum plumbing systems, facilities and plumbing fixtures shall be governed under this code. 
The owner of the structure shall provide and maintain such plumbing facilities and plumbing 
fixtures in compliance with the requirements. A person shall not occupy as owner-occupant or 
permit another person to occupy any structure or premises that does not comply with the 
requirements. Required facilities would be enforced for existing dwelling units, rooming houses, 
hotels, employees' facilities, drinking facilities and public toilet facilities. Water systems, 
sanitary drainage system and storm drainage compliance items are also covered in this code. 

MECHANICAL AND ELECTRICAL REQUIREMENTS 
Minimum mechanical and electrical facilities and equipment show be governed by this code. 
The owner of the structure shall provide and maintain mechanical and electrical facilities and 
equipment in compliance with the requirements. A person shall not occupy as owner-occupant 
or permit another person to occupy any premises that does not comply with the requirements of 
this code. Heating facilities shall be regulated for residential occupancies and occupiable work 
spaces. Minimum temperatures of 68 degrees Fahrenheit in all habitable rooms, bathrooms and 
toilet rooms (excluding exceptions) shall be maintained from dates set by jurisdiction for 
residential occupancies. Minimum temperatures of 65 degrees Fahrenheit in all indoor 
occupiable work spaces shall be maintained from dates set by jurisdiction for residential 
occupancies. Mechanical equipment, appliances, fireplaces, solid fuel-burning appliances, 
cooking appliances and water heating appliances shall be properly installed and maintained in a 
safe working condition, and shall be capable of performing the intended function. Electrical 
facilities shall be provided in every occupied building in compliance with this code. Electrical 
equipment, wiring and appliances' shall be properly installed and maintained in a safe and 
approved manner. Conditions are set forth for receptacles, luminaires and wiring. Elevators, 
escalators and dumbwaiters are regulated in this code. Duct systems shall be maintained free of 
obstructions and shall be capable of performing the required function. 

Page 2 of 3 



FIRE SAFETY REQUIREMENTS 
Minimum conditions and standards for fire safety relating to structures and exterior premises, 
including fire safety facilities and equipment provisions apply. A safe, continuous and 
unobstructed path of travel shall be provided. Means of egress shall comply with the 
International Fire Code. Aisles, locked doors and emergency escape openings requirements 
apply. Fire-resistance rating provisions such as fire-resistance-rated assemblies, unsafe 
conditions, maintenance, fire blocking and draft stopping, smoke barriers and partitions, fire 
walls, fire barriers and fire partitions shall apply. Fire detection, alarm and extinguishing 
systems, mechanical smoke exhaust systems, and smoke and heat vents shall be maintained in 
accordance with the International Fire Code in an operative condition at all times, and shall be 
replaced or repaired where defective. Multiple provisions/requirements pertaining to these items 
are outlined in this code. Provisions are in place for carbon monoxide alarms and detection. 

ENFORCEMENT or IMPACT: 
This code would be enforced by a code official. 

Fees and administrative provisions would need to be established and adopted for violations and 
administration of the codes. 

Pros 
General safety and health of the population against unsafe conditions/environments. Property 
value increase may be expected. Regulation and enforcement of existing codes to existing 
properties/premises. Improvement ofliving conditions to owners/lessee's/visitors. Accessibility 
and fire/life safety improvements to existing property and premises. 

Cons 
The owner of the premises shall maintain the structures and exterior property in compliance with 
these requirements. Vacant structures and premises thereof or vacant land shall be maintained in 
clean, safe, secure and sanitary condition as provided herein so as not to cause a blighting 
problem or adversely affect the public health or safety. This would entail costs to the premise 
owner and could cause a monetary hardship to property owners. There would be a cost to the 
City of Elko for additional personnel to enforce the provisions of this code. 

Page3 of3 



Code Outline/Table of Contents 
Before applying the requirements of the IPMC it may be beneficial to understand its 
arrangement and fonnat The IPMC, like other codes published by ICC, is arranged and 
organized to follow sequential steps that generally occur during an inspection. The IPMC is 
divided into eight different parts: 

Chapter 1 Scope and Administration: This chapter contains provisions for the application, 
enforcement and administration of subsequent requirements of the code. In addition to 
establishing the scope of the code, Chapter 1 identifies which buildings and structures 
come under its purview. Chapter 1 is largely concerned with maintaining 'due process of 
law" in enforcing the property maintenance criteria contained in the body of the code 
Only through careful observation of the administrative provisions can the building official 
reasonable expect to demonstrate that "equal protection under the law" has been provided. 
Chapter 2 Definitions: Where understanding of a term's definition is especially key to or 
necessary for understanding of a particular code provision the term is shown in italics. This is 
true only for those tenns that have a meaning that is unique to the code. 
Chapter 3 General Requirements: Chapter 3, 'General Requirements,' is broad in scope. It 
includes a variety ofrequirements for the exterior property areas as well as the interior and 
exterior elements of the structure. This chapter provides requirements that are intended to 
maintain a minimum level of safety and sanitation for both the general public and the 
occupartts of a structure, and to maintain a building's structural and weather-resistance 
performance. Chapter 3 provides specific criteria for regulating the installation and 
maintenance of specific bu I Id 1 ng components; maintenance requirements for vacant 
structures and land; requirements regulating the safety, sanitation and appearance of the 
interior and exterior of structures and all exterior property areas, accessory structures; 
vehicle storage regulations and establishes who is responsible for complying with the 
chapter's provisions. This chapter also contains the requirements for swimming pools, spas 
and hot tubs and the requirements for protective barriers and gates in these barriers. 
Chapter 3 establishes the responsible parties for exterminating insects and rodents, and 
maintaining sanitary conditions in all types of occupancies. 
Chapter 4 Light, Ventilation and Occupancy Limitations: The purposes of Chapter 4 are 
to set forth these requirements in the code and to establish the minimum environment for 
occupiable and habitable buildings, by establishing the minimum criteria for light and 
ventilation and identifying occupancy limitations including minimum room width and area, 
minimum ceiling height and restrictions to prevent overcrowding. This chapter also 
provides for alternative arrangements of windows and other devices to comply with the 
requirements for light and ventilation and prohibits certain room arrangements and occupancy 
uses. 
Chapter 5 Plumbing Facilities and Fixture Requirements: Chapter 5 establishes the 
minimum criteria for the installation, maintenance and location of plumbing systems and 
facilities, including the water supply system, water heating appliances, sewage disposal 
system and related plumbing fixtures. Sanitary and clean conditions in occupied buildings 
are depenpent upon certain basic plumbing principles, including providing potable water to 
a building, providing the basic fixtures to effectively utilize that water and property 
removing waste from the building_ Chapter 5 establishes the minimum criteria to verify 
that these principles are maintained throughout the life of a building. 

Page 1 of 2 



Chapter 6 Mechanical and Electrical Requirements: The purpose of Chapter 6 is to 
establish minimum performance requirements for heating, electrical and mechanical 
facilities and to establish minimum standards for the safety of these facilities. This chapter 
establishes minimum criteria for the installation and maintenance of the following: heating 
and air-conditioning equipment, appliances and their supporting systems; water heating 
equipment, appliances and systems; cooking equipment and appliances; ventilation and 
exhaust equipment; gas and liquid fuel distribution piping and components; fireplaces and 
solid fuel-burning appliances; chimneys and vents; electrical services; lighting fixtures; 
electrical receptacle outlets; electrical distribution system equipment, devices and wiring; 
and elevators, escalators and dumbwaite}s. 
Chapter 7 Fire Safety Requirements: The purpose of Chapter 7 is to address those fire 
hazards that arise as the result of a building's occupancy_ It also provides minimum 
requirements for fire safety issues that are most likely to arise in older buildings. This 
chapter contains requirements for means of egress in existing buildings, including path of 
travel, required egress width, means of egress doors and emergency escape openings. 
Chapter 7 establishes the minimum requirements for fire safety facilities and fire protection 
systems, as these are essential fire safety systems. 
Chapter 8 Referenced Standards: The code contains numerous references to standards 
that are used to regulate materials and methods of construction. Chapter 8 contains a 
comprehensive list of all standards that are referenced in the code. The standards are part of the 
code to the extent of the reference to the standard. Compliance with the referenced standard 
is necessary for compliance with this code. By providing specifically adopted standards, 
the construction and installation requirements necessary for compliance with the code can 
be readily detennined. The basis for code compliance is, therefore established and available on 
an equal basis to the code official, contractor, designer and owner. 
Chapter 8 is organized in a manner that makes it easy to locate specific standards It lists all 
of the referenced standards, alphabetically, by acronym of the promulgating agency of the 
standard Each agency's standards are then listed m either alphabetical or numeric order 
based upon the standard Identification. The list also contains the title of the standard; the 
edition (date) of the standard referenced; any addendums included as part of the ICC 
adoption; and the section or sections of this code that reference the standard. 

Pagel of2 



Agenda Item V.G. 

Elko City Council 
Agenda Action Sheet 

1. Title: Review, consideration, and discussion for the appointment of one (1) new 
member to the Parks and Recreation Advisory Board, and matters related thereto. 
FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

2. Meeting Date: January 9, 2018 

3. Agenda Category: NEW BUSINESS 

4. Time Required: 5 Minutes 

5. Background Information: Council authorized Staff to advertise for one (1) open 
position on the Parks and Recreation Advisory Board at a previous meeting in early 
2017. Since then, Staff has received three letters of interest from Ms. Katie 
Archuleta, Mr. Christopher Kentopp, and Ms. Amber Fox. All have expressed a 
desire to serve as a member on the Board. The appointment will be for the 
remainder of the vacant term through June 30, 2019. JW 

6. Budget Information: 

Appropriation Required: NIA 
Budget amount available: N/A 
FundName: NIA 

7. Business Impact Statement: Not Required 

8. Supplemental Agenda Information: Letters of Interest from Ms. Katie Archuleta, Mr. 
Christopher Kentopp, and Ms. Amber Fox 

9. Recommended Motion: Pleasure of the Council. Appoint either candidate to serve on 
the Parks and Recreation Advisory Board for remainder of the vacant term through 
June 30, 2019. 

10. Prepared By: James Wiley, Director of Parks and Recreation 

11. Committee/Other Agency Review: 

12. Council Action: 

13. Council Agenda Distribution: Ms. Katie Archuleta 

Created on 12/28/2018 

karchuleta@elkocitynv.gov 

Mr. Christopher Kentopp 
cj.kentopp@gmail.com 

Ms. Amber Fox 
Amherfox11@gmai1.com 

Council Agenda Action Sheet Page 1 of 1 



--- - -- ------

December 14, 2017 

James Wiley 

Park & Recreation Department 

723 Railroad Street 

Elko, NV 89801 

Dear James, 

I am writing to express my desire to volunteer for Parks & Recreation Advisory Board. I believe I would 
be a great candidate for this position. I offer the ability to serve the term. I have been Involved in Elko 
for over 20 years. I am willing to meet and conduct such appointments of the Advisory Board and 
Nevada Open Meeting Law. 

I believe my perspective offers this position a fresh forward approach. My willingness to be of service 
with over 20 year in customer relations. I enjoy being engaged in new and pioneering projects. I excel 
in organizing and paying attention to detail. 

I would be an asset as a volunteer because of my personal Interest. 

Sincerely, 

Katie Archuleta 



To whom it may concern: 
I am interested in the vacant position currently open with the Parks and Rec. I feel like I would 
be a good addition to the board with all the previous experience I have being involved in Parks 
and Recreational Programs since I was a youth. 
My past has sports all around it, starting at the age of 4 when I participated in my first triathlon 
with the lronkids. I wish I had photos of me back then, I'm sure they are covered in dust in my 
mother's attic right now. After that, I played soccer, t-ball and baseball for Elk Grove Park and 
Rec. I fell in love with baseball when I figured out my hand-eye coordination, I'm not much of a 
runner, with soccer, there's definitely a lot of that. Looking back, I should have tried soccer 
again, it's a sport i love playing with my children. As I learned the sport of baseball, I became a 
fanatic. The San Francisco Giants are my team. Growing up watching Barry Bonds and JT 
Snow crush home runs, Jeff Kent turn doubles that looked like magic before he turned in the 
orange and black for blue and white. I never got to attend any games at Candlestick, but the 
games I have attended at ATT Park are that much sweeter. As I grew up, I was constant pick for 
the All Star teams that got to play on the 4th of July at our local parks. Nothing beat the heat of 
the day with a huge Slurpee and hot dog from ?Eleven after the games, then lighting sparklers 
for all the neighbors in my dirty uniform. At the age of 10, I started swimming competitively with 
a local US swim team. I continued swimming until I was 18. It was an experience worth being a 
part of. Getting to travel around the state for meets was exhilarating. On occasion, my team 
would have a team campground during the summer months. Singing songs and eating s'mores 
after a day in the sun was killer. In high school, I swam on the Franklin High School team, I went 
to Sections all four years. Sections was the district's meet for all the hot times in each event. I 
also played water polo in the fall, but it was more for fun. The school didn't have that many 
swimmers who could take a punch to the face, if you know what I'm saying. Water polo can be a 
brutal sport. The worst injury I ever got was a cut to my cornea of my right eye. It could have 
been worse if the referees didn't enforce the short finger and toe nails. I still have a scar to 
prove it. 
After high school, the only sport I played was setting up a men's softball team for a Elk Grove 
Parks and Rec. Managing a team of serious misfits was educating. I hadn't met with any of 
them before and ended up with a team that was organized from the Free Agent list the league 
had provided me. 
After having children, I always wanted to coach, but at the time, work had me too far from home 
to make it to any practice or games. Now that my family is in Elko, I can't wait to start coaching 
my children. My daughter is the only one old enough to participate, but I see my boys itching to 
chase down a ball. 
As for my contributions towards being on a council, i don't know what to expect. It would be a 
learning experience at first, no doubt. I don't have a perfect memory, but one thing I've learned 
from school is how to take good notes. Hopefully that can contribute towards the overall 
direction of the council. 



AMBER FOX 

AMBERMFOXI l@GMAIL.COM 

@ 
775-397-3003 

1231 2ND STREET 
ELKO, NV 8980 I 

ELKO CITY COUNCIL 
CITY OF ELKO PARKS AND RECREATION 

1751 COLLEGE AVENUE 
ELKO, NV 8980 I 

Dear Elko City Council, 

I am writing to express my interest in the vacancy on the Elko Parks 
and Recreation Committee. I have lived in the Elko area for 20+ 
years, and I care greatly for our community. Like many members of 
the community, my friends and family utilize and enjoy the various 
parks and recreational facilities in our area. I would like to be able to 
contribute to ensuring these amenities continue to enhance the 
experiences of our community members. 

As a long-time resident in our area, I enjoy giving back to my 
community. I have served on the board for Soroptimist International 
of Elko as Secretary and Treasurer. In addition, I currently serve on 
the Advisory Board for Communities in Schools of Northeastern 
Nevada. I have taught Junior Achievement at Elko High School, as 
well as participated in Elko High School's Junior Career Interviews 
Program. 

I have worked for Nevada State Bank for the past IO years, serving 
various roles for the Corporate Banking Group. 

I believe I can bring valuable and unique perspective to the 
committee. 

I thank you for your time and consideration In this matter. 

@<d~~ 
Amber Fox 



1231 2nd Street 
Elko, NV 89801 

775-397-3003 

ambermfoxl l@gmail.com 

OBJECTIVE I wish to provide valuable and efficient support to the City of Elko Parks and 
Recreation Committee. I like to be part of a highly productive, dynamic team 
that is able to successfully execute tasks/projects. 

SKILLS & ABILITIES • Proficient in Microsoft Word, Excel and Outlook 

• Analyzing financial data and making informed decisions 

• Analyzing risk and making recommendations 

• Good written and oral communication skills 

• Highly organized and ambitious 

• Customer service and problem solving 

• Type 100+ WPM 

EXPERIENCE RELATIONSHIP MANAGER - VP, NEVADA STATE BANK 

July 2016 - Current 

Managing existing commercial loan portfolio and associated risks. Networking to bring in new 
business. Training and managing under-staff to build team strength. Supporting Ag Lending 
team in underwriting and loan portfolio management. Managing and keeping reports updated 
with accurate/current information. 

ASSISTANT RELATIONSHIP OFFICER - AVP, NEVADA STATE BANK 

June 2010 - July 2016 

Responsible for evaluating, analyzing and forming opinions for the approving or denying of 
business banking and/or commercial loan applications according to business unit standards. 
Gathering Information as necessary to make sound decisions. Ensuring credit requests are 
processed In accordance with bank policies. Responding to internal and external customer 
inquiries while performing other duties as necessary to support the goals and objectives of 
the department and business unit Seeing loan appllcations through the process in its entirety. 
Monitoring and reporting on Ag budget variances on a monthly basis. Partnering with the 
Farm Service Agency for government guaranteed loan requests. 

Received reward within the Bank for "Development - Living Core Values" 



COMMERCIAL LENDING ASSISTANT, NEVADA STATE BANK 

January 2008 - June 2010 

Responsible for receiving and processing loan applications, financial documents, entity 
documents and file organization. Preparing loan files and packages for loan signings. 
Preparing various tracking reports for loan officers. 

TRAFFIC/BILLING MANAGER, HOLIDAY BROADCASTING 

September 2004 - January 2008 

Responsible for receiving and processing Insertion orders and scheduling 

commercials for two radio stations. Tracking of accounts receivable, 
reconciling accounts and handling collections. Producing basic radio ads, 
voiced and music added. 

EDUCATION GREAT BASIN COLLEGE - ELKO, NV/ FALL 2015 

Accounting and Business Management classes 

NEVADA STATE BANK- ELKO, NV/ 2010-CURRENT 

Various lending related courses offered through the Bank 

Farmer Mac seminars 

Business Writing/Communication 

Leadership seminars with Rena Hanks 

SPRING CREEK HIGH SCHOOL- SPRING CREEK, NV/ 2000-2003 

Diploma 

LEADERSHIP I currently serve on the Advisory Board for Communities In Schools of 

Northeastern Nevada. 

I previously participated in the Colleague Companion Program at Nevada 

State Bank. This is a program that was implemented for new hires and 
employee retention. 

I previously served on the board for Soroptimist International of Elko as 
Secretary from September 2013-2014 and as Treasurer from September 

2014 through 2015. 

EXTRACURRICULAR JDRF Ride for the Cure - bike ride in Death Valley, CA- fundralsing for Juvenile Diabetes 

American Diabetes Foundation Tour de Cure - bike ride in Utah- fundralslng for Juvenile 

Diabetes 

REFERENCES AVAILABLE UPON REQUEST 



Agenda Item VI.A. 

Elko City Council 
Agenda Action Sheet 

1. Title: Review, consideration, and possible action to accept a petition for annexation 
of property to the City, filed and processed as Annexation No. 3-17 by Swire Coca
Cola, Inc, consisting of approximately 3 acres of property located on the north side 
of West Idaho Street, and matters related thereto. FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

2. Meeting Date: January 9, 2018 

3. Agenda Category: PETITION 

4. Time Required: 10 Minutes 

5. Background Information: 

6. Budget Information: 

Appropriation Required: N/ A 
Budget amount available: N/A 
Fund name: N/ A 

7. Business Impact Statement: Not Required 

8. Supplemental Agenda Information: Application and Map 

9. Recommended Motion: Pleasure of the Council 

10. Prepared By: Cathy Laughlin, City Planner 

11. Committee/Other Agency Review: 

12. Council Action: 

13. Agenda Distribution: Swire Coca-Cola, USA 
Attn. Mr. Dan Reid 
12634 South 265 West 
Draper, UT 84020 

Created on 12/19/2017 Council Agenda Action Sheet Page 1 of 1 



To: City Council 
From: Jeremy Draper, Development Department 
Copy: Planning Department 
Date: December 27, 2017 
Re: Annexation Petition 3-17, Swire Coca Cola 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 

CITY OF ELKO 
DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 

1755 COLLEGE AVENUE 
ELKO, NEVADA 89801 

(775)777-7210 
(775)777-7219 FAX 

1. The petition includes that portion of APN 006-09G-036 lying approximately 3,100' east 
ofldaho Street and Interstate 80 containing more or less 3.00 acres ofland. 

2. The area is not identified as having annexation potential as shown in the adopted 
Development Feasibility, Land Use, Water Infrastructure, Sanitary Sewer Infrastructure, 
Transportation Infrastructure and Annexation Potential Report dated November 2012. 
However this should not exclude the area for consideration for annexation. 

3. The area fronts W. Idaho Street. 
4. A project in which developers will extend City water to the edge of the property has been 

approved and is expected to be constructed in the spring of 2018. The property lies within 
the 5400 water service zone. City sewer does not exist in this area, however preliminary 
design has been completed by the City of Elko Engineering Department, the development 
would be required to install a dry sewer until such time as a force main is install to 
provide sewer services to this area of the City. 

5. Other non-city utilizes are located in the immediate area. 
6. The area was included in the land use component of the master plan showing the area as 

Highway Commercial. A recommendation from the Planning Commission was made at 
their December 5, 2017 meeting to modify the Land Use Map in this area to an Industrial 
Business Park Land Use due to the use of the existing facilities. 

7. The applicant has submitted a rezone application for a Light Industrial Zone. 
8. The proposed annexation appears logical and orderly. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

1. Accept the petition for annexation 3-17, to include APN 006-090-036 and refer the 
matter to the Planning Commission for further consideration and recommendation to the 
City Council. 

C:\Users\sknopp\Downloads\4EF03WUO.docx 
Created by Jeremy Draper 



CITY OF ELKO 
Planning Department 

Website: www.elkocity.com 
Email: planning@ci.elko.nv.us 

1751 College Avenue Elko, Nevada 89801 · (775) 777-7160 Fax (775) 777-7119 

To: City Council 
From: Cathy Laughlin -City Planner 
Date: December 20, 2017 
Meeting Date: Tuesday, January 9, 2018 

Agenda Item: 

Memorandum 

1. Review, consideration, and possible action to accept a petition for annexation of property to the 
City, filed and processed as Annexation No. 3-17 by Swire Coca-Cola, Inc, consisting of 
approximately 3 acres of property located on the north side of West Idaho Street, and matters related 
thereto. FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

Additional Information: 

1. The area is identified as having annexation potential. 

2. The area fronts West Idaho Street and is approximately 3 acres. 

3. The property is currently developed within the County as Swire Coca-Cola. 

4. The property owner has entered into an agreement with Golden Gate on the water line extension 
to the property so the property can be served with City of Elko water and will abandon their 
existing well. 

5. The property owner is planning an expansion to the building and will provide dry sewer along the 
frontage as well as the new water line. City sewer does not exist in this area, however preliminary 
design has been completed by the City of Elko Engineering Department. 

6. The existing property is in conformance with the Master Plan Transportation document. 

7. In conjunction with the annexation, the property owner has applied for a rezone for the property 
to be Light Industrial which will be in conformance with the Master Plan Land Use document 
after finalization of the current amendment. 

8. The property is not in a flood zone. 

9. The property is located outside the 30 year wellhead protection. 

10. The proposed annexation appears logical and orderly. The area is identified as having annexation 
potential 

Staff Recommendation: 
Approve the petition for annexation 3-17 by Swire Coca-Cola and refer the matter to the Planning 
Commission for further consideration and recommendation to the City Council. 



LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

RECEIVED 

DEC 19 2017 

Initial:----

The land referred to herein is situated in the State of Nevada, County of Elko, described as follows: 

Parcel 1 as shown on that certain Parcel Map for Frances Adeline Warmbrodt filed in the office of the 
County Recorder of Elko County, State of Nevada, on October 12, 1988, as File No. 263740, as amended 
by Certificate recorded January 23, 1989, being a portion of Sections 19 and 20, Township 34 North, 
Range 55 East, M.D.B.&M .. 



AREA TO BE ANNEXED TO THE CITY OF ELKO 

RECEIVED 

DEC 1 9 20'7 

Initial:-----

APN 006-09G-036 
PARCEL 1 

PARCEL MAP #263740 

TOTAL AREA TO BE ANNEXED 
130,680 S.F. OR 3.000 ACRES 

LEGEND 

\ 
\ 

\ 
\ 

\ 
\ 

\ 
\ 

\ / 
'y 

/ 
/ 

/ 

= ROAD CENTERLINE 

- - - - - = ADJOINING PROPERlY 

= AREA TO BE ANNEXED 1 "=100' = = EXISTING ELKO CllY LIMITS 

Reeve 
& J\!~.2f~~JJ..lnc. 

1EL; (801) 621-3100 FAX: (II01) 821-2888 nw.-.c:am 
!ANO PUNNERS • CM. ENGINEERS • LNtl SUIM.Y<XlS 

1lWF1C ENGINEERS • SIRUCllM ENGll£ERS • lNCISCAPE MCIIIECTS 

Project Info. 
Designer: N. ANDERSON 
Date: 12-5-17 
Name: ANNEXATION 
Number: 4805-12 
Scale: 1 ·=100' 



( C 
CITY OF ELKO PLANNING DEPARTMENT 

-'--.\<-
)(, tr 1751 College Avenue* Elko* Nevada* 89801 

(775) 777-7160 * (775) 777-7119 fax 

APPLICATION FOR ANNEXATION 

The applicant (100% of all property owners) hereby petitions the Elko City Council to annex to the 

City of Elko certain real property by ordinance, to be adopted pursuant to NRS 268.670. Said 

property petitioned for annexation is legally described as follows: (Attach if necessary) 

(See Attachment) 

ASSESSOR PARCEL NUMBER (S): Parcel 1, APN 006-09G-036, Map # 2637 40 
(This is not the legal description) 

PROPER~qwNERS: (A. ttac. h additional pages if necessary) 

Swire Coca-Cola, USA ~~~ 801.816.5760 

(Print Name) Signature Telephone Number 
12634 South 265 West, Draper, UT 84020 

(Print Name) 

(Print Name) 

Revised 12/04/15 

Mailing Address 

Signature 

Mailing Address 

Signature 

Mailing Address 

RE,CEIVED 

DEC 1 9 2017 

Initial:-----

Telephone Number 

Telephone Number 

Page 1 



FILING REQUIREMENTS: 

Complete Application Form: In order to begin processing the application, an application form 
must be complete and signed. Applications go before the City Council, Planning Commission, and 
back to City Council twice, and will take a minimum of 8 weeks. 

Fee: 10 acres or less $500.00, greater than 10 acres through 50 acres $750.00, greater than 50 
acres $1,250.00. The filing fee shall be paid in full prior to consideration of the annexation request 
by the Planning Commission. 

Legal Description: A complete legal description of all property proposed for annexation. 

Note: One .pdf (email is okay) of the entire application must be submitted, as well as one set of 
legible, reproducible plans 8 ½" x 11" in size. If the applicant feels the Commission needs to see 
24" x 36" plans, 10 sets of pre-folded plans must be submitted .-

Other Information: The applicant is encouraged to submit other information and documentation 
to support this Annexation request 

1. Identify the existing zoning classification of the property: Highway Commecial 

2. Identify the zoning classification being requested upon annexation: Light Industrial 
(A separate zone change application must be submitted for the requested classification.) 

3. Explain in detail the type and nature of the use anticipated for the property. 

Beverage distribution center. Product is delivered to this location from regional bottling plants and suppliers, 

warehoused in this location, then distributed to local stores, restaurants, etc. 

4. Identify any unique physical features or characteristics associated with the property. 

None known. 

Revised 12/04/15 Page2 

Binder Paae 7 of 9 

---------



5. Identify the type and exf .• of City infrastructure anticipated f[. ~ervice to the property such as 
streets, sewer, and water service. 

City waterline extension to serve the property is in progress. 

"Sheep Trail and West Idaho Street Water Main Extension" 

6. Identify any water rights which will support the annexed property: _N_o_n_e _____ _ 

(Use additional pages if necessary to address questions 3 through 6) 

Revised 12/04/15 Page 3 

Binder Pai:ie 8 of 9 



( { 
By My Signature below: 

I .ti I consent to having the City of Elko Staff enter on my property only for the sole purpose of 

inspection said property as part of this application process. 

D I object to having the City of Elko Staff enter onto my property as a part of their review of 

this application. (Your objection will not affect the recommendation made by the staff or the final determination 
made by the City Planning Commission or the City Council.) 

I acknowledge that submission of this application does not imply approval of this request 

by the City Planning Department, the City Planning Commission and the City Council, nor does it 
in and of itself guarantee issuance of any other required permits and/or licenses. 

I.ti I acknowledge that this application may be tabled until a later meeting if either I or my 

designated representative or agent is not present at the meeting for which this application is 
scheduled. 

I .ti I have carefully read and completed all questions contained within this application to the 

best of my ability. 

Applicant I Agent Dan Reid, Swire Sr. Manager For Construction _ 
(Please print or type) 

Mailing Address 12634 South 265 West 
Street Address or P.O. Box 

Draper, UT, 84070 

City, State, Zip Code 

Phone Number: 801.816.5760 

Email address: dreid@swirecc.com 

SIGNATURE: __ r_£;_ _____ 1_..:...._,.g ___ ;t _______ _ 

FOR OFFICE USE ONLY 

FlleNo.: Q,.,,13 DateFiled: }:)j1qh1 Fee Paid: _________ _ 

Revised 12/04/15 Page4 

RinnAr P<1nA Q nf Q 



Agenda Item VI.B. 

Elko City Council 
Agenda Action Sheet 

1. Title: Ratification of the Police Chief issuing a 30-day temporary Retail Liquor 
License and Caterer's Liquor License and issuing a regular Retail Liquor License 
and Caterer's Liquor License to Mai Burrows, Jaden Enterprises, LLC dba 
Cowboys, located at 442 Idaho Street, Elko, NV 89801, and matters related thereto. 
FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

2. Meeting Date: January 9, 2018 

3. Agenda Category: PETITION 

4. Time Required: 5 Minutes 

5. Background Information: 

6. Budget Information: 

Appropriation Required: NI A 
Budget amount available: N/A 
Fund name: NI A 

7. Business Impact Statement: Not Required 

8. Supplemental Agenda Information: A Letter from Police Chief Ben Reed 

9. Recommended Motion: Ratify a 30-day temporary Retail Liquor License and 
Caterer's Liquor License and issue a regular Retail Liquor License and Caterer's 
Liquor License to Mai Burrows, Jaden Enterprises, LLC dba Cowboys, located at 
442 Idaho Street, Elko, NV 89801. 

10. Prepared By: Ben Reed, Jr., Police Chief 

11. Committee/Other Agency Review: 

12. Council Action: 

13. Council Agenda Distribution: Mai Burrows 

Created on 12/19/2017 

dannyhoang@yahoo.com 
1705 Sequoia Drive 
Elko, Nevada 89801 

Council Agenda Action Sheet Page 1 of 1 



ELKO POLICE DEPARTMENT 

1448 Silver Street 
Elko, Nevada 89801 
775.777.7310 
775. 738.1415 Fax 
www.elkocity.com 

DATE: December 14, 2017 

TO: Curtis Calder, City Manager 

FROM: Ben Reed, Jr.: Police thief -~ 01 · 

Ben Reed, Jr. 
Police Chief 

SUBJECT: Retail Liquor Licens_e and Caterer's Liquor License Application in the name of Jaden 
· Enterprises, LLC dba Cowboys, located at 442 Idaho Street, Elko, Nevada 89801 

On December 4, 2017, Mai Burrows made application for a Retail Liquor License and Caterer's Liquor 
License in the name of Jaden Enterprises, LLC dba Cowboys, located at the above address. 

Ms. Burrows has successfully completed the required background investigation. 

I am requesting the Elko City Council approve the request for a Retail Liquor License and Caterer's 
Liquor License Application in the name of Jaden Enterprises, LLC dba Cowboys, located at 442 Idaho 
Street, Elko, Nevada 89801. 

BR/tie 

Ire: ·Mayor Chris Johnson 



Agenda Item VII.A. 

Elko City Council 
Agenda Action Sheet 

1. Title: Review, consideration, and possible adoption of Resolution No. 01-18, a 
resolution of the Elko City Council amending the Elko City Master Plan 
Acknowledgments, Land Use and Transportation components, and the Land Use 
and Transportation Atlas Maps #5, #6, #8 & #12, filed as Elko City Master Plan 
Amendment No.1-17, and matters related thereto. FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

2. Meeting Date: January 9, 2018 

3. Agenda Category: PUBLIC HEARING 

4. Time Required: 15 Minutes 

5. Background Information: On December 5, 2017, the Planning Commission adopted its 
Resolution No. 1-17 to amend the Acknowledgments, Land Use and Transportation 
components, and the Land Use and Transportation Atlas Maps #5, #6, #8 & #12 of 
the current Elko City Master Plan, and also took action to recommend Council 
adopt said amendment via a resolution. An amendment of this type requires positive 
action by both the Planning Commission and the Council. If the Council suggests 
any changes to the Master Plan amendment as adopted by the Planning 
Commission, the Master Plan must first go back to the Planning Commission for 
review and approval. CL 

6. Budget Information: 

Appropriation Required: NI A 
Budget amount available: N/ A 
Fund name: N/ A 

7. Business Impact Statement: Not Required 

8. Supplemental Agenda Information: Resolution, P.C. Action Report, P.C. Resolution 
and related correspondence 

9. Recommended Motion: Adopt Resolution No. 01-18 

10. Prepared By: Cathy Laughlin, City Planner 

11. Committee/Other Agency Review: Planning Commission, Legal Review 

12. Council Action: 

13. Agenda Distribution: 

Created on 12/13/2017 Council Agenda Action Sheet Page 1 of 1 



( ( 
' CITY OF ELKO 

Planning Department 
Website: www.elkocitynv.gov 
Email: planning@elkocitynv.gov 

1751 College Avenue Elko, Nevada 89801 · (775) 777-7160 Fax (775) 777-7219 

CITY OF ELKO 
PLANNING COMMISSION ACTION REPORT 

Regular Meeting of December 5, 2017 

WHEREAS, the following item was reviewed and considered by the Elko City Planning 
Commission on December 5, 2017 under Public Hearing format in accordance with notification 
requirements contained in NRS 278.210 and Elko City Code Section 3-4-12 A.: 

Resolution 1-17, containing amendments to the Acknowledgments, Land Use and 
Transportation components, and the Land Use and Transportation Atlas Maps #5, #6, #8 & 
#12 of the City of Elko Master Plan, and matters related thereto. 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission, upon review and consideration of the supporting data, 
public input and testimony, adopt Resolution No. 1-17 and forward a recommendation to City 
Council to adopt the amendment via a resolution. 

Attest: 

CC: Jeremy Draper, Development Manager (via email) 
Shanell Owen, City Clerk 



Pq 1 No additional references 

p 
p 
p 
p 
p 

ELKO MASTER PLAN UPDATE - 2017 
CROSS-REFERENCING TABLE 

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS 
Updated to include the Air 

LAND USE DOCUMENT 

u 
Updated to allow for new value determined b 
Updated to reflect current development 
Updated to allow for new value determined by GIS 
Updated to new location on Silver Street 

Pg. 9 Industrial as a percentage of city's total land use Updated to allow for new value determined by GIS, reflect new 
development1 added exit 298 

pq _ 9 Northeastern Nevada Rail port Removed the reference as new, reference to jobs and econom 
p Added paraqraph to reflect new Airport Master Plan 
p u 
p u 
p Updated to state the city continues to work with UP on the propert 
p u 
p Updated with new ma 
p Updated with current data 
p u 
p u 
p Updated to state must conform with NRS and Master Plan 
p Added conformance with ECC and master plan 
p Chanqed to less than 4 units per acre 
p Updated to add RO, RB, RMH-2 and RMH-3 
p Chanqed to 4-8 units per acres 
p Removed Proposed New Multifamily zoninq district 
p Added IC Industrial Commercial 
Pq. 21 Downtown Mixed Use Removed proposed new downtown mixed use district 
Pq. 22 Business Park Industrial Added IC Industrial Commercial 



. 27 Best Practice 1.3 Coordination of Land Use 

. 28 Best Practice 1.3 

. 30 Downtown Elko 

. 34 Public Art h and Centennial Park 

. 35 Downtown Corridor Plan Update with the 30% a 
36 Utilities and Public infrastructure Updated with recent information 
. 37 Best Practice 4.2 Remove reference to multi-family zoninq district that doesn't exist 

Updated with current data 
Added East and West Jenninqs Wa 
Updated with data determined by GIS 
Updated with current data 
Updated with current data 
Updated with current data 
Removed all references 

TRANSPORTATION DOCUMENT 

Po 4-lnterstate Riqht of Way 100 ft 400 ft 
p Description of Rural Roadway paraqraph added 
Po. 6 Maior arterials Added Silver Street, Idaho Street to 5th Street 
Pq 7, Industrial /Commercial Collector Statice St. Ruby Vista to Delaware 
Po 8 . Residential Collector 
Po 8 Spruce Road between 5th St and Mittry Ave ruce Road between 5th St and Jennin 
Table 3 Historic Traffic Volumes, 2000-2008 Update to be 2007-2015 
Table 4 Roadway LOS Updated based on new MDT values 
Po. 15, Elko Area Transit 
Po. 24 Mixed use/Main street cross section 
Po. 27 Setback in code 
Po. 28 Best Practice 1 .4 
Po. 32 Best Practice 2.3 

EXISTING ZONING MAP ATLAS 5 
Updated to current zonin 

EXISTING VACANT LAND ATLAS 6 
Update to reflect current vacant land 



PROPOSED FUTURE LAND USE PLAN ATLAS 8 

Last Chance road NW corner of SEC. 13 T34N R55E 
City of Elko Parcel 006-09E-019 Powder House Road 
Southeast ¼ of SEC. 13 T34N R55E Powder House Road 

Southeast ¼ of SEC. 13 T34N R55E Powder House Road 
Corner of Saqecrest Dr. & Connolly Drive 
El Armuth and 1-80 

s Road 
Section 18 Parks Desiqnation 
ECSD Parcel off Celtic 
West Idaho Street Hiqhway Commercial parcels 

Chanqe to Industrial General 
Chanqe to Public 
Existing residences, parcels 006-09E-003, 006, 007, 009, 014, 017, & 
018 chanqe to LD 
Parcel 006-09E-015 chanqe to Med-Res 
Chanqed to Commercial 
Added Medium Densit 
Chanqed from IND-GEN to Public 
Chanqed to MED-RES 
Chanqed from HD to MD 
Chanqed to Industrial General like surroundinq area 

TRANSPORTATION PLANINNG ATLAS 12 
Silver Street 5th to 12th Collector Minor Arterial 
Silver Street 12th to Manzanita Minor Arterial 
Cattle Drive and Errecart 



Upon introduction and motion by ________ and seconded by _ 
_____ the following Resolution and Order was passed and adopted: 

CITY OF ELKO 
RESOLUTION NO. 1-18 

A RESOLUTION OF THE ELKO CITY COUNCIL AMENDING THE ELKO 
CITY MASTER PLAN ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS BY ADDING OTHER PLAN 

REFERENCES, THE LAND USE AND TRANSPORTATION COMPONENTS BY 
UPDATING VARIOUS PROVISIONS TO REFLECT THE GROWTH OF THE 
CITY AND NEW DEVELOPMENT OBJECTIVES, THE LAND USE MAP BY 
CLEANING UP NUMEROUS LAND USE DESIGNATIONS, THE EXISTING 

ZONING MAP AND VA CANT LAND MAP BY UPDATING TO REFLECT 
CURRENT ZONING AND VACANT LAND, AND THE TRANSPORTATION 

MAP BY UPDATING ROADWAY CLASSIFICATIONS 

WHEREAS, the Elko City Council conducted a public hearing on proposed changes to 
parts of the Elko City Master Plan in accordance with Nevada Revised Statutes, Section 
278.220 and the Elko City Code, Section 3-4-13, and 

WHEREAS, the Elko City Council received public input, examined documents and 
materials related to amending the Acknowledgments, Land Use and Transportation 
components, and the Existing Zoning, Vacant Land, Land Use and Transportation maps 
of the Elko City Master Plan, and reviewed the previous action taken by the Planning 
Commission pertaining to the Master Plan amendments. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE ELKO CITY COUNCIL that 
amended portions of the Elko City Master Plan within the Acknowledgement, Land Use 
and Transportation components, and the Existing Zoning, Vacant Land, Land Use and 
Transportation maps, are attached hereto at Exhibits 1 through 7, and that the 
amendments to the Elko City Master Plan attached hereto at Exhibits 1 through 7 are 
hereby adopted. 

All previous versions of the amended portions of Elko City Master Plan, and all 
resolutions or parts of resolutions in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

IT IS FURTHER RESOLVED that this Resolution shall be effective and shall be in force 
immediately upon adoption, and that upon adoption of this Resolution by the Elko City 
Council it shall be signed by the Mayor and attested to by the City Clerk. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 9th day of January 2018. 

CITY OF ELKO 

Pagel of2 Res 01-18 



ATTEST: 

SHANELL OWEN, CITY CLERK 

VOTE: 

AYES: 
NAYS: 
ABSENT: 
ABSTAIN: 

By: ___________ _ 

CHRIS J. JOHNSON, MAYOR 

Page 2 of2 Res 01-18 



Exhibit_1 __ 
Acknowledgments and References -----------------------------

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS 

CITY OF ELKO 

Mayor 
Michael J. Franzoia 

City Council 
Chris Johnson 
Jim Conners 
Jay Elquist 
John Patrick Rice 

Planning Commission 
Reece Keener 
Doug Owen 
Jeff Thompson 
Richard Perry 
John Anderson 
Brent Elmore 
Alene Sutherland 

City Staff 
Ed Wynes, City Planner 
Curtis Calder, City Manager 
Delmo Andreozzi , Asst. City Manager 
Eric Howes, Parks & Recreation Dept. Director 
Scott A. Wilkinson, Development Manager 

Elko Arts and Culture Advisory Board 
Catherine Wines 
Danny Sullivan 
Yong Pratt 
Joan Anderson 
Gail Rappa 

CONSULTANTS 

CRSA 
Jim Nielson, AIA, LEED AP, Senior Principal 
Laura Hanson, AICP, Principal/Project Manager 
Donald Buaku, Project Planner 

Fehr & Peers 
Katy Cole, P.E, Senior Transportation Engineer/Planner 

Lewis Young Robertson & Burningham 

OTHER PLAN REFERENCES 

2011 Development Feasibility, Land Use, Water 
and Sewer Infrastructure, Transportation , 
Infrastructure, and Annexation Potential 

2017 Airport Master Plan 

Susie Becker, AICP, Senior Economic and Housing Analyst 

CONTRIBUTORS 
Meg Glaser 
Eva Owsian 

Acknowledgments and References page 1 



Exhiblt.-l:__ 

Land Use --------------------- -----------------

SN--+ELKO MASTER PLAN -
LAND USE 

GOALS AND OBJECTIVES 

ELKO 

Goal : Promote orderly, sustainable growth and efficient 
land use to improve quality of life and eR5fJFe I 
encourage new development that meets the needs qf 
all residents and visitors. 

Objective 1: Promote a diverse mix of housing options 
to meet the needs of a variety of lifestyles, incomes, and 
age groups. 

Objective 2: Encourage revitalization and 
redevelopment of the downtown area to strengthen its 
role as the cultural center of the community. 

Objective 3: Strengthen, preserve, and promote the 
area around the City Park, City Hall , and Convention 
Center as the civic heart of the community. 

Objective 4: Consider a mixed-use pattern of 
development for the downtown area , and for major 
centers and corridors , to ensure the area's adaptability, 
longevity, and overall sustainability. 

Objective 5: Encourage development that strengthens 
the core of the City, aAd eA-SYre-aU- and new I 
annexations that are logical and orderly and do not 
promote sprawl. 

Objective 6: Encourage multiple scales of commercial 
development to serve the needs of the region , the 
community, and tAat-ef-individual neighborhoods. 

Objective 7: Promote high quality and visually 
appealing industrial uses, where appropriate, to eA-sw=e I 
promote economic sustainability as well asand 
strengthen the community's image. 

Objective 8: ERsure Encouragetl:1-at new development I 
that does not negatively impact County-wide natural 
systems, or public/federal lands such as waterways, 
wetlands, drainages, floodplains etc., or pose a danger 
to human health and safety. 

IMPLEMENTATION 

ATLAS 

APPENDIX 

Land Use page 1 



_________ _____________________ __________ Land Use 

Downtown Elko at night 

EXISTING CONDITIONS 

Beginning with a small group of hardy homesteaders and a railroad 
connection to the greater region, Elko has grown to become an 
incorporated city of over 18,000approximately 21,000 people. As the City 
has matured, from a railroad stop to a well-rounded and culturally
diverse community, its needs have changed over time. The City has 
operated as a fairly self-contained, and self-sustaining urban center for 
many years - primarily because of Elke's distance from any other large 
developed center. As the community grows and matures, it will 
increasingly demand services and tl'le--facilities on par with those of much 
larger areas. The update of the City's Master Plan is a prime opportunity 
to assess what those demands will be. This plan will also help 0flStlfe 

guide the City's long term long-term decision-making to better addresses 
and accommodates a growing, and increasingly sophisticated and 
diverse population. 

At the time of this writing in f§allfall 20-1-Q2017, the City of Elko has 
approximately -W;-rn1 1,363 acres within its municipal boundaries, which 
includes a healthy mix of residential, commercial, institutional, and 
industrial lands, as well as parks and open spaces. The approximate 
acreage of land in each zoning district is presented in the table below. 
Note that in some cases the current land use may differ from the zoning, 
e.g. residential uses on industrially zoned lands in the Gity-City core. 
Until recently the City of Elko had only four general zones: Residential 
(R), Commercial (C), and Light and General Industrial (LI and GI), and 
this is reflected in the current zoning distribution. See also ATLAS Map 
5, for a map of the City's existing zoning . 

Table 1 
Ap lroximate City of Elko Existing Zoned Acreage 

Land Use Area Zoned Area Zoned Percentage 
(SF) (AC) 

A - Agriculture 18-1,W~~ 41ee.e74. 172.84 ~-36.74 
181 769 114.21 

PQP - Public- ~ : '1414--cW: ~ 12.49 Quasi Public 61 815 984.61 1 419.09 
Residential 

R- 72,QQ4 ,205.32_ 1e75.72 
Residential 76 357 365.04 1 752.92 

-t-&.-4-7-15 .43 

R(SA) 
Residential 

2,1 Q3,Q24 .80-2 ,229,076.49 ~51.17 Me-0.45 
Special Area 
Overlay 
R1-
Residential 15,2og,s21.e7 _ 
Single 13,675,742.25 

J.m-4-7-313.95 ~2.76 

Family 
RS-
Residential ~,971, 738,365.49 29Ae39.90 Q...2.7-0.35 
Suburban 
Re--
Resieential QQ0,373.59_ 22-a-74-:. ~ 
~: 
PUD-
Planned Unit 2,000,442.88-629,968.03 ~14.46 QA.2-0. 13 
Development 

Land Use page 2 



-------------- ---------- --------------

Multi Family 
Residential 

R2 - Two 
Family - - -
Residential 
R3-
Multifamily WG,:™-,.gg300,210.91 6.89 0.~6 
Residential 

RMH · Mobile ~~7: ~360.43 ~41 Residential 15,700,371.41 
Commercial 

C- 39,994,479.08_ 
8,47~~ Commercial 40 839 484.44 

~937.55 

CC -
Convenience 1,1 a1,e54 .02_ n.1-J: ~ Commercial 
CT -
Commercial 1,019,542.2e-1,832.679. 78 2JA.1.42. 07 ~ --¥ 
Transitional 
PC -
Planned 11 ,3e9,455.1411.243,04o.21 ~258.10 64+~ 
Commercial 
RC -
Restricted 47.730.22 1.09 ~ -1 Commercial 
RO -
Residential 84,3G2-M--154, 124. 75 +.-943.53 (},@~ ~ 
Office 

Industrial 
GI - General 

~0.267,860.1 932-42924 .42 ~~t-1 Industrial 
LI - Light 

23,013,e7e.ee23.425. 785.42 ~537.78 ~~ Industrial 
IBP -
Industrial 

1,970,375.02 45.23 ~t_Q Business 
Park 
IC -
Industrial 121,920.724,577,344.38 2-,80105.08 a,wo-4~ 
Commercial 

TOTAL 471,922,815.80 10,833.86 100 

Overlay Zones 
Area Zoned Area Zoned 

{SF) (AC) 
Special Area 2,193,ea1.eo2.229.076.49 

I Overlav W-c-3651 .17 

Floodplain 68,171 ,400.00 
1565.00 Overlay 

Source: Elko County GIS, parcel data 

Natural Open Space 

The City of Elko occupies a physical setting within an elongated valley 
oriented southwest to northeast between two rough ly parallel mountain 
ranges. The dominant phys ical feature is the Humboldt River, a stream 
with a relatively flat gradient and a meandering , braided channel. The 
flood plain of the Humboldt River is Aet-eflly-flat and, W narrow-as-well. j 
The river floodplain ranges in width from one-half to three-quarters of a 
mile, with an elevation of 5,025 feet above sea level when measured jusl 

Land Use 



Land Use - ------------------ --- ------- - ----------

/ ~ ' . ,. 
.,.,.,,. . /~ .. 

Humboldt River 

Historic Home, circa 1869, 
www.elkorose.com 

ELKO 

southeast of the City of Elko. Contributing to this valley setting is the Elko 
Mountain Range which rises sharply on the south side of the City to 
elevations of more than 7,000 feet and the Adobe Range to the north 
which ascends more gradually from the valley floor through river terraces 
and alluvial fans to about the same elevation. 

The Elko Area can be divided into three general classifications of natural 
landforms, which includeconsisting of the following : 

3. 

1. Lowlands - This area includes the Humboldt River 
flood plain, peripheral and river bench lands. Most Ol 

the City s u ban core d1:n1t1lopment Jrinlud 119 
institutional, Gommercial andinoostfial land l se 
aGt1v1ty oGWrs within th1&Br-ea The area i§. 
ch< a :t ·ri ed QY old r 1ndi.. r al \, 11.§..-aM oA 
residential component, consisting primarily of older 
housing stock, and recreational areas. ·s al 0 prt,sent. 

2. Lower Foothills TMost of the City s urbaJl !ZJ@ 
dev dqpm nt inc~ f'l 1 institutional, commer¢ial and 
Lr,i_g1 !. I :!fld u c 1ity occurs within this :~rea A 
significant portion of the City's 1° rl 1 residential 
development along with peripheral retail and service 
centers occurs within this area. Mush of ti=leLlty'.s 

anticipated growth -O\U"lr ~r'-next ten to t 'liy years 1s expected 
to take place within th1i; lower foothills area. 

Upper Foothills - This area con@i_ns some acreage that i~ 
charac ~n. ed by st(; wer t)pography1 Most of th~ area i~ readily 
aevelopable ',:"{ithout special considerations. s·s• of th<'> IT")l'O 

·1¥J, ,J rr mt · 11 1 1 rnin---c' qre tN-~ At the present time, 
there is limited development within this area. However, as the City 
continues to grow and ~expand. and available land 
resources become scarce, clustered medium density residential 
development with preservation of open space will likely emerge as 
a prevailing pattern of land use. 

A challenge that arises with development in the upper foothil ls is the 
absence of water and sewer infrastructure to serve the area. The costs 
of 111-pmvt"' .;nts a 10 certajJJ. ~ infrastructure required Pffi'AhieR& to 
serve all potential development in the area cannot be justifiedmake it 
difficult to provide service to multiple areas based on the typical 
development patterns within the City of Elko. The City o £1~ Q 

GAaf§€:Scollects water and sewer conn~c 10n fees from new development 
to addre..,s thesb cost 1ssu 

At the same time, placing the burden of infrastructure previsions on 
developers may drive development and investment beyond the City limits 
and into the @inrorporated County. 

Residential 

Residential land uses currently make up about ~21.9 percent of the 
City's total land use area and exist in all neighborhoods of the City. 

Land Use page 4 



Land Use ------- -------------- -----------------

As Elko has grown over the years, residential development has extended 
further out in a radius around the City's original grid and central core. 
The streets just north of the historic downtown core, referred to as the 
Tree Streets, provide a snapshot of the City's earlier years. Homes can 
be found in this area ranging from the early 1900s through the late 1940s 
and 1950s. A mix of size, style, and setback from house-to-house reflect 
an evolution of the GQity's development patterns and standards over I 
time. The wide, tree-lined streets are beautiful and frame this picturesque 
neighborhood. The wide streets also accommodate on-street parking, an 
important feature in this traditional neighborhood with detached or non
existent garages. 

As Elko expanded grew outward over time, residential development I 
occurred mevee to both the north and south. The southern portion of thej 
City includes a mix of housing stock from an impressive single-family, 
Victorian house to several , very recent multiple-family apartment 
complexes. The bulk of the residential development near the river 
consists of nearly an even split between modestly sized, post-war, 
single-family homes and a variety of mobile and manufactured housing 
structures. The area as a whole could benefit from reinvestment and 
regular maintenance. 

Moving farther to the ~South and ~[ast, newer development with larger, I 
well-maintained homes can be found. The recent upgrade of the 
hospital, as well as development in the Spring Creek area, is stimulating 
new investment in the City's southeastern corner. This trend is likely to 
continue. 

Areas in the northern portion of the City a ·e com_pnsed of,;;h newer 
housing and more contemporary patterns of subdivision development. 
The majority of housing in the City's northern areas is comprised of 
single-family, detached homes, dating from the 1970s to the present. Quail Run and Riverside Condos are 
The majority of homes in this area are larger in size, well-maintained, examples of new multifamily developments 

and are found within traditional subdivisions. With the success of the 
mining industry,_ and the s1:1GGeSsgrowth of the cQmmunitt coll~e ~nd I 
the modernization of the hospital, new wealth is finding its way to Elko_ 
and-a~ New l~uxury homes are appearing in this area. 

Moving outward into future annexation areas for Elko, many of the 
homes in this areathese areas still fall within a rural context Gravel 
Feaes-and ¥efY Jew oensity exist, and in seme Gases horses and other 
livestoBk Gan be seen-frem U1B rG<Jmvav-

Overall , the trend throughout the City is for additional single-family 
residential housing . However, there is a demand for multi-family 
residential units and units for all life-cycle stages throughout the City. 
Projected high growth areas for residential development are in the 
northern and southern sectors of the City. The central sector is expected 
to experience a more moderate residential growth involving infill type 
development, housing rehabilitation, and reconstruction . 

Commercial 

At the time of its settlement, most people arrived tei.o. Elko by train . 
Logically, the City's traditional commercial core has always been the 
downtown area, with smaller commercial nodes serving the City's 

ELKO 

Stockmen's Hotel and Casino 



Land Use ----- -----------------------------------

Elko County Courthouse 

Northeastern Nevada Regional Hospital 

Elko City Park 

Elko Convention Center 

residential areas. With the advent of the automobile, people were able to 
travel farther distances in less time, and commercial development began 
to extend farther out along the City's major arterials (e.g. Idaho Street 
and the Mountain City Highway). Today, nearly everyone's first view of 
Elko is from Interstate 80 and, like most other communities in the US, the 
areas around the freeway exits are becoming increasingly commercial. 
This new development and investment has been important for the City's 
economy, and is providing residents with additional options and choices. 
There is still a strong desire to ensure the City's traditional core remains 
viable , active, and vibrant. 

Commercial development represents about 4-4-:42-10.91 percent of the 
City's total land use. Elka's largest concentration of commercial!Y, zoned 
laAGtlseland use~ -actlvity_-is_-still in the downtown core. The businesses 
in the area include typical town center establishments such as 
professional offices, grocery stores, shopping centers, retail stores, 
restaurants, hotels/motels, financial institutions and casinos. The 
downtown area is remarkably intact, and provides a great foundation for 
the City's continued growth . A collection of historic architecture, unique 
shops and restaurants, cultural features , wide sidewalks, and ample 
parking offer the ingredients necessary for a vibrant downtown. -Miffij' 

Gities-ar0uREl-tl=1e-West-are-findiA§-tl=leir d0wntown -Gei:e&-effif*Y-a-S 

commercial businesses f:lave moved closer to busy arterial roaclway&.
Elko avoided tl=lis fate and f:las few vacant storefronts, and tf:le downtown 
area f:las remained quite successful. /1. probable explanation is tl=le City's 
relative+solation, and tf:le-neeEl-t-8-feffiGfn self sustainlAr,Despite its 
succ€ ss, Ithe downtown area is in need of revitalization to meet its full 
potential._- The area was declared a redevelopment area in 2008, and a 
Redevelopment Plan outlined a vision and implementation strategies to 
create a vibrant, active downtown for Elko. In eArl ;I( 11, the El o 
Re iev l )fm1ent Ager -¥ amended the Redevetopment Plan-. 

Other commercial areas are developing along the major points of ingress 
and egress on Interstate 80, particularly on major arterials such as 
Mountain City Highway and Idaho Street. Commercial development 
along the Mountain City Highway is primarily automobile-oriented, and 
includes a variety of large-format, national chain stores. A bevy of fast 
food restaurants are locatinghave located here as well. New commercial 
development along Idaho Street has been slower to appear, but the 
corridor is a busy, active, and highly visited commercial area. 
Businesses in the downtown area include restaurants, retail and 
professional office in tl=le dm,;ntown area. As the corridor extends to the 
east, the development becomes less dense and more strip malls, hotels 
and motels, and other automobile-oriented commercial developments is 
are found . A commercial center has been estab 1shed i em<>fJ n~ 
around Interstate 80 exit at Jennings Way. With high freeway visibility, 
this area is experiencing notable development interest. 

Overall , residents of Elko have expressed a desire for more grocery and 
neighborhood retail in the northern areas of the City to meet the needs of 
residents in the new subdivisions. A strong desire was voiced to 
revitalize the downtown core. Public comments suggested that design 
guidelines, beautification, and a greater mix in land uses in the 
downtown would help stimulate activity. 

Land Use page 6 



Land Use --------------------------------------

Institutional 

Elko's institutional land uses include public, non-profit, and quasi-public 
uses. Located throughout the City, Elko's major institutions include the 
Great Basin College and the Northeastern Nevada Regional Hospital. 
Other institutional uses in the City cater to specific community needs ~ 
alseand sometimes serve as regional attractions. Examples include the I 
Western Folklife Center, the Northeastern Nevada Museum , the Elko 
County Library, the visitor's center at Sherman Station and the 
headquarters of the Elko Chamber of Commerce. 

A strong civic core exists in the downtown area with the County 
Courthouse, the MW-County Complex, the City's parks and recreation 
offices, a fire station, a post office, and a variety of community-oriented 
services and non-profits. A second civic core is found east of downtown, 
and is home to the Elko City Hall , the Elko Convention Center, the 
County Fairgrounds, the Elko City Park, the Elko swimming pool , several 
ball fields, and Great Basin College. Additional civic and institutional 
uses exist throughout the City as neighborhood schools and parks. 

The City has outgrown _ii§. current City Hall facilities has out, rovvn its 
facilities and it will be necessary to ex and the existin Cit Hall or for a 
newfaf-.anew -AeW-City Hall to be built for Elko to help consolidate City 
services. 

Table 2 

Building Location Architecture Landscape 
treatment 

Elko City Buildings 

Elko City Hall 
1751 

Contemporary Good Colleqe Av 
Elko Airport Terminal 

Contemporary Good 
Terminal Way 
Elko Main Fire 911 W 

Contemporary Good 
Station Idaho St 

Elko Fire Station #2 
725 

Classical None Railroad St 
Elko Fire Station #3 9th & 

(Lee Volunteer Lamoille Contemporary None 
Station) Hwy 

4404 

Elko City Police 
Gelle§e 

Dept Bldg 
AV1448 Contemporary Good 
Silver 
Street 

Elko City Swimming College Av 
Contemporary Good Pool 

Elko County Buildings 
Elko County 571 Idaho St 
Courthouse Classical Good 
Complex 
Elko County Library 720 Court St Contemporary None 
Elko County 1090 13th St 

Varies Marginal Fairqrounds 

ELKO 

{ Formatted : English (United States) 

Land Use page 7 



Land Use ---------------

Elko County School District Buildings 
,. 

Elko High School 987 College 
Contemporary Good Complex Av. 

3375 
Good 

Adobe Middle 
Jennings Contemporary 

School 
Way 

Flag View Middle 
777 

Good Country Contemporary 
School 

Club Dr. 
Southside 501 S 9th St 

Contemporary Good 
Elementary School 
Grammar School #2 1055 7th St Classical Good 
North Side 1645 

Contemporary Good 
Elementary School Sewell Dr 
Mountain View 3300 

Contemporary Good 
Elementary Argent Av. 
School Dist Office 3th & Elm St 

Contemporary Marginal 
Building 
School Dist Office 9th & Burns 

Contemporary Marginal 
building St 
State of Nevada Buildings 
NV OMV & Highway 3920 E 

Contemporary Marginal 
Patrol Idaho St 
NV Job Connect 172 6th 

Contemporary Good 
Center Street 

NV Dept of Wildlife 
Youth 

Contemporary Good 
Center Rd 

State of Nevada 1020 Ruby 
Contemporary Good 

Office complex Vista Dr 
NDOT Building & 1951 Idaho 

Contemporary Good 
complex St. 
Federal/Military Buildings 

3900 E 
Contemporary Good BLM Complex 

Idaho St 
Forest Service 2035 last 

Contemporary Good 
complex Chance Rd 
NV National Guard 1375 13th 

Contemporary None Bldq St 
Main City Post 275 3rd 

Classical Marginal 
Office Street 
Aspen Station Post 500 Aspen 

Contemporary Marginal 
Office Way 
Other 

Great Basin College 
1500 

Good College Contemporary 
complex 

Pkw 

Convention Center 
700 Moren 

Contemporary Good Way 
Family Resource 331 7th 

Contemporary Marginal 
Center Street 
Senior Citizens 1911 Ruby 

Contemporary Good 
Center Vista Dr 

Industrial 

Land Use page 8 



Land Use --------------------------------------

The local economy of Elko City is greatly influenced by the mining 
industry, and a number of major mines are located beyond the municipal 
limits of the City but within the Elko vicinity. Industrial lands within the 
City represent about ~112.87 percent of the total land use. Most 
industrial uses can be found at the east end of the City generally 
between East Idaho Street and the railroad corridor, aRtl---ruseand at the I 
west end of the City generally between the airport and the railroad 
corridor. A significant percentage of industrial zoned property is located 
within or adjacent to the Humboldt River floodplain. This zoning is a 
remnant from the days prior to Project Lifesaver, when the railroad ran 
right through the downtown area and rail access was critical. Since the 
relocation of the rail lines, the downtown core is no longer the prime 
location for industrial uses and is transitioning to other uses. Updated 
zoning in this area will facilitate the transition. 

The recent extension Qf '!'-'Eter mfr_astrld.cture to the Exit 298 area prov19~ 
the opportunity for the City to expand its industrial zoned property and 
potentially annex additional area strategically located near the 1-80 
corridor 

Higher quality industrial structures are envisioned for the City with 
opportunities for incorporating clean, light industrial uses along the 
freeway, and along the current rail alignment. The ~ Northeastern I 
Nevada Regional Railport, located about five (5) miles east of Elko, adds 
a boost to industrial activity in the City, especially manufacturing and 
distribution industries. 

This area is expected to bring in an added layer of industrial activity to 
the City, strengthen and diversify the economy, and bring new jobs to 
~ 

Citizens have expressed concern about the visual impacts of expanding 
industrial uses at either end of the City, and interventions are requested 
to soften the initial views into Elko from Interstate 80. Landscaping and 
industrial building standards have been suggested as a tool to reduce 
and mitigate impacts of industrial development throughout the City. 

Airport 

The Elko Regional Airport serves oo#l--the City of Elko, aoo-the resident~ 
of Elko County and areas beyond . The airport handles daily inbound and 
outbound flights consisting of private and commercial aircraft. A new 
airport terminal and taxiway were completed in 2001 providing a variety 
of services to patrons. The airport has land available for future expansion 
and for the provision of support services. The main access to the airport 
is by Mountain City Highway. 

,The existing and future design aircraft for Elko Regional Airport is 
represented by various models of regional jets used by commercial 
passenger service providers. Based upon the design aircraft, an 
appropriate Airport Reference Code (ARC) can be identified. The ARC 
is a codin s stem used to relate air ort desi n criteria to the o erationa 
and h sical characteristics of the t es of aircraft intended to o erate a 
a given airport. Specifically, the ARC is an airport designation that 
si nifies the air ort's hi hest Runwa Desi n Code RDC . The ARC fo 
regional jet aircraft typically fall within the B-II to C-III range. Although 

ELKO 

Elko Airport Terminal 

Land Use page 9 



Land Use ------------------ ----------------------

ELKO 

current passenger service is offered using CRJ-200 aircraft (C-II ARC), 
Elko Regional Airport is designed to accommodate larger C-I11 aircraft 
(Boeing 737 , Airbus 319, etc.). 

Tribal Lands 

The Elko Indian Colony encompasses awprox1m-:,tel1 §§_1 bou 11.+2,8 
non-contiguous acres adjacent to the City of Elko. The Elko Indian 
Colony was established by an Executive Order on March 25, 1918, 
which reserved 160 acres for Shoshone and Paiute Tribes living near the 
town of Elko. 

Many Tribal members work in seasonal agriculture and ranching jobs 
throughout the region . The Elko Indian Colony is not directly involved 
with the ownership or operation of mines in the Elko area~. however, the 
tribal community depends upon the employment opportunities provided 
by the mining industry. 

(Source: Elko Band Council. www.temoaktribe.com/elko) 

Vacant Land 

Vacant lands are present throughout the City. A large portion of the City 
and surrounding area's vacant land occurs as undeveloped lands that 
are constrained by topography or floodplain locations. However, vacant 
and developable land exists in small parcels throughout the City, as well 
as a few larger tracts . A notable vacant area exists in the former location 
of the Union Pacific Railroad line. The tracks were relocated in the 
1980s, leaving a corridor of open land within the core of the downtown. 
This area currently serves as parking for the downtown, and is relied 
upon heavily during the community's numerous events and festivals. A 
small portion of the corridor has been developed into a park, w th a 
l]_tsion( ano an Id train engine and caboose !Q_ memorialize the 
corridor's history. It!? Q.il_y Q3i r~nane·J the park!Q CeotenQlal Park and 
Is in the proc1;;;ss 01 tmnstorrninq and expanding the park area as outlined 
In the City·s Redevelopment_f'lan'-~.sl component of this effort, the city 
constructed a fifty foot taJI landmark named the Chilton Centennial 
Tower The namin_g Qf th~ tower i§ in recognition of Mark Chilton being 
one of the many individuals who were instrumental in accomplishing 
Project Lifesaver and also in recognition of the Chilton 's family 
ph1lanthr0Qi_Q_ efforts 1hrQuqhout th~ community. 

A portion of the+l:le-vacated rail corridor is owned by the City of Elko iD. 
fee simple a, d i.§. _n::stn In us fo1 JOI c purpo2t-> • The remainder of 
the vacated rail corridor is currently Union Pacific right-of-way and 
Central Pacific Railroad land grants. Future acquisition of title and/or 
access easement are important for continued redevelopment and 
transportation corridors .AR-y per:t~oo-- ef---the property seuld be seld by the 
City to a private party; hm'lever, a reverter clause in the agreemeRt 
requires proceeds from the sale to be divided between the Federal 
Highway Administration (95 percent of sale) and the City of Elko (five 
f}Oreent of sale) . -T'1 IE'P I d ~ s not 1~i, I PSS the City's ahihty ll 1~ 3'-0 the 
p y a1 ! th City cou d explore a long-term le;r,e wan a p11vato 

Elko Band Ra 
www.temoaktrib 

rarty to holµ- rev ta ze and sltTTHJk:1te develGf*f!onlr-'--m-'----'t_lO-c:.....cG---'--w_nt----=-,wn-'-'-'-'-' -----------~ 
----·· { Formatted: Tab stops : Not at O" 

Land Use ·page 10 



Land Use ------- -------------------------------

A significant portion of the land just beyond the municipal limits of the 
City is under management of the United States Department of the 
Interior, Bureau of Land Management. The area represents thousands of 
acres of additional land avai lable for long-term public use, and serves as 
an important recreational resource for the community. 

Developab/e Vacant Land 

Over half of the land within the Elko municipal boundaries is vacant, and 
many more vacant acres exist within unincorporated islands within the 
City and in the surrounding lands. See ATLAS Map 6 for a map of 
vacant land within and outside the City boundaries. Not all of this 
property is developable, and a portion of the property can be excluded 
due to steep slopes and topography, and to accommodate for future 
roads, public buildings and infrastructure. An analysis of the lands 
surrounding Elko determined that approximately 20 % of the vacant 
property within the City of Elko is unsuitable for development because of 
easements, floodplains, roadways, and other infrastructure challenges. I 
Outside of the current City boundaries, it is estimated that 35 percent of 
the land surrounding the City is unsuitable for development because of 
easements, topography and, floodplains . Other factors limiting 
development include the airport, the railroad , the landfill and the 
Humboldt River. See ATLAS Map 10. FEMA Flood Zones. 

The figures in Table 3 are <1QillQ1Qma1e.e limd i Parcel data does natl 
exist for many of the lands surrounding the City, and even in some 
places within the City boundaries~, therefore accurate area ca lculations I 
are difficult to generate. The figures should, however, give a general 
portrait of the vast amount of developable land available for the growth of 
the City of Elko. A significant portion of the vacant acreage lacks public 
infrastructure such as water and sewer services. 

Table 3 
City of Elko 

Approximate Development Potential 
Total 

Developable Land Type Undeveloped 
Acres 

Acres 

Vacant land within municipal 
boundary 
(calculated with an average of 80% 
Elevelopable--)develooable) a,-0044,046 ~032,783 1 
**Please note that approximately 1500 acres of 
the total acres within the municipal boundaries 
are completely undevelopable due to constraints 
of loooaraohv, flood plains, etc 
V-aGa-R-t--laoo-in-lJ.Ri-AcO!'f)orated 
islands within municipal boundary ~ ~ 
, - - _ , .,, _ 

- ..... ~ CCO/ 
, ... '-Al ~ ..... ~ •v 

ELKO 
Land Use page 11 



Land Use ----------------------------------------

ELKO 

€1evet---L•-
Vacant Land in potential annexation 
areas 

~2.259 4,&7§957 
(calculated with an average of 65% 
develooable) 
TOTAL 
Source: Elko County Assessor GIS 
Total acres within municiJJal boundary is ~11 358.84 
**This table is referenced to the Assessors vacant parcel and land use data 
located in the ATLAS section of this Master Plan update 

It is also important to note that the Te-Moak Tribal Land Expansion 
project 1ill encompasses approximately 36880 acres of developable land 
near by the City of Elko. While this property will remain under tribal 
ownership, public utility services may be provided by the City of Elko to 
any new development. 

There is one notable gener[!l!y vacant property within the municipal 
boundaries, which is of critical importance to the City of Elko. The City 
has been working to acquire the Right o~additional property along 
the-vaeatee-rail-oorrieoHA fee-.from-tl=le--Union Pacifi&-Railf08€1" 
A uisition of the-fi ht--ef-wa ·~-f ssf~ 
acquisition. More recent The negotiations have been underway since the 
mid 2000s late 1980sexplore its options in furthering that effort seek to ., 
blA-appear to be gainifl9-traGtiOA-,-+Ae property is consolidated inte-twe 
large parcel&,-WhiG-h--tegetflef-total aQProximatel:Y::70 92.62 acre&c--When 
Were-the right of way--i-s--pr-eperty to be acquired purchased, the Railroad 
would transfer all current property leases to the City. Transfer of the 
property to City ownership would rQQuire federal action. , but the property 
WOl..lkl-fiot--effi£tally-fall-uAder Gity-ewnorship until fin~ 
Co~ressional aGt---T-he-aGtftlisition-J.s-important to tho-Gity becauso-it 
provides the space necessary to complete the planned Silver Street 
extension from 14th Street to Manzanita Lane. It also has stro~ 
potential for future development and is a good candidate for mixee-use 
te-5Uf}port the downtowfh-

There are a number of existing leases on this property, and it is expected 
that revenue generated by the leases could offset the majority of the 
8€{¼tlisition costs.purchase-price-.-

The City of Elko has 3 total combined duty of 1 Formatted : Strikethrough 
~ water rights. As of .July 2007 201 •···· ···~·· ·· ·· ·····:··------------~ 
utilizing approximately .~ 6 850 acre feet of \. Form.atte~: strikethrough_===~=-==--< 
time the City had ~ 7 400 connections of val Formatted: Strikethrough 
to approximately .1 11 (363.000 gallonsJQ-J@..a~· -· ·· ·· .... • .. _. ..... _. ... .. - ··1

• ·===== 
This is close to the standard requirement of 1.12 Formatted. strikethrough 
feet per year for a ~e FamilySingle-Family a Formatted; Strikethroug-h=== 
this information an-aeditien-al,approximately, ,.i,1 -- · · ··-·· .... : .. ., .. -.. -----------< 
connections could be serviced with the remai~irl Formatted: strikethrough .,, ===--------< feet of water. It is estimated that the City of Elke( Formatted: Strikethrough 
5,398 (is this till an accurate# or need to be upelc:rn:,e. I'-'"'"'" u, ----

developable vacant ground within the city of Elke's its incorporated 
boundaries (Table 3). It is expected that develo~ Formatted: Strikethrough 
ground will exhaust much of the remaining .9,867 : ::;:;-; 
available water and th§. ~i!_v may not be able .to·[ Formatted: Fo~t ~ r: Auto 

ro o_sed_annexat1o~ roperty without conserv;Formatted: Strikethrough 

Land Use page 12 



---- --- ----- - ------------ --------- -- Land Use 

The City currently employs conservation methods described in a State 
approved conservation plan that requires metered water service on all 
new construction and water restrictions during the .JulyJune -
September period .• The City has not adopted an annexation policy 
pertaining to water rights at this time. The City of Elko has adopted a 
Water Service Extension Policy for Customers Outside the City Limits 
that requires , among other conditions, annexation of property into the 
City in exchange for water service thereby limiting the potential for c~ ity I 
resources to be utilized for County development. The policy also lists the 
transfer of water rights to the City of Elko in exchange for water service 
as a possible condition. It should be noted that implementation of the 
policy is at the discretion of the City Council and is implemented on a 
case-by-case basis. In addition to the existing water conservation 
practices and potential water rights transfers, the City _has _i11111lemented I 
j ntends on evaluating several water conservation options as follows: 

a. .Effluent dispesal--a~ions possibly-inWff*}ratiA9 I 
additional use of f;_xmnded the use Qf reclaimed water 
for City irrigation requirements 

b. Water credits for effluent disposal through the currently 
approved infiltration of effluent 

c. .continued mMetering of all new construction and the 
possibility of metered water service on existing 
development 

The City of Elko Water Reclamation Facility has a design capacity of 4.5 
Million Gallons per Day (MGD). Plant utilization is approximately 55% 
based on average daily flows of approximately 2.5 MGD. 
+l=le--Cit-y-Bf Elko Wate#Sewer--QepaFtment-s-ane-Water-ReG!amatien 
i;:aci-lity-are required-by-State-law-te-t-iave-4Q-year capit31-improvement 
plans (GIP) in place. The plans identify potential upgrades to the system 
to meet anticipated community needs. The plans are typically based on 
projected gro11Ah rates of the community and current system upgrade 
r9€!u-ifem~test-waterlsewer GIP was-€BFAf}leted-in-2QG4The 
City of Elko Water Reclamation facility updated its CIP in ~ 2016. 

City Infrastructure. 

City of Elko Water Rights 

In the period around From the late 1980s aooto the early 1990s, the City I 
Engineering j,. Water Departmen s filed for all unused water rights in the 
Elko segment of the Humboldt River Groundwater Basin. This was done 
to aid in the control of water usage in the Elko area as well as to ensure 
that the City of Elko would have sufficient water rights for future growth . 
Presently, the City of Elko has sufficient permitted and certificated water 
rights to enable tl=te-Gityi! to .at-1east-r11_Qre 1ban double in size. With good I 
water management, this resource may be extended further by expanding 
the use of recycled wastewater and more efficient irrigation practices. 

New Development Beyond the City Core 

The City of Elko currently has two pressuI e zones within in its water 
systems. These two zones syster1s are identified named based on the 
water storage tank floor elevations. Both water zones syst 'l are 

ELKO 

[ Formatted: Strikethrough-=--------1..,< 

Formatted : Strikethrough 

J Formatted: Strikethrough 

Formatted: Strikethrough 

' Formatted: Strikethrough 

/ 

J 
) 

~ ormatted : Strikethrough~----------< 

Formatted: Strikethrough 

\ Formatted: Strikethro~ gh _ 

Formatted: Strikethroug=h==-~~-----J=-:: 

Formatted: Strikethrough J 

( Formatted: Strikethrough J 

Land Use page 13 



Land Use ---- ------------------------- - ---- ------

ELKO 

.storage gravity water systems with no pumped 1=atted: Strikethrough 
waler systems. The Tank Base Elevation 5208 __ ~ serves ,rom 
the valley floor elevation to an elevation of approximately 5.120 feet. The 
Tank Base Elevation 5400 Water ffiA~m-sePJesZone serves from 
approximately ground elevation 5120 to a to approximately ground 
elevation of approximately .~ ~316 feet. Se~ Formatted: Strikethrough 
Water System). 

New development~ located on land above ~ round elevation Qf_5i,_~ 
316 feet will require significant water system improvements such as new 
pumping facilities, new water storage tanks, new water transmission line 
extensions and development of a new water distribution system. The City 
of Elko Engrnr>Arrn, J Dern -in,ent developed conce tuc1I costs for these 
improvements alLQ_resent~cl in th, t, early 2000s Formatted: Strikethrough 
Report) as part of a planning program aimed to uenury ruau urucKs rur 
City expansion and commercial/industrial growth. At that time wl/1/ater 
connection charges have been put in place were devolGpee-for new 
development that wouldcan be used to fund new water wells , new water 
transmission lines and new water storage facilities. New Ggevelopment.§ 
will be required to construct buried water distribution lines, install fire 
hydrants, construct water service lines, and develop water: -efficient 
landscaping. 

The City of Elko recently completed a water transmission line which will 
extend municipal water services to the Northwest Neighborhood, 
specifica lly the 1-80 Exit 298 area. 

Water Avai/abilitv and Growth 

__ ] 

___J 

J 

The City should consider the development of new water systems based 
on the City's needs to serve properly zoned properties that will afford 
reasonable opportunities for growth and diversification of the City's 
economy. The City should consider the development of new water 
system infrastructure in all areas where growth i Formatted: Strikethrough -_ j 
ifl-t.1:le-1:li§-hef-elevatien&-includin_g_ the zone ·· - ·· ··~- =~-------~=<-
elevation. Formatted: Strikethrough 

The City is currently planning expanding areas of use offor recycled 
water-am:l-is-el:.lffeRtly--un<lBiway-wtthBooouoting an engineer~flg-st-1:1dy--fof 
rouse options. Recycled water is proving to be cost effective in 
comparison to municipal potable water for irrigation purposes as the 
infrastructure is developed. 

The City updates the water, sewer, and utility master planning 
periodically as conditions and budget warrant. Tho City should also 
consider setting utility improvement priorities and implementation 
planning . 

Neighborhoods 

Land Use page 14 



Land Use -----------------------------------------

,.._ 
/ 

- - ~- - ! 
/ 1 ,t, , / ~------ ---~ -,...- I NE~~~:6~~0 / 

( •' / -- - ---- ---- · / 
/ J,/ ' 

/ "NORTH _;-~ /,_-. ~ 
CENT~l I --- V I ~ EIGH60RHOOS _- /4/ '\ 

- I R' '/ 
~-~ ');s = - - // /r - --~ 

I - ' 2 >--- NORTHWEST /,\,'-t ' , ' / 
/ J. ~ I N:tGHBORHo oo F ;/ sou,HE,\sr \ 

/ /:: NEIGHSOR1100t> \ /, ....._ __ _ _ 
/ ~= \ ~~ 

/ NORTHWEST SOUTHWEST 
NEIGHBORHOOD(< . J. NEfG 80RHOOO ) 

I / r \ _ _, -;=-c-~-- ---'--'t---. "' 
I _,,, 
-... / 

'-" ~~~~ 

Northwest 

Nelghbo,hc -

. ..,_ 
"""""· -----~ 

North Central 
Neighborhood 

--
Elko Neighborhood Map 

Southwest 
Neighborhood 

\ 

The City of Elko has ).QD_g_been comprised of a number of larqer 
individual neighborh oods, each identified by tAeif-its unique character, 
location, physica l features, and cu ltural and social factors . 
Neighborhoods are ideally characterized by a complete and 
balanced complement of elements, which contribute to a high
quality residential living environment, -ami-all within a defined 
geographical area. These elements include opportunities for a 

ELKO 
Land Use page 15 



Land Use - - - --- - - --------------- - ---- - -----------

New homes on Arroyo Seco Dr. in the North~est 
Neighborhood 

Ruby View Golf Course and neighborhood 
homes in the North Central Neighborhood 

Caeyoo Crnssiog sobdi,isioo eo<raoce aod pr 

ELKO 

variety of housing types, parks, open spaces, recreation, and 
leisure activities, convenience shopping, and educational, and 
cultural and religious facilities . The various planning neighborhoods of 
Elko are illustrated in the Elko Neighborhood Map above. 

Northwest Neighborhood 

This area is bordered on the south by Interstate 80 and by Mountain City 
Highway on the east. Land to the north and west transitions to low 
density semi-rural type development and generally is capable of 
sustaining additional growth, provided urban-type services and utilities 
can be extended. Key features associated with this neighborhood include 
neighborhood and community:-oriented retail and service activities~ and 
a future elementary school site. Future needs for this area include parks 
and recreational opportunities, and additional neighborhood commercial 
units and a middle sohool. Residents also want to see additional grocery 
stores and well: -designed master planned communities in this 
neighborhood. There is also potential for new industrial development in 
this area , building on the existing airport area and Exit 298. New 
industrial development must be carefully designed to preserve the City's 
image at this WesteFn western gateway. A number of industrial 
possibilities exist with proximity to Exit 298 on Interstate 80. 

This portion of the City contains several islands of unincorporated land 
falling under the jurisdiction of Elko County. It makes logical sense for 
these islands to eventually be annexed into the City of Elko's municipal 
boundaries. Similarly, the Bureau of Land Management is the manager 
of 640 acres of land , or one section, in th is area. This property has 
potential for eventual development and has already been annexed into 
the City. Limitations to development of these parcels include the lack of 
public infrastructure in the area, higher elevations, and potential conflicts 
with the Elko Regional Airport. 

North Central Neighborhood 

This area is bordered on the south by Interstate 80, Mountain City 
Highway on the west, and by the Ruby View Golf Course on the east. 
Lands to the north and northwest are predominantly vacant but exhibit 
strong growth potential. Key features associated with this neighborhood 
include community and regional oriented retail and service activities, an 
elementary school , neighborhood and community parks and open space, 
Ruby View Golf Course and numerous religious facilities. Future needs 
for this area include convenience shopping and services for leoat 
r-esident-sresidents. Public comment suggests that this area should 
continue to develop as a residential neighborhood. 

Te-Moak Elko Indian Colony has ~recently !&expanded 
territory in this area through a land exGha~withdrawal with the Bureau 
of Land Management. This expansion woold-added an additional ~ 
368 acres to the tribal lands in proximity to the City of Elko. 

Northeast Neighborhood 

This area is bordered on the south by Interstate 80 and Ruby View Golf 
Course on the west. Most of the land within this arna and to the north 
and east rnmains vacant. HoweveF, onoe seFVioes are extended, a 

Land Use page 16 



Land Use --------------------------------------

mixture of commercial and residential development is anticipated. This 
area has seen recent growth with several commercial and residential 
developments. A key feature associated with this area is the Ruby View 
Golf Course. Parks and educational facilities are examples of future 

~=~~~, '~;~~~ ~:"c~:=:~. :::::::=;:::9 
diverse housing needs. Limitations to de1,elopment of these parcels 
include the lack of publiG--ffifrastruGtw:e~in the area . 

The Elko County chool istrict leases approximately 180 acres of 
property in this area from the Bureau of Land Management. This 
property will allow the school district to provide for future development I 
new-~Gl:lools necessary to meet the demands of this-the growing 
c11 1n, ·t~e. However, it is likely that not all the property within 
the school district's lease will be needed and that there is the potential 
for the City or a private landowner to acquire the surplus land for 
development purposes. School districts and BLM lands are exempt fro~ 
local property taxes and the development of portions of this property for 
private purposes would provide revenue needed to strengthen the City's 
ability to provide better services. 

Central Neighborhood 

This area is bordered by Interstate 80 on the north, the Humboldt River 
on the south, Mountain City Highway on the west and Exit 303 on the 
east. For the most part, the area is developed with a mixture of 
residential , commercial, public and institutional type uses. Key features 
include neighborhood and community parks and recreational facilities 

Elko Convention and Visitors Authority County Fairgrounds 
City Hall Elko County Courthouse Great Basin College 
Elko City Cemetery elementary, juAief-middle and seAiGF--high schools 
religious and cultural facilities including Northeast Nevada Museum and 
the Western Folklife Center the downtown commercial district and 
other oriented retail and service activities. 

A key need for this area is to provide for the upkeep, maintenance and 
modernization of existing older facilities . Revitalization of the downtown 
area is a focus for the Elko Redevelopment Agency and many downtown 
stakeholders. And finallyMoreover, the roads in the Tree Streets area I 
have very wide roadways , which are costly to maintain and the full right
of-way width is unnecessary for the safe movement and parking of cars. 
It has been recommended that the excess right-of-way be vacated and 
allowed to be combined with existing private parcels along these roads, 
including a redesign of the road cross section, with wide landscaped 
areas created between the sidewalk and the curb and gutter. These I 
park strips would be maintained by homeowners and are a prime space 
for snow storage in the winter months. 

The City is actively pursuing additional access easements If;. f--tfle-E~;es,a 

of negotiating the purchase of additional property within the vacated 
Union Pacific railroad property, as described eafliel:above. Acquisition of 
the property will facil itate the extension of Silver Street to Manzanita Dive 
and is a significant component in the redevelopment of the central 
neighborhood. 

ELKO 

Residences on Cedar Street, one of Elko's 
first neighborhood homes. These are located 
in the Central Neighborhood 

and walking path along the Humboldt River in 
the Southwest neighborhood 



Land Use ---------- ---------------------- --------

Quail Run Apartments on 12th Street 

ELKO 

Southwest Neighborhood 

This area is bordered by the Humboldt River on the north and South 5th 

StreeULamoille Highway on the east. Land to the south and west is 
vacant, but exhibits strong growth potential provided deficient local utility 
services and capacities can be upgraded. Key features associated with 
this neighborhood include a oriented park and 
recreational facilities , higher density housing and mobile home parks, 
and the Hot Hole recreational area. 

Future needs for the area include more convenience shopping and 
services for local residBAtsresidents, and more investment in parks and 
recreation. Residents want to see improvements to the mobile home 
parks in the neighborhood, as well as the possibility of creating a small 
retirement community. There is a significant amount of undeveloped 
property in this area, and it-a portion of it has been selected 
rewmffi€fleeEl-as a-the location for a new baseball/softball--fieleRegional 
Sports ~complex. It is anticipated that existing fields will remain where 
they are, and that this wooW-YW!_be a new facility. Limitations to 
development of these parcels include the lack of public infrastructure in 
Ule-area. 

Southeast Neighborhood 

This area is bordered by the Humboldt River on the north and South 5th 

StreeULamoille Highway on the west. Land to the south and east is 
sparsely developed with a mixture of land uses. Future development in 
this area, particularly to the south, is likely to be constrained by 
topography and also landfill operations. Key features associated with the 
neighborhood include the Northeastern Nevada Regional Medical Center 
and the Southside Elementary School. Future needs for this area include 
a neighborhood park, enhanced recreational opportunities, and 
additional convenience shopping and services for leeru 
resiGBnt-sresidents. Limitations to development of these parcels include 
the lack of public infrastructure in the area. 

MAP 

The Elko Master Plan Land Use Map (ATLAS Map 8. 2010 Future Land 
Use Plan) is a graphic depiction of proposed future land use and is a 
guide for the City staff and officials to rely upon as they are evaluating 
development proposals ,n :J 1 ~Q' :191. d 9Qpl1cat1ons or revisions to City 
policies and ordinances. Depicting an area as residential, commercial or 
any other designation on the Master Plan Land Use Map should not 
prohibit other land uses that may be authorized by Planned Unit 
Development (PUD} ordinances, conditional use ordinances or other 
land use application~ that may grant a land use exception or other 
means of relief, so long as the land use complies . Development of 
property must be in conformance with the Elko City Code and is 
compatible with, and does not frustrate , this Master Plan's goals and 
policies and the NRS. 

Land Use page 18 



____________________________________ Land Use 

The designations are a result of significant public input and a review of 
land use designations of adjacent jurisdictions. These designations were 
also developed through planning and professional analysis. 

The Elko Master Plan Land Use Map contains the following land use 
designations: 

Agricultural/Residential - Rural Density 
Areas designated agricultural are suitable primarily for the 
preservation of existing farmland and grazing areas and for the 
development of single-family residences on large acreage . In many 
instances, agricultural lands peripheral to the City are in a state of 
transition and have potential for annexation he extension of 
urban services and utilities and an i 1t I Jr d, J o e 

~ zoning district classification . Development of 
propertyUses of land must in conformancecomply with the Elko City 
Code,-#li-s--Blan-afld.-the NRS, as aooliGaale, and must be compatible 
with, and not frustrate, this Master Plan's goals and policies. 

Corresponding zoning districts: 

• AG General Agriculture 

Residential - Low Density 
This designation describes areas where residential development 
densities less than ranging from one ( 1) to four ( 4) units per acre are 
desired. A~I '"*i>erfl) I IT y 1JJ ,v <1"'1151 , hiyh th IA I ,, ,J 
here. These areas will be made up of single-family homes with larger lot 
than those in the medium density designation. Uses of land must com I 
with the Elko City Code, and must be compatible with , and not frustrate , 
this Master Plan's goals and policies. Development of property must be 
in conformaABe-WitMhe-€-lko City Codc, U=ifs--JajaA,-aAG-tfle NRS, as 
applicabloc 

Corresponding zoning districts: 

• R- ~nwe- ca 'lil-, 11At!it1pl, Famfly Residerrl!al 

• RS 

• PUD 

Residential Suburban 

Planned Unit Development 

Residential - Medium Density 
This designation describes areas where residential development 
densities are four (4) ~ to eight (8) units per acre. A 41,{illOJ I Wxl 
i:,ermfi: andiOf--aeveloprneAt d~" .,,pr.ri m ly a d 1bit1E:s hK1" ,01 tt·k I") 

listed here These areas will be made up of single-family homes, but ma 
include townhomes, row houses duplexes and other types of multi-family 
land uses. Uses of land must comply with the Elko City Code, and must 
be compatible with, and not frustrate, this Master Plan's goals and 
policies. Devele@ment-ef--m-ooei:t-y-ffH*st-ae-i!l-WflfofmaflBe-WiU=l-tf:le-elke 
Cit-y--GG{le,th~s plan, and the MRS, as-aooliBaale-.-

Corresponding zoning districts: 

ELKO 
Land Use page 19 



Land Use --------- ---------- --- ----- -------------

ELKO 

• R 

• R1 

Single-Family - Multiple-Family Residential 

Single-family Residential 

• R2 Two-Family Residential 

• PUD -- Planned Unit Development 

• RO Residential Office 

• RB Residential Business (Proposed) 

• RMH-2 Mobile Home Subdivision 

• RMH-3 Manufactured Home Subdivision 

Residential - High Density 
This designation generally describes areas where residential 
development densities of nine (9) units per acre or greater. This is the 
City's most intensive residential land use designation. This classification 
is intended for multiple-family homes and multistory dwellings in addition 
to single- family residences. This land use category serves as a 
transitional land use between medium-density residential , and 
commercial or industrial uses. High density residential is also 
appropriate along major transportation corridors, in the downtown core 
and near neighborhood centers. Uses of land must comply with the Elko 
City Code, and must be compatible with, and not frustrate, this Master 
Plan's goals and policies.Development of property must be in 
eonfeH=Ranse-wi#l tl:ie-e!ke-Gity Code, th~splan. and the NRS, as 
applieaelec 

Corresponding zoning districts: 

• R Single Family and Multiple Family Residential 

• R3 Multiple-Family Residential 

• RMH 

• PUD 

Mobile Home Residential 

Planned Unit Development 

•c General Commercial 

• Proposed New Multifamily zoning distriet 

General Commercial 
This designation includes general commercial land uses with a 
community-wide focus, together with certain compatible, permitted non
commercial uses. This designation generally features commercial 
businesses and buildings of varying size and scale with a focus on 
meeting the needs of the local community. Typical uses may include 
grocery stores, supermarkets, restaurants , retail sales businesses, 
service providers (such as banks), and professional offices. Uses of land 
must comply with the Elko City Code, and must be compatible with. and 
not frustrate, this Master Plan's goals and policies.Qevekmfflent-ef 
pFGperty must be in-eeruormance with the Elko City Code, this plan,-aflG 
the NRS, as applieaele . 

Corresponding zoning districts: 

• C General Commercial 

Land Use page 20 



Land Use ---- ----------------------------------

• cc 
• CT 

_•_PC 

• IC 

Convenience Commercial 

Commercial Transitional 

Planned Commercial 

Industrial Commercial 

Highway Commercial 
This designation includes general commercial land uses with a 
community-wide and regional focus. This designation features large
scale commercial buildings, automotive dealerships, drive-through 
restaurants , large-footprint retail stores, and similar type land uses 
appropriate for highway and arterial frontages. This designation and its 
uses are not intended to compete with downtown or neighborhood 
commercial areas, and is focused on the regional market. Uses of land 
must comply with the Elko City Code, and must be compatible with , and 
not frustrate, this Master Plan's goals and policies.Deve!G@:lent-ef 
property must be in conformance with the Elko City Code, this plan, and 
the NRS. as applicable. 

Corresponding zoning districts: 

• PC Planned Commercial 

• C General Commercial 

• CC Convenience Commercial 

• _IC _____ I n_d_u_s_tr_ia_l_C_o~m_m~e_rc~i~al 

Downtown Mixed Use 
This land use designation includes land uses that are located in or close 
to the historic downtown area. The area will capitalize on the existing 
fabric of the downtown and its walkable grid system. Mixed-use allows 
for a variety of land uses, and configurations. Housing or office use may 
be located within the same structure, with retail use primarily on the first 
floor. Housing options within this land use designation will be 
predominantly composed of high density multi-family housing including 
apartments, townhomes, condominiums, etc'-,_Uses of land must com I 
with the Elko City Code. and must be compatible with, and not frustrate. 
this Master Plan's oals and olicies. · 
conformance with the Elko City Code. this plan. and the NRS. as 
applicable. 

Corresponding zoning districts: 

• C General Commercial (with revisions) 

•Pro13ose€1-flew-QowntBw~ixed Use district 

Neighborhood Mixed Use 
Neighborhood Mixed-Use are areas designated on the Elko Future Land 
Use Map intended for higher density residential development combined 
with neighborhood scale commercial activity. This designation features 
commercial uses such as grocery stores, corner stores, coffee shops, 

ELKO 

{ Formatted: Bullets and Numbering 

Land Use page 21 

. , ; . r 



Land Use ----------------------------------------

ELKO 

bookstores, video rentals , barber shops, hair salons, bakeries and 
bicycle repair. The Master Plan Land Use Map identifies several general 
locations for Neighborhood Mixed-Use development. 

Housing within this designation will rang e from higher density multi-family 
housing around the commercial core of the neighborhoods to medium 
density residential development away from the core. Uses of land must 
comply with the Elko City Code, and must be compatible with, and not 
frustrate, this Master Plan 's goals and policies.Development of property 
must be in conformance with the Elko City Code, this plan, and the NRS, 
as applicable. 

Corresponding zon ing districts: 

• CC Convenience Commercial 

• CT Commercial Transitiona~I------------------~ 
•l¾o130Sed new NeighbOFAood Mixed·!Jl Formatted: Bullets and Numbering 

General Industrial 
This land use designation includes light to heavy industrial type land 
uses as well as some of the more intense commercial uses. Land use 
activity in this category may include research and development, clean 
technology assembly and production as well as more intense industrial 
uses. It should be noted that these uses have some impact on 
surrounding areas in terms of noise, odor, dust or other nuisances that 
would likely extend beyond the property lines. Uses of land must comply 
with the Elko City Code, and must be compatible with, and not frustrate, 
this Master Plan's goals and policies.Qevelef}mont of property must be in 
conformance with the Elke-GiW--Code, this plan, and the NRS, as 
a9plf6able. 

Corresponding zoning districts : 

• LI Light Industrial 

• IC 

• GI 

Industrial Commercial 

General Industrial 

Business Park Industrial 
This land use designation identifies future employment centers, and 
specifically those targeting high-technology, research , education, and 
training institutions. Light industrial uses are appropriate within this 
designation, provided tl=fat there are no nuisances (odor, noise, dust) 
which travel beyond the property lines. Uses of land must comply with 
the Elko City Code, and must be compatible with, and not frustrate, this 
Master Plan's goals and policies.Qe-ve!Gpment of property must-be-iR 
confor-manre-wit-h-th~ko-Gily--Gooe,this plan, and-the NRS, as 
a@liBabl&. 

Corresponding zoning districts: 

• IBC Industrial Business Park 

Land Use page 22 



Land Use --------------------------------------

• LI Light Industrial 

• '"""'I C=-------"'"'I n-'-'d=u=s=tr'""ia=l---'C"-'o=m-'-"-'m-'-'e'-'-r=ci=al 

Parks and Open Space 
This land use designation indicates lands that are intended to be 
maintained as natural , undeveloped open space or developed as a 
formal recreation area for public purpose. This designation includes 
lands bordering public lands, river and stream corridors , and City park 
spaces. General park locations have been iGeAtifieG,fidentified, (See the 
Parks and Recreation map) but specific parcels and acreages have not. 
Uses of land must comply with the Elko City Code, and must be 
compatible with, and not frustrate, this Master Plan's goals and 
policies. Qevel@meAt-of...f)f0@FP:l::{rn:l§t-be-iA-G0Afom1aABe with-U:ie-e-lke 
Qty Code, this plan, and--the-NRS,as-apf)liGael&. 

Corresponding zoning districts: 

• PQP Public, Quasi-Public 

• FP Floodplain Overlay 

• AG General Agricu ltural 

Public/Quasi-Public 
This land use designation is applied to community and public and quasi-
public uses such as those associated with government, non-profit, and 
utilities. Uses of land must comply with the Elko City Code, and must be 
compatible with, and not frustrate, this Master Plan's goals and 
policies.Development of property must be in conformance with the Elko 
City Code, this plaA, and the MRS, as applicable. 

Corresponding zoning districts: 

• PQP Public, Quasi-Public 

BEST PRACTICES 

This Best Practices section includes a detailed explanation of each of the 
Elko Master Plan objectives, and provides recommendations, identifies 
funding sources, and suggests regulatory tools available to help 
implement the Master Plan 's stated objectives. The purpose of this 
section is to ensure City leaders and decision makers have the 
information necessary to make sound and educated decisions for the 
future of Elko. The Elko Master Plan Best Practices should be referred 
to on an c going basis as staff reports are developed , and as zone 
changes, conditional use permits, subdivisions, and other land use 
related decisions are made. 

ELKO 

Live-work units have residences located 
above or behind home based professional 
se1Vices and/or businesses 

Land Use page 23 



Land Use --------- --- - --- ---- - ------ ----- - - - - - ---

An older residential neighborhood that has 
been preserved and restored 

Objective 1: Promote a diverse mix of housing options to 
meet the needs of a variety of lifestyles, 
incomes, and age groups. 

Elka's housing inventory should offer a spectrum of options and costs 
that are proportional to the makeup of its residents and employees and 
their ability to pay for housing . A successful housing spectrum will 
include ample options. The beneficiaries will not only be community 
residents , but also employers that are able to draw from a broader range 
of potential employees. Employers in Elko will be able to fill a diverse set 
of jobs, ranging from clerical to executive, and will include positions for 
manufacturing , industrial, retail, services, and others. 

For Elka's housing supply to reflect demand, it is important to evaluate 
the demographic characteristics of the community. Projections of the 
types of housing that will be needed to accommodate various housing 
needs and incomes should be made. Then regulations and policies 
should be incorporated that will allow the market to meet these needs. A 
demographic profile of Elko can be found in the introduction of this 
Master Plan, and the Elko Housing Plan includes specific policy 
statements about the provision of housing opportunities in the City. 

A good housing mix brings opportunities for people to age in place. It 
also means that housing caters to the needs of people with different 
income levels, family sizes, and taste~. In order to successfully achieve 
diversity in housing , the Elko community should carefully review its 
zoning ordinances and regulations in order to ensure that they are 
AGtand tailor them to mitigate adversely impact~ifl§ on true market 
demands, and to reduce-wi#l unnecessary regulations and policies that 
do not reflect the true housing needs of the community. Specific Housing 
Best Practices include: 

Best Practice 1. 1: Plan for and encourage a mix of housing 
types throughout the community. 

Live-Work Units: Review and, if required clarify City zoning ordinances 
to encourage the co-location of businesses with housing in live-work 
units. Live-work units typically include internally connected housing 
above or behind the commercial space and provide convenient housing 
and office space for individuals employed in anything from professional 
services to small home-based manufacturing. This type of housing would 
be appropriate in the Elko downtown core, or in developing 
neighborhood centers as the City grows and expands. 

Mixed-use housing : Review and, if required, clarify City zoning 
ordinances to encourage mixed-use housing , or separate housing and 
commercial units within the same building. Provide mixed-use housing 
above retail to encourage human activity at night and on weekends, 
resulting in healthier commercial areas. When a diversity of users is 
present in a neighborhood, a wider variety of services can be supported. 
Parking requirements are of particular concern in built and older areas of 
the community. 

Accessory Dwelling Units: Review and, if required, clarify City zoning 
ordinances to encourage the development of additional accessory 

Land Use page 24 

! , ' J ;~ ) j ,. ' "' ' \ ' i ' C [ I 
located in the Central Neighborhood of 
Elko. Built on 25' x 100' parcels, these four 
townhomes are complete with garages 
which open in the rear alley on Oak St. The 
homes were constructed in 2008. 



Land Use - --------------------- ----------------

dwelling units within the City. Current City Qcode allows for the I 
development of both carriage houses (secondary structure apartments) 
and accessory dwellings (e.g . mother-in-law apartments). Accessory 
dwelling units are encouraged because they increase density, are 
affordable, and maintain the neighborhood character. These units are 
typically built over garages and can be used as a studio, a teenager's 
bedroom, or rented as a separate apartment to help offset the cost of a 
mortgage. 

Single Family: Continue to encourage the development of single family 
homes throughout the community. Single family homes usually appeal to 
larger, am:1-wffil-estaelishedwell-established families and offer space 
extra lot area for landscaping, gardens and future expansion. +J::ie-Gi-t-y 
should evaluate and update single family zoning ordinances to allow for 
flexibility in front and side setbacks. 

Single family homes are not always built on large lots. In some 
casescases, single family homes are built on small lots and can even 
manifest as attached buildings. Small-lot single family homes occur in 
higher density residential developments. They usually have shared 
driveways and garages. Single family homes can also be owner 
occupied or rental units. Current subdivisions in Elko are mostly made up 
of single family homes. Mor, recent n w deve1op11"nts h:w- 1ncludcJ a 
mix of small lot single faml!Y development and smaller townhome 
development. New developments, subdivisions and master planned 
communities should con(lnug 1Q. explore the potential _fQr including 
ss1b11ity of introducing different types, sizes, and styles of single family 
homes. 

Multiple Family: Multi-family residential units occur as apartments, 
condominiums, duplexes, triplexes, four-plexes , and townhomes. 
Apartment housing is in demand in Elko as it typically caters to younger, 
lower income, and transient families . Multi-family homes create density 
and can house a greater number of people per square foot and therefore 
support vibrant neighborhood centers . Multi-level developments also 
strengthen the street wall and offer opportunities for first floor retail. 
Appropriate locations for multiple-family development include the 
downtown area and land bordering major or minor arterials and 
collectors. 

Mobile Homes & Parks: A number of mobile homes can be found in Elko. 
These are primarily located in the Southwest Neighborhood of the City, 
te-tRe-located south of the Humboldt River and Lamoille Highway. The 
mobile homes offer housing to lower income residents a i ., )pl• v 

are in t ans1enl s uat s or 1-.rr p, r-,plo1 j l'l th C ty . There is 
often a stigma generally associated with mobile home parks. Typical 
challenges include a lack of public or private open space, poor 
maintenance, and a lack of sufficient off-street parking . The current City 
code addresses these issues, and these-sta-AElal"tl-s-sA-et1IEI I 
efl&tlfeenforcement of these standards will promote attractive, high 
quality mobile home park development in the future . 

Best Practice 1.2: 

ELKO 

Encourage high-quality housing design to 
strengthen neighborhood acceptability, while 
encouraging variety and beauty. 

A mix of architectural styles, housing types, 
and diversity helps provide residents with 
housing options 



Land Use ----------------------------------------

ELKO 

Design Guidelines: Variation in housing mix (architectural styles, lot sizes 
and building types and sizes) creates greater visual interest along 
sidewalks for pedestrians and promotes the long termlong-term 
sustainability of a community. In contrast, streets lined with identical 
homes and blank garage doors make walking less appealing. 

Many communities require minimum design standards for residential 
development for certain types of housing . Some communities apply city
wide standards for every home, while others apply them only to multiple 
family developments. 

If Elko-the City considers adopting a set of design guidelines, standards 
should include basic requirements for building orientation and form, 
rather than details on materials, style, window type, colors, etc. The 
most important objective is to promote a livable community by reducing 
total percent of garage frontage on the street, and elevating the 
importance of front porches and the more human-focus elements of a 
home. 

Good design for multiple family developments can play a key role in 
increasing their acceptance in primarily &fn9le-famflysingle-family 
neighborhoods. 

Rehabilitation of Older Neighborhoods: Elko has a number of older 
neighborhoods that have helped to define the character of the City. 
These neighborhoods and the homes within them contain important 
elements of the City's heritage anEI al68and contribute to the communal 
lives of residents. 

Rehabilitation of older neighborhoods is a challenge facing many 
communities , and Elko is not an exception. Of critical importance is to 
help beautify and revitalize these neighborhoods without resulting in 
gentrification that displaces the original residents. Several strategies can 
be adopted by the City to help clean up and develop these areas, while 
promoting a gradual transition in the areas overall property values~. 

The first step should be to identify and invest in public 
infrastructure improvements and public works projects. These 
include road and sidewalk maintenance or reconstruction, 
development of trails, water/sewer, and installation of new street 
lighting and signage. 
A second step, which requires more resources, is the investment 
in public green spaces such as parks, plazas, street trees, and 
other landscaping . 

The objective of these initial steps is to create a more attractive and 
livable neighborhood for the current residents, without requiring any 
private investment. Once the public investment has been made, 
demonstrating the local government's commitment to improving the area, 
new private investments will !i.!s.fil'Lfollow. This investment can be 
incentivized in a number of ways including the: 

Review and update of zoning and regulatory policy for the 
affected areas to offer more flexibility in development 
Enacting Code provisions allowing for the W'!!._aiver or reduction 
of connection and impact fees (Note that Elko City does not 

Land Use page 26 



------- ------------------------ ------- -

currently collect impact fees for new development, but this is a 
strategy that could be effective in the future). 

Best Practice 1.3: Work towards equitable, and even, I 
distribution of housing types throughout the 
community. 

Blended Communities: Housing development should seek to provide a 
variety of housing types that includes distinct architecture, density, scale 
and type, as well as different income levels of households within 
neighborhoods. Housing is a primary responsibility of communities. 
Housing development by communities should be safe, make efficient use 
of infrastructure, and promote a feeling of community. Housing 
development should also allow for diversity and affordability, and 
enhance quality of life. 

Distribution : Promote more affordable housing opportunities distributed 
across communities to avoid concentration in any one area. Encourage 
multifamily housing throughout the City, using a variety of styles that are 
attractive and blend in with the loca l character. 

Coordination of Land Use, Transportation Networks, and Infrastructure: 
Transportation networks and land use are complexly intertwined 
elements of any community. Decisions in land use affect transportation 
network operations and levels of service, and transportation network 
design and layout affestsaffect the viability of land uses in a particular 
location . Zonin amendment considerations are critical to maintainin th 
hierarchy of the City's roadways. Impacts and consequences of 
decisions on both land use and transportation should be considered 
thoughtfully. 

Design neighborhoods in a manner that is conducive to walking and 
transit operations. A mix of densities, traditional neighborhood design, 
increased intersection density, and streets designed for cars, bicycles, 
and pedestrians all promote walking and create a framework for efficient 
public transit when it becomes available. This efficiency and holistic 
approach to neighborhood and street design is summed up in the 
principles of a concept known as the Complete Streets approach. 1 

Greater choice in housing near commercial and employment centers 
reduces land consumption and increases redevelopment, thus reducing 
demand for new sewer, water, and transportation infrastructure 
significantly. 

Provide for adequate transitioning and buffering between residential uses 
and industrial and commercial uses. Scaling down in density and 
intensity of land use between commercial centers and predominantly 
single-family neighborhoods can provide a smooth transition across 
transects. Typical buffer uses include multiple family dwellings, live
work, and mixed-use developments, park and other green spaces, and 
generally smaller scale, and more neighborhood-oriented commercial 

' Complete Street - Complete Streets advocates recommend changing policies and 
practices of transportation planning agencies to provide mobility to all members of society, 
not merely those able to , financially and physically, own and operate an automobile. 

Land Use 

ELKO 
Land Use page 27 

I'.-: - I 



___ _______________________________ ____ Land Use 

ELKO 

uses (day care centers, corner markets, professional office, bakeries, 
and florists) . 

Encourage high density residential, commercial or industrial uses that 
generate significant traffic volumes adjacent to major arterials or 
collectors roadways and Discourage discourage low-density 
development that does not generate significant traffic volumes.ffem 
eoot1ff4f\§--immeruateJ.y-a9taGeAt to arterial roadways-anticipated ..fef-lOAg
range witlefl+ng, unless adequate buffering is provided. Through 
coordination of the Future Land Use Map and long-range transportation 
planning, the ieeAMy-important travel routes through and within the City 
have been identified. ,arnl f*¼A-Plan for them accordingly with wieeF 
appropriate rights-of-way widths, buffer land uses, and heavy adjacent 
landscaping. 

En~ur~ prnQQsed land t.Jses compliment and S!dQ.QQ._rf, the long range 
pj_ann_irig for util[ly infrastructure 

Encourage well-planned residential subdivisions, planned unit 
developments (PUDs), and mixed usemixed-use developments to infill 
vacant lands, promote area redevelopment, and/or t allow for the 
provision of a variety or mixture of housing types not possible by strict 
interpretation of the subdivision and zoning ordinances. Flexibility in 
zoning and subdivision regulations, incentives like waived or reduced 
fees , and fast-tracked plan review and approval are all strategies to help 
accomplish this objective. 

Best Practice 1.4: Consider housing policy an opportunity to 
promote sustainable, adaptable, and efficient 
neighborhoods. 

Life-Cycle Housing: Plan for housing suitable for different stages of life, 
including smaller, more affordable units for first-time buyers, singles, 
young couples, families with many children, and older home owners, as 
well as opportunities for senior citizen housing and long-term 
care/assisted living faciliti es. Housing policy should work to create 
opportunities for people to live and grow in the same community. This 
will enable young couples, families and the elderly to live near relatives, 
and stay within their same social networks (e.g. church boundaries) 
throughout their lives. 

lnclusionary Approach: Address housing affordability using an 
inclusionary approach that allows for a mixture of housing types and 
prices, recognizing that housing affordability is integral to the long-term 
success of the City. Cities should be a welcoming place for people of all 
walks of life. Segregating housing by type, price, and size can lead to 
major divides in a community, most often along socioeconomic lines. 
This can ultimately lead to areas of higher crime, poverty, and other 
challenges. e-A-SUfifl§ Taking steps to encourage neighborhood 
development that &-include~ housing diversity minimizes the creation of 
these problem areas, and leads to a more inclusive, diverse, and 
accepting community. Children in such communities will grow up 
knowing people from different ages, walks of life and from different socio
economic groups. 

Land Use page 28 

Single t ~ female 
adult 

( 

Diagram of life-cycle how 
Source: Envis ion Utah 



311 in 

--------------- - ----------------------

Objective 2: Encourage revitalization and redevelopment of 
the downtown area to strengthen its role as the 
cultural center of the community. 

Downtown Elko is the commercial and cultural hub of the City and Elka's 
revitalization will largely result from a reinvigorated downtown. The 
downtown area has some noteworthy historic structures, a unique 
opportunity with the vacant railroad corridor, and the foundations for a 
vibrant city center. A Redevelopment Agency was formed to help 
facilitate development of the downtown. Its current project boundaries 
include the majority of the historic core of the G~ity and some ~ei=y 

138fi13l:ialperipheral areas. See ATLAS Map 7. Existing RDA Area. 
Continued Gorridnationcoordination b tl(Vet;n !The City, sh,, JI i co, ,r linat . 
wit-l=l the Elko RDA, and other stakeholders and partners 1n 1m~m~nt11J9 
the Redevelopment Plan and l.:i iclent1tyin J exp!.¥€ opportunities for the 
revitalization of the downtown iE.. oimQOQ.f!Dl to .!ti~ sur.ces. ot lb~ Q.!Y ~ 
redevelopment efforts A variety of tools, mechanisms, incentives, and 
strategies are available to facilitate revitalization, and these general 
redevelopment Best Practices are identified below: 

Best Practice 2. 1: Encourage and incentivize infill development 
over new greenfield development. 

Jnfill development: refers to a type of development that involves building 
on vacant, abandoned, or underutilized parcels in a city or community. It 
is a tool for growth management and urban revitalization. Infill 
development ensures that built up areas are developed to full capacity to 
reduce development_Qf and encroachment intooo open spaces and I 
undeveloped land outside of the core of the built up-area. Vacant sites 
and unsafe and dilapidated structures are typical ly identified and 
redeveloped into other uses that tie in with development in the immediate 
context . Building use, type, and architectural character should be 
compatible with tAat---ef-.-the surrounding context. 

Strategies for successful infill development in many communities include 
the following : 

Infill Development Framework: 
Identify vacant and underutilized properties where infill can occur. 
Provide a community vision where infill is possible. 
Provide specific plan and design guidelines for development and 
redevelopment. 
Strategize with community groups, economic and business 
development associations, and other interested organizations and 
individuals to market available parcels and potential for infill 
development. 

Review Current Regulatory Framework: 
Offer regulatory relief in the form of streamlined application 
processes. 
Allow mixed:-use development at densities sufficiently high enough I 
to make infill development economically feasible . 
Reduce or defer development fees and determine on a case-by-case 
basis whether bonds or other financial resources will be required of 
developers. 

Land Use 



Land Use - - ------ - ------------- -------- -------- - -

Reduce parking requirement.§ where infill development is situated 
near public transportation 

Fast-track Infill Development Approvals and Permits: 
Provide streamlined review process for projects categorized as infill 
development. 

Information Sharing: 
Provide developers with current inventory of vacant and underutilized 
properties. 
Identify infill location priorities and potential incentives andL-or 
financial or in-kind assistance for developing in priority locations. 
Provide information on public resources. 

Support Infill Development: 
Improve public facilities and services to support infill development~. 
such as power lines, sidewalks, water, sewer, fiber optic, etc. 
Support the Elko Gity-Redevelopment Agency in assisting 
developers with the acquisition or assembly of property necessary to 
implement quality redevelopment projects. 

·-E~plore selling RDA-ewnea-property below market value to 
enGGHra~ev-el~ent over new greenfielG-ileveiepmenb-

1 nfill Development in Elko 

Most of the infill development in Elko will occur in the downtown core, 
capitalizing on vacant lots and underutilized properties. Vacant and 
blighted areas in the downtown present great opportunities for infill 
development. Blight in the downtown resulted from: 

Subdivision and sale of lots of irregular and inadequate size and 
configuration for proper usefulness. 
Age, obsolescence, and deterioration of buildings and structure.§ 

• Defective design and character of physical construction (faulty 
interior and exterior spatial arrangements) 
Inadequate streets for current travel demand 
Conflicting land uses 
New focus on developing of highway and freeway frontages 
(;Qmpetrtion frQm onllne retail sal~s 

The prime area for infill will be on vacant lots along Railroad and 
Commercial Streets in the downtown corridor, from 3rd Street to 11th 

Street. Buildings heights of 2-4 stories are recommended. This will 
create a strong street wall along the parking corridor. Other major streets 
that could use a stronger street wall by infill development include Silver 
Street. and west Idaho Street (between Mountain City Highway and 3rd 

Street). It is important to note that infill development ~ould 
potentially be allowed in locations throughout the entire City, wherever 
feasible and perm itted by the City Code. 



Land Use --------- - --- --------------- --- -------

<ing corridor in 
3nti al sites for 

These areas should respect the architectural themes in the downtown 
and fit seamlessly into the urban fabric. There are situations where 
buildings need to make an architectural statement with a deliberate 
departure from surrounding architectural themes. An example would 
include the Rew-Elko County Complex. Architectural design that stands I 
out should be reserved for public buildings like governmental offices, 
libraries, museums, ef-and community centers. 

Infill developments can be most effective in downtown Elko if they are 
mixed-use in nature, with first floor retail and housing , or professional 
offices, on the subsequent !J.Q.Q§_[_floors. The first floorfirst-floor retail will I 
encourage foot-traffic and animate the street. while the other uses on the 
upper floors will bring in the necessary population and capital to sustain 
new development. 

Benefits of Infill Development 

Elko will be able to make better use of its urban land supply 
while reducing consumption of its pristine lands and open space. 
Development of mixed use with infill housing will bring people 
downtown and enable greater and easier access to job centers. 
Elko residents who may-live downtown will reduce the time, I 
money, energy, and air pollution associated with commuting and 
other use of sing le occupant automobiles. 
Infill development will strengthen local real estate markets and 
property values, and renew older neighborhoods and housing 
stock. 
The City will make better use of existing infrastructure and lower 
costs for providing certain public services such as sidewalks, 
water and sewer, and public safety. 
Elko will gain from having functional assets to replace brown 
fields and abandoned industrial areas, while creating 
socioeconomic diversity. 
Elka's unique culture will be supported with infill facilities that can 
contain cultural, educational and civic functions . These can 
include museums, community college, fitness centers , dance 
theaters et&ccetc. 

Land Use page 31 



Land Use ------------------------------------------

ELKO 

Best Practice 2.2: Invest in public infrastructure improvements 
and public amenities in the downtown area. 

Improvements on existing, and provision of new, public infrastructure for 
Elko's downtown will help to achieve the goal of revitalization. It will 
make the downtown more attractive and reinforce its identity and 
importance as a regional hub. Public infrastructure and amenities will 
include pavement and sidewalk improvements, street furnishings and 
pedestrian amenities, landscaping , public art, parking corridor 
beautification, and park or plaza space construction. 

Pavement and Sidewalk Improvements 

It is important to think of downtown streets as destinations. Streets within 
a downtown should move multiple modes of transportation efficiently, 
promote gathering and social interaction, encourage shopping and 
business activity, and be memorable places. 

Pavements and sidewalks are streetscape elements which should be 
well designed to limit or eliminate vehicular-pedestrian conflicts and be 
comfortable for all users. Strategies for achieving this in downtown Elko 
should include: 

Traffic Calming : Curb extensions or bulb outs, medians and 
islands, crosswalk markings, narrow traffic lanes, raised 
crosswalks, traffic circles at intersections, speed humps, and 
pavement textures (cobbles, brick etc.). 

Pedestrian Improvements: Connected, improved and increased 
system of sidewalks, design for special needs (wheelchairs, 
walkers, strollers and carts), and community walkway networks 
including trails and mid-block pathways. 

Cycling Improvements: Increased bike parking opportunities and 
options, road markings and signage for bike lanes on streets, 
road and road shoulder management and maintenance. 

The City should coordinate with relevant transportation authorities, such 
as NDOT and traffic engineers, to weigh, and mitigate, the impacts of 
such improvements on the carrying capacity of roadways in the 
downtown. 

Street Furnishing and Pedestrian Amenities 

Street furnishings and pedestrian amenities create comfort for the 
pedestrian and encourage visitors and residents to linger on, and use, 
streets. A vibrant downtown with ample pedestrian amenities attracts foot 
traffic at all times of the day, which results in a critical mass of people 
supporting/patronizing business and retail activity, restaurants, 
entertainment venues and civic amenities etc. 

Street furnishings in the downtown should include bollards, benches, 
lamps, trash receptacles , public restrooms, ATMs, information kiosks, 
bus shelters, drinking fountains etc. 

Land Use page 32 

The above before and after irr 
demonstrate how a typical str, 
more attractive by using stree 
improvement strategies. Also 
developments 

Xeriscape landscaping in a 



Land Use ------------------------------------- -

teractive 

·hey can also 
~ as 
lie art works 

Landscaping 

Landscaping is intended to complement the natural environment and 
helps to tie the ~built-up area to surrounding open spaces and 
pristine lands. Landscape elements include planted medians, planters, 
street trees, water features and natural vegetation . Street trees and 
plantings reduce scale, introduce a natural feel, and create more 
pedestrian friendly places. Trees and plants also f')f-eviee-heatiAg--arn:I 
cooling prOJ3erties by provid~ing shade in exposed areas. Hard 
landscaped areas such as plazas and squares serve as gathering points 
for civic activity. 

The introduction of new landscaped areas in the downtown will enhance 
the City's image and make it attractive as a destination. There is a 
noticeable reduction in vegetation and tree cover in the downtown in 
comparison to the ')reethe "tree streets:: and southern neighborhoods. 
This creates an obvious discontinuation of the rich character of 
landscaping that exists in the older nei§Roomeoo-s..neighborhoods. 

Landscaping in the downtown would enhanceonhances the Elko 
experience and alse--encourage~ the visitor to linger more in the 
downtown. Landscaping also frames the public space and can help 
improve the City's place-making quality. 

As Elko pursues landscaping options, it is important for the City to do so 
in recognition of Nevada's arid climate. For that reason, it-will-be I 
necessary toto the City should explore the use of additional xeriscape 
landscaping in areas that have not yet been landscaped, as well as afH:I 
the use of native plants, particularly in public spaces. 

Xeriscape landscaping is the practice of landscaping with plants that 
require very little water, and can survive and flourish with limited to no 
irrigation . 

Public Art 

Public art is a necessary:m important element in revitalizing a downtown~ 
It builds on the local culture and reinforces the identity of the City. Elko is 
endowed with a rich and diverse cultural heritage and can be very 
creative and draw from a wide array of sources to infuse quality public art 
in the downtown fabric. 

Public art can be interactive or passive and appeals to , and engages, all 
sectors of the population . Public art contributes to a community in the 
following ways: 

Builds civic pride and highlights local culture 
Adds another layer of activity for downtown visitors when the art 
installations are interactive 
Can be a source of revenue to local artists, and (when 
interactive) can be a source of revenue to the City, or other 
authority, if a fee is required to engage art 

ELKO 
Land Use page 33 



Land Use ----------- - ----------------------------

ELKO 

Can be educative educational and informative 
Makes the memory of a city linger on in a visitor's mind (public 
art works are some of the most photographed and talked about 
elements in a city) 
Helps with wayfinding in a city 

Do'A'ntmvn Elko currently has some interesting public art works and 
signs. Some of these are regioflal-local attractions, with examples being 
the 'White King' sign on Commercial Casino, and the 'Tree of Gernika' 
mural. The City also has unique historic and retro signs which can be 
celebrated and improved . 

The City should work with the Arts and Culture Advisory Board, the 
Redevelopment Agency, and other relevant agencies to draw a plan for 
public art in the downtown. This plan should define a theme or message 
that represents Elko. The plan should also identify local resources and 
artists who can be recruited to create art pieces. The plan should also 
address exhibit , or art , turnover periods as well as maintenance 
schedules. 

In 2017. the Arts and Culture Advisory Board received sponsorships from 
49 local businesses and individuals to install Cowboy Boots painted by 
local artists and installed throughout the City of Elko, promoting the arts 
and Elko's Centennial. 

Legible gateways into cities and downtowns are important and help with 
navigation . Gateway design should be of a similar theme with other 
public art pieces in the City. 

Signs and fi xtures should be themed as well to create a holistic identity 
for all , or specific parts, of the downtown. 

Parking Corridor Beautification 

Elko's primary parking supply is found in the vacated Union Pacific rail 
corridor. The corridor is one ~ city block wide and about eight blocks 
long. This space defines Elko's downtown and is an invaluable resource 
that can be enriched and improved to make Elko's downtown a 
destination . 

The parking corridor is functional , and provides parking opportunities for 
patrons and owners of businesses and restaurants in downtown. It 
relieves Elko of the typical problem of parking availability in downtowns. 
While it is only rarely filled to complete capacity, the corridor is heavily 
used. 

However, the corridor also creates a great schism in the downtown. The 

Alleys in Elko's downtown can be c 
and improved for pedestrian zones 
Improvements may include the intr 
landscaping, lighting , street furnitu1 
burying of utility/power lines 

corridor lacks ample vegetation or tree cover and is not designed to cater A pedestrian mall showing street 
fer---!Q_the needs of the pedestrian . and landscaping 

The Q!y_ recelllli' rendmE:a the down_town park to _9entennial Park and is 
in tb_e process of transforming nnd expanding the park in accordance 
with the Redevelopment Plan Green Belt Express ra»road park wrnGh 
lies between 7'h & 8 Streets aAd Railroad &--GemffiefGial s.treets-ean 
serve -as a mBdel fOf the orfieor's rndcvelopment, -OY -Bfffi9ing 

Land Use page 34 



in College 

·r 

= 
Jestrian 

1ent 
irridor 

,avilion in 

Land Use - ----- ---------------------------------

laREl-sea~n§-anEI-BJ,eR f}llblis gatheflflg space to the heart ef the 
OOWAt-ewn. 

While saving as many parking stalls as possible, the City should take a 
bold initiative and consider the following strategies for the development 
and revitalization of the parking corridor: 

Redesign parking stalls to allow for plant material at the 
periphery and core of the parking areas 
Plant shade trees (native species) and evergreens to provide 
thermal comfort all year round, to reduce scale, and to bring a 
natural feeling to the downtown 
Consider the provision of walkways, pedestrian malls and civic 
plazas, amphitheaters, etc. 
Provide a program of activities, events and experiences that can 
occur in the new public amenity. 
Redefine, rebrand and market the corridor as a functional multi
purpose community space and a regional attraction in Elko, 
which also provides parking for automobile users. 

--Consider the full utilization of the space in winter as a venue for I • 
community gathering. Some members of the community 
suggested development of an ice skating rink here. 

• - Consider a complete re-design of the corridor to allow for larger • 
parking stalls, landscape areas and pedestrian access., 
elimiRat~lroae---aREl--Gernmorcial Streets in---faver~HHIBW, 
single roadway throo§-Mhe center of the corriEler--,------:f-tiis--Gf}tieR 
creates the opportunity to widen sidewalks and eliminate the 
need for pedestrians to cross both a large parking lot and a 
Feadway--to-reash--their--ee-stiRatiooa 

Conceptual rendering , showing improvements in the downtown corridor 

Park or Plaza Space 

Downtown Elko can benefit from the inclusion of plazas and park spaces. 
As earlier discussed, the downtown parking corridor can support a 
programmed space that will include green parks, a pedestrian mall, 
formal civic spaces and water bodies. Other pocket parks can also be 
located at other vantage parts of the downtown. New parks and open 

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0.25", Bulleted + Level: 1 + 
Aligned at: 0.75" + Tab after: 1" + Indent at: 1", Tab 
stops : 0.5", List tab 

Formatted: Tab stops: 0.5'', List tab + Not at -0.5'' 

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0.25", Bulleted + Level : 1 + 
Aligned at: 0.75" + Tab after: 1" + Indent at: 1", Tab 
stops: 0.5" , List tab 

ELKO 
Land Use page 35 



----- ------------- -------- ---- ---- ------

spaces in downtown Elko are critical for revitalization. Urban open 
spaces add a layer of aesthetic quality to the urban fabric. Other 
advantages of providing park/plaza spaces in downtowns include: 

Park spaces provide relief to city users and a physical and 
psychological break from built up urban areas0 

Plazas can be used for multiple community events and are 
effective nodes for social interaction. 

Land Use 

These spaces also support street vendors and petty services, 
which eventually contribute to the local economy. 

Utilities and Public Infrastructure 

Many of the power and telephone utility infrastructure in the downtown is 
overhead. While overhead lines are easier to maintain and less 
expensive to install , they create visual clutter that obstructs views within 
the downtown and can be more susceptible to damage. Burying 
electrical and telephone lines can be cost prohibitive, but should be 
incorporated to the extent possible as redevelopment projects are 
undertaken in the downtown. 

AltA01.1Qi=l-ffhe City has completed s1gnif1cant water upgrade projects in 
the downtown area for7 , there are There hashav~tieen si~ 
water utility service upg ados in the d0wntoWA-6€tl'-REler -siRBB tAEHtafly--to 
mie +980smi,-J-1980s -mmMany businesses whk:h share old water 
services with neighboring businesses. New water distr-ibtitioo 
inlf}F0Vements-are---Aeoossar:y-t0---t1f)§rade-4i~reteGti~rt-s-ef 
the dovmtewn corridor. As business uses change and expand, it has 
become evident that utility service is a do•,olopmont constraint in the 
dowlltewA---G€1Ffie0Fc-private services will need to be upsized. 

The public utilities that require upgrades in the downtown corridor include 
water, sewer, electric power, fire suppression, natural gas and 
communication. Planning, onginoering, and implementation of new water 
aR€1---sewef--improvements in the downtowA---G€1fFid0f--SROuld be undertaken 
frem-appre-X¼matel-y-G~treet--to-Sil-ver-St-reet--aAG---from-aflpr-ox-imately 
200 Street to 1211a Street. New utility improvements in West Commercial 
Street from 2"" Street to tho intersection of Silver Street and Mountain 
Gity-Migl:lway---sA0UIEl-alS0---0e investigated . 

The Elko Redevelopment Agency Prelim inary Plan includes a list of 
priority infrastructure projects. These include an upgrade of the 
Southwest Gas Corporation gas lines, upgrade of City water pipes.the 
addition of underground electrical infrastructure in the parking corridor for 
events, and the burying of overhead utilities throughout the downtown. 

Best Practice 2.3: Promote and encourage the programming 
and placemaking of downtown. 

Place making is a term that describes the provifumatted: Tab stops: O", Left 
spaces like parks, plazas, squares, streets, and)arrascapmg,o·~, ~u~,e~ ----------~ 
enjoyment and pleasure of people. Downtowns that have an underlying 
place-making objective are successful at attracting and retaining people. 

While creating a tapestry of activities, sights, experiences and events 
these downtowns make room and offer spaces for the arts, culture, and 

Land Use page 36 



,eautiful , 
,e 

___ _______ ____________________ ______ Land Use 

entertainment. Some of these spaces include open areas for public 
gathering, plazas, amphitheaters, band stands, etc., which help to 
support and promote the hosting of events. 

Events in these spaces are typically programmed and managed to 
appeal to all ages, interests and backgrounds. A downtown that can 
successfully host events and programs is able to attract leGal 
re-sieeAtsresidents and visitors, and the needed foot traffic to support 
restaurants, retail outlets, and businesses. 

Continued efforts between th r City of Elko_ ,hOul(I wor* WttP the 
Redevelopment Agency (RDA), th0 Downtown BusinGss Association 
relevant advisory boards and committees, and any other relevant 
stakeholders and organizations to program, organize, support and/or 
promote events in the downtown area j~_Ln}QQr! 1n!_~ I 
making of the downtown. Elko should also explore opportunities for 
constructing and designating spaces for public gathering and events. 

Other elements which help to make downtowns destinations, while 
boosting their placemaking characteristic and which Elko can cont '1W tel 
explore, include holiday decorations, banners on street lights, and 
downtown business promotions. 

Objective 3: Strengthen, preserve, and promote the area 
around the City Park, City Hall, and Convention 
Center as the civic heart of the community. 

Civic facilities are major and necessary in every sizable community. They 
tend to tie the community together because of the political , administrative 
and socio-cultural functions they envelope. They typically date back to 
the beginnings of the community and are symbols and custodians of 
culture, heritage, local history, and identity. 
Most cities have a recognizable civic heart or center, which may be 
separated from, or merged with , the commercial and retail hub of the 
downtown. The civic heart may contain buildings such as a City Hall , 
courthouse, library, museum, police station, convention center, park, 
cemetery, school , theater, etfuetc. The civic heart of a city does not I 
typically see intense redevelopment but rather piecemeal developments 
which may be necessary to sustain its function and use0 - Jin many I 
communities this focuses on historic preservation and restoration . 

Elko's civic area is clearly identifiable, with most of the City's facilities 
generally straddling College Ave. and Cedar St./Country Club Dr. ; and 
between Interstate 80 on the north and Idaho St. on the south. Important 
places within this area include Elko City Hall , Elko Convention Center, 
Elko Municipal Swimming Pool , Northeastern Nevada Museum, Elko 
County Fair Grounds and Great Basin College. The civic center iR-Qf 
Elko is located very close to Interstate 80 on the east entrance to the City 
via Jennings Way. 

A second civic center is found in the downtown core, with the focus there 
being on County and federal governmental functions. The downtown is 
home to the US Postal Service main office, the historic Elko County 
Courthouse, the new-Elko County Complex, as well as a fire station and I 
a few City offices and shops. 

Land Use page 37 



Land Use - ------------------------------ - --------

Best Practice 3. 1: Enhance a civic feeling and character for this 
area by protecting green spaces, preserving 
large setbacks, and sightlines terminating at 
key structures or monuments. 

Special buildings require special sites. Civic buildings are landmarks that 
have to be celebrated in the City. They require large setbacks, open 
spaces, shade trees, seating areas, fountains and monuments around 
them. These elements help to frame and celebrate the buildings and the 
area . The public is also able to utilize the grounds in the civic area while 
enjoying the use and aesthetics of the facil ities. 

Since the City of Elko's civic area is not linked directly to the downtown 
and serves as a center on its own , it will be important that the civic area 
develops a strong identity. Some strategies for improving Elko's civic 
area include: 

Introduce gateway features - such as monuments, lamps, 
bollards, large potted plants, flags, signs, etc. 
Create a unifying theme - use paving material , bricks, plant/tree 
species, street furnishing etc. to create a theme for the entire 
area. 
Restore, preserve, and improve existing facilities, especially 
those that are of historic significance. 
Protect green spaces, open space, and preserve large setbacks 
to celebrate key structures. 
Introduce fountains , statues, monuments, flag poles, and other 
such elements which are typically used to distinguish civic areas. 

Best Practice 3.2: Locate future civic facilities in this area to 
strengthen its role as a community center. 

Historically, and before the large-scale use of the automobile, American 
settlements and towns were centered on civic uses. This core usually 
had the courthouse, school, post office, train station and a park. The 
town 's Main Street was home to most of the commercial development for 
the community. In most cases the Main Street came through the civic 
core. 

This arrangement of uses enabled residents to conduct all daily activities 
within a walking distance. The concentration of activity also brought in a 
vibrancy and critical mass to support commercial uses. 

A call le-for this type of development is going on nationwide, as 
downtowns are exploring strategies to be more walkable and pedestrian 
friendly. Concentrating complementary activities in centers and nodes 
goes a long way to promote this idea. 

Elko's civic area can be further enhanced through the consolidation of 
governmental and civic services such as the Police and Fire 
Departments, which are currently headquartered at different parts of the 
City. 

The civic area also presents a potential for the location of a new 
recreational center for the City. This facil ity will tie in with other facilities 

Land Use page 38 -

A residential neighborhood with 
center 

Neighborhoods and subdivisi 
designed to take advantage c 
space and physical features. 
will ensure that communities 



Land Use --- - ----- ---- --------- ---------- ------

like the City Park, Municipal Swimming Pool, and the Convention Cente1 
frhe Elko City Council is working with the Boys and Girls Club to also 
potentially locate a new club building in this area, which cou!G 
complement the park and proposed recreation cent-eh 

Objective 4: Consider a mixed-use pattern of development 
for the downtown area, and for major centers 
and corridors, to ensure the area's adaptability, 
longevity and overall sustainability. 

It is important to have r09ul-atiGR-s-anEl-zoning ordinances to control I 
and monitor development in communities. Zoning contributes to the 
overall feel and form that a community or city takes. Most American 
towns and cities are zoned based on the ,Euclidean form of zoning. I 
Euclidean zoning is typified by the rathef--Stfic-l-separation of land uses 
into specified geographic districts, with dimensional standards, which 
dictate development activity within each type of zone/district. Over time, 
this type of zoning has become familiar to city officials, the legal field, 
planners and design professionals. It has been acclaimed for its relative 
effectiveness, ease of implementation , and long-established legal 
precedent. HoweverHowever. this-f-Orm of devel~oninq has the 
potential to limitc the potential for the creation of mixed use activity 
areas~ especially in downtowns. For example areas zoned commercial 
in downtowns will-could ha-ve-limitee opportunities for residential 
development. 

Mixed use development zones are centers , blocks or areas within cities 
that allow for the development of a mix of residential, commercial , office 
and technical uses, a variety of building types and densities, common 
open space variations, clustered development and recreational facilities. 
They provide for a mix of uses and block types to create local , walkable 
connections between jobs, housing , and retail. 

Best Practice 4. 1: Create mixed-use zones and explore the use 
of form:-based zoning within the downtown, I 
at centers, and along major corridors. 

Elko's current zoning primarily designates the downtown as a 
commercial zone. This type of broad:-brush commercial designation for t 
downtown area limits its potential for mixed use activity. In collaboration 
with the RDA's Plan/Vision for the downtown, and to spur revitalization, 
the City CGWtl---has adopted and should consider t-he-aGel}tion-ef I 
aadopting additional zoning ordinance~ to provide for mixed use zones 
within the downtown, along major corridors, and in future neighborhood 
centers. 

Mixed-use afea-development can be accomplished tRffill§h by allowing I 
mixed use development projects, or simply allowing multiple types of 
developments to locate in the same area (i .e. an apartment building next 
to a restaurant). Mixed-use developments can be vertical (h-e~" I 
residential above retail) or horizontal (i.a~ office next to retail) . 

ELKO 

{ Commented [DMSl) : Already done. 

· ( Formatted: Font: Not Italic 

Land Use page 39 



Land Use - - -------------- ------------------- - ----

ELKO 

These mixed-use zones should not be limited to commercial uses (for 
example office and retail) , but should encourage a mix of residential and 
commercial units as well. This would result in a downtown that is active 
around the clock, and a critical mass of people to support downtown 
activity. 

Mixing uses is more adaptable and a good long-term choice for 
development. Mixed-use development may benefit communities in the 
following ways: 

Spurs revitalization 
Encourages high quality design by providing both greater 
flexibility and more control 
Preserves and enhances traditional and historic centers 
Promotes a small town style mix of retail , restaurants, offices, 
civic uses and multi-family housing 
Provides more housing opportunities and choices 
Promotes pedestrian and bicycle travel 
Reduces auto dependency, roadway congestion, air pollution by 
co-locating multiple destinations 
Promotes a sense of community 
Encourages economic investment 
Promotes efficient use of land and infrastructure 
Guides development toward established areas, protecting 
outlying open space, rural lands and environmentally sensitive 
resources 
Increases revenues 

Communities create mixed-use developments for a number of reasons 
including revitalization and economic development; a means to providing 
multiple housing and as an opportunity to be transit ready. 

The City could consider the development of two new mixed-use zoning 
districts: 

One addressing downtown redevelopment that allows for 
taller, more intense mixed-use developments (2-4 stories), 
and 
Another that allows for more neighborhood scale and 
intensity developments (1-2 stories). 

Eliminating inappropriate industrial zoning in the heart of the downtown 
would benefit redevelopment and revitalization of the area as well. 

Best Practice 4.2: CaRsider the devel8f}meRt af a Rew er 
updated multi family zeRiRg district ta 
replace the use af caRditiaRal use pemms 
for higher densit-y-reside11-tia/-develepmem-iR 
zoning c./assifiGatiGRS, 

This would allow for those parcels which are designated Higher Density 
resieential-in-tl=!e-bantl Use-maf}-te be zoned for Higher Density -1:1se 
streamliniflg-t-l=le-f)r-ece-s&c 

Land Use page 40 



______________________________ ______ Land Use 

Objective 5: Encourage development that strengthens the 
core of the City, 1 i , ._ new I 
annexations are logical and orderly, and dq 
not promote sprawl. 

Over time, cities l grow both in population and geographic area . In I 
many communities property tax is one of a city's primary revenue 
streams, and therefore, outward growth and expansion is critical to 
sustaining the city in the long term . Elko is no different, and throughout 
the ity there is a general desire to see new development and growth I 
occur. 

There are several opportunities for infill development within the City's 
existing municipal boundaries and islands of unincorporated land that 
could ultimately be annexed. However, development will also occur in 
the areas on the edge of Elko, and annexation of these areas will be in 
the best interest for the ity and the residents of these areas. 

Best Practice 5. 1: Consider the impact of proposed 
development on, and capacity of, existing 
public infrastructure (water, sewer, 
roadways, etc.) prior to annexation and 
approval. 

The key to successful growth and annexation for any city is to balance 
new development with the city's ability to provide services to the area. 
Capital construction and the ongoing maintenance of infrastructure is 
one of a city's largest expenses. In many cases, a developer will take 
responsibility for many of the capital costs in installing new roads , storm 
drains, water and other utilities. However, the capital cost is only a 
portion of the total cost of providing service to these areas, and long-term 
maintenance can be significant. 

The City of Elko should carefully examine the impact and costs of 
development (capital and ongoing) and determine whether it is in the 
best interest of the City to annex at a particular time. Delaying 
annexation may mean that developments are not built to Elko City 
standards, but rather l:.ifl€1eF-!Q_the County's standards. To avoid this , th~ 
City should utilize zoning and other regulatory tools to direct 
development to the areas that can most easily be served by City 
infrastructure..fu:st. 

When considering potential annexation of properties into the City, the 
following and other relevant factors should be examined: 

ELKO 

Adherence to the 11 requirements 11 Nevada 
Revised Statutes 
Ability to provide or extend major municipal services to the area 
while maintaining adequate services to current residents . Such 
services may include, police, public safety services, parks and 
recreation, streets, storm water management, building safety, 
planning and zoning, code enforcement and other basic 
services. 

Land Use page 41 

t · , ~ · · , ' · , ·, ' I ·: 



______________________________________ Land Use 

ELKO 

Ability fef-of the City to protect undeveloped areas from 
premature or low-density development which limits logical growth 
and efficient provision of services. 
Ability to require and manage quality urban development and 
land uses in a manner consistent with the recommendations of 
the City's Master Plan. 
Ability to improve the valuation of the community at-large without 
creating a financial burden upon current residents. 
Ability to ensure quality development consistent with the existing 
or desired character of the City. 
Ability to help further any identified goals, objectives and best 
practices of the City (e.g. provide a broad range of housing 
options) 

The City can review and update , u n , ~Jy 
C to require large developments to provide an analysis of 
the impact their project will have on all public services, facil ities, and 
infrastructure (police, fire, roads, parks, water, sewer, storm drainage, 
emergency response, etc.) The City currently allows for planned unit 
developments (PUDs) and this PUD ordinance could be clarified to 
require that large, new developments provide all services needed to 
meet the demands of its residents, or pay a fee in lieu to allow the City to 
provide the services economically. 

The City of Elko does not currently charge impact fees, but does charge 
connection fees for water and sewer. Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS 
278B.010- 330) allow cities to collect impact fees for new developments. 
The statute defines impact fees as "a charge imposed by a 
local government on new development to finance the costs of a capital 
improvement or facility expansion necessitated by and attributable to the 
new development." 

Impact fees may be collected in the State of Nevada for drainage, fire 
station, park, police station, sanitary sewer, storm sewer, street, and 
water projects. Impact fees collected are deposited in an interest-bearing 
account, and used to repay a bond, note, or other obligation issued on 
behalf of the local government to finance the capital improvements. 

Before imposing an impact fee , the City Council must establish by 
resolution a capital improvements advisory committee. The City may 
designate the planning commission to serve as the capital improvements 
advisory committee under certain conditions. 

The City and the new Capital Improvements Advisory Committee must 
review the land use assumptions (projections of changes in land uses, 
densities, intensities and population for a specified service area over a 
period of at least 10 years) and determine whether they are in 
conformance with the master plan of the local government. The City 
must also develop a capital improvements plan. 

Additionally, NRS 278B.260 states I JE, unent r i that: 

The local government shall, upon the request of an 
owner of real property for which an impact fee has been 
collected, refund the impact fee and any interest and 

Land Use page 42 



Land Use ------------------------------- -------

income earned on the impact fee by the local 
government, if: 

(a) After collecting the fee the local government did 
not begin construction of the capital improvement or 
facility expansion for which the fee was collected within 5 
years after collecting the fee ; or 

(b) The fee, or any portion thereof, was not spent for 
the purpose for which it was collected within 10 years 
after the date on which it was collected 

Establishing a capital improvements plan and the Capital Improvements 
Advisory Committee, will take time and resources. The City 0f Elko will I 
need to determine 1 it becomes appropriate and 
necessary to start collecting impact fees . There are areas around Elko 
facing development pressure by very small subdivision projects. 
Providing services to these small subdivisions will in many cases require 
large-scale infrastructure projects, but the cost of such capital 
improvement projects cannot be fairly absorbed by these small 
subdivisions. An impact fee system has the potential to help address 
these challenges. 

Resistance to impact fees typically comes from those being faced with 
fee payments, suggesting that it is unfair for a new development to pay 
the cost of services that have been provided at no charge to 
developments by the City in the past. A counter argument is that it is 
unfair for the rest of the residents of the City to subsidize the impacts of 
new development. Fairness is a key term in evaluating and imposing 
impact fees , and the US Supreme Court has ruled that impact fees must 
demonstrate a fair nexus (link or connection) between the fee and the 
impacts created by the new development. 

Best Practice 5.2: Utilize zoning and other regulatory tools to 
direct growth to areas that can most easily 
be served by infrastructure first. 

Zoning can be an effective tool to steer development to the areas where 
a City can most efficiently and economically serve new development to 
minimize the need to collect impact fees or for the other residents of the 
City to subsidize new development through their tax contributions. 

The City has an AG zone__::_, er vept lew densitywhich is a low-density I 
zoning classification, ::_for areas that are currently unrealistic unlikely to 
or less desirable for development. This zone allows for 
limited development at rural densities. However, while- areas more easil 
served by infrastructure WGtllElshould be zoned for traditional residential 
development densities. 

Another tool to direct growth to desirable areas is the use of flexible I 
zoning or density bonuses. With these tools, the City could apply zoning 
to areas that are determined desirable for near-term development that 
offers options on density, lot size, or setbacks to allow developers to 
maximize their investments. A base density could be established, but if 
the developer meets certain criteria (open space set asides, park 

ELKO 
Land Use page 43 



Land Use ----------------------------------------

dedication, etc.) I., ,, th c1 JQ! could be granted increases in the 
allowed development density. 

Another flexible zoning tool is to eliminate minimum lot sizes, in favor of 
maximum overall development density. This allows the developer to 
create a variety of lot and home sizes, to match current market demand, 
while still maintaining an overall development density established by the 
City. 

Similarly, development can be directed away from areas less suitable for 
near-term development through preservation zones such as the existing 
agricultural (AG) zone. Land with steep slopes, floodplains, fault lines, 
and areas prone to land sliding can be protected by sensitive lands 
overlay zones. These overlay zones minimize risk of the loss of life or 
property from a natural hazard , and can protect unique environments. 

Best Practice 5.3: Coordinate planning efforts with Elko County 
and implement an agreement for the 
consistent, orderly development within the 
fringe areas of the City. 

The City of Elko must balance the costs imposed by regulations with the 
value of land within and surrounding the City, and to this end a 
communication agreement has been established between the City and 
Elko County. 

If development standards and regulations are too onerous or restrictive 
within the City, a developer may choose to purchase property within the 
unincorporated areas near or adjacent to the City. Development within 
the County will develop under the standards in the Elko County Code. 
This becomes a challenge when the residents of the development begin 
demanding City services, or to be annexed by the L and the 
development does not meet City standards. Examples include road 
cross-sections and water, sanitary sewer, and storm drainage systems. 

The City of Elko SflGWG-has developed a proposed annexation map that 
identifies areas of unincorporated Elko County having annexation 
poten]Jal Th& city should consider furthe- refinement of the map 
delineatinq art:as that fall into categories similar to the following: 

Near-term Annexation Area - Areas in which the City should proceed 
w~R-Hear term to clarify service boundaries, improve logical jurisdiction 
boundaries or serve logical expansion &f-.for near:term growth. 

Priority Annexation Area - Areas that are projected for urban or 
suburban density development consistent with development patterns in 
Elko. In some cases, this development may already exist. If these areas 
are to develop or redevelop in urban or suburban patterns, they -should 
first be annexed. 

OthQr Annexation Areas Annexation by Petition Area -Afeas--that 
pFOOomiAaAtly-iAGM!e-lon§-establi-shed-resiaential-Ae½}-1-ll}emoods-wl=»GA 
should only be annexed as a result of voluntary petition by the 
neighborhood. In many cases r.8,esidents of these neighborhoods often 

Land Use page 44 

I 
--- ---



identify with Elko and function as members of the Elko Community. 
However, many of these areas were not developed with infrastructure 
and utilities that meet modern City standards. These areas should be 
carefully evaluated for the financial impact of needed infrastructure 
maintenance and improvements and the impact to the citizens of greater 
Elko. If annexed , it is anticipated that development agreements and other 
tools may be necessary to adequately address identified infrastructure 
limitations where they exist. 

Conservation Area - These are areas where annexation is not 
anticipated . They are not projected to develop in suburban and urban 
development patterns until well in the future as infrastructure and utilities 
are available. These areas are generally isolated from necessary 
services and should not be encouraged to develop in suburban or urban 
patterns as remote islands served by temporary or rural utility 
improvements. As utilities are made available to these areas, the City 
should reevaluate annexation. 

,Elko Countv(Citv of Elko Boundary Planning Area -- It is essential for th~ 
City and County to cooperatively carry out the long-term vision and 
ongoing planning for unincorporated land within the Elko planning area. 
Planning and development management in the Elko County/City of Elko 
Boundary Planning Area should occur in accordance with the 
recommendations of the City of Elko Master Plan , including land use, 
subarea planning recommendations, and transportation and 
infrastructure recommendations. The following implementation 
recommendations arB-Feeommeooed-tewould help ensure proper 
planning in the unincorporated area~ until such time tJ::lat-.~annexation 
occuFs tothey are cons cj~r~f! f_) p_oss1ble aAne ann ~ 3 ion e,J into the 
City of Elko: 

Adopt an intergovernmental agreement between the City of 
Elko and Elko County to manage land use and development 
decisions in the unincorporated land around Elko. The 
agreement and planning activities should ensure such areas 
are not prematurely developed with rural low density uses 
before logical annexation and higher intensity development 
can occur in the City of Elko. 

Adopt an intergovernmental agreement between the City of 
Elko and Elko County to require any development in the 
unincorporated area surrounding Elko to construct urban 
infrastructure (e.g ., streets with curb and gutter, sidewalks, 
street lighting , storm water management and municipal 
water and sanitary sewer utilities to city standards), and 
include local and collector street connectivity between 
development areas. 

Objective 6: Encourage multiple scales of commercial 
development to serve the needs of the region, 
the community, and that of individual 
neighborhoods. 

ELKO 

· [ Formatted : Font: Italic 

Land Use page 45 



Land Use ----------------------------------------

Neighborhood commercial units 

ELKO 

Residents of Elko have a variety of needs for commercial areas. Some 
are looking to make major shopping trips for a variety of goods, while 
others simply need a quick convenience item, and still others are looking 
for a recreational experience. Providing a variety of shopping 
opportunities throughout the City is essential to the long-term success of 
the community, and its role as the commercial hub for the County. -The 
City should plan for and encourage a variety of commercial districts 
within its boundaries, while balancing the impact of the new development 
on existing commercial areas. 

Best Practice 6. 1: Encourage and promote the development of 
complete neighborhoods, including 
neighborhood-oriented commercial. 

The neighborhood concept is a type of development that enhances the 
self-sufficiency of residential neighborhoods within a city_,GF-j1;1risaiai0fl, 
by providing residents and visitors with multiple living choices. The 
neighborhoods will have an ideal density within them to support a mix of 
activities and land uses. Multiple residential:-type uses will be available 
to accommodate people of different income levels. These neighborhoods 
also support multiple transportation modes, while encouraging walking 
and bicycling for short daily trips. Park strips are usually present in these 
neighborhoods to serve as a buffer between the pedestrian and the 
street. These neighborhoods will also contain a range of supportive 
commercial, institutional and public facilities and will also be stable, 
attractive and safe. 

Stable neighborhoods have people aging in place and offer multiple 
choices for life-cycle housing. People are able to embrace the 
communities and find activities and services which appeal to them at all 
stages of life. These neighborhoods also become attractive to new 
residents who desire to benefit from the opportunities and services 
available. The neighborhood concept also promotes safety and security 
with the benefits of familiarity generated by a close-knit community. 

Neighborhoods are primarily residential in nature with an increase in 
density and mixed activity towards the core or neighborhood center. 

While Elko strives to develop high quality neighborhoods within new 
subdivisions, it will be important and necessary that certain codes and 
guidelines are put in place to prevent the construction of homes that 
destroy the fabric of the neighborhoods. 

Neighborhood Centers 

The neighborhood centers are typically focused on a community space, 
such as a school or community center, higher density housing, and or 
neighborhood-scaled commercial space. The centers are intended to 
bring elementary schools, local parks, and other civic amenities within 
walking distance of the vast majority of residents. The centers may abut 
minor arterials and collectors to create easy access and high visibility for 
commercial business, where available; l:lewevei:however, they are not 
intended to straddle major intersections. 

Land Use page 46 



Land Use ----- ----- -------------------------- - ---------

Sir"!Q'8 
Family 
Homes 

Single 
Family 
Homes 

Single 
Family 
Homes 

A diagram and rendering of a typical neighborhood center, which is home to a variety of regular 
destinations (church, school , park, library, shopping, etc.) 

ELKO 
Land Use page 47 



Land Use - - --- --- ----------------------------

ELKO 

The diagram above shows a conceptua l layout of a series of neighborhood 
centers. Each center is connected to other centers by a street network. Green 
spaces are also well distributed within the neighborhoods. The linked centers 
strategically J30SffieASposition the City for a future transit system 

Table 4 
Primary Trade Area Guidelines 

NEIGHBORHOOD CENTERS 
Minimum Population Service Radius Driving Time Radius 
Support Required 

3,000-40,000 1.5 miles 5-10 minutes 

Source: Urban Land Institute, ShOQQing Center Develor;1ment Handbook, 
3rd ed. 

Table 5 
Characteristics of Shopping Centers 

NEIGHBORHOOD CENTERS 
Leading Tenant Typical Gross General Range Site Area 

Leasable Area in Gross (acres) 
(SF) Leasable Area 

Grocery Store 50,000 
30,000 - 3 - 10 
100,000 

Source: Urban Land Institute, ShOQQing Center Develor;1ment Handbook, 
3rd ed. 

Land Use page 48 



------------------------------- -------

Commercial land uses are one component of a neighborhood center. Not 
all centers will contain commercial land uses; rather. -afle-lhey may be I 
exclusively civic and community facility oriented . For those that do 
contain commercial activities, the uses may include: grocery stores, 
bakeries, barber shops, beauty shops, pharmacies, florists , day care 
centers, dry cleaners, movie rentals, coffee shops, cafes, etc. 

The character of residential housing surrounding and within the core of a 
neighborhood center is that of a close-knit, mixed-density community. 
Residents identify themselves with a particular neighborhood, and have 
close access to the community services located near the core service 
areas (~ schools, churches, parks, neighborhood commercial). 
Housing types may include small multi-family dwellings, duplexes 
townhouses, row homes, and smaller single-family homes. 

It is important to note that even though these neighborhoods are 
intended to be self-sufficient, they will be part of a larger, hierarchical 
system/network of centers which will typically have a downtown core as 
its centerpiece. The composition and mix of a typical center will vary by 
neighborhood and will be influenced and fashioned by local factors. 

The Neighborhood Concept in Elko 

The neighborhood concept can be used as a component for future 
development of the City. Elko has a number of potential sites for new 
subdivisions (especially in the Northwest, North Central, and Southwest 
neighborhoods) and the neighborhood concept of development can be 
introduced in these new subdivisions. This will bring community services 
or neighborhood-scale commercial activities closer to residents and 
reduce/eliminate the need for trips to downtown Elko for simple everyday 
needs. 

Both older and recently established neighborhoods and subdivisions can 
embrace the neighborhood concept by introducing community services 
that may create centers on vacant and underutilized lots or other 
potential and feasible areas that the community may identify. Reviewing 
zoning and development regulations to allow for neighborhood-oriented 
commercial in appropriate locations, as well as encouraging the 
clustering of neighborhood commercial with parks, churches, and 
schools can reinforce the development of complete neighborhoods. 

Downtown Elko will still maintain its role as the commercial and cultural 
core of the City. The creation of neighborhood centers will not 
jeopardize the downtown's role, but rather complement it with an entirely 
different type of destination and role. The downtown will serve as a focal 
point of the City and the region at large, while the commercial 
components of neighborhood centers will provide convenient access to 
basic needs for residents (~ day care, dry cleaning , convenience 
grocery, coffee shops, etc.) 

Potential locations for future neighborhood commercial include areas 
around intersections of existing and planned roadways. Examples 
include areas along the Lamoille Highway, 5th Street, East and West 
Jennings Way and along the future Errecart Drive or Cattle Drive 
roadways. 

Land Use 

ELKO 
Land Use page 49 

· . , - . l ' I 



Land Use ----------------------------------------

ELKO 

Best Practice 6.2: Support the development of community 
commercial centers in locations that serve 
the broader Elko community. 

Elko has experienced most of its commercial development in the 
downtown core and along major transportation routes. The most active 
commercial area is along the Mountain City Highway. The City must 
balance the real benefits of this new commercial development with its 
impact on the downtown area, and work to eASl#e-promote the success 
of all commercial centers are successful. 

The City has zoned a considerable amount of land along these corridors 
for future commercial development, and thls---these existing zoned area~ 
is-are expected to be sufficient to meet the reasonably foreseeable future 

Commercial businesses are most successful when they are clustered 
together in nodes or districts, where shoppers can visit a number of 
stores in a single visit. The City should work to preserve the strength of 
these clusters, rather than allowing new commercial development to 
continue to stretch outward along major corridors. Linear commercial 
districts often feel like strip malls and loose their attractiveness to 
shoppers in favor of commercial centers with a critical mass of activity. 

Three community commercial centers have been identified for the City of 
Elko: 

1. Historic Downtown 

This center should continue to be ~m_ important commercial 
center for Elko and the surrounding region . The original center of 
Elko, the downtown area, is envisioned to be a revitalized destination 
for housing, boutique shopping , office , dining , and entertainment and 
culture . Historic preservation and upgrading of infrastructure and 
streetscape are key concerns for this area. 

/\ windshield survey of the downtown area identified a There are a 
number of vacant lots and buildings in this area, and the potential for 
infill and greater utilization of the downtown. 

2. Mountain City Highway Commercial Center 

This area, with easy freeway access, has become the location for big 
box shopping and new chain developments. These businesses bring 
greater variety to Elko and County residents, and offer employment 
opportunities. Elko is expected to see most of its future residential 
development occurring in the northwest and north central 
neighborhoods, and this area serves those areas well . 

There are 270.87 acres of commercial land currently zoned in this 
area. Roughly ~Li_percent of that has been developed, leaving 
approximately 4-2Q.-12._acres still open for future commercial 

. This kind of commercial center has been tremendously 
successful over the past 30 years and it is likely that it will continue 
to be a draw for Elko County residents far beyond the City's 
municipal boundaries. 

Land Use page 50 



---- - - - - ---------- ------------- - --- - Land Use 

3. Jennings Way/ Idaho Street Commercial Center 

This freeway interchange area is the City's eastern gateway, and 
many visitors' first view of Elko. Most highway commercial 
development has occurred at the Mountain City Highway exit to the 
West, but there is potential for additional commercial development in 
this area. 

The character of this center will be hotels and automobile oriented 
businesses and service travelers on 
Interstate 80, as well as the Elko community. Several new hotels 
have been bui lt at this gateway, as it is a convenient location off the 
freeway interchange. Typical businesses for this area may also 
include gas stations, restaurants, and some limited office and retail. 

There are ~e202. 7 acres of commercial land currently zoned in 
this area. Roughly e&--90 percent of that has been developed, leaving 
approximately &a-~acres still open for future commercial 
development. 

4. Hospital/Errecart Drive Commercial Center 

The area around the hospital and the proposed Errecart Drive 
connection is an area of potential commercial development. 
Commercial development in this area may include restaurants and 
services for nearby employees, professional offices building~ off net 
or adjacent to the hospital , medical laboratories, etc. 

There are ~252 acres of Gemrnefeial-land zoned commercial 1 
currently Rme€1-in this area. Roughly 4-9---28 percent of that has bee 
developed, leaving approximately ~ 179 acres still open for future 
commercial development. 

The diagram below illustrates the commercially zoned areas included 
in the acreage totals above. 

ELKO 
Land Use page 51 



______________________________________ Land Use 

ELKO 

Table 6 
Primary Trade Area Guidelines 

COMMUNITY CENTERS 
Minimum Population Service Radius Driving Time Radius 
Support Required 

40,000-150,000 3-5 miles 10-20 minutes 
Source: Urban Land Institute, Shor2r2ing Center Develor2ment Handbook, 
3rd ed. 

Table 7 
Characteristics of Shopping Centers 

COMMUNITY CENTERS 
Leading Tenant Typical Gross General Range Site Area 

Leasable Area in Gross (Acres) 
(SF) Leasable Area 

(SF) 
Varies based on 10- 30 
type: power, town, 

150,000 
100,000 -

lifestyle, outlet, off- 450,000 
price centers 
Source: Urban Land Institute, Shor2r2ing Center Develor2ment Handbook, 
3rd ed. 

Objective 7: Promote high quality and visually appealing 
industrial uses, where appropriate, to ensure 
economic sustainability1 as well as strengthen 
the community's image. 

Elko, like many other communities, has the opportunity to provide for 
industrial f,Urpose&-uses on the edges of the City. These areas are 
critica l to provide jobs and revenue into the Elko economy. Additional 
industrial acreage, and sufficient infrastructure is necessary to provide 
space for new employers . 

A related issue is the appearance of industrial areas, specifically from 
Interstate 80. These areas are often vi sitors first impression of Elko 
as they arrive by freeway and should represent Elko as a clean, well
maintained City. 

Best Practice 7. 1: Identify appropriate locations for additional 
industrial property to support the Elko 
economy and provide jobs for residents. 

The amount of land needed n Elko for employment, business, research 
and development centers will vary greatly depending on the type of 
development planned, as well as the community's competitiveness with 
its economic infrastructure and its ability to utilize rail and highway for 
distribution purposes. In general , communities plan for 50 to 70 square 

Land Use page 52 



Land Use --------------------------------------

feet of industrial building space per household . If such calcu lation holds 
true in Elko, the following industrial areas would be needed in order to 
satisfy the demands of a growing population. 

Table 8 
Industrial Land for Projected Population 

Households Population 50 SF of Industry 70 SF of Industry 
per Household per Household 

5,000 13,300 250,000 5.7 acres 350,000 8 acres 
7,500 19,950 375,000 8.6 acres 525,000 12 acres 
10,000 26,600 500,000 11 .5 acres 700,000 16 acres 
Source: US Census, based on a household size of 2.66 . 

Lewis Young Robertson & Burningham, 2008 

Industrial productions typically require large amounts of land for safety, 
security, buffering , and operations. The above figures refer to the 
production areas of an industrial operation , and actual area required will 
likely exceed this to accommodate for parking, offices, setbacks, and 
storage areas. 

New industrial land should be located in close proximity to designated 
truck routes and infrastructure appropriate to serve the land use. 

The Elko future land use plan map identifies additional industrial acreage 
at the eastern and western edges of town, capi talizing on the interstate, 
Union Pacific rail line, and the airport. 

Best Practice 7.2: Cen5i-f.le,:..~adeptiRg-industrial and 
commercial design guidelines to maintain 
Elka 's appearance at primary City gateways. 

Design guidelines for industrial properties can be very simple and can 
avoid adding significant expense to a project. Minimum landscaping 
requirements , setbacks and standards for outside storage can have a 
dramatic impact on the appearance of industrial areas. Elko should 
review its industrial zoning ordinance to incorporate minimum standards 
for site plans and, landscaping. I 

More regular maintenance of outdoor storage areas and screening of I 
storage areas with landscaping can have a positive impact. The City 
may waflt-te..consider reducing the area allowed for outdoor storage. 

Objective 8: Ensure that new developments do not negatively 
impact County-wide natural systems, and 
public/federal lands, such as waterways, wetlands, 
drainages, floodplains etc., or pose a danger to 
human life. 

The Elko area is home to a variety of plants and animals and contains 
some unique natural resources such as the Humboldt River and the Ho~ 
Hole thermal pools. Land use regulation should address these 
resources and prevent significant adverse impacts to the extent 
reasonable . 

ELKO 
Land Use page 53 



___________ __________ ___________ ________ Land Use 

ELKO 

Similarly, there are a variety of natural hazards ( f o, l that 
have the potential to impact human health, safety and welfare, and the 
City should restrict development in areas where there is a potential risk 
of loss of life or property. ATLAS Map 10 illustrates delineated FEMA 
flood zones. 

Best Practice 8. 1: Promote a pattern of zoning and 
development along the Humboldt River that 
is sensitive to and compatible with the 
natural riparian habitat and character of this 
area. 

The Humboldt River, an oasis in the desert, should be carefully protected 
to ensure this resource remains intact and viable for future generations. 
Development pressure along the river has come in the form of industrial 
development taking advantage of the relocated Union Pacific rail line, 
and new residential development. 

To the extent , .. 1t t, or , the City should limit new 1 

t development directly adjacent to the river 
corridor to minimize the risk of contamination or degradation . Low
density land uses, dedicated open space, or protection in the form of a 
sensitive lands overlay zone are recommended. 

Where development does occur near the river it should be of densities 
and intensities that are low enough to not put irresponsible pressure on 
this riparian corridor. When industrial land abuts the river corridor, a 
significant setback should be required to 
risk of contamination. Whenever possible, no new _ii 01 11 
01 r development should be permitted within the floodplain. 

This river corridor is the prime location for future recreational facilities, 
and new trails, fishing, picnicking, wildlife watchingwatchinq, 

and other active recreational activities should be encouraged. 

Best Practice 8.2: Identify areas inappropriate for new 
development, and protect them through 
zoning, conservation easements, or other 
regulatory tools. 

There may be are some areas parts of the City and surrounding areas 
that are not suitable 3f•r>mw~te for development. They may have very 
steep slopes, fall within a floodplain , or be located in other hazardous 
area~. They may also be critical habitat areas. In a desert enviroflffien-t, 
dQisruption of key habitat areas can have widespread effects, and 
should be avoided. 

There are a number of tools available to a city and to private landowners 
to protect sensitive areas. A sensitive lands overlay zone is a common 
tool and the ordinance language can range from being very prescriptive 
to a few basic standards. Site plans can be required to show the 
location of vegetation, slopes, floodplains , and unique topographic 
features and an environmental review can be part of the standard plat 
review process. 

Land Use page 54 



--------------------- --------------- Land Use 

Aoomoof-Of4oels-and- programs c. -e d-Vailable- to help landowf\ers 
feGeive -the1Hrwestment potential without c1Gtualiy -developing thelf 
property. Conservation easements will protect land in perpetuity, but ca 
be written in such a way to allow for hm,ted developmen• The reduced 
development potential of- the- prof)erty equates to- s1qrnf1Gant l.3x benefits 
l<+ the-fandowner. 

r-eeeives-mar-ket-value-fef-U~e-<:levelof)meflt-fi§flt&---At--t-he--same-time 
aootl:ler landowner-awJies-tM-aEk#tienal--f}UfGl:l-ased--0e-velopment-fi§hls 
to his or her project to achieve dovelepment densities greatef...#la.f\ 
typically allowed by zoning . 

+GR-f>rogram-s--ean--be-eem13liGated-to-set-uf)-afld-aElminist-eF;--0ut--Gan 
~tectin-g the-Elev-elef)mern-'-'..seneing" ar-eas, 
while stimulating development in designated "receiving" areas. 

ELKO 

[ Formatted : Tab stops: Not at O" 

Land Use page 55 



Exhiblt._ D _ _ 

------------------- - - - - ---- - - - - ---- -- Transportation 

ELKO MASTER PLAN -
TRANSPORTATION 

GOALS AND OBJECTIVES 

Goal: Provide a comprehensive transportation system that 
facilitates the safe, efficient movement of people, goods, 
and services and contributes to the City's quality of life. 

Objective 1: Provide a balanced transportation system that 
accommodates vehicles, bicycles , and pedestrians , while being 
sensitive to , and supporting the adjacent land uses . 

Objective 2: Provide a backbone of arterial roadways to 
emphasize regional vehicle travel and provide adequate capacity 
to move large traffic volumes, including truck traffic, safely and 
efficiently. 

Objective 3: Explore transit options consistent with demand and 
available resources . 

Objective 4: Promote opportunities to use major transportation 
corridors to beautify the City, particularly at major entry points . 

Objective 5: Implement and maintain a pavement management 
system and curb, gutter, and sidewalk construction/maintenance 
program to protect the investment in existing roads. 

Objective 6: Coordinate with other local and regional 
jurisdictions to enhance transportation services/facilities for the 
region . 

EXISTING CONDITIONS 

The City of Elko depends heavily on t!IB-motor vehicle§ to satisfy 
transportation needs. Consequently, the City's system of streets and 
highways is of paramount importance in terms of moving goods, 
services, visitors, and residents throughout the City safely, effici ently, 
and economically. 

Elko is also strongly influenced by a network of local streets and 
roadways . Presently, approximately 90% of the total transportation 
system is comprised of local streets and roadways. As a result of recent 
growth and expansion , more emphasis has been placed on the local 
street system to meet increased demands for local transportation 
services and needs. 

Elka's streets are also influenced by the federal and state highway 
system. Elko is located on the Interstate 80 (1-80) corridor, which 
provides linkages to major urban centers to the west and east, including 

IMPLEMENTATION 

All/IS 
APPENDIX 

Idaho Street alive at Night 

Transportation page 1 



------------------------------------ - Transportation 

Fifth Street, Elko 

Reno and Salt Lake City. Elko is located approximately 50 miles west of 
U.S. Highway 93, a north-south route that provides connections to Twin 
Falls, Idaho and Interstate 84 to the north , and Las Vegas to the south. 

A number of state routes provide access to outlying rural and 
recreational areas and suburban growth nodes such as Spring Creek. 
State Route 225 follows a northerly route through private and public BLM 
lands, and provides connection to the Boise, Idaho area and Interstate 
84. 

As the City of Elko continues to experience growth , and as population 
and the number of motor vehicles in use expand within the region , 
increased burdens will be placed on the transportation network. With 
increased use and demand, additions and modifications to the system 
will be necessary to create a modern and more efficient transportation 
network that will effectively serve the residents of the City, the business 
community, and the traveling public. Transportation planning can help 
fulfill such an objective by identifying key issues and needs, and by 
advancing and programming those needs from concept to 
implementation and construction . 

Partner Entities 

NDOT and FHWA: The Nevada Department of Transportation (NDOT) 
and Federal Highway Admin istration (FHWA) are responsible for the 
maintenance and improvement of 1-80. NDOT has jurisdiction over the 
state highway system including State Routes (SR) 225 and 227. NDOT 
is also responsible for the coordination of federal and state funding for 
roadway improvements throughout the Elko planning area. 

Elko County RTC: The Elko County Regional Transportation 
Commission (RTC), prepares and approves budgets for the regional 
street and highway fund, plans short-range and regional plans for 
transportation, and may dispense federal highway funds . The 
Commission consists of three members: two from the County at large 
and one from the City of Elko. The RTC meetings are held quarterly and 
open to the public. 

Elko County School District: The Elko County School District provides 
bus service for students who live more than two miles (measured by air 
distance, not driving distance) from their school. 

Metropolitan Planning Organization Status 

The Federal-Aid Highway Act of 1962 created the federal requirement for 
urban transportation planning largely in response to the construction of 
the Interstate Highway System and the planning of routes through and 
around urban areas. This Act required states to use a portion of federal 
construction funds for the planning of transportation projects in urbanized 
areas of 50,000 or more in population. The U.S. Census Bureau defines 
an urban area as: "Core census block groups or blocks that have a 
population density of at least 1,000 people per square mile and 
surrounding census blocks that have an overall density of at least 500 
people per square mile." 

Transportation page 2 



---------------------------- ------ --- Transportation 

The formation of Metropolitan Planning Organizations (MPOs) came with 
the Federal Highway Act of 1973. This Act was, in part, a response to 
concerns over environmental and social issues in transportation 
planning, and established MPOs as the policy bodies for metropolitan 
transportation planning . The Federal Highway Act of 1973 was followed 
by three other acts of Congress that shaped the role of MPOs today: the 
lntermodal Surface Transportation Efficiency Act of 1991 (ISTEA), the 
Transportation Equity Act for the 21st Century (TEA-21 ), and the Safe, 
Accountable, Flexible, Efficient Transportation Equity Act: A Legacy for 
Users (SAFETEA-LU). 

The outcome of each successive Act set forth the national policy that 
MPOs are responsible for: 

Development of a metropolitan transportation plan 
and a transportation improvement program (TIP) 
Encourage and promote the safe and efficient 
development, management, and operation of 
surface transportation systems to serve the mobility 
needs of people and freight; including accessible 
pedestrian walkways and bicycle transportation 
facilities. 
Foster economic growth and development, while 
minimizing transportation-related fuel consumption 
and air pollution. 
Strive to continually develop and improve the overall 
metropolitan transportation planning process. 

According to the 2010 Census, the City of Elko had a population of 
18,297 while Elko County had a population of 48,818. The population 
density within Elko County does not meet the definition of an urbanized 
area. The average population density for the City of Elko is 
approximately 1,250 people per square mile, while the average 
population density for the remainder of Elko County is 2 people per 
square mile. Spring Creek, which is the area with largest population in 
close proximity to the City of Elko, has a population density of 
approximately 200 people per square mile. 

Roadway Network 

The City of Elke's existing roadway network consists of approximately 
100 miles of mostly improved streets and highways. Jurisdictional 
authority and responsibility of the transportation network lie with federal , 
state, and local agencies including the Federal Highway Administration 
(FHWA), Nevada Department of Transportation (NDOT), the County of 
Elko, and the City of Elko. 

The County of Elko and the City of Elko are responsible for the 
maintenance and improvement of local roadways within the Elko 
planning area, with the County having authority of areas outside of the 
City of Elko boundaries, and the City having authority of areas within the 
City of Elko boundaries. 

ELKO 
Transportation page 3 



------------------------------------- Transportation 

Major Arterial 

ELKO 

Roadway Classifications 

Roadways within a transportation network are classified based on the 
characteristics and function of the facility. Roadways are generally 
classified as primary and secondary facilities . Primary facilities 
commonly include freeways and roadways that are part of the federal or 
state highway system. Secondary facilities include roadways that are 
managed by local jurisdictions, and typically include arterials , collectors 
and local or residential streets. 

The ATLAS Map 11 . Roadway Classification Map shows the 
classifications of the roadways included in the Elko circulation system. 
The definition of each roadway classification category is described as 
follows : 

Interstate 

Interstate highways are high capacity facilities that are intended to 
accommodate regional traffic, traffic across un-urbanized areas, and 
traffic with origins and destinations in widely separated communities , 
areas, and regions . 

Interstates include all components of interstate highways including 
divided roadway sections and interchanges . Full control of access is 
required , and interchanges with local arterials must be spaced at 
appropriate intervals to safely serve the community and outlying areas. 

Right-of-Way Width : +100 feet or more 
4 lanes or more Typical Travel Lanes: 

NDOT Facilities 

NDOT's classification system includes Interstate Highways, Principal 
Arterials, Minor Arterials , Rural Major Collectors, and Urban or Rural 
Minor Collectors. 

NDOT facilities in the City of Elko are classified as follows : 

• SR 225 (Mountain City Highway): North of Idaho Street -
NDOT Minor Arterial 

Major Arterial 

SR 225 (Mountain City Highway/Idaho Street): 1-80 to 5th 
Street: NDOT Principal Arterial 
SR 227 (5th Street/Lamoille Highway): South of Idaho 
Street: NDOT Minor Arterial 

Major Arterials are similar to Principal Arterials, but are maintained and 
operated by the City of Elko or the County of Elko - not by NDOT. Major 
Arterials serve the major centers of activity within a community, and 
typically carry the highest traffic volumes in a community's transportation 
system. Major Arterials may provide direct access to adjacent 
properties; however, traffic flow and major traffic movements should be 
given priority . Development of new driveways on Major Arterials should 
be limited . 

Transportation page 4 



----- --------------------------------- Transportation 

Right-of-Way Width : 100 feet 
Typical Travel Lanes: 4 lanes or more 

Minor Arterial Route 

Minor Arterials connect with and augment the Principal/Major Arterial 
system. Minor Arterials are intended to gather and distribute traffic from 
Major Arterials to Collectors, and provide linkages between distinct land 
use districts and neighborhoods within the community. Areas served by 
Minor Arterials include community traffic generators, such as hospitals 
and high schools, aoo--alsoand neighborhood and local traffic 
destinations, such as retail/commercial centers, elementary schools, 
churches, or concentrations of high density residential development. 
Partial control of access is desired , however providing direct service and 
access to ElestinatieR--destination-oriented property is important. Direct 
access to individual residential lots should not be peFmtttedbe 
discouraged. 

Right-of-Way Width : 
Typical Travel Lanes: 

80 feet 
21anes 

Commercial/Industrial Collector Street 

Commercial/industrial collector streets provide a connection for traffic 
between arterial roadways and local streets. Collectors primarily serve 
local destinations such as small retail or service centers , elementary 
schools, parks, industrial uses, and medical offices. Collector street 
traffic volumes are generally low to moderate. 

Right-of-Way Width: 
Typical Travel Lanes: 

Residential Collector Street 

70 feet 
21anes 

Residential collector streets provide a connection for traffic between 
neighborhoods and commercial/industrial collector and arterial roads. 
Direct access to residential properties is discouraged, however when 
necessary, reverse frontage residential lots are preferred . Controlled 
access is important, particularly for a residential type collector. Collector 
street traffic volumes are generally low to moderate. 

Right-of-Way Width: 
Typical Travel Lanes: 

Local Street 

60 feet 
21anes 

Local streets provide direct access to residential, commercial, industrial , 
and other properties, and provide connection to Collector streets. Local 
streets generally serve lower traffic volumes, and should be designed to 
minimize vehicle speeds, particularly through a residential neighborhood . 
In certain circumstances design features and traffic control devices such 
as cul-de-sacs, curvilinear street alignments, stop signs, traffic calming 
devices, and reduced speed limits can be utilized to help reduce speeds 
on local streets. 

Right-of-Way Width : 50 feet 

ELKO 

Idaho Street is a Major Arterial and serves as a 
business loop for 1-80 

Local streets , especially the 'Tree Streets' in 
the older neighborhoods, create a unique 
character for the City 

Transportation page 5 



ELKO 

Transportation 

Typical Travel Lanes: ___ 2Ianes 

Rural Roadways 

Rural Roadways provide direct access to residential properties located 
i-REJ within the Residential Suburban (RS) zoning district. Rural Roadways 
typically serve lower traffic volumes under 600 vehicles per day, 
roadways with a traffic volume over 600 vehicles per day should be 
classified oA-sieeree as a Collector Rural Road -Resieential Collector 
roaeway. Rural Roadways may be utilized in the RS district which are 
self-contained and having lots no less than ½ acre in size. are 
GAaraBt~&-feae-ways-that provide-roaaside ditches to convey 
stem1walef;--flo-on stree\j,afk-i-Rfu:afl9::f)reviee--oodestfiafl-a€Cess on at 
least---Bne--siae--of-tAe--r-oa-€1-way-: 

Right-of-Way Width : 60 feet Local Rural Residential Road 
Typical Travel Lanes: 2Ianes 

Right-of-Way Width : 70 feet Collector Rural Residential Road 
Typical Travel Lanes: 2Ianes 

Elko Roadway Classification 

The following provides the functional classifications for roadways within 
the City of Elko based on existing street character and function: 

Interstates and Interstate Interchanges 

Interstate 80 (1-80) 
Exit 298 (Idaho Street Interchange) 
Exit 301 (Mountain City Highway Interchange) 
Exit 303 (Jennings Way Interchange) 

Principal Arterials/Other NDOT Roadways 

• Lamoille Highway (State Route-SR 227) 
• Mountain City Highway (SR 225) 

Major Arterials 

5th Street, between Idaho Street and Lamoille Highway (SR 227) 
12th Street, between Idaho Street and Lamoille Highway (SR 227) 

• Idaho Street 
Silver Street. Idaho Street to 5th Street 

Minor Arterials 

5th Street, north of Idaho Street 
12th Street Extension (future) 
Cattle Drive, south of Mountain City Highway (SR 225) (future) 
College Avenue 
Errecart Boulevard, between Silver Street and Bullion Road 

(classification is Major Arterial once roadway is connected) 
Errecart Boulevard, west of Lamoille Highway (SR 227) 

(classification is Major Arterial once roadway is connected) 

Transportation page 6 



--------------------------- ---------- Transportation 

Jennings Way, northeast of Mountain City Highway (SR 225) 
(classification is Major Arterial once roadway is connected) 

Jennings Way, northwest of Idaho Street (classification is Major 
Arterial once roadway is connected) 

• Powder House Road 
Powder House Road Extension (future) 

• Ruby Vista Drive 
Silver Street, between 5th Street and 12th Street 
Spruce Road 
Spruce Road Extension (future) 

Commercial/Industrial Collectors 

8th Street, between Elm Street and Silver Street 
• 9th Street 

12th Street, between College Avenue and Idaho Street 
13th Street 
14th Street 
30th Street 
Airport Road Extension (future) 
Aspen Way, between Mountain City Highway (SR 225) and 

Westwood Drive 
• Chris Avenue 
• Colt Drive 
• College Parkway 

Commercial Street 
D Street 
Elm Street 
Fairground Road 
Front Street 
Golf Course Drive 
Last Chance Road 
Manzanita Lane 

• Kittridge Canyon Road , between Paradise Drive and Idaho Street 
• Pinion Road 
• Railroad Street 
• Silver Street, east of 12th Street 
•Statice Street (future) Stat1ce Street (Ruby Vista Drive to Delaware 

Street) 
Stitzel Road, between Colt Way and Last Chance 
Water Street 

• West Sage Street 
Wildwood Way, between Lamoille Highway (SR 227) and Stitzel 

Road 

Residential Collectors 

• pt Street, south of Silver Street 
2nd Street 
3rd Street 
Argent Avenue 
Bluffs Avenue 
Bullion Road - Wilson Avenue 
Cattle Drive, north of Mountain City Highway (SR 255) (future) 
Cedar Street, between Fir Street and 6th Street 

ELKO 
Transportation page 7 



------------------------------------- Transportation 

ELKO 

Cedar Street, Mountain City Highway to Fir Street and 6th Street to 
Idaho Street 

Clarkson Drive 
• Connolly Drive 

Copper Street 
• Cottonwood Drive 

Country Club Drive 
Court Street, Oak Street to 5th Street and 9th Street to 14th Street 
Delaware Street, between Statice Street and Paradise Drive 
El Armuth Drive 
Enfield Avenue 
Fairway Drive, between Skyline Drive and Keppler Drive 
Forest Lane, between Montrose Lane and Enfield Avenue 
Garcia Lane - South 11 th Street 
Highland Drive 
Indian View Heights Drive 

• Jennings Way, south of Mountain City Highway 
Keppler Drive 
La Nae Drive, between Bluffs Avenue and Cottonwood Drive 
Mittry Avenue (Chris Ave to College Parkway) 

• Montrose Lane 
Opal Drive 
Rocky Road (future) 
Ruby View Drive 
Sagecrest Drive 
Sewell Drive 
Spruce Road , between 5th Street and Mittry Avenue-Jennings Way 

• Stitzel Road, between Pinion Road and Liberty Drive 
• Sundance Drive 

Regional Roadways 

Regional Roadways are those collector or arterial streets 
characterized by moderate to high traffic volumes with significant 
traffic origins or traffic destinations outside of the corporate 
boundaries of the City of Elko. The following are considered 
Regional Roadways: 

Jennings Way Loop 
5th Street 
Ruby Vista Drive, east of Jennings Way 
Delaware Street 
Idaho Street 
Silver Street 
Manzanita Lane 

• 12th Street, south of Idaho Street 
Last Chance Road 
Bullion Road, west of Errecart Boulevard 

• Errecart Boulevard 

* Note that the Elko City Council approved the above list of Regional 
Roads; however, at this time Manzanita Lane and Last Chance Road are 
not recognized by the RTC as regional roads . 

Transportation page 8 



----------------- -------------------- Transportation 

Roadway Capacity 

Level of service (LOS) is a term used to measure and describe the 
operational conditions of a roadway network. Letters A through F are 
used to measure the LOS of a roadway segment or intersection . The 
following definitions are given for each level of service letter. 

+able-4 

bevel-of De-f-inition Se-r-vise 
,. " 

I 
[ Formatted : 

I . No rma l 

-1: . ' ..I. -· ·- --- ---Ref}FeS_ - . .. -· --- - - -
A ·-"· = ._ ... 

--- ,_ - ::-- :'. - ·~::ffiB " '1 -"~' -
stream. ( . - l Formatted : No 

g Stable flow, but the p ·-- - ........ ,_ --- -
iA U:ie !Fam: ---· -- ... ;;iAs to be Aotiseable. 

rmal 

Staele-flow, eut-tl"le o 3eFalioA-of-iAdividual 
G useFs besomes sigA;' BaAtly attested ey 

:_ ·- ---'-: ........... s iA the tmms stFeam. .. ·- .... , 
D Re13reseAts-l"li§h-f1eA ,ity;-eut-staele-flo~ 

Rep Fe se A ls-efIBffitiA, . :_ ·- ::~ ::F-Aeaf e 
the sapasity le•,<el. 

F R-ef)FeseAts---foFsed-er break-dewA-flow.-

Table 1 

Level of Definition 
Service 

ReQresents free flow. Individual users are 

6 virtually unaffected by others in the traffic 
stream. 

~ 
Stable flow, but the Qresence of other users 
in the traffic stream begins to be noticeable. 

Stable flow, but the OQeration of individual 
Q users becomes significantly affected by 

interactions with others in the traffic stream. 

D ReQresents high-density, but stable flow. 

.E 
ReQresents OQerating conditions at or near 
the caQacity level. 

F ReQresents forced or breakdown flow. 

ELKO 
Transportation page 9 



--------- - --------------------------- Transportation 

ELKO 

The level of service thresholds for roadway £Formatted : I ndent : F i rst 1 ine : 
Elko, based on the Average Dai ly Traffic (A I J earned oy tne 
roadway segment, are identified in Table 2. 

Table 2 
Average Daily Traffic Level of Service Thresholds 

Number Level of Service (LOS) 
Facility of 

Lanes A B C D E 

Interstate 46 ,000 84,000 120,000 145,000 163,000 

NDOT Facilities/ 2 2,500 5,000 9,700 15,000 18,700 

Major Arterial 4 5,000 10,000 17,500 27,400 28,900 

2 
Minor Arterial 

2,000 4,000 7,700 12,000 15,000 

4 4,000 8,000 14,000 22 ,000 23,100 

Collector 2 1,500 3,000 7,300 8,500 9,100 

Source: Fehr & Peers, 201 O 

Historical Traffic Volumes and Roadway Level of Service 

Historical traffic volumes for the major roadways serving the City of 
Elko are shown in Table 3. The historical traffic volume data was 
obtained from NDOT's 2008 Annual Traffic Report. Traffic volumes 
in the City of Elko have remained relatively steady over the last nine 
years, with some segments showing an increase in traffic volumes, 
and other segments showing a decrease in traffic volumes. College 
Parkway, in particular, has shown a substantial increase (15% to 
20% per year) since 2000. 

TABLE3 
HISTORICAL TRAFFIC VOLUMES 

Annual ADT 2001:0 to 201508 Roadway 
Location Annual Growth (% 

(NDOT Sta. No) 200020 2002200 2004l.Qj 2-006201 2008?Qj 
07 ~ 1 ~ § growth per year) 

Exit 301 
9,350§_, 8,900~ 8,900§.,; 10,1001 9,700§.,_;i 

1-80 to Exit 0.5%1 .9% 
303 

600 Q0 00 100 00 

Lamoille South of W,W0.2 20.-W0.2 +&,-800_2 20..J00.2 W.-000.2 Highway (SR 5 th 12:h 4.4¾0.8% 
2 2 7) _ill_fil Street 

0 ,000 1.J)QQ 1,0Q_Q 2,500 3,500 

Mountain City North of 2,900:t 2,--7a0~ 3,-000~ ~M J.,200~ 
Highway (SR I-

700 00 00 00 00 
-1--.3¾4.3% 

225) (345) BDArgent 

Transportation page 10 

0 " 



--------------------- - --------------- Transportation 

TABLE 3 
HISTORICAL TRAFFIC VOLUMES 

Mountain City 1-80 to 
18, 100_2 16,5001 17,500.2 19,1002 20,0002 

Highway (SR Idaho 
2,000 9,000 3,000 4_,;,00 5,000 

'L3% .6% 
22 5) J1filD Street 

Silver Street 
South of 

-+-+ ,7001 n,0001 +1 ,9001 1-2,3001 14,0001 
Idaho 2.5% .3% 

(359) 
Street 

1,QQQ 4,000 3,500 5,000 5,500 

Idaho 

5th Street (SR 
Street to 

+4,900~ 1&,500§_, +2,600§_, + 1,300§_, +3,000§_, 
1.6¼-r .0% Lamoille 

227) (020) 
Highway 

,600 700 300 5_90 200 

(SR 227) 

Idaho 
Street to 

-12,5001 12,7001 -13 ,0001 1-J,4001 14,0001 
1.5%-r .5% 12th Street (245) Lamoille 

Highway 
4,000 4,000 4,000 3,000 3.500 

(SR 227) 

West of 

Idaho Street 
Mountain 

3,4004 3500~ 3,2001] 4,350J..§ 3,7oo;u 
1.Wo-r .0% City 

{017) 
Highway 

000 00 00 00 00 

(SR 225) 

Mountain 
City 

0.2%-r .1% 
Idaho Street Highway 9,4509, 9.4508L9 ~ .500902 9,750~5 9,6008,2 
(196) (SR 225) 700 00 00 00 00 

to 5th 

Street 

Idaho Street 
5th Street 

14,3001 13,9001 13 2001 14,5001 13,0001 

-1.1·.L to 12th 
tnQ} Street 

4,000 3,000 3,000 0.500 0,500 

12th 

Idaho Street Street to -1-9 ,W51 H,4951 H ,96-21 -18",-9001 18,0001 
(5210) Jennings 9,000 7,500 8,000 7,500 7,000 

Way -1.~)% 1.4% 

Idaho 
8,7009_ 9.400~ ~ .950M 10,000§_, 9,300~ 

5th Streetfill) Street to 
1-80 

800 00 00 800 00 
0.9~.- i.s•. 

5th Street (325) 
North of 4 ,800~ 14.750~ 5,1504.9 5,2001.jl 4 ,6001Ji 
1-80 300 00 00 QO 00 -'t~ 1.0% 

12 th 

College Avenue Street to 3.-0502 2.3502 ,1 2,S00-2, 1 2,900Ll a,7{)02,0 
(214) Idaho 900 00 00 00 00 

Street -J-.+•ro -t.5~0 

College North of 3,2004, 14,3004~8 14,4004,2 4,45Q1,_3 S,7004,Q 
Parkway (332) 1-80 300 00 00 00 00 ¾I.S 'l-o 0.9~. 

College South of 2,6002 2,6W2,6 2-,4502,5 2,65Q2,1 ~.aoo2,2 
Parkway~ 1-80 650 00 00 00 00 15.-1'!-o 2.3~o 

Silver 
Errecart Street to 4,1-503, 3-,6003,7 3,-&001.,_4 3.9501..._8 14,0004 ,8 
Boulevard (375) Bullion 900 00 00 00 00 

Road -o.s• .• ~ 

ELKO 
Transportation page 11 



-------------------------- ----------- Transportation 

TABLE 3 
HISTORICAL TRAFFIC VOLUMES 

Golf Course North of 
2,850J, 3,SOOM 3,550}.Jl 3,80012 4,200;Ll 

College Drive (217) 
Avenue 

700 00 00 00 00 5.9°,.- 1.4 ~. 

Silver Street 5th Street 7-.G50L e.8WM 7,-1-0G~ 1,4-0G_M +-;8GGM 
to 12th 

(222) 
Street 

700 00 00 00 00 
1.J-t % 

5th Street r Formatted: Superscrip t I Silver Street tow. 
@) M;m 

13,000 13,000 14,000 13,500 12.000 -1.0% 
Street 

College 

12th Streetfl.1fil 
Avenue 4,0004, 4, 1004,0 14.1001,Q 4,200J,B 3,soo;u 
to Idaho 000 00 00 00 00 -l.01Mi % 
Street 

Elm 

13th Streetflj_fil 
Street to 3,0502J 2,+-002.,_3 voou 2,550Z,1 3,-GOO~ 
College 300 00 00 00 00 
Avenue -0.1-% 

East of 

Argent Avenue Mountain 
7,4006J 7,800~ 18,300~ 5,600!:5~ 5,5001,1 

City -3.2Q % 
(322) 

Highway 
000 00 00 00 00 

(SR 225) 

Bullion Road -
Errecart 

Wilson Avenue 
Boulevar 4, 1 SOJ, 4,000JJ. 14 ,200~ 4,200~ 4,000},§ 

Ll-0.$% 
Q38) 

d to 9th 200 00 00 OQ 00 
Street 

West of 
Bullion Road Errecart 820 850 1 100 1,700 1,800 I0.3% 
{339) Bqulevar 

Q 

Mountain 
City 

Cedar Street - Highway 2.&00t ~2.J ~.0001.Jl ~Ll 2.9GGM Country Club (SR 225) 900 00 00 00 00 
0-3.7 % 

Drive (206) to ldaoo 
StreetSth 
Stre_et 

5th Street LFormatted : Superscript ,. -

Cedar Street t9Gqlf 
J,J 00 2,900 3,.§_Q_Q 2,500 2,500 -2.7 

QJQ_) Course 
Road 

Sage 
Street{e 
t3th 

2, 1502., 2, 1501J1 1,9502.,1 2,0501,l 3,S002.,1 
Elm Street (330) Str.ee!Sth !!9'6% 

Street to 
100 00 00 00 00 

Cgllgg_e 
Parkway 

ELKO Transportation page 12 



TABLE 3 
HISTORICAL TRAFFIC VOLUMES 

Mountain 
City 
Highway 

Sage Street 
(SR 225) 

3,000.;L 3, 1003,4 3,150~.8 3,100M 3,2003~1 
(326) 

to 
500 00 00 00 00 

0.8.:J ~ % 
Gellege 
Parkway 
5th 
Street 

Source: 2009 Annual Traffic Report, Nevada Department ofTransportation; Fehr & Peers , 2010 

The existing levels of service on regional roadways , based on the 
Average Daily Traffic Level of Service Thresholds, are shown in Table 4. 

TABLE4 
EXISTING ROADWAY SEGMENT LEVEL OF SERVICE 

Roadway Location Classification 
Number Daily 
of Lanes Volume 

1-80 Exit 298 to Exit 301 Interstate 4 9,7-006 ,500 

Lamoille 
Principal 

Highway South of 5th Street 4 ~20-.0GG 
(SR 227) 

Arterial 

Mountain 
City 

North of 1-80 
Principal 

4 5,2003,200 
Highway Arterial 
(SR 225) 

Mountain 
City 

1-80 to Idaho Street 
Principal 

4 25,0Q02MOO 
Highway Arterial 
(SR 225) 

Silver 
South of Idaho Street 

Principal 
2 15,5004 ,000 

Street Arterial 

5th Street Idaho Street to Lamoille 
Major Arterial 42 8_,2_QQ~O 

(SR 227) Highway (SR 227) 

12th Street 
Idaho Street to Lamoille 

Major Arterial 32 1;1._5004,GGG 
Highway (SR 227) 

Idaho West of Mountain City 
Major Arterial 2 3,700 

Street Highway (SR 225) 

Idaho Mountain City Highway 
Major Arterial 42 8,2009,600 

Street (SR 225) to 5th Street 

Idaho 
5th Street to 12th Street Major Arterial 42 t~G10,5Q0 

Street 

Idaho 12th Street to Jennings 
Major Arterial 4 H½GGG17 000 

Street Way 

5th Street Idaho Street to 1-80 Minor Arterial 2 9,200300 

5th Street North of 1-80 Minor Arterial 2 4,600900 

ELKO 

Level of 
Service 

A 

D 

A 

D 

D 

G_E! 

QQ 

8 

8 

C 

QC 

C 

Cf! 

Transportation 

Transportation page 13 



----------- ---- ------------------------ Transportation 

Downtown Elko does not currently have 
adequate infrastructure to support active 
pedestrian and bicycling activity. Downtown is 
primarily auto-oriented 

TABLE 4 
EXISTING ROADWAY SEGMENT LEVEL OF SERVICE 

College 12th Street to Idaho 
Minor Arterial 2 2, 700000 B 

Avenue Street 

College 
North of 1-80 Minor Arterial 2 8,-7-004000 g~ 

Parkway 

College 
South of 1-80 Minor Arterial 2 a,-8002,200 G~ Parkway 

Errecart Silver Street to Bullion 
Minor Arterial 4 4,-(}004,800 A 

Boulevard Road 

Golf 
Course North of College Avenue Minor Arterial 2 ~003,300 G~ 
Drive 

Silver 
5th Street to 12th Street Minor Arterial 2 +-;8008,600 QQ 

Street 

Silver 5."1.1,treet to W. Ma_iri Minor ArteriJ Formatted : Superscript 
Street Street --

12th Street 
College Avenue to Idaho 

Collector 2 3,SI00 C 
Street 

13th Street 
Elm Street to College 

Collector 2 ~2.300 8 
Avenue 

Argent East of Mountain City 
Collector 2 ~4.700 C Avenue Highway (SR 225) 

Bullion 
Road - Errecart Boulevard to 9th 

Collector 2 4,-(}003,600 C 
Wilson Street 
Avenue 

Bullion We§! of Erre~art 
Collector 2 1,800 ~ Road Boulevard 

Cedar 
Street - Mountain City Highway 
Goontry (SR 225) to loane Collector 2 ~1400 B 
Club Street5'h Street [Formatted : Superscript 
Qf!ve I 
Ced9r §.th Street IQ Golf Course Collector [ Formatted: Superscript 
Street Road 

Elm 
Sage Street to 13th Street Collector 2 2.100~ G~ Street 

Sage 
Mountain City Highway 

Street 
(SR 225) to College Collector 2 3.1~00 
Parkway 

Source: Fehr & Peers, 2010 

Bicycle and Pedestrian Facilities 

Currently, there is no functional non-motorized transportation system in 
Elko~. however, the City of Elko Bicycle and Pathway Plan provides goals 
and objectives to develop an on and off-street, non-motorized 
transportation system for bicyclists , pedestrians, and similar users. 
Because of the nature and age of the street system in Elko, particularly 
in the core area of the City, planning and implementation of facil ities for 

Transportation page 14 

C 

I 

l 
I 

I 



---- ----- ------------- --------------- Transportation 

bicycles, pedestrians and other forms of non-motorized transportation 
has been difficult and has not been given a high priority relative to other 
community needs. As peripheral areas grow and develop, and as 
existing arterial roadways and collectors are upgraded , there will be 
opportunities for bicycle and pathway facilities to evolve systematically 
and augment the City's transportation system. It is probable that such a 
system will primarily serve a recreational function , but also provide 
alternative routes and connections between parks, schools, residential 
neighborhoods, and the downtown commercial area. 

The bicycle and pathway system will include the following facility types: 

Exclusive Shared Use Path 

Exclusive Shared Use Path facilities are two-way pathways, eight to 
twelve feet in width, thatwicjth that are separated from the vehicle travel I 
lanes of the roadway and the pedestrian sidewalk. Shared use pathways 
are intended to serve multiple functions and accommodate a variety of 
non-motorized users, including but not limited to , bicyclists , walkers , 
hikers, and joggers", in line skaters and roJ.ler-.skat€-fS-; 

Delineated Bike Lane 

Bike Lane facilities are one-way bike paths within and on both sides of 
the improved roadway section that are four to six feet in width . Bike 
Lanes are separated from the vehicle travel lanes of the roadway by a 
painted stripe , raised curb or other physical marking . 

Bike Route. Shared Roadway 

Shared Roadway facilities share use of the roadway in the vehicle travel 
lane or parking lane. 

Sidewalks 

Sidewalks are an important component of the street. By accommodating 
pedestrian traffic, sidewalks provide an alternative form of transportation 
and can effectively contribute to lower vehicle volumes and a reduction in 
traffic congestion. Sidewalks are also a necessary safety feature , 
particularly in residential neighborhoods where children walk to and from 
local schools and parks. 

Transit 

Elko County and the Regional Transportation Commission (RTC) 
manage the E:lko Area TransitGreater Elko Transit (E:ATGET) my ride 
service" 

Airport 

The Elko Regional Airport is located at 975 Terminal Way, eff...efoff 
Mountain City Highway and approximately 1 mile west of Downtown 
Elko. The airport has two runways : a commercial runway that is 150 feet 
by 7,211 feet and a general aviation runway that is 60 feet by 2,879 feet. 
The Air Carrier Passenger Terminal is 20,000 square-feet and provides 

ELKO 
Transportation page 15 



--------------------------------------- Transportation 

ELKO 

several amenities including dining, business center, vending/game area , 
rental car agencies, and access to the jet bridge. Commercial service is 
provided by SkyWest Airlines (Delta Connection) with five-two daily 
flights to Salt Lake City, UT. The Airport Master Plan provides additional 
information about the Elko Regional Airport and planned airport 
improvements. 

Existing Transportation Deficiencies 

The City of Elko is responsible for maintenance and improvement to 
other local streets and roadways within the corporate boundaries of the 
City. While 99% of these local roads are paved , a portion of the street 
system's infrastructure is in a serious to moderate state of disrepair and 
in need of improvement. A brief overview of the conditions of the City's 
local streets system, particularly in the older, core area of the community, 
is as follows: 

The paved sections of some local streets and roadways are in need 
of resurfacing and/or reconstruction . 

Sidewalk sections are either missing or in a state of disrepair, 
resulting in gaps in the pedestrian transportation system. 

Some intersections may not meet current Americans with Disabilities 
Act (ADA) standards but are improved to meet standards at the time 
of construction/improvement. 

Alleys and City-owned parking lots are in disrepair; they compete for 
the limited resources and are therefore not a priority to receive 
regular maintenance or rehabilitation. 

BEST PRACTICES 

This Best Practices section includes a detailed explanation of each of the 
Elko Master Plan objectives, and provides recommendations, identifies 
funding sources, and suggests regulatory tools 
available to help implement the Master Plan 's stated 
objectives. The purpose of this section is to ensure City 
leaders and decision makers have the information 
necessary to make sound, educated decisions for the 
future of Elko. The Elko Master Plan Best Practices 
should be referred to as staff reports are developed and 
as and transportation network, subdivision, site plan, 
and zoning decisions for the City are made. 

A balanced transportation sys 
opportunities for residents to , 
different modes of transport 

Objective 1: Provide a balanced 
transportation system that 
accommodates vehicles, 
bicycles, and pedestrians, while 
being sensitive to, and 
supporting the adjacent land 
uses. 

Complete streets balance uses and 
accommodate multiple modes of 
transportation. Streets cease to be only 
vehicular conduits but rather become 
beautiful , comfortable and vibrant 
destinations 

Elka's transportation system should provide opportunities for residents to 
choose a variety of transportation modes including driving, bicycling, and 

Transportation page 16 



nal 

-------- ------------------------------ Transportation 

walking . The complete street concept recognizes 
that transportation corridors have multiple users 
with different abilities and mode preferences . 
Approximately one third of Americans do not drive; 
providing for all modes creates access for 
children, seniors who do not drive, individuals who 
have a disability that limits their ability to drive, and 
those who do not have access to a vehicle . In 
addition to providing access, providing safe and 
comfortable facilities for all modes creates active, 
livable streets and contributes to a high quality of 
life. 

Adjacent land uses influence the functionality and 
character of the street environment. A well
integrated street system considers the 
complementary relationship between land use, 
local and regional travel needs, and the context 
that it serves. Complete streets apply equally to 
downtown main streets and high-capacity 
commercial corridors , and they consider the range 
of users, including children, the disabled , and 
seniors. For example, the roadways near a school 

Wells Avenue Road Diet Rehabilitation should provide upgraded pedestrian facilities to 
Project enhance pedestrian visibility and comfort and 

Reno, NV encourage walking to school. Roadways near an 
industrial area need to meet different needs including accommodating 
tractor trailers . A balanced transportation system can revitalize areas 
and spur economic development/redevelopment. 

Best Practice 1. 1: Incorporate "Complete Streets" principles 
into existing and future roadways. 

Complete Streets Components: Complete Streets include facilities and 
designs that enable safe access for all users of all ages and abilities. 
Characteristics of Complete Streets include: 

• Comprehensive, integrated , and connected network. 
• Balanced design to accommodate driving, walking, cycling , 

ELKO 

transit, parking, and deliveries. 
Variety of uses and activities that create a varied 
streetscape. 
Design that relates well to the street's bordering uses and 
allows for continuous activity. 
Pedestrian and biking facilities that promote safety and 
maximize access to bordering uses. 
Are-ADA-compliant accessibility.-accessible. 
Aesthetically designed street lights that provide sufficient 
illumination of sidewalks. 
Consistent landscaping that includes street trees and 
landscaped medians and sidewalks. 

• Sustainable design that minimizes runoff, minimizes heat 
island effects, and responds to climatic demands and 
conserves scarce resources . 

Transportation page 1 7 



ELKO 

Transportation 

Well-maintained facilities . 

Street Rehabilitation Projects: Explore opportunities to provide complete 
street features such as bicycle lanes, reduced vehicle travel lanes (i .e. 
road diets), and modified on-street parking (removing or adding based on 
street type and user demands) during re-striping as part of street 
rehabilitation projects. 

Bicycle & Pedestrian Master Planning: The City of Elko Bicycle and 
Pathway Plan is intended to provide the basic framework for the 
development of a functional bicycle and pathway system for the 
community by providing connections to outlying areas.This:1reas. This 
Master Plan replaces the :f.Re-Bicyc/e and Pathway Plan The Master 
Plan should be reviewed and updated every five years to identify the 
City's existing bicycle and pedestrian network, gaps, and plans for future 
bicycle and pedestrian facilities . 

Consider innovative bicycle and pedestrian treatments as they are 
approved for use in the Manual for Uniform Traffic Control Devices. Two 
new treatments that could be considered include the "Hawk" (High 
Intensity Activated Crosswalk) pedestrian signal and the "Sharrow" 
shared lane pavement marking, as shown in the photos. 

Hawk Pedestrian Signal : The HAWK uses traditional traffic and 
pedestrian signal heads but in a different configuration. It includes a sign 
instructing motorists to "stop on red" and a "pedestrians" overhead sign. 
There is also a sign informing pedestrians on how to cross the street 
safely. 

When not activated , the signal is blanked out. The HAWK signal is 
activated by a pedestrian push button . The overhead signal begins 
flashing yellow and then solid yellow, advising drivers to prepare to stop. 
The signal then displays a solid red and shows the pedestrian a "Walk" 
indication . Finally, an alternating flashing red signal ["wig-wag") indicates 
that motorists may proceed when safe, after coming to a full stop. The 
pedestrian is shown a flashing "Don 't Walk" with a countdown indicating 
the time left to cross. 

Sharrow: This pavement marking , used on shared use routes , indicates 
the legal and appropriate bicyclist line of travel , and cues motorists to 
pass with sufficient clearance. The purpose of this new marking is to 
reduce the number and severity of bicycle-vehicular crashes, particularly 
crashes involving bicycles colliding with suddenly opened doors of 
parked vehicles . 

Best Practice 1.2: Promote context sensitive street design. 

Roadway Functional Classification and Typology: Street typologies 
expand upon the roadway functional classification (found in the Elko 
Community ATLAS) to include street context and non-auto travel modes. 
Identifying a streets typology ensures that street standards are not 
uniformly applied based on functional classification, but also consider a 
street's relation to surrounding land uses, appropriate travel speeds, and 
need to accommodate multiple travel modes. 

Transportation page 18 



- - --------------------------------- --- Transportation 

Most street "types" can be found in more than one functional class, and 
vice versa. Street design should consider both street function and street 
type. For example, a street that has an arterial function and a residential 
type will have different characteristics and design features than a 
residential street with a collector or local street function . Residential 
arterial streets serve longer distance trips than residential collector or 
local streets. As such, maintaining the through capacity should be a 
higher priority on a residential arterial than on a residential collector or 
local street. Similarly, a mixed-use/main collector and an industrial 
collector have different characteristics . A mixed-use collector should 
accommodate several transportation modes , while an industrial collector 
primarily serves heavy trucks and automobiles. Definitions of the street 
typologies are: 

ELKO 

Residential Streets: Residential streets serve two major 
purposes. As arterials, Residential streets balance 
multimodal mobility with land access. As collector or local 
streets, Residential streets are designed to emphasize 
walking, bicycling, and property access. In both cases, 
Residential streets tend to be more pedestrian-oriented than 
Commercial Streets. 

• Mixed-Use/Main Streets: Mixed-Use/Main Streets serve 
retail centers and mixed land-use areas such as downtown 
areas and neighborhood centers . Unlike Commercial 
Streets, Mixed-Use/Main Streets are designed to promote 
walking, bicycling , and transit with attractive streetscape and 
pedestrian-oriented design elements . Generally, activities 
are concentrated along a two- to eight-block area, but may 
extend further depending on the type of adjacent land uses 
and the area served . Narrower street widths can be used to 
reduce travel speeds on main street segments. An arterial 
main street segment will likely include additional travel lanes 
and turn pockets, wider sidewalks, and curb extensions to 
reduce crosswalk widths. 

Commercial Streets: The most common Commercial streets 
are the strip commercial arterials . Strip commercial arterials 
typically serve commercial areas containing numerous small 
retail strip centers with buildings set back behind fronting 
parking lots . 

Industrial Streets: Industrial streets are designed to 
accommodate significant volumes of large vehicles such as 
trucks, trailers, and other delivery vehicles. Because these 
areas are relatively low-density, bicycle and pedestrian travel 
is more infrequent than in other areas, but still should be 
accommodated. 

Regional Roadways: Regional Roadways are arterial or 
collector streets characterized by moderate or high traffic 
volumes with significant origins or destinations outside the 
corporate boundaries of the City of Elko. They provide 
regional access and sometimes serve commercial or 
industrial land uses. Therefore, a roadway could be 
functionally classified as a Major Arterial , with both 

Transportation page 19 



------------------------------------- Transportation 

ELKO 

Commercial and Regional typologies. These streets promote 
movement of through traffic and include well spaced 
signalized intersections and minimal access points. Since 
traffic volumes are generally higher, a buffer should be 
provided between the travel lane and sidewalk. Regional 
Roadways should include a parallel Class I or Class II 
bicycle facility. 

Table 5 provides a matrix of street typologies appropriate for each 
functional classification. 

ifable 5 
Street Typology System Integrating Street Function and Type 

Street Type 
Functional 
Classification Residential Mixed-Use/ Commercial Industrial Regional 

Street Main Street Street Street Roadway 

Interstate (NDOT) • 
NDOT Roadways • • • 
Major Arterial • • • • 
Minor Arterial • • • • • 
Collector • • • • • 
Local • • 
Source: Fehr & Peers, 2010 

Transportation page 20 



--------------------------------------- Transportation 

c..n, 

l sn l •, l~ .. .,,...,i~ Doff,. 
C.U' 

The following street cross-sections provide appropriate right-of-way, 
bicycle/pedestrian facilities , lane width , and turn lanes associated with 
each roadway typology and functional classification . The City sheule I 
intends to periodically review and update street profile and cross-section 
designs . 

.., 

llHIDEHTI.AL LOCAL 

IIO YI 5~ 

,ltE!olOEN"I LAL COLLEClOff 

IIOVl =-60· 

RU 1DENJ IJ\L MINOR ARTERIAL 

ffOW 6$ 

I h .I. ~-... 
low -~ 

II n 
T,w,-~ll._.. 

Lo1,r1t1 

l '>It n J" S II -a. ,t,, & S,d .. t11, .,I 
,,,1, 

Gutt .. , £.1Utlf"1 

t-l R fl [[R 
\,l'l}!l ,ir, lfltl H W)II U J RESIDENTIAL CROSS SECT10NS 

~IGU ll 

Transportation page 21 



---------------------------------- Transportation 

ELKO Transportation page 22 



~1 '" ! 4'"l. 

~do-... -Fro"IJ,f~ i, 

lo11t.t 

It Ml 181! 

I A.no. FmJng )O!!JOOn:l• 
Lo, f"AP.:t..tlP'J 1i.1'9ft 

Guttt, 

:,I ~ ft ~,, It~ ~-- IV1e, 

l-r0"'1~qc c..j,b.• w~ 
To• c._n ' 

fp 
F E 1-1 R. & P HRS 

•o0',)lf.•111J\ f''N\,H'Ut~ 
•Y1• ~"' L\ YI 

ELKO 

;.l 
(f.l•t 

Ci,111,•1 

Mllm> US MAJN S"TR~ET LOCAL 

tlOW ••2-46 

II M l II h 

Tr.,,,,H.,..., Tr.,.-efLJ•~ 

Mlk ED USllMAIN STREET COLLECTOR 
or MINOR Allll'lllo\L 

f/0(( - ~"-<ilEO l'AllKlt-.G - 60' 
A!W.lil PAA G B> 

NO PARKI , 

F 
Cu-1 • 
(j1111 .. , 

MIXlO USE/MAIN S'!"A(t1 MAJOff ARTERIAL 

f¥:1,/,' - J L"NE 1~· 

A - IOI 

".l - ; L Ji'J 
S1:tet1Y.1I • 

F1u;t.q, 
li~• 

~C.vt 
r,Jr..,, 

-f; nuoc: 
(11t\1 7 ,r,, 
c ... n1.,. ~.,L-. 

f,ort:-:>e 
Zct • 

Transportation 

MIXED USE/MAIN STREET CROSS SECTIONS 
FICUAE2 

Transportation page 23 



11,f ' 

ru-11, & PELn 
J 1U"1 \.f,)1•11 111 ~ I H\ 11&.llff. 

ELKO 

c,,.i, 
Gutlt't 

PJIIJCED IJ5EIMAIN STRfcT LOC"1 

IIDW · 42~1 

MIXED llSEIMAJN STR!U COLLECTOR 
ar MJNOA All'TtAIA~ 

P(ffl • >\NGLEO PA~l(lt,G 4.1' l OS 
AAAl1£L P/IR % I» 

~0 PAfU<IN'(j • 6'.l ' 

ll fl 

U' 

Guttt.•, 

Transportation 

Tc.,,., tun. ,t,o_j •. ,1F .. l\.t rCT,o.:r.t I 6&,ffif. 
fh '/C,.. ~ f1.ll,,U_.P;11ir<;r Cur ~, 

MIXID USE/MAIN SlllfIT MAJOfl. AITTERtAl 

fl,OW : HAN£ · 19' 
<ILAl\f IOI' 

LP" 

MIXED USE/MAIN STREET CROSS SECTIONS 

Transportation page 24 



ELKO 

COMME.RCIA COLUCTQ'fl o, MINOII AlttEFltAL 

AOW = &S' 

l ~IL~ l; ,. !,1 ~ n 1 11 ~ 1 
'!:IOC\lf .l• I B. c ,dc• fr.,,d l.)nr 

&r.., ,.111 
(.urb• 
Gun~, 

fy 

11ft 1 
,\'le J ./ 
Twol,., 

COMMEJICIAL MAJOR ARTElllAL 

ROW = -1.ANE • c~· 

t r.1. U re 

HANl: · 57' 

11 11 1 
\.1':i;.: r.i 

Tu , µ,,.. 

Il l 

1r,11,-•c.t t..."'IC 

l l h 

J 

Transportation 

~-1 ~r. :r-1~t1 Sn. 

Hi.::)L* tiu1f Si.d..'"v\1 ,11• 
l ...Ol-1 Cur , 

C,Jttr, 

t 
Ji 12·1L l ~I ~h "J_ I• SIi 

Die, f ~dc-. Jll 
L .. ,,.. fl .,n,~, 

w t> 
CrJ i.••I 

11 I: l: RS COMMERCIAL CROSS SECTIONS 
FIGURE :J 

Transportation page 25 



--------------------------------------- Transportation 

!Hdcwalk l!l.h!c ~houldl,: 
Cu,b: 
Gun ... 

fp 

ELKO 

INOO $iRIA L S1'REE1' COt.LECl0R gr MINO" ARTfRIAL 

FIOW • l\8' 

INDUSTRIAL SlfRE[T MAJOR ARTERIAL 

liOl'I = 2-LANE • 68' 
Nt - 92' 

....... , ... •-4• ...... '"''~ .. " '"' ••• 

INDUSTRl.AL CROSS SECTIONS 
FIGAJRE ~ 

Transportation page 26 



- ------------------------------------ Transportation 

The Elko Zone Code Elko Zoning--G-fe-iflaR6el=leuld establi-sfl 
awrof}fia-tesets standards for structural and building setbacks consisten 
with each land use and roadway typology/functional classification. The 
City intends to periodically re-evaluate these standards. N}F-e:~fmle-:--me 

bui lding setback on a Mixed Use/Main Street may be zero (i.e. the 
euilding face is immediately adjacent to the sidewall<); 1_>Nhereas the 
seteack-fer-aA-industrial-l-ane--use-eA-afl-lndustrial-Street may ee-2Q-JO 
feeh 

In addition, excess right-of-way on existing streets should be evaluated 
and vacated as appropriate. 

Best Practice 1.3: Early Acquisition of Right-of-Way 

When feasible , right-of-way should be acquired strategically and early in 
the process. A component of the initial project development process 
should determine if right-of-way needs to be acquired for the project. 
Identifying right-of-way needs and acquiring it-rights-of-way early 
reduces the cost and time associated with roadway improvements. 

Best Practice 1.4: Employ General Parking Strategies 

Parking is not an actual land use; it is a critical utility that supports many 
forms of land use. Well utilized and managed parking is important to 
commercial businesses. Parking can also serve as a travel demand 
management (TOM) technique. TDM is the application of strategies and 
policies to reduce traffic congestion, increase utilization of facilities, 
improve air quality, and improve transportation system performance. 
Balanced parking can save developers/employers money and can help 
reduce traffic congestion . 

Shared parking is an effective method of reducing the number of 
required parking spaces for multiple land uses. Some combinations of 
land uses can effectively share the same parking, thereby reducing the 
amount of parking that has to be built (e.g ., office and retail/restaurant). 
Shared parking is most effective if the following conditions are met: 

There are convenient pedestrian connections between land 
uses . 

• The peak hours of the uses are not in substantial conflict with 
one another. 
Directional signs indicate the availability/location of parking. 

The Urban Land Institute (ULI) shared parking process, or a modified ULI 
shared parking process, should be used to evaluate parking needs 
(particularly in Downtown or other mixed use developments). 

Centralized parking facilities are an easy opportunity to share parking 
among land uses. A consolidation of parking makes it easier to provide 
identifiable, logical visitor/customer parking . When comparing centralized 
parking supplies versus dispersed parking supplies - large, centralized 
public parking serve visitor destinations within walking distance, while 

Back-in angled parking has many benefits 
including: improved visibity for motorist existing 
space, increased parking capacity, better 
manuverability, and ease of loading cargo. 

Transportation page 27 



------------------------------- - --- - - Transportation 

ELKO 

dispersed parking serves more geography, but is sometimes harder to 
identify for visitors . 

The following strategies have been used to add parking supply: 

Off-street 
New surface lots 

_ Consolidate parcels 
Tandem parking (particularly for residential units) 

On-street 
Angle parking (versus parallel) 
Time limits (to encourage parking turnover) 
Metered Parking (to encourage parking turnover) 
Back-In Angled Parking 

City of Elko Zoning Ordinan6e---SfletlldThe Elko Zone Code establishes 
a~riate-standards for off-street parking minimums and/or maximums 
for development. The City intends to periodically re-evaluate the Zone 
Code for possible revisions. to include allowing ,al-lew--for shared parking 
(determined using the current edition of Shared Parking published by the 
Urban Land lnstitute, l_and consider aallowing for variances-waivers to 
the standard is-on-street parking requirements. ---is---avatlable adjacent to 
the land use. To qualify for-a variance, the pr-eje6t--devel0f)er--sl"loula 
submit a potentially after a parking study that identifies the project's 
parking needs and locates the parking supply (off or on-street). Off-street 
parking standards ensure that the operational efficiency of the City's 
streets and roadway system is not impaired or and that public safety is 
not jeopardized by inappropriate use of the public right-of-way for 
parking. In addition , it ensures that vehicles do not spill-over into 
adjacent properties or neighborhoods seeking parking. 

Objective 2: Provide a backbone of arterial roadways to 
emphasize regional vehicle travel and provide 
adequate capacity to move large traffic 
volumes, including truck traffic, safely and 
efficiently. 

Elka's transportation system should protect and enhance neighborhoods 
by reducing regional traffic traveling on local streets, and provide an 
interconnected local street network to allow direct connections to local 
destinations, reduce local traffic on regional streets, and provide more 
regional street capacity of longer distance and through traffic. -The 
functional classification map (in Elko Master Plan ATLAS) provides a 
hierarchy of streets, with arterials emphasizing regional travel, moving 
large traffic volumes to local streets, which provide direct and frequent 
access to surrounding land uses. The roadway functional classification 
map should be updated systematically 

Strategies to provide greater street connectivity and efficient movement 
by all modes include: 

Transportation page 28 



------------------------------------- Transportation 

Consideration of roundabouts as an alternative intersection 
control. 
Requiring bicycle and pedestrian connections from cul -de
sacs to adjacent streets. 
Requiring new residential communities on undeveloped land 
to provide stubs for future connections to the edge of the 
property line. Where stubs exist on adjacent properties, new 
streets in the development shall connect to these stubs . 
Encouraging a grid-based system with maximum residential 
street spacing of a quarter mile. 
Requiring development to evaluate and mitigate impacts to 
the roadway network. 

Best Practice 2. 1: Level of Service 

Level of service (LOS) is a general measure of traffic operating 
conditions whereby a letter grade, from A (least congested) to F (over 
capacity), is assigned . These grades represent the perspective of 
drivers, and are an indication of the comfort and convenience associated 
with driving. Additional indicators include speed , travel time, traffic 
interruptions, and freedom to maneuver. LOS does not represent the 
perspective of other roadway users (bicyclists, pedestrians, transit, etc.) 
and; therefore, is not the only measure of roadway performance used in 
this element. The LOS grades are generally defined as follows: 

LOS A represents free-flow travel with an excellent level of 
comfort and convenience and the freedom to maneuver. 

LOS B has stable operating conditions, but the presence of other 
road users causes a noticeable, though slight, reduction in 
comfort, convenience, and maneuvering freedom . 

• LOS C has stable operating conditions, but the operation of 
individual users is substantially affected by the interaction with 
others in the traffic stream. 

• LOS D represents high-density, but stable flow. Users 
experience severe restriction in speed and freedom to 
maneuver, with poor levels of comfort and convenience. 

LOS E represents operating conditions at or near capacity. 
Speeds are reduced to a low but relatively uniform value. 
Freedom to maneuver is difficult. Unstable operation is frequent, 
and minor disturbances in traffic flow can cause breakdown 
conditions. 

LOS F is used to define forced or breakdown conditions. This 
condition exists wherever the volume of traffic exceeds the 
capacity of the roadway. Long queues can form behind these 
bottleneck points with queued traffic traveling in a stop-and-go 
fashion . 

These definitions are contained in the-ifl Highway Capacity Manual 
(HCM) (Transportation Research Board, 2000). The HCM methodology 

ELKO 
Transportation page 29 



I 

ELKO 

Transportation 

is the prevailing measurement standard used throughout the United 
States. 

Table 6 provides the Highway Capacity Manual definitions of level of 
service at intersections . At signalized and all-way stop controlled 
intersections, LOS is measured in terms of the average vehicle delay for 
the overall intersection. At side-street stop controlled intersections, LOS 
is measured in terms of the average vehicle delay for worst case stop 
controlled approach. 

TABLE 6 
INTERSECTION LEVEL OF SERVICE DEFINITIONS 

Level of Service 

A 

B 
C 
D 

Signalized Intersections 
(Average Control Delay) 1 

0 to ~ 10.0 sec/veh 

>10.0 to ~ 20.0 sec/veh 
>20.0 to ~ 35.0 sec/veh 
>35.0 to~ 55.0 sec/veh 

Unsignalized Intersections -
(Average Control Delay) 2 

0 to ~ 10.0 sec/veh 

>10.0 to ~ 15.0 sec/veh 
>15.0 to ~ 25.0 sec/veh 
>25.0 to ~ 35.0 sec/veh 

E >55 .0 to ~ 80.0 sec/veh >35.0 to ~ 50.0 sec/veh 
F > 80.0 sec/veh > 50.0 sec/veh 

Sources: 1 HCM 2000, Chapter 16, Signalized Intersections. 
2 HCM 2000, Cha ter 17, Unsi nalized Intersections. 

Table 7 provides daily roadway segment level of service by functional 
classification based on the Highway Capacity Manual. 

Table 7 
Average Daily Traffic Level of Service Thresholds 

Number Level of Service (LOS) 
Facility of 

Lanes A B C D E 

Interstate 46 ,000 84,000 120,000 145,000 163,000 

NDOT Facilities/ 2 2,500 5,000 9,700 15,000 18,700 

Major Arterial 4 5,000 10,000 17,500 27,400 28,900 

2 
Minor Arterial 

2,000 4,000 7,700 12,000 15,000 

4 4,000 8,000 14,000 22,000 23,100 

Collector 2 1,500 3,000 7,300 8,500 9,100 

Source: Fehr & Peers, 201 O; based on Highway Capacity Manual methodology. 

Typical level of service policies set LOS D as the threshold for 
acceptable traffic operations. As such, LOS A, B, C, and D are 
acceptable and LOS E and F are unacceptable and require capacity 
enhancements to improve the level of service to acceptable conditions. It 
is also common for vehicle level of service policies to not be applied to 
downtown/ma in street environments because there is greater emphasis 
on other travel modes , and increasing vehicle capacity can oftentimes 
have a negative effect on accessibility and comfort of other travel modes. 

Transportation page 30 



-------------------------------------- Transportation 

For example, if the vehicle level of service on a downtown roadway is 
LOS E, and the road is widened to provide more travel lanes, 
pedestrians now have to cross a greater distance to reach the other side 
of the road . 

The best practice level of service policy for Elko is: Develop and manage 
the roadway system to obtain Level of Service (LOS) D or better for all 
roadways (based on daily traffic volumes) and intersections (based on 
AM and PM peak hour volumes) . Exceptions to the LOS D policy may be 
allowed by the Planning Commission in cases where allowing a lower 
LOS would result in clear public benefit, such as the following . 

Preserving downtown community environments 
• Accommodating al ternative modes of transportation 

Preserving the rural character of the City 
Preserving scenic or aesthetic roadways 
Preserving open space land 
Exempting infeasible improvements due to lack of right
of-way or financing 

Best Practice 2.2: Access Management 

Access management involves managing the location, spacing , design, 
and operation of driveways, median openings, interchanges, and street 
connections to a roadway in a manner that preserves the safety and 
efficiency of the transportation system. The functional classification of the 
roadway network determines the access management on that roadway. 
Typically, arterial roadways have the highest access management 
standards, with the most driveway restrictions, while local streets have 
very limited access management and no driveway restrictions . 

Access management can increase the capacity of a roadway, as well as 
provide additional safety benefits for vehicles , pedestrians , and 
bicyclists. The majority of collisions involving pedestrians and bicyclists 
happen at crossing locations. By managing vehicle access along a 
roadway and spacing intersections and driveways at appropriate 
intervals and frequencies, it reduces the number of crossing locations 
that a bicycle or pedestrian encounters on a roadway. 

Individual residential lots should be designed in such a manner to 
preclude direct access onto an arterial roadway and to discourage direct 
access onto a collector roadway in order that arterials and collectors can 
efficiently perform their function of moving vehicular, bicycle, and 
pedestrian traffic without jeopardizing the safety of the residential 
neighborhood. 

Table 8 provides Best Practices access management standards by 
functional classification . 

ELKO 
Transportation page 31 



--------------------------------------- Transportation 

ELB 

Roadway 
Functional 
Classification 

Arterial 

Collector 

Best Practice 2.3: 
Formatted : Indent: Left : 0 ", First 

Roadway lmprovemen ~ 
Development 

TABLE 8 
ACCESS MANAGEMENT STANDARDS 

Left-Turns 

Signal Driveway 
from 

Median 
Roadways Other 

Spacing Spacing 
and 

Treatment 

Driveways 

1/2 Mile 250 - 350 Only at Signal - No more than one driveway per 

desired ft. or Major Raised 
property on the arterial, joint 

(right in/out 
Unsignalized Median, 

driveways are recommended 

1/3 Mile only with 
lntersection/O TWLTL 

- Left turn in at major 

minimum deceleratio riveway driveways/unsignalized 
n lane) roadways o.k. 

1/4 Mile 
desired 

150 - 250 
Raised - Do not offset driveways 

ft . minimum Yes Median - A maximum of one full access 
1/5 Mile TWLTL driveway per property 

minimum 
Notes: TWL TL - Two way left turn lane 
Sources: Fehr & Peers, 2010 

New development~ sl=tall-should be required to extend , construct, and 
improve streets and roadways in accordance with standards and pelisies 
OOAtained in the City of Elko Mas-tef-Plan, Engineering Standard Details, 
aoo-etAef-af)~oos-efset forth in the Elko MunieipalQ!y 
Cod!Le or the Comml:lfltty-f)e-voopment Department. 

The City may implement requirements for developers to Developments 
sha-11-_prepare a traffic impact study if: 

The development is large. A large development is defined as a 
project that generates more than 1,000 daily trips , calculated 
using the current version of the Institute of Transportation 
Engineers (ITE) Trip Generation manual. 

The development is located on a roadway segment that is 
operating below level of service standards or is at level of service 
{LOS D) but within 15% of LOS E standards based on daily 
traffic volumes. 

The development is deemed to have impacts related to 
intersection capacity, safety, neighborhood , or other concerns as 
identified by the City of Elko or NDOT. 

Transportation page 32 



- ------------------------------------ Transportation 

A traffic impact study identifies the extent of any impact on the City's 
network of streets and roadways, as well as identifies improvements 
necessary to maintain smooth flow of traffic and public safety. Table 9 
displays common land uses, their daily trip generation rates (per ITE Trip 
Generation 8th Edition), and the approximate size of the land use to 
reach 1,000 daily trips . 

TABLE 9 
DAILY TRIP GENERATION OF COMMON LAND USES 

Approximate Size to 

Land Use 
Daily Trip Reach 1,000 daily trips 

Generation Rate (Traffic Impact Study 
Threshold) 

Single Family Home 9.57 trips/unit 105 units 

Apartment 6.65 trips/unit 150 units 

Condominium 5.81 trips/unit 170 units 

Shopping Center 42.94 trips/ksf 23 ,300 square feet 

Big Box Retail 57.24 trips/ksf 17,500 square feet 

Fast Food 496 .12 trips/ksf 2,000 square feet 
Restaurant 

Sit-Down Restaurant 127 .15 trips/ksf 7,860 square feet 

Gas Station 162.78 trips/pump 6 pumps 

Office 11.01 trips/ksf 90,800 square feet 

Notes: ksf= 1,000 square feet 
Sources: ITE Trip Generation, 8th Edition, Fehr & Peers, 2010 

A traffic impact study should be prepared and sealed by a Nevada 
Registered Professional Engineer with experience in transportation 
engineering and planning. At a minimum, the traffic impact study should 
include the following : 

ELKO 

Existing transportation setting and existing roadway and peak 
hour intersection level of service in the project vicinity (to be 
determined though coordination with City of Elko staff). The 
existing setting should describe bicycle/pedestrian facilities and 
transit service. 

Project conditions including estimated trip generation (for each 
project phase and project build-out), potential for truck traffic, 
project access and circulation (passenger car and trucks), and 
parking . 

Existing plus project conditions including projected roadway and 
intersection peak hou r level of service in the project vicinity, 
identification of significant project impacts to level of service (i.e . 
project causes level of service to drop to LOS E or F, or 
increases delay at an intersection that is already at LOS E or F 
by more than 5 seconds), mitigation measures at locations 
where the project significantly impacts the roadway network, and 

Transportation page 33 



------------------------------------- Transportation 

qualitative discussion on the project's impact to bicycle and 
pedestrian facilities . 

Additional elements may be required at the discretion of City of Elko 
Staffthe City. 

Best Practice 2.4: Designate Truck Routes 

Designating truck routes ensures that heavy truck traffic travels on 
roadways that are designed to accommodate heavy loads. In addition , it 
reduces conflicts between heavy vehicles and other travel modes. Truck 
routes should be designed with large turning radii at intersections (40' 
minimum), adequate pavement to accommodate heavy loads, and 
appropriate buffers between the roadway and sidewalk to minimize 
conflicts with pedestrians . Truck routes should be limited to NDOT 
facilities or arterial roadways , and not travel through the Downtown Core 
or residential areas. 

Best Practice: 2.5: Locate Utilities where they will not hinder 
maintenance or improvements 

Above grade utilities should not be placed within the road right of way. 
Utilities within the road right of way hinder maintenance and other 
roadway improvement efforts. 

Objective 3: Explore transit options consistent with demand 
and available resources. 

Transit is an important part of an overall transportation system. At a 
basic level , transit must provide service to users that do not have access 
to a private vehicle or are unable to operate a motor vehicle . At a 
minimum, service should be demand responsive to provide seniors and 
individuals with disabilities transportation to fulfill basic needs such as 
grocery shopping and medical appointments. If funding is available 
beyond this basic level , fixed route service should be considered. Fixed 
route service provides transit access to the general public via a 
published fixed transit route with transit stops at regular intervals. A 
hybrid of demand responsive service and a fixed route service is 
deviated fixed route service, which allows riders to request a stop that is 
a small distance off ofoff the published transit route . 

Best Practice 3. 1: Plan for Transit 

Oftentimes a6gencies often prepare a short range (zero to five years) or 
long range (five or more years) transit plan that identifies current services 
and identifies future needs and services. Typically, the planning process 
includes public outreach to help identify community needs. In addition, 
the plan evaluates land use and transportation conditions to determine 
locations where transit service has the highest demand. For example, 
higher density neighborhoods, major employment centers, and shopping 
centers tend to have the most demand for transit service. The City of 
Elko should coordinate with the local transit authority to develop a plan 
for the City and surrounding communities . In addition, the City should 

Transportation page 34 



------------------------------------- Transportation 

work with the local transit authority to establish design and location 
standards for bus stops on public streets in Elko. 

Best Practice 3.2: Identify a Location for a Transit Center 

Transit centers can become a hub location.§ for transit connections. A 
major transit center can serve as a common stop for several transit 
routes , with timed connections. In addition, it can provide access to other 
transportation modes/services such as Amtrak , regional bus service 
(~~ Greyhound), and bicycle rental§. Typically transit centers are 
located in densely populated areas that are characterized as being a 
major destination area§..._ -{such as a downtown, major shopping area, or 
major employment center). The City of Elko shouldintends to coordinate 
with the local transit authority to identify an appropriate location for a 
transit center. 

Best Practice 3.3: Access to Schools 

School buses are typically provided by school districts to transport 
students to schools if they live more than a specified distance from their 
school (i .e. greater than two miles). Within the specified distance 
students are encouraged to walk or ride their bicycles to school. Safe 
Routes to School programs and federal funding are available to improve 
walking conditions from neighborhoods to schools. Safe Routes to 
Schools programs include elements such as route mapping, improving 
sidewalks/crossing locations and other roadway features , escort 
programs that recruit parent volunteers to walk/cycle with students 
(walking school bus), and walking/cycling education in the classroom. B~ 
13e_roviding safe routes for students to walk and bicycle to school-,---it I 
reduces the need to provide bus service within these closer proximities 
to schools. 

Objective 4: Promote opportunities to use major 
transportation corridors to beautify the City, 
particularly at major entry points. 

Transportation corridors offer a great opportunity to enhance and 
beautify a the City through public art, way-finding signage, and 
landscaping . 

Best Practice 4. 1: Use transportation corridors to enhance and 
beautify 

Transportation corridors provide many opportunities to incorporate public 
art, banners, entry/welcome features , and landscaping. The following 
transportation facilities/elements provide beautification opportunities: 

ELKO 

Roundabouts: The center island of a roundabout provides a 
great space for landscaping or other art pieces. Many 
communities use roundabouts at entry locations and 
incorporate welcome features in the center island . An 
important consideration when using the center island for art 
or landscaping is to make sure the vehicle sight distance is 

Transportation page 35 



------------------------------------- Transportation 

Example of Pedestrian Way
finding Signage. 

Example of Vehicle Way-finding 
Signage 

ELKO 

maintained and that vehicles can see the entire circulating 
roadway. 

• Center Medians: Center medians provide a good space for 
landscaping. 

Parkway Strip: A parkway strip is the area of land that is 
placed as a buffer between a sidewalk and roadway. 
Typically, parkway strips are between 2-6 feet wide and are 
a good space to place landscaping (specifically trees for 
shade), pedestrian furniture , newspaper racks, and street 
lights. 

Street Lights: Street lights can provide a place to display 
seasonal banners or other art elements. 

Sidewalks: Sidewalks can provide a space for art elements 
that are incorporated into the pavement such as the photo of 
the Euclid Corridor in Cleveland, OH shown on page 32.c 

Pedestrian Furniture: Even the pedestrian furniture and 
fixtures (for example bicycle racks) can be public art and fit 
the feel or theme of the area. 

Best Practice 4.2: Develop a Way-finding Signage Program 

Way-finding signage directs visitors to various destinations including , but 
not limited to; parking , government buildings, and tourist destinations. 
The key to a successful way-finding signage program is to use consistent 
labeling on signs throughout the area, make labels clear and concise, 
and locateing signs appropriately depending on the intended user. 

Two types of way-finding signage should be provided as part of a way
finding signage program: signage for use by motorists and signage for 
use by pedestrians. Signage for motorists should be located at the 
gateways to the community and at major intersections. These signs 
should provide basic information directing motorists to parking and major 
destinations. Signage for pedestrians can provide more detailed 
information about various uses and i-s-Bfteflmay be provided on kiosks. In 
addition , the kiosk can also provide hard copies of maps and other 
information for pedestrians to take with them. Pedestrian level way
finding signage should be located throughout the downtown area and at 
entrances/exits to major destinations. 

Objective 5: Implement and maintain a pavement 
management system and curb, gutter, and 
sidewalk construction/maintenance program to 
protect the investment in existing roads. 

A pavement management system (PMS) is a tool used to estimate local 
roadway maintenance needs . Roadway rehabilitation projects are 
prioritized on a case-by-case basis utilizing factors such as pavement 
condition, traffic volumes, truck traffic volumes, and budget 
constraints . Pavement management systems often include both 
preventative maintenance and pavement reconstruction . 

Transportation page 36 



------------------------------------- Transportation 

TypicallyTypically. a pavement management system involves rating 
roadways on pavement condition every 3-5 years and determining 
whether preventive maintenance or reconstruction is necessary. 

Preventative maintenance targets streets in good condition and involves 
applying a slurry seal to seal small cracks, sealing wide cracks, and 
filling small pot holes. Roadways in good condition should receive 
preventative maintenance on a regular schedule (every 5-7 years) to 
maintain the pavement surface. This preventative maintenance keeps 
the pavement smooth and free of pot holes. 

Pavement reconstruction is necessary when a roadway is severely 
damaged and can no longer hold the expected traffic loads. Rebuilding 
the roadway involves reconstructing both the pavement and soils 
beneath the pavement. 

Sidewalk, curb, and gutter sections should also be maintained and 
replaced . Sidewalks sections that are displaced (heaved or depressed) 
more than 1 inch, have cracks in excess of 1 inch wide, have severely 
deteriorated concrete, or otherwise present a tripping hazard should be 
replaced . Sidewalk maintenance needs should be identified by Elko staff 
as well as citizen feedback . 

Objective 6: Coordinate with other local and regional 
jurisdictions to enhance transportation 
services/facilities for the region. 

Meet regularly (at least quarterly) with partner entities such as NDOT, 
Elko County, the local transit authority, the Elko County School District, 
and public utility complies to discuss transportation , funding sources, and 
transportation priorities . 

In addition , coordinate with other similar communities to gain knowledge 
on their transportation policies, funding sources, and overall system. 
Other communities to coordinate with could include the Cities of Fallon , 
Fernley, Winnemucca , Carson City, Ely, and other Nevada or Utah 
communities . 

Specific coordination items include coordinating with NDOT to update the 
NDOT Functional Classification Map to reflect ATLAS Map 12. Roadway 
Classification and the ATLAS Map 13. Future Roadway Network 

ELKO 
Transportation page 3 7 



ELKO 
MASTER PLAN 'UPDATE 

Zoning Designations 

Citylimits CJ Elko 

Existing Zoning 
Agriculture 

Commercial - General 

Commericial - Convenience 

Commercial - Transitional 

Commercial - Restri cted 

Commercial - Planned 

- Industrial - General 

- Industrial Business Park 

Industrial - Commercial 

~ .,....r,~ 

Industrial - Light 

Public-Quasi Public 

Planned Unit Development 

Residentia l - Special Use Overlay 

Residentia l - Single & Multiple Family 

Residential - Single Family 

Residential - Two Family 

Residential - Multiple Family 

Residential - Mobile Home 

Residential - Office 

Residential - Suburban 

Ex~ 

r D -c:, 
6lJ 
~ t ____ 

_:f--~.tu 

ATLAS MAP 5. 
EXISTING ZONING MAP 

I 
~ ~ ,,, ~ 

J ' I 
1t:) (~ - • 

2] ~~ 
l (, I 

o, 0 
0.6 1 2 1.B 24 

l"!!!"'!""'liii-~"'!""~-- "'!"""'!"""'!"""'!"""'!"""'!"""'!"""'!""~--------~"'!"""'!"""'!"""'!"""'!"""'!"""'!""= ... ~· 

Date Printed 07/26/2017 



ELKO 
MASTER PLAN UPDATE 

Legend 

CJ Vacant Parcels 

Citylimits 

Elko 

~ 
70% 

D 

70% 

~~~ 
70% 

ExhibiLQ._ ATLAS MAP 6. 
VACANT LAND ANALYSIS 

----=----±-i 1 "f , I I 
l I I I 11 r r [ I l 
l 111! l I I I I 

ITCrH+-f-l I I 
, ll:-~-H+---rrn 

I 11~ 
ff 1 1 

1 1 

l J h I _J 

, 1 r µ..l, f ---=i 
I.,, ~ 

-71 ~ l I I I 

t,f~ I; U .. 

n _:-1 T 1 ±~ r-=fr 
1Ll'J1:f,1.., 11·1 

~- j -

1 I . I 

I l --:.J: 1_ -
TL - l T , 

- I·· i r J 1 

-4- If~ f-L 

=- ___a 
-----;- -=..-

!~ 

65% 30% 80% 

~~ 
'°"' / 

40% 1,1 ~ _;~--;r. V - ,,., (,. ~ ¥ 

~"P .. Lt 
-

~ ~ 
.. -

¾ [7 

-,_ 
-i 

= 
'°_: ~ 

J ___. 

~ ~~ 

f-'- f ~ . 

t-t,,~ -j 
~ 

Sz:J rl 

·" 
p • : ,9 ., . 

<::::i 
~ ~·· 

""~-·~ ~ 

R _,$. 

~ 
..- I I 

ref.~ 
70% 

\ 
i 

I 

7 
~ 

l 
l I LJ \ 

- l I ' 
',-,I I 
'--

J l r -
-f 

I r- . ~ 

1 ~ 

i 

,1-; ., 

0 
0 o, 

5 0 5 
1 1 

S Miles 

Date Printed 07/26/2017 



ExhlblL.L_ Atlas Map 8. ELKO 
MASTl:R PLAN UPDATl: PROPOSED FUTURE LAND USE PLAN 

,I, 
9 I 10 

1S I 15 

- --,,. 

:e I .~1~~ I ::1·.~ I I 1~~-~::?:;:1::::: =t :; :zei:1:-I==' s;:.::,,;;:::;;ss;;:;,;ji:atS::i1a:1 Ci ::a1a 

• 
161 15 
21 122 

• 

~ I ·+ R I" I t I t I ,-1· I - il:..aJ 

10 111 

15 I 14 

I ·, I · / 

2~. ~ 

Future Ball Field Complex 

Future Cemetery 

~ 
-- Section Lines 

--- Section Lines 

- Future Roadways 

NEIGHBD CTR 

0 0.15 0.3 0.6 0.9 1.2 

IND-GEN 

MU-DTWN 

MU-NGHBHD 

PARKS-OS 

PUBLIC 

RES-HD 

RES-LO 

RES-MD 

RES-RL 

@J Elko City Limits 

Miles Printed 11 /22/17 



ELKO 
MASTER PLAN UPDATE 

Map Legend 
Future Improvements Roadway Functional Classification 

~ Intersection Improvements --- lntcrslalc 

<.r'2 ~ -i' Grade Separated Interchange --- Major Arterial 

0 lnstc1II Traffic Control Oevke 

Elko_Planned 
Planned Roadway Classsification 

MaiorArterlal 

tJ1r10rArt1:111al 

Colieclor 

MmorArhmal 

NDOT Roadway 

--- Colecto, 

Reg1onl'IIRoi:u::1wa)I 

Note 
Roadway alignments are conceptual. 

Future Roads 

Statice: Ruby Vista Onve to west 
-Collector 
Ruby Vista Staticc to NYTC 
-Minor Ar terial 
Cattle Onve; Moun\a n City 1-twy lo Ex1\ 298 
-MmorArtenal 
-Catie! Drive: Moon1ain Cny Hwy to S!h St 
-Colteclor 
91h St. Lamo, 1111 Hwy lo Errecan Blvd 
-Collecto, 
Front St: A St to Errecart Blvd 
-Collector 
Airport Roao W. Idaho St to Mountain City Hwy 
-Collector 

l 
0 

ii: 

,,---

cS 

! 

.,·, .... 

. , ...... ... 

~ 
,§ 
~ 
u 
C . 
u 
C , 

V) 

. . 
' 

-. . . 

ex. 1-hibiL-:!:..-

Jennings Way Ex1ension 

/,,•• C ~ •••••• •••••• • •••• • •••••••••••• • • •• , 

. . 

. . 
. 
. . 
' 

' 11, 
'>1 

'%& 
"'• ., 

·· ..... 
............ \ 

. . 

ATLAS MAP 12 
TRANSPORTATION PLANNING 

.. 
:~ 
:~ , · m , m X 

' ~ <ii" . . , . , . 
:' ~- ~r 

Sta tice St 

~" Q:-0 

v• ~"' c,'<' 
.;-s 

Future Roadway Network 

............... [.......... : •"~ 
•• •• Errecart Blvd Extension • ·O · .. • •... !~</' 

.. .. · . .. ~- .. -' 

0 
00.075 .15 0.3 0.45 06 

Miles 

Date Printed 11/27/2017 



ELKO CITY PLANNING COMMISSION 
RESOLUTION N0.1-17 

A RESOLUTION OF THE ELKO CITY PLANNING COMMISSION 
AMENDING THE ELKO CITY MASTER PLAN ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS BY 
ADDING OTHER PLAN REFERENCES, LAND USE AND TRANSPORTATION 
COMPONENTS BY UPDATING VARIOUS PROVISIONS TO REFLECT THE 
GROWTH OF THE CITY AND NEW DEVELOPMENT OBJECTIVES, THE 

LAND USE MAP BY CLEANING UP NUMEROUS LAND USE DESIGNATIONS, 
EXISTING ZONING MAP AND VACANT LAND MAP BY UPDATING TO 

REFLECT CURRENT ZONING AND VACANT LAND, AND THE 
TRANSPORTATION MAP BY UPDATING ROADWAY CLASSIFICATIONS 

WHEREAS, the Elko City Planning Commission conducted a public hearing in 
accordance with Nevada Revised Statutes, Section 278.210 and the Elko City Code, 
Section 3-4-12, and 

WHEREAS, the Elko City Planning Commission received public input, and reviewed and 
examined documents and materials related to amending the Acknowledgments, Land Use 
and Transportation components, and the Existing Zoning, Vacant Land, Land Use and 
Transportation maps of the Elko City Master Plan. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Elko City Planning Commission that 
amended portions of the Elko City Master Plan within the Acknowledgement, Land Use 
and Transportation components, and the Existing Zoning, Vacant Land, Land Use and 
Transportation maps, are attached hereto at Exhibits 1 through 7, and that the 
amendments to the Elko City Master Plan attached hereto at Exhibits 1 through 7 are 
hereby adopted. 

All previous versions of the amended portions of Elko City Master Plan, and all 
resolutions or parts of resolutions in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

The amendments to the Elko City Master Plan attached hereto at Exhibits 1 through 7, or 
any portion thereof, shall be effective upon adoption by the Elko City Council. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 5th day of December 2017 by a vote of not less than two
thirds of the membership of the Planning Commission per NRS 278.210 (3) and Elko 
City Code Section 3-4-12 (B). 

By:~ 
AaronMartinez,C 



AYES: Chairman Aaron Martinez, Commissioner David Freistroffer, 
Commissioner JeffDalling, Commissioner John Anderson, Commissioner 
Kevin Hodur, Commissioner Stefan Beck, and Commissioner Tera 
Hooiman 

NAYS: None 

ABSENT: None 

ABSTAIN: None 



Agenda Item VII.B. 

Elko City Council 
Agenda Action Sheet 

1. Title: Review, consideration, and possible action on the Planning Commission's 
recommendation that the City Council deny Zoning Ordinance Amendment 3-17, 
Ordinance No. 825, amending Title 3, Chapter 2 of the Elko City Code ( entitled 
"Zoning Regulations") adding a new Section 29 entitled "Marijuana Establishments 
and Medical Marijuana Establishments Prohibited," and matters related thereto. 
FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

2. Meeting Date: January 9, 2018 

3. Agenda Category: PUBLIC HEARING 

4. Time Required: 15 Minutes 

5. Background Information: At its December 5, 2017 meeting, the Planning Commission 
considered the action initiated by the City Council to establish a new Section 3-2-29 
of the Elko City Code to prohibit marijuana establishments and medical marijuana 
establishments in all zoning districts. Under State law, marijuana establishments 
and medical marijuana establishments cannot be licensed in areas where such uses 
are precluded by zoning. The Planning Commission voted to recommend denial of 
the amendment, in part, because Elko City Code 4-1-5 prevents the City from 
issuing business licenses to applicants for businesses that violate Federal law, 
including marijuana establishments and medical marijuana establishments. The 
Council must either approve or deny the Planning Commission's recommendation. 
CL 

6. Budget Information: 

Appropriation Required: NI A 
Budget amount available: N/A 
Fund name: N/ A 

7. Business Impact Statement: Not Required 

8. Supplemental Agenda Information: P.C. Action Report, Staff Memo, Ordinance 825 
and related correspondence 

9. Recommended Motion: Pleasure of the City Council 

10. Prepared By: Cathy Laughlin, City Planner 

11. Committee/Other Agency Review: Planning Commission, Legal review 

12. Council Action: 

13. Agenda Distribution: 

Created on 12/13/2017 Council Agenda Action Sheet Page 1 of 1 



( ( 

CITY OF ELKO 
Planning Department 

Website: www.elkocitynv.gov 
Email: planning@elkocitynv.gov 

1751 College Avenue Elko, Nevada 89801 · (775) 777-7160 Fax (775) 777-7219 

CITY OF ELKO 
PLANNING COMMISSION ACTION REPORT 

Regular Meeting of December 5, 2017 

WHEREAS, the following item was reviewed and considered by the Elko City Planning 
Commission on December 5, 2017 under Public Hearing format, in accordance with notification 
requirements contained in Section 3-2-21(8)(1) of the City Code: 

Zoning Ordinance Amendment 3-17, Ordinance No. 825, specifically an amendment to Title 
3, Chapter 2 of the Elko City Code entitled Zoning Regulations adding a new Section 29 
entitled "Marijuana Establishments and Medical Marijuana Establishments Prohibited," and 
matters related thereto. 

NOW THEREFORE, upon review and consideration of the application, supporting data, public 
input and testimony, the Planning Commission forwarded a recommendation to City Council to 
not approve Zoning Ordinance Amendment No. 3-17. 

The Planning Commission's findings to support its recommendation was that such 
establishments are already not allowed under the City of Elko Business License process and can 
be handled as the Federal situation changes. 

Attest: 

CC: Applicant 
Jeremy Draper, Development Manager (via email) 
Shanell Owen, City Clerk 



( CITY OF ELKO 
Planning Department 

1751 College Avenue· Elko,Nevada89801 · (775)777-7160 

To: Planning Commission 
From: Cathy Laughlin -City Planner 
Date: November 29, 2017 
Meeting Date: Tuesday, December 5, 2017 

Agenda Item: 

Memorandum 

Website: www.elkocity.com 
Email: planning@ci.elko.nv.us 

Fax (775) 777-7119 

1. Review, consideration, and possible action on Zoning Ordinance Amendment 3-17, 
Ordinance No. 825, specifically an amendment to Title 3, Chapter 2 of the Elko City Code 
entitled Zoning Regulations adding a new Section 29 entitled "Marijuana Establishments 
and Medical Marijuana Establishments Prohibited," and matters related thereto. FOR 
POSSIBLE ACTION 

Background Information: 

State of Nevada passed a law allowing recreational marijuana establishments starting July 1, 2017. As a 
practical matter, the Elko City Code prohibits us from issuing a business license for a marijuana 
establishment, whether medical or recreational, because the business for which the license is applied for is 
unlawful under the Federal Controlled Substances Act, which is a law of the federal government. In terms 
of land use, we currently do not have marijuana establishments of any kind listed as principal, conditional 
or accessory uses in any zoning district. The Nevada State law allows for municipalities to prohibit both 
medical and recreational marijuana establishments through zoning ordinances or other land use 
restrictions. Because this is a zoning ordinance and involves a land use issue, it is referred to the Planning 
Commission for a recommendation to the City Council. The Nevada statute setting forth the criteria for 
license approval also states the distance requirements for any recreational marijuana establishment from a 
school is 1,000 feet and the distance from any community center, such as daycare, park, church is 300 
feet. I have included a map of where a recreational marijuana establishment would be allowed within the 
City of Elko, assuming there were no zoning or other land use prohibitions adopted by the City. 

At the October 24, 2017 meeting, City Council took action to initiate an amendment to the City Zoning 
Ordinance establishing a new Section 3-2-29 of the Elko City Code, and referring the matter to the 
Planning Commission for further action in accordance with Elko City Code Section 3-2-21. 

Additional Information: 

Some questions have been brought up and I would like to address sonie of the questions or concerns 
below. We do not have all of the answers as the State of Nevada is still working through many of the 
issues. 

1. Election results 

a. Elko County election results November 2000 for the legalization of medical marijuana 



( 

County wide; Yes votes: 8,527 No votes: 5,434 
City of Elko; Yes votes: 3,432 No votes: 2,236 

( 

b. Elko County election results November 2016 for the legalization of recreational mari;uana 
County wide; Yes votes: 8,544 No votes: 9,841 
City of Elko; Yes votes: 3,218 No votes: 3,360 

2. Taxes 
a. 15 percent excise tax on the wholesale sale; paid by the cultivator 

The revenue goes to Nevada schools, via the distributive school account, after administrative 
costs for the Department and local governments. 

b. 10 percent excise tax on the retail sales; paid by the retail store. 
The revenue goes to the Nevada State rainy day fund. 

c. Retail sales tax (dispensary) at the local rate of 6.85% The City of Elko gets 
approximately 3 7 percentage of all tax collected by Elko County. 

d. On top of the retail sales taxes, each jurisdiction can charge an origination fee, a license 
fee of a percentage of gross revenue plus quarterly or annual fee. i.e. North Las Vegas for 
a dispensary charges $60,000 annual fee plus 5% gross revenue for their license fee. 
Mesquite for a dispensary charges $50,000 annual fee plus 3% gross revenue for their 
license fee. 

3. Tribal Lands 
Staff has researched the Yerington dispensary and it is proposed to be on tribal land and 
managed by the tribe. Yerington Paiute tribe is looking for the city and Lyon County to enter 
into a compact with the tribe. If the city and county choose to enter into a compact with the 
Yerington tribe, they could collect sales tax on products sold to any non-tribal members. 

~ ~~ 
Cathy~u 
CityP=-

Attachments: 
marijuana.nv.gov print out 
North Las Vegas and Mesquite licensing infonnation 
Map of areas allowed in Elko 



( ( 

******THE FEES LISTED BELOW ARE PROPOSED BY STAFF AND ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE UNTIL APPROVED BY COUNCIL****** 

0 

0 

Origination Fees: 

License Fees: 

Cultivation (Apex Overlay District) - $30,000 
Production (Apex Overlay District) - $25,000 
Testing Laboratory- $10,000 

Cultivation (Apex Overlay District) - 2% Gross Revenue (no annual fee) 
Cultivation • $30,000 Annual fee plus 3% Gross Revenue with a 1 % Increase every other year to 6% 
Production (Apex Overlay District) - 2% Gross Revenue (no annual fee) 
Production - $25,000 Annual fee plus 4% Gross Revenue with a 1% Increase every other year to 6% 
Dispensary - $60,000 Annual fee plus 5% Gross Revenue 
Outside Medical Marijuana Establishment-$10,000 Annual fee 
Testing Laboratory- Gross Revenue to be calculated from fee schedule In NL VMC 5.02.080 

A. When applying for a new license and the license fees are calculated upon gross sales/revenue as set forth in NLVMC Chapter 5.02, 
the director shall require the applicant to estimate the probable amount of revenue the business will generate during the initial license 
period (February- July or August - January). The gross receipts or dollar volume of the business estimated by the applicant shall be 
used as a basis for the license fee for the initial license period. New licenses shall be prorated on a quarterly (February-April, May
July, August- October or November - January) basis, and any license which will be in effect for any portion of a quarter shall be 
considered to have been in effect for that entire quarter; provided, however, that no fee may be prorated if the fee for an entire semi
annual period is $25.00 or less. 

B. Unless specifically provided otherwise in this title or in any other provision of this code, each person doing business in the city shall pay 
to the department, in advance, a semi-annual license fee based on gross sales or gross revenues of the business according to the 
associated fee listed above. 

C. All license fees specified herein as determined on the basis of gross sales/gross revenues shall be calculated on the gross revenues 
prior to the last day of June and the last day of December of each year, and shall be due and payable on the last day of July and the last 
day of January immediately following the period of calculation, provided; that, if the due date falls on a weekend, a holiday, or a day on 
which the department is closed, the fees shall be due and payable on the next succeeding workday. 

0 The business location is subject to an inspection conducted by an inspector from the City of North Las Vegas. You will be contacted by 
the inspector to schedule the inspection once you have submitted your application. Approval from the inspector will be provided to 
the Business License Division prior to the Issuance of the business license and start of business. 

0 Police Department Background Investigation. There will be a nonrefundable investigation fee as set forth by the North Las Vegas 
Police Department pursuant to NL VMC 5.42 for each person required to be investigated. Applicants residing In Nevada must submit 
their application, investigation documentation and fees in person to the Business License Division. Investigation documentation 
consists of the following: Applicant's Request to Release Information, Personal History Questionnaire, and City of North Las Vegas City 
I.D. Form. Applicants will then be referred to the City of North Las Vegas, Police Department, Work Card Fingerprint Bureau to schedule 
an appointment. The Police Department is located at 1301 East Lake Mead Boulevard. The Work Card Fingerprint Bureau is open 
Monday through Thursday, 8:30 a.m. to 4:00 p.m. for processing of business license investigations. The applicant must bring a 
government issued ID for identification purposes (IE Driver's license, state issued identification card, passport, military ID or permanent 
resident alien card). Applicants providing a permanent resident alien card must also provide another form of government issued 
identification. Applicant's residing outside Nevada may submit their application, investigation documentation and fees via mall. 
Applicants must submit all required investigation documentations along with one FBI approved fingerprint card and a color copy of a 
government issued ID (IE Driver's license, state issued identification card, passport, military ID or permanent resident alien card). 
Applicants providing a permanent resident alien card must also provide another form of government issued identification. Please note 
that fingerprint cards must be obtained from a qualified law enforcement agency (IE police department, sheriff's department, etc.) Please 
note that the processing time for the investigation is approximately one to two weeks. 

D Work Card issued by the City of North Las Vegas Police Department. All owners, operators and employees of Medical Marijuana 
Establishments must obtain and maintain a valid work card from the City of North Las Vegas Police Department. Individuals subject to 
the background investigation requirement referenced above will submit their work card fee as published pursuant to NLVMC 5.42.010 C 
along with their investigation fee to the Business License Division at the time their application is submitted. Work cards for these 
individuals will be provided to the applicants by the Business License Division after the issuance of the business license. Employees will 
apply for their work cards from the North Las Vegas, Police Department Work Card Section after the issuance of the business license. 
The owner must contact the Work Card Section to determine what documentation is necessary for employees to apply for their work card. 
The Work Card Section may be reached at 702-633-1807. 

Business License Hours of Operation: Monday - Thursday, 8:00 a.m. to 5:45 p.m. 
Fax Number: 702-399-8099 

Revised 07/14/2014 
Page 2 of3 



( \ 

M 
Maintenance/Handyman/Janitorial Business $100.00 
Management Firm, Property $350.00 
Manicurists $70.00 
Marriage/Family Counselor $150.00 
Massage Establishment $500.00 
Message Center or Telephone Answering Service $100.00 
Medical Marijuana Dispensary $12,500.00 quarterly plus 3% Gross Sales Revenue fee 

caid auarterlv 
Medical Marijuana Cultivation Facilitv 3% Gross Sales Revenue fee caid auarterlv 
Medical Mariiuana Production Facilitv 3% Gross Sales Revenue fee caid auarterlv 
Medical Marijuana Independent Laboratory $5,000.00 one-time fee plus 3% semiannual Gross 

Revenue fee 
Mining, Milling and Manufacturing: 

0 to 5 employees $150.00 
6 to 25 employees $200.00 
26 to 50 emplovees $500.00 
51 to 100 employees $900.00 
Over 100 employees $1,200.00 

Miscellaneous Service, Business $100.00 
Mobile Food Vendor $500.00 cer vehicle 
Mobile Home Park: 

1 to 18 m/h $100.00 
19 to 30 m/h $125.00 
31 to 50 m/h $175.00 
51 to 80 m/h $200.00 
81 or more m/h $250.00 

Mobile Home Setuc and Recair $100.00 
Madelina Aaencv $100.00 
Mortaaae and Investment $600.00 
Motor Transoortation Service $100.00 per vehicle 

N&O 
Nursina Home or Rest Home $500.00 
Office Space Rental $175.00 
Optometrist $250.00 
For Each Traveling Optometrist or Oculist $100.00 cer dav 
Osteopath $300.00 

p 
Parkina Lots: 

1 to 4 scaces $20.00 
5 to 15 soaces $60.00 
16 to 35 scaces $100.00 
36 to 50 scaces $150.00 
Over 50 soaces $250.00 

Pawnbroker $1,000.00 
Pawnbroker Acceotina Motor Vehicles $500.00 
Pet kennel Shop or Animal Hospital $100.00 
Photographer $100.00 

Physician/Surgeon, whether connected with a firm or $300.00 
hospital or oracticina bv himself 
Polygraph Ocerator $150.00 
Private Process Server $100.00 
Promoter $200.00 
Psychiatrist, whether connected with a firm or hospital, or $300.00 
oracticina bv himself 
Psvchic Arts $350.00 
Publisher $100.00 

4 
Revised: 8/27/2015 



Taxes Page 1 of 1 
( 

NVgo1· 
Agencies .!Qll.§ About Nevada 

Marijuana in Nevada 
@ This s,te Only O State-\l\lde 

HOME I SAFETY INFORMATION I LEGAL USE I FOR BUSINESSES I MEDICAL MARIJUANA I STAY INFORMED I 

For Businesses 

Getting A License 

Taxes 

FOR BUSINESSES 

TAXES 

Retail marijuana is subject to the following taxes: 

Working for a Marijuana 

Business 

• 15 percent excise tax on the wholesale sale; paid by the cultivator 

• 10 percent excise tax on the retail sale; paid by the retail store 

• Retail sales tax at the local rate 

The 15 percent excise tax on the wholesale sale is calculated on the Fair Market Value at Wholesale, 

established by the Department of Taxation. 

During the 2017 legislative session, the tax structure for medical marijuana was changed from 2 percent 

excise tax on each sale to 15 percent excise tax on the wholesale sale, paid by the cultivator. This change 

means marijuana establishments that hold both medical registration certificates and retail licenses do not 

have to designate which portion of their inventory is medical and which is retail. Marijuana inventory can be 

kept as a single stream until the point it is sold to the consumer. If it is sold to a retail customer, the additional 

1 O percent retail excise tax will be applied. If it is sold to a medical cardholder, the 1 O percent will not be 

applied to the sale. Regular sales tax at the local rate will be charged to both medical and retail customers. 

Revenue from the 15 percent wholesale excise tax will go toward Nevada schools {less the amount to cover 

the costs of the program for the state and local governments). 

Revenue from the 1 O percent retail excise tax will go the state Rainy Day Fund. 

~ 
INFORMATION 

Keep Kids Safe 

LEGAL USE 

Possession anlj 

Consumptron 

Growing At Home 

Under 21 Years of AgE

Penalties 

Property ()vmers and 

Employers 

Fe1e@ik-np:1c..1t1on$ 

FOR BUSINESSES 

§.51f_1ina AjJCfill§.F;' 

~ 

Workina for a Marjiuana 

Business 

MEDICAL 

MARIJUANA 

STAY INFORMED 

Public Meeting Notices 

News Releases 

Resources 

The Official State of Nevada Website I CopyngM ©2017 St3te of Nevada - All Rights Reserved Privacy Policy ADA...!r.2!rnng/lN~b,nN 

http://marijuana.nv.gov/Businesses/Taxes/ 11/27/2017 





CITY OF ELKO 

ORDINANCE NO. 825 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE 3, CHAPTER 2 OF THE ELKO CITY CODE, 
ADDING A NEW SECTION 29 ENTITLED "MARIJUANA ESTABLISHMENTS AND 
MEDICAL MARIJUANA ESTABLISHMENTS PROHIBITED" 

WHEREAS, the City of Elko desires to amend Title 3, Chapter 2 of the City Code 
pertaining to general zoning regulations to prohibit marijuana establishments and medical 
marijuana establishments in all zoning districts; 

WHEREAS, the City of Elko has determined that the proposed amendment furthers 
those goals; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF ELKO, NEV ADA 

For purposes of this amendment, words which are in bold italics are additions to the Code. 

SECTION 1. Title 3, Chapter 2 of the Elko City Code is hereby amended to add the following 
Section 29: 

3-2-29: MARIJUANA ESTABLISHMENTS AND MEDICAL MARIJUANA 
ESTABLISHMENTS PROHIBITED: 

A. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Code, marijuana establishments and 
medical marijuana establishments are not allowed, and shall be unlawful as a 
permitted use, conditional use or accessory use in any zoning district within the 
incorporated area of the City of Elko. For purposes of this section, the term 
"marijuana establishment" shall have the definition ascribed to it in NRS 453D.030, as 
amended from time to time, and the term "medical marijuana establishment" shall 
have the definition ascribed to it in NRS 453A.116, as amended from time to time. 

B. The prohibitions of marijuana establishments and medical marijuana establishments, 
respectively, are not intended to interfere with the individual rights of persons to the 
lawful use and possession of marijuana as permitted by Chapters 453A and 453D of 
the Nevada Revised Statutes. 

SECTION 2. All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby 
repealed, but only to the extent of such conflict. 

SECTION 3. If any section, paragraph, clause or provision of this Ordinance shall for 
any reason be held to be invalid, unenforceable or unconstitutional by any court of competent 
jurisdiction, the invalidity, unenforceability of such section, paragraph, clause or provision shall 
not affect any remaining provision of this Ordinance. 



SECTION 4. Upon adoption, the City Clerk of the City of Elko is hereby directed to 
have this ordinance published by title only, together with the Councilman voting for or against its 
passage in a newspaper of general circulation within the time established by law, for at least one 
publication. 

SECTION 5. This Ordinance shall be effective upon the publication mentioned in 
Section 4. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this __ day of ______ ~ 2017, by the 
following vote of the Elko City Council. 

AYES: _______________________ _ 

NAYES: ____________________ _ 

ABSENT: ____________________ _ 

APPROVED this __ day of _______ _, 2017. 

ATTEST: 

SHANELL OWEN, City Clerk 

CITY OF ELKO 

By:-------------
CHRIS JOHNSON, Mayor 



Ms. Laughlin said if parking was the concern, there is an empty lot behind the facility and a 
parking lot around the corner, there is a Section in the Code that states for rooming houses, they 
may provide parking in a parking lot not further than 200 feet from the entrance to the dwelling 
unit it is intended to serve. If there is an issue with the parking, maybe the applicant could come 
up with a parking agreement. 

Chairman Martinez thought there was conflict there. He thought that under several circumstances 
they were not allowed to utilize a separate parcel as a parking lot for another location. 

Mr. Draper explained for a Commercial use a parking lot is allowed t 
but it is required to have a Conditional Use Permit. 

Mr. Wilkinson added that they would have to control the pro 

Commissioner Freistroffer's findings 
use for the property, and that the busin 

ioners Hodur and Beck voted no). 

al and that it was time sensitive. 

tion on Zoning Ordinance Amendment 3-17, 
1cally an amendment to Title 3, Chapter 2 of the Elko City 

ati ns adding a new Section 29 entitled "Marijuana 
arijuana Establishments Prohibited," and matters 

IBLE ACTION 

017 meeting, City Council took action to initiate an amendment 
Ordinance establishing a new Section 3-2-29 of the Elko City 

ing the matter to the Planning Commission for further action in 
ith Elko City Code Section 3-2-21. 

Ms. Laughlin explained that the State of Nevada passed a law allowing recreational marijuana 
establishments starting July 1, 2017. As a practical matter the City Code prohibits the City from 
issuing a business license for a marijuana establishment, whether it is medical or recreational, 
because the business for which the license is applied for is unlawful under the Federal Controlled 
Substance Act. In terms of land use, we currently do not have medical or recreational marijuana 
establishments of any kind listed as principle, conditional, or accessory uses in any of the City's 
Zoning Districts. The Nevada State Law allows for Municipalities to prohibit both medical and 
recreational marijuana establishments through zoning ordinances, or other land use restrictions. 

December 5, 2017 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 13 of29 



Because this is a Zoning Ordinance and involves a land use issue it was referred to the Planning 
Commission with a recommendation to City Council. The Commission has been provided a new 
map, which has the locations within the City of Elko which the law prohibits any marijuana 
establishments. The green shows 1,000 feet surrounding any schools and the yellow shows 300 
feet surrounding any social, civic, and activity locations, which includes churches, the Boys and 
Girls Club, Girls Scout House, etc. In Ms. Laughlin's Memo she has provided information on 
some questions that have been addressed to the Planning Department and those are on the 
election results, taxes, and what another community is doing in regards to Tribal Land. Ms. 
Laughlin then turned the microphone over to Dave Stanton. 

g with medical 
stablishments. Both of 

ents, basically any 
proval to 

atters now stand 
ne for medical 

he 

Laws. It is a collateral issue, it's not a land 
Stanton wanted to bring that up. 

C at this Ordinance 825 was initiated by the City 
on was aware of what started the process. 

hought t was a good point of clarification. The City Council identified 
· approved to come to the Planning Commission. 

Ty Trouten, Police De ment, explained that the legal issue was the most concerning issue, 
because it does tie up aw Enforcement's side of this. They are sworn to uphold State, Federal, 
and Local Law. When those laws aren't in accordance with each other it places them in a very 
precarious position. Until the law is changed on the Federal level that issue will remain. Having 
been at the DEA headquarters in Quantico, learning from them, they have nothing on the table to 
readdress the level of this controlled substance. They are going to maintain it as a Schedule 1, 
because there is a great deal of mixed studies, less than scientific studies, which do not clearly 
show from marijuana a medical benefit. That would be the caveat that would take it from a no 
medical use controlled substance down to something with limited medical use, or moderate 
medical use. He did not foresee a change in that law coming anytime soon. The concern from the 

December 5, 2017 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 14 of29 



Law Enforcement was with any drugs, prescription or elicit, there are a host of issues that follow 
quickly on the heels. Some of the issues that were not foreseen as other states have pursued this 
route and legalized marijuana. Because it is still federally prohibited it interferes with the cash 
transactions for such a business. Basically, you cannot utilize a bank, they will not accept the 
cash. You have a high dollar cash business, which makes a prime target for people who wish to 
commit robberies, armed robberies, home invasions, and so forth. Ifwe have readily available 
marijuana for all, not just medicinal, you also have the accompanying DUI issues, just like with 
alcohol establishments. A lot of crimes are related to drugs, obtaining money for, theft, sales, 
prostitution, etc. For that reason Law Enforcement is not in favor of it. Ifwe do violate the 
federal law there is the question, should we be at liability down the ro e are seeing that issue 
play out long term with the Sanctuary City issue. The other conce y h e, they see with 
alcohol establishments, they end up fielding the complaints with inors that are trying to buy 
it. They anticipate a rise in those types of things. Talking wit lishments in the area, 
within the State of Nevada, about the additional burdens t t ere is not anything 
within the law passed by the state that would provide fo n for incr enforcement, or 
to combat the problems that occur. There are some p ems that were alrea n in Clark 
County and Reno. Some things as simple as traffi rol wh 'th 
exceedingly long lines and crowds of people. Mr. T 
tracking their marijuana related statistics for the past 5 
in 2013. The data coming out is one direction, negative. E 
level, 66%, over two-thirds of their juris · ns, have prohib 
use of marijuana, because of these issues. thing to do 
the existence of marijuana establishments, e t Federal 
operations is a moot point. We do not need a eater 
available in the community her compo lrea 
Elko. He encourages t 
via a revision to the 

ers from the Nevada Law, in that the 
se of marijuana. 

C lorado Law allowed the County Entities to opt out of 

if it was for recreational use, not just sales. (Correct) 

Commissioner Be is was a State's right issue. Did the State decide that marijuana is 
legal, then the feds s ot legal, so whoever trumps who? As far as getting a business 
license, you can't issu business license if the State says yes, and the feds say no. he asked if 
was correct in that un erstanding 

Mr. Stanton said generally, yes. He thought a lot people viewed this as a State's rights issue. 

Commissioner Beck said he had a question for Mr. Trouten. He asked what would happen if the 
City had a business license to sell marijuana. Would that potentially get rid of all the 
underground procedures going on? Would there be a tax revenue? He asked if Mr. Trouten had 
an opinion on that. 

December 5, 2017 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 15 of29 



Mr. Trouten explained that he had opinion and it was formed on some information received 
through National Academy, talking with the DA, and some trends that are being seen across the 
country. The prices, that the dispensaries are charging, are quite high, much higher that street 
value. Because there is a great deal of money to be made, what they have seen is that there are 
criminal elements that are taking over the growing, preparation, and deliverance of the 
marijuana. They are now making greater money than they were selling it on the street level. It 
doesn't get rid of the black market as you would hope. What it does is the players get involved 
on both sides and the black market will continue, because we have juveniles. A lot of the minors 
and juveniles are using marijuana as well. They are going to get it somewhere, so there is 
continually that market. Prohibiting a marijuana dispensary or a medi arijuana dispensary in 
the City of Elko doesn't deprive the residents the ability to obtain al arijuana, or anything 
of that nature. For the medical marijuana laws there are allowan rowing, amounts, and 
number of plants. So, there are still means to obtain marijuan use it within the 
parameters of the law without running into an issue. This i s of a dispensary or a 
medical dispensary. 

Commissioner Beck said you read in the news ab 
across the border. lfthere was a way to reduce tH t, 
He asked if it would be fair to say that if they legalize 
it would affect the illegal drug trade. 

Bee 
policy ch 
policy that t 
broader than tn 
Code as they do a 
does come about the 

ike they could lock 
r they are manufactured, 

ere are other dispensaries 
tandpoint the concern comes 

cal Laws. And now they would 

1 point and added that he brought that up himself. 
ways tried to not make policy changes, or be a part of 

one gular item. They have tried to make it a house keeping 
ularity like that, because their policies are supposed to be much 
though they have to identify this and treat it similarly in the 

can address where, and where they do not want it. So that when it 
ave the foundation work for what the constituents want. 

Commissioner Hodur asked if this was in anticipation that it would someday be federally legal 
that they were going to do this now. 

Chairman Martinez thought it was in anticipation of the State Law forcing the City of Elko to 
act. 

Commissioner Hodur said that they already had the federal backup in the Business License 
Code. 

December 5, 2017 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 16 of29 



Chairman Martinez pointed out that the Code doesn't identify whether it is permitted or not. He 
thought they might be getting themselves into some liability by not addressing it. 

Mr. Stanton said that there are a lot of questions that are up in the air on all of this right now, 
particularly at the State level. The issues are complex and are likely to become more complex. 
What we are talking about here is specifically the issue of land use. Business regulation falls into 
one category, and land use falls into another category. One of the primary purposes of land use is 
to enable people to make plans as to how they are going to utilize their property, whether they 
are going to sell their property or purchase property. A Business Licensing Mechanism operates 
independent of a Land Use Mechanism. That is in part why when the · lature wrote these two 
chapters in the NRS, the issues of land use and licensing were addr d se ately. Both of 
those requirements have to be satisfied independently in order :6 tate to issue a license to a 
marijuana establishment, or a medical marijuana establishme of zoning is 
complicated because it interrelates with surrounding com ses throughout the 
rest of Elko County. There are limitations on the numb ts that can be 
placed in one county. We have an Indian Colony loc 
City, which may be subject to a different set of re 
are thinking that we really need to address it on 
to do in the areas where they have the authority to regu 
through Business Licensing. He thought it was a legitimat 
Planning Commission. How are we goin eal with this in 
how this ties in with the State Statutes tha 
and Land Use? 

Commissioner Beck 
in if the City issue 
shut down because they 

lS 1 

of appeti 
establishme 
that talk about 

of his opm10ns on how that might work, but there is no 
of Federal Law versus State Law versus Local Law 

was Mr. Stanton's understanding that there is not a lot 
eral ohibition against the sale of marijuana, and marijuana 
t's been legalized. There are some internal federal memoranda 
will look at, at the State level in order to make a decision as to 

se are policy issues, at the federal level, that can be changed at any 
nerally, is that they have their hands full with plenty of other stuff 

and they aren't really· ined to do that right now. Could the Federal Government sweep in and 
decide to enforce the ederal Controlled Substances Act at some point, and shut down every one 
of the medical or recreational marijuana dispensaries that have been permitted throughout the 
State? It is a possibility. 

Commissioner Hodur asked, ifhe understood correctly, if such a business license would be 
issued by the City of Elko for within the City of Elko. 

December 5, 2017 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 17 of29 



Mr. Stanton explained that if it were legalized at the Federal Level and someone came in and 
applied for one. It's legal at the Federal level, it's legal at the State level. Were that to happen 
without some sort of land use restriction? Yes. 

Commissioner Hodur said he was troubled overall. He explained that he was troubled by the 
either or options that they have before them. That it's either do nothing, and have that be open, or 
do something based on the City Council, and agree with their Zoning Ordinance to make it 
disappear. He was troubled that those were his options. 

Chairman Martinez asked Commissioner Hodur what he proposed. 

Commissioner Hodur said he didn't know. If you take the feder 
they have been able to zone all of the other sorts of businesse 
complicated with the Federal element. He felt that this wa a 
already can't issue a business license based on a federal a ubstanc 
backstopping it, and already deciding even if it's fed y and state legal the 
to have it. His first inclination was to deny this. 

Mr. Stanton clarified th t to know whether that counts 
against the total. 

and it's not 
but thought it 
the future. That is 

s an eresting item, because technically that is a sovereign land 
or Elko County Limits. He wasn't sure how that would play out, 

rtant item. We have neighbors that could be humoring these in 
r many folks. The fact that the State Law has forced the Planning 

f Elko, to act is unfortunate. They are placed in a position of making 
decisions, when the C doesn't identify that that is a permitted usage right now. He has made 
that argument and has heard from other staff members both sides of that argument. He 
understood both sides of the argument. Technically the Code doesn't allow for it now. So, to act 
and to further prohibit was an interesting move, which was not something that the Planning 
Commission generated. One of the other staff members made eloquent point, which was 
sometime when you're not sure what to do it doesn't mean you have to act, and they can wait 
and see. Chairman Martinez didn't think the prohibition would be permanent and it can be 
readdressed through the City Council. He asked if this could be brought up through the Planning 
Commission to be humored by the City Council. 

December 5, 2017 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 18 of29 



Mr. Wilkinson said the Planning Commission could initiate a change. 

Chairman Martinez said his biggest concern was having a distribution center right next door, but 
the City of Elko not benefitting from that, but the City of Elko policing it, health services 
facilitating it, and facilities absorbing it. At what point are we doing ourselves due justice by not 
allowing it. 

Mr. Stanton brought up that West Wendover was actively pursuing a marijuana establishment. 
There is a moratorium in the County, but West Wendover has separate authority to issue a 
license. 

Chairman Martinez pointed out that West Wendover was locate 
would be taking one of the two establishments within the Co 

Mr. Stanton said that was correct. 

Ms. Laughlin said she had an email from Chris M 
states in the email that the Council had not adopt d 
given that the majority wanted to see how the medical 1 

dhe 

Commissioner Hooiman asked if that w 

Mr. Wilkinson stated that he had a question r e City doesn't address 
either a prohibition or allowing these establi ni , and someone approaches the 

ation, because the City hasn't City and says the State Law ws for it, is th 
addressed it. 

Co 
change it 
including cH 
today is actual 
Land Use, irrespe 
future? 

be in compliance with Federal Law 
thought t was a pretty strong position. The City can 

was strong. The think to consider is that that 
er governmental authorities may, or may not, do, rather 

· io for ourselves. Congress can change the Federal 
up to the States, and that may happen. The State can 

o ho t goes about issuing licenses for these establishments, 
er county, or per jurisdiction. What we are talking about here 

ion on the part of Elko. What does Elko want to do in terms of 
other governmental entities may, or may not, decide to do in the 

Mr. Wilkinson clarified that if the City didn't provide for this as some type of use, and some type 
of zone, we wouldn't be able to issue a license, even if the Federal Law were to change, because 
it is not an identified use in any Zone District. 

Mr. Stanton deferred to Ms. Laughlin whether it would fall under the description of any of the 
principle uses, or uses that might be permitted with a CUP. 

Mr. Wilkinson thought it could be retail sales. 

December 5, 2017 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 19 of29 



Ms. Laughlin pointed out under Commercial there is sales and service. 

Mr. Stanton said there are some pretty broad categories listed under the different uses that this 
might fit into. 

Mr. Wilkinson said with that in mind, if someone approached the City of Elko and wanted a 
business license, and the federal government were to change, they would be able to say that it 
was allowed in a Commercial District and they respectfully requested a business license to be 
issued, if the City didn't have a prohibition on this specific use. 

Ms. Laughlin added that it couldn't be in the colored area on the m 

Mr. Stanton said if it falls within a description of a principle 
prohibited under Federal or State Law, and someone come 
it's in the Code we wouldn't be able to deny it. 

Mr. Wilkinson explained that the City Council ini · 
consideration, and that was not a unanimous vot . It 
City Council who is behind initiating this prohibition. 
for a recommendation back to the City Council, one way o 

Mr. Wilkinson said in actuality with the c 

, and it's not otherwise 
· cense for it, unless 

provis· 
ision regar ing Business License denials. He stated that the 

Cl rk from issuing a business license to a marijuana 
esta 
might w 
some litigatI 
it was a strong 
in light of the cli 
Federal Government 

lishment. However, somebody who is really crafty 
inan , and say that the ordinance violates State Law. There is 
re is a disparity between Federal and State Law. He thought that 
ce, but the ordinance could potentially be challenged. Especially 

right now, there is so much controversy over the scope of the 
ol on this issue. 

Chairman Martinez said by issuance of the ordinance, he asked if it was his understanding, that 
they were going further into a liability, because now someone can come in and contest that the 
City is going against Federal Law. 

Mr. Stanton explained that courts look at regulatory codes differently than they look at land use 
codes. The courts are very deferential to local governments when it comes to land use decisions. 
Something like this, Mr. Stanton would feel pretty comfortable with. Although, whenever a land 
use decision is made, especially something that is controversial like this, there needs to be some 
rational for it, and you would want to put that in the record. His experience is regulatory, police, 

December 5, 2017 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 20 of29 



ordinances like this one, or licensing ordinances, can be challenged more easily than land use 
ordinances. 

Mr. Wilkinson thought they should probably review the options for the Planning Commission, 
because this will still go back to the City Council one way or another. There will be a hearing in 
front of the City Council. This is before the Planning Commission for advice and a 
recommendation back to the City Council. Tonight the options are to approve with a 
recommendation for approval, a recommendation not to approve, or the Planning Commission 
could ask to have the item tabled if they need more information. Regardless of where the 
Planning Commission lands on the issue there will be another hearin re the City Council. 

Commissioner Freistroffer asked if they could allow it in certai 
under certain stipulations. 

Mr. Stanton asked if Commissioner Frei 

Commissioner Freistroff er clarified that he 
Industrial Districts with a Conditional Use P 

Commissioner Dalling 
allow the marijuana 

also 

Commissioner 
four to one. He as 

Mr. Wilkinson believe 

e vote to decide whether or not to 

uld be comfortable with Mr. Freistroffer's suggestion of 
i 1 Districts, with a Conditional Use Permit. He would 
t. It's the yes or no nature of this that had him 

eked up by the business license process. 

County Commissioners had already said no, and City Council is 
John Rice that voted against. (Yes) 

r. Rice's primary concern was on the medical side. 

Commissioner Dalling thought it seemed like it's all lined up against it. He didn't know what 
good it would do to give it its own zoning or trying to do a CUP or an overlay, if the kibosh has 
been put on it from the top. 

Commissioner Freistroffer explained that the Planning Commission can propose what they want 
and then the City Council can then respond. 

Commission Dailing asked what good that would do. 

December 5, 2017 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 21 of29 



Commissioner Freistroffer said there would be no delay or speeding up, it would just be 
something different. 

Commissioner Hodur said just because there is a line, doesn't mean that they are right. 

Commissioner Dalling said he didn't say anyone was right. He was just saying that he didn't 
know what they were fighting for. And now you want to turn it into a whole new district, an 
overlay, or a whole new CUP process, that turns it into more work. 

Commissioner Hodur said he was fine with just denying. If the Cit 
Planning Commission's recommendation then that's fine. The P 
back with a recommendation later, if the atmosphere changes 
Commission needing to get in the line, not when the City i a 

Mr. Wilkinson thought they would include that as p 
Those type of concerns for the City Council to co 
Martinez had some concerns and staff hasn't bee a 
some projections on what type of revenues you might g 
some unanswered questions. 

Ms. Laughlin 
revenue for medic 
quarter license fee, p 

of the concerns and 
e questions. He would be 

at benefit would be for the 
g at it from a Zoning purpose 

ommissi sometimes evaluates the impacts 
ing policies. The Planning Commission does 

stated that staff had already answered 
e research he had done. 

ation on Mesquite's 1st Quarter revenues, as well as what 
if anyone would like to know. 

's first quarter, just on the dispensary, they received $12,600 in 
creational they received $77,000. Mesquite charges $12,500 a 

Chairman Martinez as ed if any of that was sales tax revenue. 

Ms. Laughlin stated that none of that was sale tax revenue. Aaron Baker, from Mesquite, 
informed Ms. Laughlin that the sales tax they collect all goes to the County. 

Chairman Martinez asked if that was an inter-local agreement or if it was a global. 

Ms. Laughlin wasn't sure. Mr. Baker just said that they don't get any sales tax revenue from it, 
this is simply their license fee. Mesquite had projected in their estimates, when they took this 

December 5, 2017 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 22 of29 



ordinance to their City Council, they estimated $50,400 in medical in a year and $308,000 in 
recreational in a year. West Wendover projected in their medical $80,000 annually, and that was 
on the fee structure of 3% of gross sales, and they estimated between $250,000 and $300,000 
annually for recreation, if they add the recreational component to their ordinance. 

Commissioner Dalling asked if $350,000 would go to the County. 

Ms. Laughlin clarified $250,000 to $300,000 for the City of Wendover. 

Mr. Wilkinson suggested the Commission keep in mind that both tho 
communities. There is that influence there. 

's s was the Colorado Study, 
ey started studying it their first 

st issued lume 5 about a month ago. They 
ata, and all other kinds of data. All of it is 

mmunity. It appears that they went with 
sdictions as well. They quote a statistic that 

ve s ibited marijuana dispensaries, either 
urrently, as of June 2017, have 491 retail marijuana stores 

208 McDonalds. About a year ago Chief Reed 
for the Denver area, at the time, he was speaking in 

· ety o ttendees. He was highly recommending that the voters of 
Nevada not Question No. 2. Question No. 2 did go ahead and pass State 
wide about a y t believe it passed the voters in Elko, it went down in Elko 
County. He looke tary of State's data and it typically passed in Washoe and Clark 
Counties, with a cou xceptions. He spoke to a lot of the problems they had from a crime 
standpoint, but Denve their major metropolitan area and is much different than Elko. It was 
all bad news, he spoke of all the foreign countries that are operating cartels out of Colorado. 
There were five or six different countries that he identified, who sell, process, control, and ship 
out, which they had never saw before. He also talked about the immigration of people coming 
there for marijuana from all over the world, Europe, Canada, Mexico, and Asia. They went to 
live there to acquire product. Chief Reed thought this was a fairly new statistical area 
Nationwide, because not many people are tracking it. The Federal Government doesn't really 
track it with a ton of statistics like they do for everything else, because it's prohibited. Chief 
Reed read some internet crime stories for what is going on in Nevada. There are a lot of them in 
the Clark County area. There have been around 30 burglaries of marijuana establishments since 

December 5, 2017 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 23 of29 



January 2016, one armed robbery, one shooting by the police, and a number of other crime 
problems. He has seen that from where he used to work and talking to other Police Chiefs and 
Sheriffs in Nevada, as well as Colorado and California, that there is an impact on the Police 
Department once the establishments are established. He will be placed in a position where he 
will either have to tell callers calling for service that they aren't coming call the State, or Elko 
Police Officers will respond. The types of responses that they have seen in other areas are a 
variety of things, loitering, minors, fights, burglaries, etc. They do get marijuana conflict calls 
now for people who have personal grows in their homes, or their backyards. Typically it is the 
neighbors complaining about the smell, but it is permitted under current law in Nevada for up to 
six plants, or up to possession of an ounce. There are about 4 in the Ci at they've gotten calls 
on, they check to make sure they are in compliance with NRS 453, e if they are they 
move on and let the neighbor know. 

Commissioner Freistroffer asked if the Police Department 
Marijuana Card, because it's for personal medical user· 

Chief Reed explained that they are typically looki 
There are issued Statewide, there are not many ou 
have been issued. Because it is still prohibited by Feder 
understanding, Doctors cannot prescribe but many doctor 
there is no script for it. If Congress was and move this 
drugs, into a particular schedule and allo 
from the law enforcement, mostly, at the in :vi 
and patient. We would still have the black m 
wouldn't have the conflict e have now. 
he had a hard time expl · 
rules, State schemati unty pr 
medicinal facilities, 

an ultivation issues, but you 
ult issue. Chief Reed stated that 

on something that Mr. Trouten had said. He 
y is that? 

Chi messes deal on a cash basis. They're not doing 
e the 's guidance, from their owners and legal staff, is to be 
't want to get sideways with the federal regulators in the banking 
ally insured, they have federal oversite, and federal law. It's very 

Mr. Wilkinson added the attended a short seminar on this issue at League of Cities, and a 
small community that has the full chain of the product, from grow to dispensary, has a huge 
problem with the amount of cash that they have to deal with. It is also a huge security concern. 
It's just waiting for a crime. When you allow for these type of businesses you are setting the 
stage for a big problem that could arise. 

Grett Miller, 1024 Barrington Avenue, pointed out that someone could grow six plants without a 
medical marijuana license by recreation. 

December 5, 2017 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 24 of29 

I 

_I 



Chief Reed thought Mr. Miller was correct, he thought that was under Question No. 2 that 
allowed for that. Question No. 2 established a whole new set of crimes on marijuana. He thought 
it got even more complex when that passed last year. 

Mr. Wilkinson asked by extension if individuals are able to cultivate and use marijuana, does the 
City really needed to allow for dispensaries or grows. It's more of an individual choice at that 
time and if the City had a prohibition, it would be a City decision on land use, but an individual 
could still do what they wanted to do. 

Chairman Martinez thought that was an interesting point. On the other 
distribution center is open then those folks, who were once able to 
asked if that was correct. Once that distribution facility is open · 
no cultivation allowed. He said at some point they would be r 
make that individual decision. 

Chief Reed explained within 25 miles of a retail mar·· 
prohibited. 

Chairman Martinez said that was one of the most intere 
almost like to feed the coffers. 25 miles covers the City o 

Commissioner Dalling asked if it would s 

Chairman Martinez said no, absolutely not. 

revenue generated, it · 
Nevada Statute is s 

wo ld agree with him, but almost all of this is revenue 

Chairman M 
it. If you look at t 
receiving all of those 

f doing it, other than acquiring revenue, have just been 
s have looked at it purely as a revenue resource. 

that the law is sculpted to where they have the largest benefit of 
n, what we have been able to identify so far and the State is who is 

Mr. Wilkinson didn't elieve that the City Council viewed this as a revenue resource and 
something that the City should go do to generate revenue for the City of Elko. 

Commissioner Dalling said his thoughts on it were, normally he wouldn't care. He rode with 
Reece Keener in the Centennial Parade and they talked a little bit about it. Mr. Dalling knew he 
wasn't into it, but he was questioning why. Mr. Keener's thoughts were the crime. Mr. Dalling 
stated that he was a business owner and he had looked into. He talked with Ms. Laughlin about it 
and asked her what the boundaries were. He thought whoever got it, it would be like the golden 
ticket. Mr. Keener had a good point and said that one person benefits, and the rest of the people 

December 5, 2017 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 25 of29 



get to deal with the fallout. Part of him wanted to go with not allowing it and the other half 
thought maybe they should allow it. The problem is that it is fully illegal in the County and in the 
City. So, by doing this are they really hampering anything, or are they doing what is right, or are 
they leaving the door open for a legal fight. He pointed out that there were dispensaries in Las 
Vegas and Reno. Would they benefit from allowing one in little Elko? Nevada borders two 
States, and if they open their own it's not like this is a destination town to come get weed. If the 
City is getting $300,000 into the City coffers. He thought $300,000 was a joke for the City 
budget. 

Chairman Martinez thought Mr. Dalling brought up good points. The 
$19 Million per year. He thought they brought up a lot of good poi 
be made. For Mr. Martinez it came down to more access and mo 
was in the City's best interest at this time. 

***Motion: Forward a recommendation to City Co 
Amendment No. 3-17. 

Commissioner Hodur's findings were that sue e 
under the Business License Process and can be ban 

Moved by Kevin Hodur, Seconded by 

3. Review, co 
amendm 
and th 

's operating budget is 
he are plenty more to 

e. He wasn't sure that 

, and Hooiman voted No). 

viewed an initiated the amendment to the City of Elko 
2 7 and September 7, 2017 meetings. 

Ms. Laug 
referencing 
Master Plan. S 
Use Document. 

ont the Commissioner's was a spreadsheet that was a cross 
the majority of the amendments that Staff was proposing to the 

r the proposed changes to the Acknowledgements and the Land 

Chairman Martinez h question about the airport for the City Manager's Office. He asked if 
this was the appropriate time to address the long term plan of the Airport. 

Ms. Laughlin explained that the Airport just completed a Master Plan. 

Mr. Wilkinson added that the Airport had their own Master Plan. 

Chairman Martinez asked if the City Master Plan is referencing the Airport Master Plan, and if 
so if there was an identification of that long term commercial utilization of the Airport. 

December 5, 2017 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 26 of29 



Agenda Item VII.C. 

Elko City Council 
Agenda Action Sheet 

1. Title: Review, consideration, and possible action on an appeal filed pursuant to Elko 
City Code 3-2-18(E)(3), appealing the Elko City Planning Commission's decision to 
deny Conditional Use Permit No. 6-17, filed by Lyfe Recovery Services, LLC., which 
seeks permission to operate a halfway house within an R (Single Family and 
Multiple Family Residential) Zoning District, located generally on the east side of 
Winchester Drive approximately 400 feet north of Orchard Cove Drive (1683 
Winchester Drive), and matters related thereto. FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

Pursuant to Elko City Code 3-2-25, the Council may affirm, modify or reverse the 
decision of the Planning Commission. 

2. Meeting Date: January 9, 2018 

3. Agenda Category: PUBLIC HEARING 

4. Time Required: 15 Minutes 

5. Background Information: The Planning Commission considered the subject 
conditional use permit on December 5, 2017 and took action to deny the conditional 
use permit. Subsequently, of the applicant appealed the Planning Commission's 
decision. CL 

6. Budget Information: 

Appropriation Required: N/ A 
Budget amount available: N/A 
Fund name: N/A 

7. Business Impact Statement: Not Required 

8. Supplemental Agenda Information: Appeal letter, P.C. Action Report, draft December 
5, 2017 P.C. Minutes, Staff Reports, and application 

9. Recommended Motion: Pleasure of the Council 

10. Prepared By: Cathy Laughlin, City Planner 

11. Committee/Other Agency Review: Planning Commission, Legal Counsel 

12. Council Action: 

13. Agenda Distribution: Lyfe Recovery Services, LLC 
695 W. Arroyo Street 
Reno, NV 89509 

Created on 12/19/2017 Council Agenda Action Sheet Page 1 of 1 



• THOMAS & ASSOCIATES 
KENNETH E. THOMAS, ESQ. 

Elko City Counsel 
Mayor Chris J. Johnson 
Councilman Reece Keener 
Councilwoman Mandy Simons 
Councilman Robert Schmidtlein 
Councilman John Patrick Rice 
City Manager Curtis Calder 
Assistant City Manager Scott Wilkinson 
1751 College Avenue 
Elko, Nevada 89801 

Dear Honorable Counsel Members, 

ATTORNEY AT LAW 

December 19, 2017 

The law firm of Thomas And Associates has been retained to represent L YFE Recovery 
Services, LLC (L YFE) in it's appeal of the City of Elko Planning Commission's December 5, 
2017, denial of Conditional Use Permit (CUP)No. 6-17, to operate a sober living residence at 
1683 Winchester Drive. 

First and foremost, LYFE's objective is to harmoniously collaborate with the City of Elko 
in providing attainable sober living housing to "handicapped" residents. To this end, L YFE is 
open and willing to negotiate in good faith any terms of this proposal and/or any additional terms 
the City may request. 

A brief Legal analysis is provided, however it is intentionally being kept to a minimum 
and recitation of cases, city codes and statutes are provided for reference only. 

L YFE's Legal Federal Causes of Action. 

1) Elko City Code 4-1-3(A)(B), 3-2-3 and 3-2-5 violates the FHA and ADA 
2) Elko Planning Commission's December 5, 2017 denial of CUP violates the FHA and 

ADA 
3) Elko's Planning Commission's failure to grant wavier of fire Code requirement for 

installation of sprinkler system for more than ten residences in an already existing eleven 
bedroom facility. 

Under the FHA, it is unlawful to discriminate in the sale or rental, or to otherwise make 
unavailable or deny a dwelling to any buyer or renter because of a handicap. 42 U.S.C. 
§3604(f)(l). A person is handicapped ifhe or she has a mental or physical impairment. U.S.C. 
§3602(h). It is well established that individual recovering from drug or alcohol addiction are 

Page 1 of 4 

5155MYRTLEWOODAVE., LASVEGAS,NV 89122 TEL: 702.204.0705 FAX: 702.456.3575 E•MAIL: TEST4ME@COX.NET 



disabled / handicapped under the FHA and therefore protected from housing discrirnination.1 

It is equally well established that zoning practices that discriminate against disable individuals 
can be discriminatory, and therefore violate §3604, if they contribute to making unavailble or 
deny housing to those persons.2 A plaintiff can establish a violation under the FHA by proving 
the disparate impact of a practice or policy on a particular group, or by showing that the 
defendant failed to make reasonable accommodations in rule, policies, or practices so as to afford 
people with disabilities an equal opportunity to live in a dwelling. 42 U.S.C. § 3604(f)(3)(B). 
Once an FHA violation is established the plaintiff is entitled to injunctive relief. 

The American with Disabilities Act (ADA) provides that "no qualified individual with a 
disability shall, by reason of such disability, be excluded from pc;IIi:icipation in or be denied the 
benefits of the services, programs, or activities of a public entity~ or be subjected to 
discrimination by any such entity." 42 U.S.C. §12132. Parallel to the FHA, this provision 
prohibits governmental entities from discriminating against disabled persons through zoning. 
Also like the FHA, the ADA's protections extend to person's recovering from drug or alcohol 
addiction.3 The standards regarding disparate treatment claims under the ADA are typically 
identical to FHA and Courts accordingly interpret them in tandem. 

Here, under City Code 4-1-3(A) LYFE is required to have a business license. In order to 
get business license for their sober living home, under City Code 4-l-3(B) the city requires that 
you have a" fixed place of business. "A business license shall be issued ONLY if the applicant 
has a fixed place of business from which the business will be conducted ... " L YFE obtained a 
lease for the subject property at $5,000.00 per month in May. 

In May 2017, after obtaining the required "Fixed Property", L YFE applied with the City 
of Elko for a business license for a "sober living home." In June 2017 that license was denied 
because it was determined by the City that L YFE' s license would be classified as a half way 
house and required a CUP. And the application required a $750.00 non-refundable fee, 
attendance at the Planning Commission meeting on December 5, 2017, a "Site Plan Review" (3-
2-3( C)(6) and "As Built Drawing" (3-2-3(S)). The property was built in 1999 and neither were 
easily obtainable. 

On December 5, 2017, The City ofElko's Planning Commission denied LYFE's 
application for a CUP simply stating, "The Planning Commission's findings to support its 
recommendation was that this was not a suitable use for the property and the business was 
currently not in compliance." 

Planning Commission's denial of CUP is discriminatory and violates the FHA and ADA. 
In addition, Elko City Code 4-1-3(A)(B), 3-2-3, 3-2-5(E) and 3-2-18 violates the FHA and ADA 

Subjecting an entity protected by anti-discrimination laws to a permit or registration 
requirement, when the requirement is imposed for a discriminatory purpose, has obvious adverse 

1CITY OF EDMONDS v WASHINGTON STATE BLDG. CODE COUNCIL, 18 F.3d 
802 (9th Cir.1994). 

3 HERNANDEZ v. HUGHES MISSILE SYSTEMS CO .. 362 F.3d 564 (9th Cir. 2004) 

Page 2 of 4 



impacts upon that entity, and being forced to submit to such a regime is sufficient to establish 
injury in a disparate treatment claim. This would be true even if such permits were granted freely. 
The Court in FLORES V. PIERCE, 617 F .2d 1396 (9 th Cir. 1980), stated, "The City fails to 
appreciate that it was the imposition of the Ordinance itself that triggered the Plaintiffs alleged 
injuries. We have recognized that it is unlawful discrimination to subject individuals to 'the 
rigors of the governmental or administrative process ... with intent to burden, hinder, or punish 
them by reason of their membership in a protected class."' 

Here, because LYFE had to submit an Application for Conditional Use Permit to the Elko 
Planning Commission, pay a non-refundable fee of $750.00, submit a plot plan, submit an 
Elevation plan and attend the Planning Commission Meeting on December 5, 2017, then L YFE 
can show that evidence that they were harmed by the imposition of the discriminatory regime, 
and this is more than sufficient for L YFE to maintain a claim for disparate treatment based upon 
the imposition of the permit requirement itself. Such actions and requirements have a chilling 
effect on the protected class and is at minimum burdensome, expensive and a violation of FHA 
and ADA. 

DAMAGES 
The City of Elko' s business license permit application process has been burdensome, 

time-consuming and costly, requiring hundreds of hours of staff time as well as thousands of 
dollars in legal assistance, lost revenue and lease expense. 

But for the City ofElko's violations of ADA and FHA, first violation occuring in June 
2017, then L YFE would not have had to attempt to mitigate their damages by leasing the 
residences to the public through Air B&B, Craig's List and the like. 

Damages that have granted to Plaintiff for violations of the ADA and FHA by the Ninth 
Circuit Court Of Appeals, include but are not limited to the following: 

1) Cost of complying with the City of Elko' s Code. 
A). Diverted stafftime4

: Approximately $5,000.00 
B). Attorney's fees: 5 $10,000.00 (as of 12/19/17) 
C). Actual business expense directly related to acquiring the COP. $750 filing fee and 

$375.00 appeal fee. Total $1,125.00 
2) Lost income6 

: $5,000.00 month lease for six months : Total $30,000.00 
3) Emotional Distress: 

A). Humiliation and embarrassment (24 C.F.R. §180.670(b)(3)(1) 

4 (CONVOY CO. v SPERRY RAND CORP., 672 F.2d 781(9 th Cir. 1982)) 

5 28 CFR §36.505, and see, (SHERWIN MANOR NURSING CTR. v MCAULIFFE, 37 
F.3d 1216 (9th Cir. 1994)) 

6 (HARPER v. CITY OF LOS ANGELES, 533 F.3d 1010 (9th Cir. 2008)) 

Page 3 of 4 



B). Anger, embarrassment and emotional distress (MORGAN v. SEC'Y OF HUD, 
985 F.2d 1451 (10th Cir. 1993)) 

Total' estimated damages as of 12/19/2017 are over $50,000.00 

In addition to injunctive relief the Court may grant a civil penalty against the City of 
Elko under FHA 42 U.S.C. 3614(d)(l)( C)(i) for up to $100,554.00 for the first violation and up 
to $201,106.00 for any subsequent violation. Under ADA 42 U.S.C. 12188(b)(2)( C)(I) for up to 
$90,535 for first violation and $181,071 for any subsequent violations.(Table Attached) 

In any civil case the Plaintiff has the duty to mitigate their damages. In fact under 28 CFR 
36.506 settlement negotiations are highly encourage. But under ADA and FHA private suit can 
be filed upon the perception or occurrence of the first violation and exhausting Local City 
remedies is not required. A more detailed analysis can be provided, however that will incur 
significant additional attorney fees that can be awarded against the City of Elko in a Federal Suit 

Proposal: 

1. Approve business license for "sober living residence" or half way house at the January 9, 
2018 City Counsel Meeting, or grant temporary License to open the same pending further 
negotiation. 

2. The City shall pay half the cost of lease for the six month delay ($5000.00 month X 6 = 
$30,000.00 I 2 total $15,000.00.) 

3. The City shall pay half the Legal fees incurred by L YFE up to and including the January 
9, 2018 City Counsel meeting ( as of this date 12/19/2017 twenty hours at $500.00 per 
hour= total $10,000.00 /2 == $5,000.00) 

Please call (702) 204-0705 , fax (702) 456-3575 or email (test4me@cox.net) me directly with 
any concerns, questions, counter proposals or the like. 

Respectfully, 

~c:0 
Kenneth E. Thomas, Esq. 

Page 4 of 4 



/ 

December 12th, 2017 

City of Elko 
Elko NV 89801 

With Respect, 

RECEIVED 

DEC I 5 2017 

Initial: ____ _ 

Pursuant to Title 3-2-25 Appeals of Title 3-2-2 ELKO ZONING ORDINANCE, Applicant, L YFE 
Recovery Services, LLC hereby formally requests to appeal the Elko City Planning 
Commission's December 5, 2017 denial for Applicant's Conditional Use Permit NO. 6-17 to the 
City of Elko City Council. 

L YFE Recovery Services, LLC is requesting a Conditional Use Permit to allow for a "Sober 
Living Residence". 

Time is of the essence, as such Applicant is requesting appeal be placed upon the City 
Council's January 2017 calendar. 

_,,,,,.~ .--···-------
-·-··-------~;·:;y .. -. -- ,,,/-...,,___ 
!. a,t:,you,~ 

_// ) 



( ( 

CITY OF ELKO 
Planning Department 

Website: www.elkocitynv.gov 
Email: planning@elkocitynv.gov 

1751 CollegeAvenue Elko,Nevada89801 · (775)777-7160 · Fax(775)777-7219 

CITY OF ELKO 
PLANNING COMMISSION ACTION REPORT 

Regular Meeting of December 5, 2017 

WHEREAS, the following item was reviewed and considered by the Elko City Planning 
Commission on December 5, 2017 under Public Hearing format, in accordance with notification 
requirements contained in Section 3-2-18 (F) of the City Code: 

Conditional Use Permit No. 6-17, filed by LYFE Recovery Services, LLC, which would 
allow for a Halfway House for recovering alcohol and drug abusers within an R (Single
Family and Multi-Family Residential) Zoning District, and matters related thereto. 

The subject property is located generally on the east side of Winchester Drive, approximately 
420 feet north of Orchard Cove Drive, 1683 Winchester Drive. (APN 001-920-054) 

NOW THEREFORE, upon review and consideration of the application, supporting data, public 
input and testimony, the Planning Commission Denied Conditional Use Permit No. 6-17 subject 
to the following findings by the Planning Commission: 

The Planning Commission's findings to support its recommendation was that this was not a 
suitable use for the property and the business was currently not in compliance. 

The applicant is advised of the right to appeal this decision to the City Council within 10 
days of the date of approval as stated above. 

Attest: 

CC: Applicant 
Jeremy Draper, Development Manager (via email) 
Shanell Owen, City Clerk 



*Motion passed unanimously. (6-0) 

I. NEW BUSINESS 

A. PUBLIC HEARING 

2. Review, consideration, and possible action on Conditional Use Permit No. 6-17, 
filed by L YFE Recovery Services, LLC, which would allow for a Halfway House 
for recovering alcohol and drug abusers within an R (Single-Family and Multi-
Family Residential) Zoning District, and matters related t o. FOR POSSIBLE 
ACTION 

The subject property is located generally on thee 
approximately 420 feet north of Orchard Cove 

inchester Drive, 
chester Drive. (APN 

001-920-054) 

Commissioner JeffDalling arrived. 

Jonathon 
the property 
have drugs for 
easy to be found. 
hard for his things a 
before. He doesn't w 

be better monitored. 
the halfway house would 

este rive, said that this halfway house had him concerned for 
The Winchester Apartments, down the road, have been known to 
n't find it a good idea to put a halfway house where drugs are 

t to be worried about his things when he goes to work. He works 
lready had them stolen from people that were addicted to drugs 

o have that happen again. 

Miguel Cespedes, 1655 Winchester Drive, said he had the same concerns as everyone else. He 
has one child that is a year old. He had the same concerns about having his kid playing outside 
and someone relapses, they are driving, and they cause an accident. There are kids in the summer 
that run up and down the street. He bought the home because he knew it was a nice, safe, quiet 
area. This will cause problems for him in the future if it depreciates the value of his home. He 
asked why he had to worry about that now, when he first bought it he thought it was a good 
neighborhood with new homes where he would have no issues. 

December 5, 2017 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 2 of29 



Cathy Laughlin, City Planner, wanted to start off with a little background information. The 
property is zoned R, which is the Single-Family and Multi-Family Residential District. It does 
allow for this type of development with a Conditional Use Permit. The subject property was 
developed as a single family residence and it was built to the existing setback requirements. 
There are no additional areas within the property to accommodate any growth, accessory uses, or 
off-street parking. The City of Elko issued a building permit in 1999 for the construction of the 
existing house. It was originally developed as an elderly care facility for 10 or fewer, therefore it 
did not require a CUP, as that is a principle permitted use within the zoning district. Beehive 
Homes was the original developer of the property and they owned the property until July 2017. 
At that time it was sold to the current owner, who leases the property FE Recovery. The 
property owner's permission for LYFE Recovery to apply for this 1 Use Permit was 
included in the packet. One of staffs largest concerns of this is i meet all of the applicable 
Codes and Master Plans, with the exception of 3-2-17. Staff 1 ed -17 a couple of 
different ways. If you look at it as a boarding house, or a r o current code 
requires one parking space per sleeping room, or one pe ter. They also 
looked at it as ITE as well, which would require .45 would equate 
to 4.5 parking spaces that are 9' by 20'. It current ont 
driveway area, none of which are outside the fro t s 
parking be outside the front setback. But staff looks at 
look at the Code section that talks about legal non-confo 
conforming uses and may be allowed to · ue provided, h 
uses may not be extended, enlarged, or ch other non-co 
Conditional Use Permit. As this was appro e pulled t riginal site plan, and it 
showed one ADA Handicapped Parking Stal ith a · le a that was approved in 1999 
by the City of Elko. Staff fe t this could c f as a on-conforming use, but they 
want to limit the parkin rovided o treet. Staff. oesn't want to create a burden for 
the adjacent property erflow park1 on the street. Other concerns have been 
brought up through e calls to the ing Department, or communication 
amongst staff. Some of tH rules of Halfway House. Staff reached out to Ms. 
Payne and sh · d cop1 ouse, which are in front of you. Staff also has 

· being use . It is listed on several different venues for 
sts at a time. They are currently unlicensed to be 

arge concern. On one of those websites it states that 
mi es away from the home. If that's the case, Ms. Laughlin's 

les was if they are being monitored by someone who lives 
he facility. How are the rules being enforced and monitored? 

aid to be clear. He asked if Ms. Laughlin's findings and conclusion 
sistent. 

Ms. Laughlin said the findings were consistent and they do consider the parking as legal non
conforming. Her recommendation was if this was approved tonight, she would recommend the 
conditions listed in the memo. 

Jeremy Draper, Development Manager, said the Development Department concurred with the 
Planning Department as it was presented, with this particular use. In Mr. Draper's memo under 
Recommendations, Recommendation Number 5, which would require additional parking, he 

December 5, 2017 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 3 of29 



asked that to be struck, as this would be a Conditional Use Permit allowing for the continuation 
of this legal non-conforming use. 

Bob Thibault, Civil Engineer, said the Engineering Department had the same concerns about 
parking. 

John Holmes, Fire Marshal, stated that a fire inspection of the facility is mandatory, and keeping 
on an annual inspection rotation. If they are going to have over 10 occupants, sprinklers will 
need to be installed into the facility. 

Scott Wilkinson, Assistant City Manager, concurred with a possibl 
on what staff has presented. He thought they should hear from t 
enforced and maintained at the facility, who is in charge at th 
followed, and it would be beneficial to go through the rule t. There is a 
Midnight curfew, and he wasn't sure if that was approp · r resident ing. Have that 

Ye testified type of discussion for the benefit of the public and t ncemed residents tH 
tonight. One other concern he had was that he tho as come 

ess that to light that we have rentals occurring for traveli g p 
issue with the Planning Commission. Mr. Wilkinson di ent of the 
Conditional Use Permit Application. 

pany runs structured 
. There are a set of rules 

<lures to ensure that the 
ey clearly state in the rules that 

ge. That should there be any 

· the owner, she has an Operations 
properties. She stated that she was really 

ave residences in every community in 
ity, Dayton, Fallon, Elko, Reno, and Sparks. She also 

01 . They are not a new to running Halfway Houses. 
e halfway houses provide social reintegration, which 

they don ured pervised housing only. Treatment is all done offsite. They 
have require participate in a recovery program, so that they do stay sober and 
clean, but they hat people are going to pick a multitude of treatment modalities. 
They encourage r of its forms, and they are there to support and encourage them to 
continue to do that. s drug use or alcohol use. They have a breathalyzer on site and if 
someone's drug of ch e is alcohol, then anytime they return to the property they ask them to 
blow into the breathalyzer. If they are impaired or intoxicated they are not allowed to remain on 
the property. They have a preapproved plan with that person and their family as to what they 
would do at that point. They also do random drug testing. Their staff members do that on a 
random number generator basis. They use instant tests onsite, so they know the results 
immediately. What they've done while they tried to get all the paperwork ready for the 
Conditional Use Permit Application was listed it on Airbnb, and they do have residents who have 
booked with them through Airbnb. They are not operating as a life recovery property, so at this 
time they had someone who was local who would do a check-in for Airbnb residents that wanted 
to stay with them. As soon as the Conditional Use Permit is in place, then she will have a full 

December 5, 2017 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 4 of29 



time staff member that will move to the property. Since they have had some residents come 
through Airbnb she comes out and spends two to three days a week. Curfew is 10:30 pm every 
night, and its 9:00 pm for the first thirty days. They have a pretty extensive business plan and an 
extensive amount of experience running sober living homes. This property is almost her 40th 

home. She ran 16 homes in northern California, 15 homes in Southern Nevada, and now the 10 
locations in Northern Nevada. 

Chairman Martinez asked what the current status of the facility was and who was using it. He 
also asked how a person would come into contact with her corporation in order to stay in the 
facility. 

Ms. Payne explained that they have a listing on Airbnb, Craig's 
Place. 

Chairman Martinez asked if it was advertised as a night 

Ms. Payne said it was not advertised as a recove ly, 
weekly, or monthly. 

Ms. Laughlin stated the 
listed as a principle P, 
ten or fewer is liste 
be there without a Condit 

ooming use, or boarding house, is not 
Zoning District. An elderly care facility of 

' how the Beehive Home was allowed to 
u have three or more rooms that you rent, 

ss License and you are required to pay room 
'ther one of those are being done. 

pplication was in front of the Planning Commission, 
f their permitted usage of that facility now. 

Ms. Laughlin e . Payne applied for Business license for the Lyfe Recovery 
Services home, an de d that Business License because it needed a CUP, which was back 
in May or June ofth1 ear. Staff provided support to Ms. Payne and told her she needed to 
have a Conditional Us ermit. That's why it's in front of you now. The business license was for 
a sober living facility, it wasn't for a rooming house. 

Ms. Payne explained that they had a few problems with getting all of the plans that were needed 
to submit to the Planning Department. Month after month they were being delayed, so they did 
what they needed to do to generate revenue and listed it on Airbnb. It's not something that it was 
intended for, but this property is a financial responsibility of hers. It was just a way to make sure 
some of the rooms were being occupied and generating some revue. 

December 5, 2017 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 5 of29 



Commissioner David Freistroffer asked Ms. Payne if she was aware of The Elko City Codes on 
boarding houses, etc. 

Ms. Payne said no. In every City that they go into, they go to get a business license and make 
sure that they are operating correctly. It wasn't her intension to side swipe all of that, she just 
needed to get some revenue. 

Commissioner Stefan Beck asked if this was a designated recovery house. 

Ms. Payne said they operate under NRS 449.008. What they have wor 
Quality Compliance, Don Sampson down in Las Vegas, is they fall 
HCQC, because they do not provide reintegration services. The 
released offenders, they aren't technically a halfway house. T 
which is the National Alliance of Recovery Residence. Th 
recovery residence, meaning that there is a managemen 
are followed by the company. In the NRS 449.008 t 
reintegration services, they fall under that thresho 
counseling on site. They are not required to have 
They are an ADA population that falls under the Fair 

Commissioner Beck said he wanted to 

with, the Health Care 
r threshold for 
a halfway house for 
under the NARR, 

as a Level 2 
d those rules 

has 
tor 

. Payne how she was able to achieve that. He read that people could 

Ms. Payne explained t at it is currently not a life recovery property yet. They are not operating 
with those rules, because they don't have the approval to do it. The rules and concept is not in 
that house right now, because they don't have the business license to operate Lyfe Recovery 
there. She has a variety of people living in the house. 

Chairman Martinez said that concerned him, because it was outside of the City Code currently, 
which is a blatant disregard for how the City of Elko operates and the residents nearby. To come 
to this meeting and state, publicly, that she was operating illegally was shocking to Mr. Martinez. 

December 5,2017 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 6 of29 



He understood it was investment, and understood about generating revenue, but at the sacrifice 
of residents nearby, at some point you teeter off the ladder of acceptable, in his opinion. 

Commissioner Freistroffer said he was struggling to understand how a company, which seems to 
be rather large, could be ill-informed about Elko's localities, rules on operating any properties. 
You have acquired a property that you don't know if you're going to get a CUP for. He wanted 
to understand if her legal department, or anybody, had looked at if this was a feasible place to 
have this, because the Planning Commission can deny it on many different grounds, and you're 
obviously putting a big investment into it. 

Ms. 

more and more, to 
Laughlin got 

1 Use Permit. 
· , is have 

usiness to start in this town, there is a 
what she perceived in the Cities 

caused a delay since June or July. He asked 

had discussed this with Ms. Payne in June, as well as another 
Recovery that's no longer there. When the Business License 

came in Ms. Laug eni t, because it needed a CUP. Staff was basing it off of the definition 
of Halfway House in n 3-2-2. If you look at the definition and the application, as well as 
the services provided ed on her website, staff felt that it truly was a house for recovering 
alcohol and drug abusers. In the R District it does require a CUP. She gave them the application 
at that time. Staff could not give Ms. Payne copies of the plans that were submitted in 1999 
without confirmation from the architect or design professional that developed the plans. We let 
her know at that time, part of our application process is the Site Plan and Elevations of the 
property. Then Ms. Payne came in in August to submit the application for the September 
Planning Commission Meeting, she was one day late and the application wasn't filled out at that 
time. We asked her to fill out the application and she missed the September meeting, but we 
would take it onto the October meeting. Ms. Laughlin did not see her again until three weeks 
ago. It has not been a delay on behalf of the City of Elko, we have tried to accommodate Ms. 

December 5, 2017 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 7 of29 



Payne and everything she needed, but for us to sign off on a business license for halfway house 
on Winchester on this property, it would require a Conditional Use Permit. 

Commissioner Freistroffer said he was trying to get to the seriousness of this business, which 
could be operating this facility in a residential neighborhood. He asked Ms. Laughlin where, in 
her mind, could they have gotten the idea that they didn't need a permit, then they did need a 
permit, and it was something that made her take time. 

Ms. Laughlin explained at first it was a residential group facility, and they were looking at the 
definitions under residential group facility, which is a different sectio e Residential Code. 
As time went on we learned more about the business, we said no, it quire a Conditional 
Use Permit. 

Commissioner Freistroffer asked if Ms. Payne was inform d 

Commissioner Kevin Hodur asked Ms. Payne when 

Ms. Payne explained that they uploaded Elko an he 
as "coming soon". When it was brought to their attentio 
changed it to "coming soon". 

Commissioner Hodur pointed out that he 
the statement from the website. 

Commissioner Jeff D 
homes available ot 

signation. He then read 

am roperties for her. When they were invited to 
he got on a phone call with him on her way home from 

er f Beehive, he buys distressed properties or properties 
the properties on Winchester were on the market. He 

er. She said she couldn't have asked for a better property. 
They were them. In the meantime, while they were researching the area the 
property acros nto contract as a single family home. She would look for more 
properties like thi m built, because for 10 residents to have their own room, half 
bath, and a large co ea is exactly what they want for people who are going to live there 
for a year or two. Thei oal is not to have people come in and out, their goal is to have them live 
there for a year or two and truly achieve long lasting sobriety. 

Commissioner Dalling said that Ms. Payne lives in Reno, so she won't be there, but the 
neighbors will be there every day. Their lives and their kids will be affected by this. He asked 
Ms. Payne what her safety net was for the neighbors and what she had to say to them to make 
them feel better about this. 

Ms. Payne said most of time they do extensive property renovations. Normally they go in and 
improve the property, but this one was move in ready. The concerns about property value going 

December 5, 2017 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 8 of29 



down generally isn't the case. The other thing she wanted to say was that not too many neighbors 
have a phone number they can call 24/7 if they needed to reach someone that's going to do 
something about whatever is going on. They have an extensive list of good neighbor policies. 
They never park in front of another person's house, they never have loud music, they have a 10 
pm quiet time, and they have someone on site that is going to manage those people. They act 
immediately, Ms. Payne distributes her cards, she becomes friends with the neighbors, and they 
don't hide what they are. There is a number that can be called day or night to let her know if 
something is going on. They try to stay to themselves and to just be a value to the community. 

Mr. Wilkinson said Ms. Payne talked about if someone had to be disc 
program set in place with family members. He asked what would h 
materialize, but you need to discharge someone. Are they just as 
out loose in the neighborhood? 

someone on who is impaired, or intoxicated, in car o 
a family that they would go to, or if there is no on 
or to a hotel with a buddy. So, that person will h pe 
next day. 

ever put 
ey don't have 

al detox, 
senses the 

Mr. Wilkinson had one other question. 
generate revenue. He asked what percent 
Wilkinson said he would be looking for an 
wouldn't be advertised for other uses outside 

acancies that they 
could get into some 

explanation to the Board w· ard to those 1 

tting this Conditional Use Permit in place, so 
are. If they ied, they will, more than likely, shut the 

ey are n a motel. They're occupancy rates, they stay 
City in the Nation of substance abusers. 

discharge coordinators that this is the next step for 
ourage that rather somebody come out of a 30 day 

residence, where they can continue to be monitored 

re typically local residents that go to those homes. 

eryone that moves into a house is local. 

Commissioner Beck asked Ms. Payne if she were denied, if she would give up and leave Elko, or 
if she had other options. 

Ms. Payne said she hadn't entertained that, because she wouldn't believe that an organization 
serving an underserved population, with the Americans with Disabilities Act and the Fair 
Housing Act behind them, that they would not be approved with everything that they have done. 
With that said, this property is very expensive to operate. Everyone that lives in the house has to 
pay rent, they are not a free organization. They are not County, State, or federally funded. They 
don't bill insurance. In order to afford to live there, people have to work and pay rent. It's part of 

December 5, 2017 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 9 of29 



becoming stabilized. If they were to be denied, they would continue the conversation and see 
what the Commission would want them to do in order to operate here, because they have put a 
lot into the property. 

Mr. Thibault asked if there was a more appropriate zone, one in which a halfway house is a 
principle permitted use. 

Ms. Laughlin explained that a halfway house is not listed as a principal permitted use in any of 
the City's Zoning Districts. 

Mr. Thibault asked if the Residential District was the only one in w 
Conditional Use. (Yes) So this is the most appropriate Zone for 

Ms. Payne added that they are not a treatment program. Pe 
they aren't patients. They want to live in a home. They 
families are not letting them live with them, because · 
other warehouse area is dehumanizing what peopl 

Steven Sharp, 1635 Winchester Drive, asked if the resi 
more conflict in the neighborhood when someone had to o 
pass, would you want a halfway house n 

Desiree Leniger, 1696 Winchester Drive, s 
with the City to generate revenue. She asked 
could also break the rules. are already ca 

them are residents, 
ilies and their 

y had already broken rules 
ice e members of the house 

e City, are they going to cause 

· the Staff Report that would be applied 

house. 

rive, sai they probably had a drug problem in the area. It 
coholic. He said it was a quiet neighborhood. He was 

e at night and not being able to contact her because 
irbn at is going on they have people parking in front of their 
e didn't come talk to them about what she was planning for the 

Codie Sharp, 1635 er Drive, said there are people using drugs in the neighborhood. 
There are people smo g weed, they smell it all the time. She asked if it was a neighborhood 
where you would bring people that are trying not to relapse. She said they already had people 
parking in their driveways. Every night there is a new car on the street. The people that are living 
in the house now, come and go whenever they please, they park wherever they want, and they 
walk up and down the street. They moved into the neighborhood knowing that that was a 
Beehive Home, that it was an old folk's home. They were very quiet and kept to themselves. Her 
main concern was that this would come in and cause chaos and ruckus. 

Commissioner Dalling asked Mr. Holmes what the number was that they had to add the fire 
suppression system. 

December 5, 2017 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 10 of29 



Mr. Holmes stated if they had 10 or more occupants, they would have to add a sprinkler system, 
because of being a boarding/halfway house. 

Commissioner Dalling asked if the house had eleven rooms. (Correct) 

Ms. Payne thought there was already a Fire Suppression system in the house. 

Mr. Homes added that he hadn't been to the location, but it would be a requirement for the 
Business License. 

Commissioner Dalling asked Chief Reed if he could fill the Co 
with this kind of business, and what his thoughts were. 

Commissioner Ho r 
property. 

Ms. Laughlin e 
to a new property 

ey had a number 
in particular, 

covery. 

· sued to, since the company is leasing the 

1t still went to the owner(s). 

permit will get recorded to the property, but it can be transferred 
property were to be sold. 

Chairman Martinez co ented that Ms. Payne identified her company as having extensive 
experience in the real estate industry, broadcasting all over Northern Nevada. That is a concern 
of his, because this item is a basic Planning issue, which is dealt with in every community across 
the country. Permitted uses verses non-permitted uses in a Residential Zoning District is day one 
planning stuff. For a company of this size Mr. Martinez thought Ms. Payne would have done her 
land planning properly, to identify this parcel in its current zoning application. He understood 
that in the Residential Zoning District it is a CUP type of usage. This facility was brought in as 
elderly facility. He also thought the facility was ill equipped for all the things that Ms. Payne was 
identifying. With eleven rooms this facility should have never been built. The fact that there is 
not enough off-street, or on-street, parking to achieve that. If you have eleven residents there will 

December 5, 2017 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 11 of29 



potentially be eleven vehicles, or more. There have been some previous decisions made about 
this facility that has allowed it here on the Commission's lap today. This facility cannot handle 
11 groups of people going through there. They will be parking all across the street and the 
Commission has been trying to clean up the off-street parking. In his opinion this company was 
grossly mistaken on this facility, its usage and utilization in this Zoning District is not 
appropriate. This is not the right place for it. He thought the City was stuck with the facility and 
they would see future applications of some sort of occupation along the lines of an elderly care 
facility. Mr. Martinez stated that he was not a fan of this application and the way that it had been 
operating. He thought it was too uncertain, but there was a path forward. That path would be 
along the lines of each individual occupying the facility signing a leas thought the applicant 
would want to provide leases beyond 3 months for people that are t ting obriety. 

Commissioner Freistroffer agreed with Mr. Martinez. He stat 
had shown a severe lack of due diligence on researching t p 
having a minimum of eleven residents, and have also re 
That made Mr. Freistroffer doubt the seriousness of 
now and Mr. Freistroffer didn't think they would 
do with the Conditional Use Permit in the future. 

Commissioner Freistroffer 
Code was structured thi 
particular facility, w · 

as that the applicant 
suitability for 

· st City Code. 
compliance 

ing to 

e though was more of a multifamily, or some sort of 
ning district was not appropriate for this type 

ions for the Commission is, for a structure that is 
, what are they considering to be an acceptable use. 

was originally permitted for, or a residential only. Currently 
operate under all the permitted uses. This is a non-permitted use. 

Chairman Martinez clarified that it was a non-principle use for the facility. 

Mr. Wilkinson explained that it is allowed under a Conditional Use Permit. The Commission 
hasn't had a discussion on limitations on occupancy. That might be a discussion you could have 
with the applicant, it may not fit their model, which addresses some of the concerns. The 
limitation would be a low number to accommodate the available parking. That may not work for 
them, and it just may not be an appropriate use regardless. 

December 5, 2017 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 12 of29 



Ms. Laughlin said if parking was the concern, there is an empty lot behind the facility and a 
parking lot around the corner, there is a Section in the Code that states for rooming houses, they 
may provide parking in a parking lot not further than 200 feet from the entrance to the dwelling 
unit it is intended to serve. If there is an issue with the parking, maybe the applicant could come 
up with a parking agreement. 

Chairman Martinez thought there was conflict there. He thought that under several circumstances 
they were not allowed to utilize a separate parcel as a parking lot for another location. 

Mr. Draper explained for a Commercial use a parking lot is allowed t 
but it is required to have a Conditional Use Permit. 

Mr. Wilkinson added that they would have to control the pro 

Commissioner Freistroffer's findings 
use for the property, and that the busin 

ioners Hodur and Beck voted no). 

al and that it was time sensitive. 

an tion on Zoning Ordinance Amendment 3-17, 
'fically an amendment to Title 3, Chapter 2 of the Elko City 

ti ns adding a new Section 29 entitled "Marijuana 
arijuana Establishments Prohibited," and matters 

IBLE ACTION 

017 meeting, City Council took action to initiate an amendment 
Ordinance establishing a new Section 3-2-29 of the Elko City 

ing the matter to the Planning Commission for further action in 
ith Elko City Code Section 3-2-21. 

Ms. Laughlin explained that the State of Nevada passed a law allowing recreational marijuana 
establishments starting July 1, 2017. As a practical matter the City Code prohibits the City from 
issuing a business license for a marijuana establishment, whether it is medical or recreational, 
because the business for which the license is applied for is unlawful under the Federal Controlled 
Substance Act. In terms of land use, we currently do not have medical or recreational marijuana 
establishments of any kind listed as principle, conditional, or accessory uses in any of the City's 
Zoning Districts. The Nevada State Law allows for Municipalities to prohibit both medical and 
recreational marijuana establishments through zoning ordinances, or other land use restrictions. 

December 5, 2017 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes Page 13 of29 



City of Elko 
1751 College Avenue 

Elko, NV 89801 
(775) 777-7160 

FAX (775) 777-7119 

CITY OF ELKO STAFF REPORT 

MEMO DATE: 
PLANNING COMMISSION DATE: 
AGENDA ITEM NUMBER: 
APPLICATION NUMBER: 
APPLICANT: 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION: 
ADDITIONAL APPLICATIONS: 

November 21, 2017 
December 5, 2017 
I. A. 2. 
Conditional Use Permit 6-17 
Lyfe Recovery Services LLC 
1683 Winchester Drive 

A Conditional Use Permit for a sober living halfway house for recovering alcohol and drug 
abusers 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

RECOMMEND APPROVAL, subject to findings of fact, conditions and waivers. 

Page I of 6 



PARCEL NUMBERS: 

PROPERTY SIZE: 

EXISTING ZONING: 

PROJECT INFORMATION 

001-920-054 

.21 Acres 

Residential 

CUP 1-17 
Lyfe Recovery LLC 
1683 Winchester Drive 

MASTER PLAN DESIGNATION: 

EXISTING LAND USE: 

Residential High Density RES-HD 

Residential 

NEIGHBORHOOD CHARACTERISTICS: 
The property is surrounded by: 
North: (R) Residential / Developed 
East: (R) Residential / Undeveloped 
South: (R) Residential / Developed 
West: (R) Residential / Developed 

PROPERTY CHARACTERISTICS: 
• The property is zoned R (Residential) Zoning District, which allows this type of 

development with a conditional use permit. 
• The subject property is developed consisting of a single family residence that is built to 

all existing setbacks 
• The City Master Plan Land Use Designation for this area is Residential High Density. 
• Project access is at Winchester Drive. 

BACKGROUND: 
1. City of Elko issued a building permit in 1999 for the construction of the existing 

structure. It was originally developed as an elderly care facility for 10 or fewer and 
therefore did not require a CUP when developed. 

2. Beehive Homes was the original developer of the property and owned the property until 
July 2017. 

3. There are approximately 3.5 parking places available off street although they are in the 
front setback. The site Plan approved in 1999 showed one ADA stall and access aisle as 
parking. 

APPLICABLE MASTER PLANS AND CITY CODE SECTIONS: 

• Land Use Component of the Elko City Master Plan 
• Transportation Component of the Elko City Master Plan 
• City of Elko Redevelopment Plan 
• City of Elko Zoning- Section 3-2-3 General Provisions 
• City of Elko Zoning- Section 3-2-4 Zoning Districts 

Page2 of6 



CUP 1-17 
Lyfe Recovery LLC 
1683 Winchester Drive 

• Section 3-2-S(E) of the Elko City Zoning Ordinance (R) Residential Zoning District 
• City of Elko Zoning - Section 3-2-17 Traffic, Access, Parking and Loading Regulations 
• City of Elko Zoning- Section 3-2-18 Conditional Use Permits 

MASTER PLAN: 

LAND USE: 
The listed Goal of the Land Use component states "Promote orderly, sustainable growth and 
efficient land use to improve quality of life and ensure new development meets the needs of all 
residents and visitors". 

• Objective 1: Promote a diverse mix of housing options to meet the needs of a variety of 
lifestyles, incomes, and age groups. 

o Best Practice 1.1 : Plan for and encourage a mix of housing types throughout the 
community. 

o Best Practice 1.2: Encourage high-quality housing design to strengthen 
neighborhood acceptability, while encouraging variety and beauty. 

o Best Practice 1.3: Work towards equitable, and even, distribution of housing types 
throughout the community. 

o Best Practice 1.4: Consider housing policy an opportunity to promote sustainable, 
adaptable, and efficient neighborhoods. 

• Objective 8: Ensure that new development does not negatively impact County-wide 
natural systems, or public/federal lands such as waterways, wetlands, drainages, 
floodplains etc., or pose a danger to human health and safety. 

TRANSPORTATION: 
• Best Practice 2.1 : Access Management, meets requirements. 

ELKO WELLHEAD PROTECTION PLAN 

• The property is located outside the 30-year capture zone for several City wells. 

SECTION 3-2-3 GENERAL PROVISIONS 

• Section 3-2-3 (C) 1 of City code specifies use restrictions. The following use restrictions 
shall apply. 

1. Principal Uses: Only those uses and groups of uses specifically designated as 
"principal uses permitted' in zoning district regulations shall be permitted as 
principal uses; all other uses shall be prohibited as principal uses 

2. Conditional Uses: Certain specified uses designated as "conditional uses 
permitted" may be permitted as principal uses subject to special conditions of 
location, design, construction, operation and maintenance hereinafter specified in 
this chapter or imposed by the planning commission or city council. 

Page3 of6 



CUP 1-17 
Lyfe Recovery LLC 
1683 Winchester Drive 

3. Accessory Uses: Uses normally accessory and incidental to permitted principal or 
conditional uses may be permitted as hereinafter specified. 

Other uses may apply under certain conditions with application to the City. 

• Section 3-2-3(D) states that "No land may be used or structure erected where the land is 
held by the planning commission to be unsuitable for such use or structure by reason of 
flooding, concentrated runoff, inadequate drainage, adverse soil or rock formation, 
extreme topography, low bearing strength, erosion susceptibility, or any other features 
likely to be harmful to the health, safety and general welfare of the community. The 
planning commission, in applying the provisions of this section, shall state in writing the 
particular facts upon which its conclusions are based. The applicant shall have the right to 
present evidence contesting such determination to the city council if he or she so desires, 
whereupon the city council may affirm, modify or withdraw the determination of 
unsuitability." 

The proposed development is in conformance with this section of code. 

SECTION 3-2-4 ESTABLISHMENT OF ZONING DISTRICTS 

• Section 3-2-4(B) Required Conformity To District Regulations: The regulations set forth 
in this chapter for each zoning district shall be minimum regulations and shall apply 
uniformly to each class or kind of structure or land, except as provided in this subsection. 

• Section 3-2-4(B)(4) stipulates that no yard or lot existing on the effective date hereof 
shall be reduced in dimension or area below the minimum requirements set forth in this 
title. 

SECTION 3-2-5(E){3) 

• Conditional Uses Permitted: Any of the following uses may be permitted as principal 
uses upon approval of a conditional use permit in accordance with provisions of this 
chapter and those set forth in section 3-2-18 of this chapter regarding conditional use 
permits. In reviewing conditional use permit applications, the planning commission shall 
ensure that adequate light and air, ingress and egress, and compatibility with other uses in 
the neighborhood are maintained. 

• Halfway house for recovering alcohol and drug abusers is listed as a conditional use 
permitted in the R- Residential zoning district. 

SECTION 3-2-17 

• ITE states that .45 parking spaces per room are required for off street parking. That 
equates to 4.5 parking spaces that are 9'x20'. 

• Elko City Code 3-2-17(0)(2) states: In any residential zoning district other than the 
RMH-1 district, no required off street parking space shall be located in a required front 
yard or interior side yard. The existing parking spaces are in the front yard setback as 
well as partially in the right-of-way. 

• There is no garage or accessory building for the residence. 

Page4 of6 



CUP 1-17 
Lyfe Recovery LLC 
1683 Winchester Drive 

• Elko City Code 3-2-19 states "Legal non-conforming uses shall be known as 
nonconforming uses and may be allowed to continue; provided, however, that such 
nonconforming uses may not be extended, enlarged or changed to other nonconforming 
uses, except by conditional use permit." (B) states, Nonconforming uses are not limited 
to, but may include and consist of the following: A nonconforming use of property, such 
as any commercial, industrial or residential use not listed as a principal, permitted use 
within the existing underlying zoning district; nonconforming structures or buildings such 
as any building or structure that is noncompliant with area, height or setback 
requirements of the existing underlying zoning district; and nonconforming development 
standards, such as noncompliant off street parking, including: 1. Quantity of spaces; 

• As approved in 1999, I believe that the parking can continue as legal non-conforming and 
limited to the amount of parking that is provided off street. 

SECTION 3-2-18 

• Conformance with this section is required 

REDEVELOPMENT PLAN: 

• The proposed project is not within the Redevelopment area. 

FINDINGS: 

• The proposed development is in conformance with the Land Use component of the 
Master Plan 

• The proposed development is in conformance with the existing transportation 
infrastructure and the Transportation component of the Master Plan 

• The site is suitable for the proposed use. 
• The proposed development is in conformance with the City Wellhead Protection 

Program. 
• The proposed use is in conformance with City Code 3-2-S(E) Residential with the 

approval of the Condition Use Permit. 
• The proposed development is in conformance with 3-2-3, 3-2-4, 3-8 and 3-2-18 of the 

Elko City Code. 
• The existing off street parking is considered legal non-conforming. 
• Development under the proposed conditional use will not adversely impact natural 

systems, or public/federal lands such as waterways, wetlands, drainages, floodplains etc., 
or pose a danger to human health and safety. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommends approval for Conditional Use Permit No. 6-17, filed by Lyfe Recovery 
Services LLC, subject to the following conditions of approval: 

Page5 of6 



CUP 1-17 
Lyfe Recovery LLC 
1683 Winchester Drive 

Planning Department: 
1. CUP issued for specific use of a halfway house and not a residential boarding house. 
2. Property advertising for rooms for rent to be removed from websites such as Airbnb 

and others. 
3. CUP effective date to be date City of Elko business license is issued. 
4. Compliance with all city, state and federal laws required. 
5. Overflow parking for residents or guests on street is prohibited. 

Development Department: 
Included in Memorandum dated September 19, 2017 from Development Manager 

1. The conditional use permit is granted to the property owner(s) allowing for the use of an 
existing building as a Halfway House. 

2. The permit shall be personal to the property owner(s) and applicable only to the specific 
use and to the specific property for which it is issued. However, the Planning 
Commission may approve the transfer of the conditional use permit to another owner. 
Upon issuance of an occupancy permit for the conditional use, signifying that all zoning 
and site development requirements imposed in connection with the permit have been 
satisfied, the conditional use permit shall thereafter be transferable and shall run with the 
land, whereupon the maintenance or special conditions imposed by the permit, as well as 
compliance with other provisions of the zoning district, shall be the responsibility of the 
property owner. 

3. The property owner records the conditional use permit. 
4. The conditional use permit shall automatically lapse and be of no effect one year from 

the issuance unless the permit holder is actively engaged in developing the specific 
property to the use for which the permit was issued. 

Fire Department: 
6. Compliance with 2012 International Fire Code prior to occupancy. 

Page6of6 



,---- ---

To: 
From: 
RE : 
Date: 

Elko Planning Commission 
Jeremy Draper - Development Manager 
Conditional Use Permit No. 6-17, Lyfe Recovery Services 
September 19, 2017 

CITY OF ELKO 
DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 

1755 COLLEGE AVENUE 
ELKO, NEVADA 89801 

(775)777-7210 
(775)777-7219 FAX 

The City of Elko Development Department has provided this correspondence to aid in the Planning 
Commission's review of Conditional Use Permit No. 6-17 for the use of an exist ing facility for a . 

Applicable Master Plan Sections, Coordinating Plans, and City Code Sect ions are : 

• City of Elko Master Plan - Land Use Component 

• City of Elko Master Plan -Transportation Component 

• City of Elko Redevelopment Plan 

• City of Elko Wellhead Protection Plan 

• City of Elko Zoning - Section 3-2-3 General Provisions 

• City of Elko Zoning - Section 3-2-4 Zoning Districts 

• City of Elko Zoning - Section 3-2-5-E, (R) Single-Family and Multiple-Family Residential District 

• City of Elko Zoning - Section 3-2-17 Traffic, Access, Parking and Loading Regulations 
• City of Elko Zoning - Section 3-2-18 Conditional Use Permits 

• City of Elko Zoning - Chapter 3-8 Flood Plain Management 

• City of Elko Zoning - Title 9 Chapter 8 Post Construction Runoff Control and Water Quality 
Management 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

C:\Users\sknopp\Downloads\4EF03TLO (3).docx 
Created by Jeremy Draper 



Page 2 of 5 

• The property is identified as APN: 001-920-054, 1683 Winchester Dr. 
• The application for the Conditional Use Permit (CUP) was filed as required under Section 3-2-5-

E-3 of city code. This section of code requires a conditional use permit for a Halfway House for 
recovering alcohol and drug abusers. 

• The applicant indicates that the type of use for the property is to house single adult individuals 
seeking a community of people working together to improve their situation in their life. 

• The applicants business website advertises their services as drug and alcohol addiction 
treatment. 

• The area is currently zoned R. 
• The area is located generally 1,500 ft south of the intersection of Lamoille Highway and Colt 

Drive. 

• The area is developed. 
• The property is bound by Residential property on all side. 

• A site plan has been provided. 
• The property was originally developed as Beehive Homes, an assisted living facility. At the time 

of development a CUP was not required. 

MASTER PLAN: 

Land use: 

• The Master Plan Land Use Atlas shows the area as High Density Residential 

• The listed Goal of the Land Use component states "Promote orderly, sustainable growth and 
efficient land use to improve quality of life and ensure new development meets the needs of all 
residents and visitors". 

• Objective 1: Promote a diverse mix of housing options to meet the needs of a variety of 
lifestyles, incomes, and age groups. 

• Objective 6: Encourage multiple scales of commercial development to serve the needs of the 
region, the community, and that of individual neighborhoods. 

• Objective 8: Ensure that new development does not negatively impact County-wide natural 
systems, or public/federal lands such as waterways, wetlands, drainages, floodplains etc., or 
pose a danger to human health and safety. 

Transportation: 

• The property fronts Winchester Dr, a local roadway 
• Access to Lamoille Highway, a major arterial can be gained through Colt Dr. or Pinion Road. 

ELKO REDEVELOPMENT PLAN: 

• The property is located outside of the redevelopment area 

ELKO WELLHEAD PROTECTION PLAN: 

• The area is located outside the 30 year zones for City wells. 



Page 3 of 5 

SECTION 3-2-3 GENERAL PROVISIONS 

• Section 3-2-3(C)(l) of City code specifies use restrictions. The following use restrictions shall 
apply: 

o Principal Uses: Only those uses and groups of uses specifically designated as "principal 
uses permitted" in zoning district regulations shall be permitted as principal uses; all 
other uses shall be prohibited as principal uses. 

o Accessory Uses: Uses normally accessory and incidental to permitted principal or 
conditional uses may be permitted as hereinafter specified. 

• Other uses may apply under certain conditions with application to the City. 

• Section 3-2-3(D) states that "No land may be used or structure erected where the land is held by 
the planning commission to be unsuitable for such use or structure by reason of flooding, 
concentrated runoff, inadequate drainage, adverse soil or rock formation, extreme topography, 
low bearing strength, erosion susceptibility, or any other features likely to be harmful to the 
health, safety and general welfare of the community. The planning commission, in applying the 
provisions of this section, shall state in writing the particular facts upon which its conclusions are 
based. The applicant shall have the right to present evidence contesting such determination to 
the city council if he or she so desires, whereupon the city council may affirm, modify or 
withdraw the determination of unsuitability." 

The proposed development is in conformance with this section of code. 

SECTION 3-2-4 ESTABLISHMENT OF ZONING DISTRICTS 

• Section 3-2-4(8) Required Conformity To District Regulations: The regulations set forth in this 
chapter for each zoning district shall be minimum regulations and shall apply uniformly to each 
class or kind of structure or land, except as provided in this subsection: 

• Section 3-2-4(8)(4) stipulates that no yard or lot existing on the effective date hereof shall be 
reduced in dimension or area below the minimum requirements set forth in this title. 

The proposed use will be in conformance with code. 

SECTION 3-2-5-E-SINGLE-FAMILY AND MULTIPLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT 

• Section 3-2-5-(E)-3 The following uses are permitted in the R general commercial zoning district 
only with a conditional use permit: 
Halfway house for recovering alcohol and drug abusers 

Conformance with this section of code is required. 

SECTION 3-2-17-Traffic. Access. Parking and Loading Regulations 

1. The property was developed with parking that is not outside of the frontyard setback, it was 
developed with a possible 4 parking stalls within the frontyard setback, this appears to be a legal 
non-conforming use for the parking. 



Page 4 of5 

2. ITE provided guidance of 0.45 parking spaces per unit for a Congregate Care Facilty, the facility 
has 10 beds which would result in 5 spaces being required based on this guidance. 

SECTION 3-2-18-Conditional Use Permits: 

1. Conformance with this section of code is required 

SECTION 3-8-Floodplain Management: 

1. The property is not located within a designated flood plain. 

FINDINGS 

• The proposed use is consistent with the Land Use Component of the Master Plan. 

• The site is suitable for the proposed use. 
• The Redevelopment Plan does not apply to the proposed use and location. 
• The proposed development is in conformance with the City Wellhead Protection Program. 

• Development under the proposed conditional use will not adversely impact natural systems, or 
public/federal lands such as waterways, wetlands, drainages, floodplains etc., or pose a danger 
to human health and safety. 

• The proposed use is consistent with the existing transportation infrastructure and 
Transportation Component of the Master Plan. 

• The proposed use is consistent with surrounding land uses. 

• The proposed use is in conformance with City code, Section 3-2-5-E - Single-Family and 
Multiple-Family District with the approval of a Conditional Use Permit 

• The proposed use is in conformance with City code, Section 3-8 Flood Plain Management. 
• The proposed use is in conformance with City code, Section 3-2-17. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

The City of Elko, Development Department recommends conditional approval of this item based on the 
following conditions: 

1. The conditional use permit is granted to the property owner(s) allowing for the use of an 
existing building as a Halfway House. 

2. The permit shall be personal to the property owner(s) and applicable only to the specific use 
and to the specific property for which it is issued. However, the Planning Commission may 
approve the transfer of the conditional use permit to another owner. Upon issuance of an 
occupancy permit for the conditional use, signifying that all zoning and site development 
requirements imposed in connection with the permit have been satisfied, the conditional use 
permit shall thereafter be transferable and shall run with the land, whereupon the maintenance 
or special conditions imposed by the permit, as well as compliance with other provisions of the 
zoning district, shall be the responsibility of the property owner. 

3. The property owner records the conditional use permit. 
4. The conditional use permit shall automatically lapse and be of no effect one year from the 

issuance unless the permit holder is actively engaged in developing the specific property to the 
use for which the permit was issued. 



Page 5 of 5 

5. A total of 5 parking spaces are provided for the property. 



( ( 
CITY OF ELKO PLANNING DEPARTMENT 

1751 College Avenue* Elko* Nevada* 89801 

(775) 777-7160 phone* (775) 777-7119 fax 

APPLICATION FOR CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT APPROVAL 

APPLICANT(s):...-~~--~....-:a.t...llol.i,,,...::.~,..__~....:J_~ll,,.A,o::;..,;:o,,,~-=~~-----
(Applicant mu t be the owner or le 

MAILING ADDRESS :---Ji.~.-..---li,~..__L......L.1......1-¥.~""'--...::..::~,,,....,,..;~-L..1.1i...'-----l-,.;~---'-"--L~!.... 

PHONE NO. (Home) 701..-4e,l,,- 7SLD\ ~us nes5=3?~!5Clo -qu 5 \ 
NAME OF PROPERTY OWNER (If different):___,,.~_o...._v;........:..\ -~.&..,l,W,~----s--~ ..... ±t:...__ ______ _ 

(Property owner's consent in writing must be provided.) 
MAILING ADDRESS: _____________________ _ 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION AND LOCATION OF PROPERTY INVOLVED (Attach if necessary): 
ASSESSOR'S PARCEL NO.: QOl-920-05Lf Address \l9~2:) "'-)w,c\\J'mi \)I 6'4:) \.iJ 
Lot(s), Block(s), &Subdivision · 'iA~O\ 
Or Parcel(s) & File No. ______________________ _ 

FILING REQUIREMENTS 

Complete Application Form: In order to begin processing the application, an application form 
must be complete and signed. Complete applications are due at least 21 days prior to the next 
scheduled meeting of the Elko City Planning Commission (meetings are the 1st Tuesday of 
every month). 

Fee: A $750.00 non-refundable fee. 

Plot Plan: A plot plan provided by a properly licensed surveyor depicting the proposed 
conditional use permit site drawn to scale showing property lines, existing and proposed 
buildings, building setbacks, distances between buildings, parking and loading areas, driveways 
and other pertinent information that shows the use will be compliant with Elko City Code. 

Elevation Plan: Elevation profiles including architectural finishes of all proposed structures or 
alterations in sufficient detail to explain the nature of the request. 

Note: One .pdf of the entire application must be submitted as well as one set of legible, 
reproducible plans 8 ½" x 11" in size. If the applicant feels the Commission needs to see 24" x 
36" plans, 10 sets of pre-folded plans must be submitted. 

Other Information: The applicant is encouraged to submit other information and 
documentation to support this conditional use permit application. 

Revised 12/04/15 

RECEIVED 

NOV 1 120\7 

Initial:-----

Page 1 



( '- - \ 
1. Current zoning of the property: L.l)(X2C'\ 

2. Cite the provision of the Zoning Ordinance for which the Conditional Use Permit is required: 
205E'?J 

3. 

5. Describe any unique features or characteristics, e.g. lot configuration, storm drainage, soil 
conditions, erosion susceptibility, or general topography, which may affect the use of the 

P. erty: -+----.-----\-"""?O."--t-"""'."""":-:-t-r--~=------:::::------------

6. Describe the general suitability and adequacy of the property to accommodate the 

P.ro osed use:,..:::v~~=-:--;~1rM~-u"'n:~~""'77~==;:::-~-;:;;i"\<"":~~r---

Revised 12/04/15 Page 2 



( ( 
7. Describe in detail the proposed development in terms of grading, excavation, terracing, 

drainage, etr: t~D~t~-==~===-=~~£:=::---E~::;:::::~-c=Xf:sr=:;J~D-----

9. 

10. Describe the type, dimensions and characteristics of any sign(s) being proposed: __ 

NC) S\BN ~ E::,t= 

11 . Identify any outside storage of goods, materials or equipment on the property: __ _ 

12. Identify any accessory buildings or structures associated with the proposed use on the 
property: __________________________ _ 

,c:::; 

(Use additional pages if necessary to address questions 3 through 12) 

Revised 12/04/15 Page3 



( 
By My Signature below: 

p( I consent to having the City of Elko Staff enter on my property for the sole purpose of 
inspection of said property as part of this application process. 

D I object to having the City of Elko Staff enter onto my property as a part of their review of 

this application. (Your objection will not affect the recommendation made by the staff or the final determination 
made by the City Planning Commission or the City Council.) 

"J&l I acknowledge that submission of this application does not imply approval of this request by 
the City Planning Department, the City Planning Commission and the City Council, nor does it in 
and of itself guarantee issuance of any other required permits and/or licenses. 

~ I acknowledge that this application may be tabled until a later meeting if either I or my 
designated representative or agent is not present at the meeting for which this application is 
scheduled. 

~ I have carefully read and completed all questions contained within this application to the 
best of my ability. 

Applicant/ Agent Sk~\ 5.Mw~ ~\_\\FE S2ec.aYt:\'l.:\ 5e(V\CO~ 
\ (Please prtint or rypen 

Mailing Address( cf\:) \}J , fu<D\\ D St~ 
~ Street Addre~sor P.O. Box 

Keao ~~ 2:)q:J09 
City, State, Zip Code 

Phone Number: =i OJ. - L\°'l Q-Uo) 
.,~~~~~~..::.=c;...=..CAr e "'--\, COCY'\ 

R OFFICE USE ONLY 

File No.: lp-\J Date Filed: ,\ J to)r1 Fee Paid: ~ ]5D Ct~ 1008 

Revised 12/04/15 Page4 



T 

-

COMElUSTION AIR LOU 

CONDENSING UNIT 

STONE VENEER 

J 

[D [D [D &i-,EEi HET AL iR!M 
SIDING 

r- I 

cI===================================~ 
SIDE ELEVATION C1 

1/8" = I'- 0" 

Si--.E:7 :-:-~;_ -~r!"" 
5101NC:: 

~ -- CONDENSING LJN,

--- STCNE vENE:i'< 

c===========~==============~========i~ 
SIDE ELEVATION A1 

1/8" = I'- 0" 

3 

RE,CEIVED 

NO\J 1 :11uu 

Initial: ----

""m11ur,,,,,,,1. ,,,,11~ R. D.41,,.;'"~ 

{
~~~ ........ :~ '\ v~T,. ~ 

/ B7 \*l -*; .: : 
i ·.. it-.:~;: 

~

/';#' 
OF~~.~ 

~
,;;/\_ -~ ,1-1~ . 

:I MEDICAL DESIGN GROUP 
2718 ll'ESTL\ND PLACE 
BOISE. IDAHO 83704 
PB. (208) 378-0817 

<Ci"""""Tia:N."""'liRW' 

EXTERIOR aEVATIONS 

Beetiw Homes, Inc. 
-llltw 
El<o,-

siar 

4.10 
.....--•-~..,.,-.. 



I' --1' 
I 
I 

"'"-' 

4 

f<OOF VENT - 8& 5G. IN. MIN. FREE AREA 

bd bd bd bd bd bd bl 

DJ 
c====================----------- ~ ~ 1'0\JNDATICN 

-----------======-~=~======='c=~ 

,,-- Si< ..... - .:.:•-ff 

L 

DODD 12 

FOOT1NC;5 

REAR ELEVATION C1 
1/8" = I'- 0" 

ROCFINC: 
~ ATTIC VENT 

~--+-- S~EET 1"1:T AL i?wali"! 
51DINC: 
i:12 Pli"Ci-1 
STONE 'IENEE:~ 

1 

, • ' ' _l_J LL Li -c:x----------~-./-t_~ C = :::r'::1:i= = = = = = = = = ::r::1:i= ==I ::I=== CI== =1- r: = = = = = = - - - - - - - - -~--[ CCLUMN 
CONCR:7E STOOP 
FOUs!DATION 
FOOTINC:5 

FRONT ELEVATION A 1 
1/8" = I' - '2'" 

RECEIVED 

NOV 1 .J 2017 

Initial:----

:I MEDICAL DESIGN GROUP 
2718 WESTLAND PLACE 
BOISE, IDAHO 83704 
PH. (208) 378-0817 

(C)Cll'lAOIIIIIOOI.IIlGlllllll' 

EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS 
SlEI1 

4.00 



-·· 

I 114" POTAeLE WATER LINE 
FIRE PROTECTION LINE 
4" !;ANITART' !;Ell.Er 

w I 
I 

> I ~. - s,t-1 a: PAINTED LINE!; i 
01 
a: 

I}! I w =a, 

I- I :::i I 
~. 

Cf) Ill' NI 

ii ' 
11 J 21'-Q": 

I 
u-, 
... ' 

0 ffi I 

~I z b I 
I 

s co 

4 

15·-o· s2·-s· 

97.50' N 89d40'59" E 

~

----------------
AND!;CAPE ,----- ----

\,: 0 I 
- ' I I r --1,' I I = .· l ,_,---'O"I ~I · 

r=;=:7~ D. ' < L '..::" ! 

~T:7 .d ?Is C" ~I 

I 

I I AePµALT l 
1"Af<KING I 

~

jAND!;CAF'E ~.' jj 
l ' -
i~' - I 

~ .___ 10 BEDRQ(5M,'---7"1 

~

fFACILITY ~· -j 
~1 I!~-.,..~. 

/ LAND "~.> ,.....__ _I 

f ~o· i 23· - r 1 

\! - - - !.:.:- - I 
·~ J..,.FF--£J ;~=----1 

, • \_ CCl>IC. elDEWAU< ·- , _ --1 
!I• I· 
! 

15 lic:~3l:___ ·i 
I ,._______ i:=::... \· =-:1 

I I ' -- ~ 
J: I , ' ··-- .0 3]tj -1 

o · , --*1-,=, r - I 

20·-o· 

--->k-

'l"' \ ~ 

I 
'~ 

L..!.ND&CAP!: I =,.... 
C 

I ·o, ~ 
I -

IB 
I (/1 

'o ,o 
I~ 
IC') 

I 
o, 

I ,_ I I I "T,;__.,' '- ' 0, :is::_ l 

I °' I - ' .?' ~ - -I 
~I i '- C I..!- L - ... ' I 

!;IDEWAL,::~· 
I a' ' C _,I '] ! ~ 1-ii•Rlt.a De:vslc::pment. 

z -· ~ --- ,J \ g ____ t=e,oewALK. 4·.~· w1De ~11:::._ _~~~"::=: I , ' 
I L 

I l , I / P•,=I '1a. 2 

·I 

I 
, ~ 97.50' S 89d40'59" W . uo 
l O'> I 1• 

"'• 

A1 
PROPOSED 
SITE LAYOUT PLAN 
I"= 20' 

4 

RECEIVED 

NOV l 3 2017 

Initial:-----

MEDICAL DESIGN GROUP 
2718 1l'ESTL4ND PLACE 
BOISE, IDAHO 83704 
PB. (208) 378-0817 
<t)C!J'llllQITIIElllCH.OC...lllO.P 

SITE LAYOUT Pl.AN 
'HIT Beehive Homes, Inc. -ll!M El<o,- 2.20 

~~ • -~~--



Agenda Item VII.D. 

Elko City Council 
Agenda Action Sheet 

1. Title: Review and consideration of the Business Impact Statement for Zoning 
Application Fee increases, and matters related thereto. FOR POSSIBLE ACTION 

2. Meeting Date: January 9, 2018 

3. Agenda Category: PUBLIC HEARING 

4. Time Required: 10 Minutes 

5. Background Information: Pursuant to NRS 237.090, a Business Impact Statement 
must be prepared and considered by the City Council prior to the adoption of a 
resolution increasing Zoning Application Fees. SO 

6. Budget Information: 

Appropriation Required: NI A 
Budget amount available: N/A 
Fund name: N/A 

7. Business Impact Statement: Required 

8. Supplemental Agenda Information: Copy of the Business Impact Statement 

9. Recommended Motion: Pleasure of the Council 

10. Prepared By: Shanell Owen, City Clerk 

11. Committee/Other Agency Review: N/ A 

12. Council Action: 

13. Agenda Distribution: 

12/19/2017 Council Agenda Action Sheet Page 1 of 1 



City of Elko 
Business Impact Statement 

The following Business Impact Statement was prepared pursuant to NRS 237.090 to address the 
proposed impact of Resolution #33-17, a resolution amending zoning application fees associated 
with Title 3 of the Elko City Code entitled Zoning Regulations pursuant to Elko City Code Title 
3, Chapter 2, Section 21. 

1. The following constitutes a description of the manner in which comment was 
solicited from affected businesses, a summary of their response and an explanation 
of the manner in which other interested persons may obtain a copy of the summary. 

A. Notice 

• The Rule Notification and draft Resolution #33-17 was mailed to all contractors, 
engineers, architects and developers with an active City of Elko business license = 
415 businesses were notified ( attached). 

• Interested persons could submit comments on or before December 1, 2017: 

• The Rule Notification and draft Resolution #33-17 was published in the Elko Daily 
Free Press on November 3, 2017 

• The Rule Notification and draft Resolution #33-17 was posted on the City website on 
November 3, 2017. 

B. Summary of Comments 

There were no comments received from the notices that were sent or posted. 

C. Copy of Summary 

There were no comments to summarize. 

2. The estimated economic effect of the proposed rule on businesses, including, without 
limitation, both adverse and beneficial effects, and both direct and indirect effects: 

Adverse effects: 
Adverse effects will be that the citizens/businesses will pay an increase in fees for zoning 
applications as proposed on draft Resolution #33-19 (attached). 

Beneficial effects: 
Beneficial effects include that the increase in fees will assist in the recovery of providing 
services to the public. It is estimated that this increase (based on 2016 application fees 
received) will add an additional $6,125 dollars per year to pay for the costs of processing 
zoning applications, conducting related reviews, mailings and publication costs. 

Direct effects: 
The passing of this measure will directly increase the fees paid for various zoning 
applications and will result in additional money for zoning application processing. 

1 



City of Elko 
Business Impact Statement (Continued) 

Indirect effects: 
The passing of this measure may have indirect effects, however at this time, those effects 
cannot be quantified. 

3. The following constitutes a description of the methods that the local government 
considered to reduce the impact of the proposed rule on businesses and a statement 
regarding whether any, and if so which, of these methods were used: 

The local government and City Council approaches fee increases conservatively. Zoning 
application fees have not been increased since July 24, 2012. The proposed fees are 
lower to middle range relative to what other similar sized communities charge. After 
receiving no responses to the notices and no public comment during the public hearing 
for the proposed rule notification, the City Council determined that there would be no 
direct and significant burden upon a business and that the proposed rule would not 
directly restrict the formation, operation, or expansion of a business. 

4. The governing body estimates the annual cost to the local government for 
enforcement of the proposed rule is $0.00. 

5. The proposed rule provides for an increase in an existing fee and the total annual 
amount expected to be collected is $28,100 (based on 2016 application fees collected). 

6. The money generated by the increase in existing fees will be used by the City of Elko 
to help offset the costs of processing zoning applications, conducting related reviews, 
mailings and publication costs. 

7. The proposed rule includes provisions, which duplicate or are more stringent than 
federal, state or local standards regulating the same activity. The following explains 
why such duplicative or more stringent provisions are necessary. 

The proposed change is not duplicative or more stringent than existing local, state or 
federal standards regulating the same activity. 

Certification by City Manager 

I, Curtis Calder, City Manager of the City of Elko, certify to the best ofmy knowledge or belief, 
a concerted effort was made to determine the impact of the proposed regulation on businesses 

and the inf?n .co?ed in thi~statement was prepared properly and accurately. 

Signature 6~.,,c;_.;.~::.......==----=-==--=:.......::::,,,-=:._ Date: / i/ I 9 / / '1' 

2 



Upon introduction and motion by ______ and seconded by ______ _, the 
following Resolution and Order was duly passed and adopted: 

CITY OF ELKO 
RESOLUTION NO. 33-17 

A RESOLUTION AMENDING THE ZONING APPLICATION FEES ASSOCIATED 
WITH TITLE 3 OF THE ELKO CITY CODE ENTITLED ZONING REGULATIONS 

PURSUANT TO ELKO CITY CODE TITLE 3, CHAPTER 2, SECTION 21 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Elko City Code Title 3, Chapter 2, Section 21, the City Council 
of the City of Elko may, by resolution, amend the rates for zoning fee charges; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Elko has identified the need to increase 
certain rates in order to better recover costs associated with providing services to the public; and 

WHEREAS, the costs of publication as well as postage have increased. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED AND ORDERED BY THE CITY 
COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKO that the Zoning Application Fee Schedule for the City 
of Elko be amended as follows: 

ZONING APPLICATION FEES: 

Until further resolution of the City Council the Zoning Application Fees associated with Title 
3 of the Elko City Code entitled Zoning Regulations, effective upon adoption, shall be as 
follows: 

Annexation of property into the City limits 
10 acres or less 
Between 10 acres and 50 acres 
Over 50 acres 

Appeal 
Boundary Line Adjustment 
Conditional Use Permit 
Curb, Gutter and Sidewalk Waiver 
Detachment of Territory from the City of Elko 

Current Charge 

$WG 
mG 
$1,250 
50% of Original Fee 
$G 
$750 
W) 

10 acres or less $WG 
Between 10 acres and 50 acres mG 
Over 50 acres $1,250 

Final Plat $600 + $25 per lot 
Home Occupation Permit ~ 
Lease (Plus cost of negotiating lease if applicable) $200 
License Agreement for Right to occupy right-of-way 

Planning Commission & City Council approval $400 
Administrative Approval $200 
Addendum to Agreement No fee 

Proposed Charge 

$750 
$1,000 
$1,500 
50% of Original Fee 
$200 
$750 
$250 

$750 
$1,000 
$1,500 
$750 plus $25 per lot 
$50 
$200 

$400 
$200 
No fee 



Parcel Map 
Administrative approval $200 + $25 per lot 
Planning Commission & City Council approval $300 =I= $25 per lot 

Parking Waivers m 
Preliminary Plat $600 =I= $25 per lot 
Reversion to Acreage $300 
Site Plan Review $200 
Temporary Use Permit ~ 
Vacation of City Property 

(Plus cost of land if applicable) 
Variances 

Associated with a zoning amendment 

$600 
$!-00 

Zoning Amendment $300 

$200 plus $25 per lot 
$400 plus $25 per lot 
$50 
$750 plus $25 per lot 
$300 
$200 
$300 

$600 
$500 
$250 
$500 

IT IS FURTHER RESOLVED, that upon adoption of this Resolution by the City Council, it 
shall be signed by the Mayor and attested to by the City Clerk and shall be in full force and effect 
upon adoption. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this_ day of ____ , 2018. 

ATTEST: 

SHANELL OWEN, MMC 
·City Clerk 

CITY OF ELKO 

CHRIS JOHNSON 
Mayor 

j 


	1/9/18 Agenda
	12/12/17 Special Meeting Minutes
	12/12/17 Regular Meeting Minutes
	I-A - Financial Report
	III-D - Water Main R&R
	III-E - WRF Equipment Bids
	III-F - WRF Construction Bids
	III-G - Chilton Tower
	III-H - Local Giving Grant
	IV-A - Television District
	V-A - Simone Turner resignation
	V-B - Arts & Culture vacancy
	V-C - Reuse Water Fees
	V-D - Room Tax
	V-E - 2018 International Existing Building Code
	V-F - 2018 International Property Maint. Code
	V-G - Parks & Rec vacancy
	VI-A - Swire Coca-Cola
	VI-B - Cowboys Liquor
	VII-A - Resolution No. 01-18
	VII-B - Marijuana 
	VII-C - CUP No. 6-17
	VII-D - Zoning App Fees



